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Message from the Chairman of the Board of Directors

In the name of the Bank’s Board of Directors, | am
honored to present you with Mizrahi Tefahot's 2018
financial statements.

This year, too, the Bank continued its growth momentum
of recent years, along with signing the agreement with the
US Department of Justice in Washington.

Naturally, the provisions recorded by the Bank in 2018
with respect to the US investigation impacted the financial
results reported for this year. However, it is important to
note that looking at all of the other components: revenues,
growth rates in loans in most operating segments,
deposits from the public, total assets and shareholder
equity — one cannot fail to be impressed by the scale of
business development at the Bank and continued
prosperity of its operations.

Thus, inter alia, revenues reached a record of nearly NIS
7 billion, with financing revenues growing sharply by
19.7%. Consequently, the Bank Group continues to
increase its market share among the top 5 banking
groups, with 19.1% of the public loan portfolio and 16.4%
of the public deposit portfolio.

Despite the provisions recorded with respect to the
investigation, the Bank is compliant with all required
regulatory targets: Ratio of Tier | capital to risk
components at the end of the fourth quarter at 10.01%,
leverage ratio at 5.42% and liquidity coverage ratio at the
end of the quarter at 116%.

After growth rate in the mortgage market in Israel slowed
in 2016 and 2017, the trend was reversed in 2018, with
housing loans in the banking system growing to NIS 60
billion. The Bank continues to maintain its leadership
position in the mortgage market, both in terms of market
share and in terms of reputation, thanks to the expertise
and rich experience of its mortgage bankers. All this was
achieved while maintaining low risk in the portfolio, both
in terms of LTV ratio and in terms of repayment ratio out
of borrower income.

In 2018, public criticism grew with regard to the impact to

human service in the banking, highlighted by a dramatic

decline in the number of bank branches. Mizrahi Tefahot
continued, this year as well, to counter this trend, to open
new branches, placing the personal bankers at Bank
branches at the center of the Bank's relationship with its
clients. This year, the Bank opened 6 new branches; as
of the end of 2018, the Bank Group consists of 193
branches and affiliates. In conformity with the strategic
plan, the Bank intends to reach 200 branches by end of
2021.

Along with intensifying the personal human connection,
the Bank continued development of advanced tools and
activity channels that provide real added value to clients,
improving service and the "client experience". Digital
channels and tools are deployed as part of the banking
service under Mizrahi Tefahot's unique Hybrid operating
model, where technology complements and supports
human service, rather than attempting to replace it. The
Bank closely monitors all changes and relevant
technology innovations in the banking system, so as to
ensure that the range of technology services provided to
Bank clients is the best and most advanced possible.

The business growth momentum continued in 2018, also
reflected by further growth of the Bank's client base. This
allowed the Bank to recruit this year tens of thousands of
new clients — both individuals and business owners.

Based on principles of the strategic plan, in 2018 the Bank
continued the business focus in its operations, while
maintaining the leadership position in retail — and in
particular, in mortgages. Momentum in the business
activity was reflected both in loans to the business
segment, which grew by 12% in 2018, and in financing
revenues from such activity, which were higher by 13.5%
than in the previous year.

The agreement reached with the US Department of
Justice, after a five-year long investigation, is important
news for the Bank and all its stakeholders. The fact that
we have put this significant matter behind us, as well as
the fact that concurrently, the Bank signed in this past

year a new collective bargaining agreement with the



Manager Council and concluded the arbitration
proceeding with the Employees’ Union — two events with
positive impact on work relations at the Bank — all of these
would allow us to focus in 2019 on achieving the work plan
targets and further maximizing value for Bank
dividend

discontinued for several quarters in 2018, the Bank is

shareholders.  After distributions  were
expected, as soon as 2019, to resume following its
dividend policy and to share its earnings with
shareholders.

As a business organization whose activities and
achievements depend on the community in which it
operates, the Bank sees itself as obligated to show
involvement in the community and to support populations
with special needs.

As part of this effort, Bank branches and headquarters
units conduct volunteer activities with various social
organizations acting on behalf of children and youth in
need. The Bank also conducts various endeavors to
benefit populations in need. These activities are carried
out with involvement of Bank employees, their families
and even Bank clients.

The Bank continued to strictly maintain fair, transparent
conduct vis-a-vis its clients and all stake holders, based
on the Bank's values and Code of Ethics adopted as an
integral part of our organizational culture.

I would like to take this opportunity to thank, myself and
on behalf of all Board members, all stake holders at the
Bank, primarily our loyal clients and to express our deep
appreciation of Bank management and our thousands of
dedicated, outstanding employees and managers for their
tireless efforts, investment and significant contribution to
the success of Mizrahi Tefahot.

Sincerely yours,

Hx | t t{f’ﬂ‘\ﬁ”‘"‘\

Moshe Vidman
Chairman of the Board of Directors
Mizrahi Tefahot
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Introduction

At the meeting of the Board of Directors of Mizrahi Tefahot Bank held on March 27, 2019, it was resolved to approve
and publish the Report of the Board of Directors and Management, the Risk Management Report and Other Supervisory
Disclosures and the consolidated financial statements of Mizrahi Tefahot Bank Ltd. and its subsidiaries as of December
31, 2018. Report of the Board of Directors to the General Meeting of Shareholders.

The Report of the Board of Directors and Management, the Risks Report and Other Supervisory Disclosures of the Bank
are prepared in conformity with directives of the Supervisor of Banks.

The Bank's financial statements are prepared in conformity with generally accepted accounting policies in Israel (Israeli
GAAP) and in accordance with Public Reporting Directives of the Supervisor of Banks.

For most topics, the Supervisor of Banks' directives are based on generally acceptable accounting principles for US
banks (see also Note 1 to these financial statements).

The Report of the Board of Directors and Management and the 2018 Financial Statements are prepared in conformity
with the format stipulated by the Supervisor of Banks. After the Notes to the financial statements is a chapter on corporate
governance, audit, other information about the Bank and its management and addendums to the annual financial
statements.

Additional information to the financial statements is provided on the Bank website:
www.mizrahi-tefahot.co.il >> about the bank >> investor relations >> financial statements.
This additional information includes:

- Detailed Risks Report in conformity with disclosure requirements of Basel Pillar 3 and in conformity with additional
recommendations by the Financial Stability Board (FSB).

- Notes to the financial statements for the Bank solo, on demand.

The Bank website also includes additional supervisory information with details of capital instruments issued by the Bank,
as well as the financial statements in XBRL format.

In conformity with the Equal Rights to Handicapped Persons Regulations (Service Accessibility Adaptations), 2013, the
website also provides accessible reports.

Forward-Looking Information

Some of the information in the Report of the Board of Directors and Management, which does not relate to historical
facts, constitutes “forward-looking information”, as defined in the Securities Law, 1968 (hereinafter: “the Law”).

Actual Bank results may materially differ from those provided in the forward-looking information due to multiple factors
including, inter alia, changes in local and global capital markets, macro-economic changes, geo-political changes,
changes in legislation and regulation and other changes outside the Bank's control, which may result in non-
materialization of estimates and/or in changes to business plans.

Forward-looking information is characterized by the use of certain words or phrases, such as: "we believe", "expected",
"forecasted", "estimating", "intending", "planning”, "readying", "could change" and similar expressions, in addition to
nouns, such as: "plan”, "goals", "desire", "need", "could", "will be". These forward-looking information and expressions
involve risks and lack of certainty, because they are based on current assessments by the Bank of future events which
includes, inter alia: Forecasts of economic developments in Israel and worldwide, especially the state of the economy,
including the effect of macroeconomic and geopolitical conditions; changes and developments in the inter-currency
markets and the capital markets, and other factors affecting the exposure to financial risks, changes in the financial
strength of borrowers, the public’s preferences, legislation, supervisory regulations, the behavior of competitors, aspects

related to the Bank’s image, technological developments and human resources issues.

The information presented here relies, inter alia, on publications of the Central Bureau of Statistics and the Ministry of
Finance, on data from the Bank of Israel data, the Ministry of Housing and others who issue data and assessments with
regard to the capital market in Israel and overseas as well as forecasts and future assessments on various topics, so
that there is a possibility that events or developments forecast as anticipated would not materialize, in whole or in part.
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Overview, targets and strategy

This Chapter describes the Bank, its lines of business, performance, risks to which it is exposed as well as its targets and

strategy.

Condensed financial information and key performance indicators

for the Bank Group (NIS in millions)

For the year For the year For the year For the year For the year

ended ended ended ended ended
December December December December December
31,2018 31,2017 31, 2016 31, 2015 31,2014

Statement of profit and loss — highlights
Interest revenues, net 4,922 4,347 3,778 3,534 3,375
Non-interest financing revenues 445 136 295 358 173
Commissions and other revenues 1,522 1,517 1,567 1,500 1,439
Total revenues 6,889 6,000 5,640 5,392 4,987
Expenses with respect to credit losses 310 192 200 211 173
Operating and other expenses® 4,384 3,611 3,299 3,226 3,039
Of which: Payroll and associated expenses® 2,407 2,271 2,035 1,912 1,841
Pre-tax profit 2,195 2,197 2,141 1,955 1,775
Provision for taxes on profit 922 806 833 761 657
Net profit® 1,206 1,347 1,266 1,134 1,092

Net profit for the Group in 2018 amounted to NIS 1,206@ million. This includes provisions-with respect to the investigation

by the US Department of Justice.

In the second quarter of 2018 , NIS 425 million.
In the fourth quarter of 2018, NIS 121 million.

Total provision with respect to the investigation by the US Department of Justice in 2018 — NIS 546 million. Against this

background,
Return on equity in 2018 , 8.5%.
Net profit in 2017, NIS 1,347 million (return on equity in 2017 — 10.2%).

(1) Comparative figures for previous periods were reclassified. For more information with regard to the Supervisor of Banks' circular
regarding improved presentation of expenses with respect to pension and other post-employment benefits, see Note 1.C.4 to the

financial statements.

(2)  Operating and other expenses for 2018 include a provision, amounting to NIS 546 million, with respect to the investigation by the
US Department of Justice (NIS 425 million in the second quarter and NIS 121 million in the fourth quarter).
The Bank's net operating profit, excluding the aforementioned provision and taking into account the provisions for bonus
payments in line with operating profitability and related tax expenses in 2018, amounts to NIS 1,647 million.
(3)  Any mention of "net profit" or "equity" in this Board of Directors' Report refers to net profit and equity attributable to shareholders

of the Bank.

13
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The following key factors affected Group profit in 2018, compared to 2017:

- Total financing revenues increased in 2018 by 19.7% compared to 2017. This increase is due to significant growth in
operating volumes, compared to the growth rate in the corresponding period last year, and is also affected by increase
in financing spreads, increase in the (known) Consumer Price Index by 1.2% (compared to increase by 0.3% in the
previous year) and the effect of accounting treatment of derivatives at fair value. See also under "Analysis of
Development in financing revenues from current operations" below.

- Total expenses with respect to credit losses in 2018 increased by NIS 122 million compared to 2017. Total expenses
with respect to credit losses were impacted by some maximization of collection of previously written-off debts up to
the present. For more information about development of expenses with respect to credit losses, see below.

- Increase in operating and other expenses with respect to:
- Provision with respect to the investigation by the US Department of Justice, as stated above.

- Provision for payroll and associated expenses, amounting to NIS 94 million, following a verdict with regard to
economic arbitration between the Bank and the Employees’ Union. For more information see Note 22.A.6 to the
financial statements.

See below for additional influences on each operating expense component.

- Provision for taxes on profit includes expenses amounting to NIS 152 million due to potential tax implications with
regard to provisions with respect to the investigation by the US Department of Justice.

Multi-period profit data shows:
- Increase in revenue growth rate.
- Growth in revenues (from current operations) higher than growth in current operating expenses(NIS in millions).

As of As of As of As of As of
December December December December December
31,2018 31, 2017 31, 2016 31, 2015 31,2014

Balance sheet — key items

Balance sheet total 257,873 239,572 230,455 209,158 198,513
Loans to the public, net 194,381 181,118 171,341 159,204 147,569
Cash and deposits with banks 45,162 41,130 41,725 30,489 26,798
Securities 11,081 10,133 10,262 11,845 14,259
Buildings and equipment 1,424 1,403 1,585 1,583 1,570
Deposits from the public 199,492 183,573 178,252 162,380 152,379
Debentures and subordinated notes 30,616 29,923 27,034 23,719 20,580
Deposits from banks 625 1,125 1,537 1,166 1,258
Shareholders' equity® 14,681 13,685 12,714 11,847 10,797

Data from the multi-period balance sheet show continued growth in Bank operations.
Average annual growth between 2014-2018:

Total assets 7.5%
Loans to the public, net 7.0%
Deposits from the public 7.1%
Shareholder equity 8.7%

(1) Any mention of "net profit" or "equity" in this Board of Directors' Report refers to net profit and equity attributable to shareholders of
the Bank.
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Key financial ratios (in percent)

For the year For the year For the year For the year For the year

ended ended ended ended ended
December December December December December
31, 2018 31, 2017 31, 2016 31, 2015 31, 2014
Key performance benchmarks
Net profit return on equity™ ©rg.5 10.2 10.2 10.0 10.6
Net profit return on risk assets® 190,83 0.99 0.97 0.89 0.91
Return on average assets 90,49 0.57 0.58 0.56 0.58
Deposits from the public to loans to the public, net 102.6 101.4 104.0 102.0 103.3
Ratio of Tier | capital to risk components 10.01 10.20 10.10 9.50 9.05
Leverage ratio® 5.42 5.48 5.27 5.32 -
(Quarterly) liquidity coverage ratio® 116 118 117 91 -
Ratio of revenues® to average assets 2.79 2.55 2.56 2.66 2.66
Operating expenses to total revenues
(Cost-income ratio)® ©63.6 60.2 58.5 59.8 60.9
Basic earnings per share (in NIS) 5.17 5.80 5.46 4.90 4.74
Key credit quality benchmarks
Ratio of balance of provision for credit losses to total loans to the public 0.80 0.81 0.83 0.87 0.90
Ratio of impaired debts or debts in arrears 90 days or longer to
loans to the public 1.23 1.02 0.98 1.14 1.20
Expenses with respect to credit losses to loans to the public, net
for the period 0.16 0.11 0.12 0.13 0.12
Ratio of net accounting write-offs to average loans to the public 0.11 0.09 0.11 0.10 0.10
Additional information
Share price (in NIS) as of December 31 63.14 64.19 56.35 46.50 40.90
Dividends per share (in Agorot)(" ®106 144 80 37 -
Average number of employees for the Group 6,285 6,215 6,103 5,961 5,820
Ratio of net interest revenues to average assets 1.99 1.84 1.72 1.74 1.80
Ratio of commissions to average assets 0.62 0.64 0.71 0.74 0.77

Financial ratios indicate:

- Net profit return in 2018 was affected by the provision with respect to the investigation by the US Department of
Justice, as noted above, by 3.1 percentage points, so that reported return is 8.5%.

Bank operating profit over the past five years shows double-digit returns on net profit for each year. Return on
operating profit in 2018 shows further improvement in profitability compared to previous years.

- The provisions with respect to the investigation by the US Department of Justice caused some erosion of safety
margins maintained by the Bank for its capital adequacy, and the reported Tier | capital ratio is 10.01% (or 0.17%
above the minimum ratio required by the Supervisor of Banks).

- The cost-income ratio was also affected by the provision with respect to the investigation by the US Department of
Justice, as noted above, by 6.4 percent, so that reported ratio is 63.6%.

Maintaining the level of current operating expenses, along with higher revenues, contributed to improvement in cost-
income ratios in 2018.

- Erosion in ratio of commissions to average assets due to regulatory effects.

Items of profit and loss, balance sheet items and various financial ratios are analyzed in detail in the Report of the Board
of Directors and Management, in chapter "Explanation and analysis of results and business standing" and in chapter
"Risks overview", as the case may be.

T Afn mgntlokn of "net profit” or "equity" in this Board of Directors' Report refers to net profit and equity attributable to shareholders
of the Bank.

2) Net profit to average risk assets. ) ) o ) o

3) Leverage Ratio —ratio of Tier | capital (according to Basel rules) to total exposure. This ratio is calculated in conformity with Proper
Conduct of Banking Business Directive 218 o ) o . o

(4) Liquidity Coverage Ratio — ratio of total High-Quality Liquid Assets to net cash outflow. This ratio is calculated in conformity with
ProperdConduct of Banking Business Directive 221, in terms of simple averages of daily observations during the most recent
reported quarter. .

5) Netinterest revenues and non-interest revenues ) . . .

6) Total operating and other expenses to total operating and financing revenues before expenses with respect to credit losses.

7) The rate of dividends is calculated based on the amount of the dividends actually distributed in the reported year. )

8) Inthe second and third quarters of 2018, no dividends were declared with respect'to earnings in that quarter. For more information
see chapter "Dividends" below. ) ) o ) . )

(9) Net profit return on egwt and the cost income ratio were affected by a provision amounting to NIS 546 million, with respect to the
investigation by the US Department of Justice (NIS 425 million in the second quarter and NIS 121 million in the fourth quarter).
Net profit return and the income ratio from the Bank's current operations, excluding the aforementioned provision and taking into
account the provisions for bonus payments in line with operating profitability and related tax expenses in 2018 are as follows:
Return on equity — 11.6%.
Cost-income ratio — 57.2%. o . . o

(10) Net profit return on risk assets and average return on assets were affected by the provision with respect to the investigation by
the US Department of Justice, as stated above, decrease by 0.30 and 0.18 percentage points, respectively.
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Bank Group and its lines of business

Mizrahi-Tefahot Bank Ltd. ("the Bank") was among the first banks established in the State of Israel. The Bank was
associated as a public company on June 6, 1923, under the name Mizrahi Bank Ltd., and it was issued the license to
commence business on May 13, 1924. The Bank was founded at the initiative of the World Mizrahi Center, in order to
facilitate the financing of settlement, construction, manufacturing, labor and commercial activities of the new settlers in
the Land of Israel. In 1969, upon the merger of the businesses of the Bank with the businesses of Hapoel Hamizrahi
Bank Ltd., the Bank’s name was changed to United Mizrahi Bank Ltd. In 1983, within the framework of the arrangement
formulated between the Israeli Government and the Banks, the shares of the Bank were transferred to the control of the
State through a securities company that was established for this purpose. In the years 1995 and 1997, the Bank was
privatized in two stages, and was transferred to control of the present controlling shareholders. Following the merger
between United Mizrahi Bank Ltd and “Tefahot” Israel Mortgage Bank Ltd. (“Tefahot”), the merged bank's name was
changed on November 7, 2005 to its present name, Mizrahi-Tefahot Bank Ltd.

For more information about the controlling shareholders of the Bank, see chapter "Corporate Governance, Audit, Other
Information about the Bank and Management thereof" (Controlling shareholders) on these financial statements.

The Bank Group operates in Israel and overseas. The Bank Group is engaged in commercial banking (business and
retail) as well as mortgage activities in Israel, through a nation-wide network of 193 branches, business centers and
affiliates. Furthermore, business clients are supported by business centers and professional departments at Bank
headquarters, which specialize by sector. The Bank's overseas operations are conducted via 3 bank affiliates (two
branches and a subsidiary) and representative offices in Frankfurt and in Mexico City.

In addition to its banking activities, the Bank Group is engaged in various activities related to the capital market, including:
Consultancy for capital market activities, distribution of mutual funds, management of securities portfolios for clients,
pension advisory service, trust services, provision of registration services for securities listed on the stock exchange in
Israel, operation of provident funds and insurance incidental to mortgages. The Bank Group also engages in credit
operations and participates in syndication deals.

The Bank is one of the five largest bank groups in Israel. Below is the Bank Group share out of the Top 5 groups (based
on financial statements as of December 31, 2018):

Loans to the public 19.1%
Deposits from the public® 16.4%
Total assets 16.6%
Shareholders’ equity 13.0%

(1) The Bank Group's share of deposits from the public, among the five top bank groups, excluding deposits from institutional
investors, as of December 31, 2018 was 15.5%, compared to 14.8% as of December 31, 2017.
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Major risks

Below are definitions of the major risks to which the Bank is exposed in conjunction with its operations:

Credit risk —the risk that a borrower or counter-party of the Bank would not fulfill its obligations towards the Bank. Credit
concentration risk is due to over-exposure to a borrower / borrower group and to economic sectors.

Market risk — This is the risk of loss in On- and off-balance sheet positions, arising from change in fair value of financial
instruments, due to change in market risk factors (interest rates, exchange rates, inflation, prices of equities and
commodities).

Interest risk — The risk to Bank profit (change in revenues) or to Bank capital, primarily due to fluctuations in interest
rates, fluctuations of various curves used by the Bank in its business operations or from the fact that a change in interest
rates may result in a change in composition of the Bank's assets and liabilities due to exercise of options for early
repayment due to change in market interest rates. Changes in interest rates impact Bank profits (change in revenues)
and the value of Bank assets (change in fair value).

Liquidity risk — The risk to profit and stability of the banking corporation, due to its inability to satisfy its liquidity
requirements.

Operational risk — The risk of loss due to inappropriateness or failure of internal processes, people and systems or due
to external events. This risk is inherent in all products, activities, processes and systems. The framework for addressing
operational risk includes information security and cyber risk, IT risk and legal risk, as stated below:

Information security and cyber risk — Information security risk is risk arising from faults in protection of the Bank's
computer systems and information stored there. Cyber risk arises from an event including an attack on computer
systems by or on behalf of internal or external adversaries of the Bank.

IT risk — the risk of failure in the Bank's information and/or IT and operating systems.

Legal risk — Risk of loss due to exposure to fines, lawsuits and/or punitive action due to breach of contract or
disagreements. Legal risk includes risks arising from legal exposure due to Bank conduct with its various interested
parties (such as: clients, suppliers and other third parties).

Compliance and regulatory risk — The risk of imposition of legal or regulatory sanctions, material financial loss or
damage to reputation, which the Bank may incur due to its failure to comply with compliance provisions (such as:
statutory provisions, regulation, standards and conduct commonly expected from a corporation). The Bank is also
exposed to business implications of changes to regulatory provisions. Compliance risk includes conduct risk, which is
the risk of impact to Bank trustworthiness in the eyes of its clients, investors, suppliers and all other stake holders, which
may also impact public trust in the banking system as a whole. This risk is across the Bank and is based on application
of basic values, such as fairness, trustworthiness and transparency.

Cross-border risk — The risk of financial loss (including due to legal proceedings, fines or sanctions imposed by statutory
authorities or others in Israel and in other countries) and of damage to reputation, arising from the Bank's failure to
comply with statutory provisions originating in other countries — whether provisions are binding on the Bank or provisions
which are not binding, but failure to comply with them may cause the Bank to incur damage, or from overseas activities
of Bank clients in contravention of any statutory provisions.

AML risk — The risk of imposition of legal or regulatory sanctions, of material financial loss or of damage to reputation
and image, which the Bank may incur due to non-compliance with AML and terror financing provisions.

Reputational risk — the risk to corporate profit, stability or capacity to achieve its objectives, due to impact to reputation
which may arise from practices applied by the corporation, its financial standing or negative publicity (whether true or
false).

Business-strategic risk is the risk, in real time or potentially in future, of impact to Bank profits, capital or reputation,
due to erroneous business decisions, improper deployment of decisions or insufficient preparation for changes in the
business environment. This means the risk that the Bank chose the wrong strategy or that the Bank would not be able
to implement the business and strategic plan as planned.

For more information about a DPA agreement reached by the Bank and the US Department of Justice, to conclude the
investigation of Bank Group business with its US clients and its financial implications for these financial statements, see
chapter "Strategic plan and forward-looking information”, as well as Note 26.C.12 to the financial statements.

For more information about major and emerging risks, see chapter "Risk Events" below.
For more information see chapter "Risks overview" and the detailed Risks Management Report on the Bank website.

17



Report of the Board of Directors and management
As of December 31, 2018

Business goals and strategy

The strategic plan

On November 21, 2016 the Bank's Board of Directors approved a new strategic plan for 2017-2021 (hereinafter; "the
strategic plan"). The strategic plan is designed to achieve the following targets:

- Achieve in 2021, net return on profit attributable to equity holders of 11.5% on average and double-digit return over
the term of the strategic plan; these rates are based on the ratio of Tier | capital to risk components for the Bank at
the minimum set by the Supervisor of Banks plus appropriate margin;

- Further organic growth of core Bank operations, at a higher rate than for the Israeli banking system, so as to increase
the Bank's market share in the Israeli banking system;

The Bank's growth engines are aimed to grow Bank profitability due, inter alia, to average annual revenue growth rate
of 8% (though not in linear fashion), while maintaining expenses at a moderate annual growth rate of 6% (also not in
linear fashion).

- Maintain high operating efficiency — achieve a cost-income ratio (total expenses to total revenues) lower than 60%
over the plan term and even attempt to improve it to below 55% in 2021.

For more information about the Bank's guiding principles for achievement of the strategic plan goals, see chapter
"Business goals and strategy" of the 2016 Report of the Board of Directors and Management.

On February 26, 2018, the Bank’s Board of Directors resolved to update the Bank's dividends policy for 2018 through
2021, after monitoring the execution of the aforementioned strategic plan.

The Bank's revised dividends policy is to distribute dividends, as from 2018, with respect to quarterly earnings, at 40% of
net profit attributable to shareholders of the Bank. This policy is subject to the Bank achieving a ratio of Tier | capital to
risk components as required by the Supervisor of Banks and maintaining appropriate safety margins.

Forward-Looking Information

On March 12, 2019, the Bank’s Board of Directors approved the signing of a DPA agreement with the US Department of
Justice to conclude the investigation into the Bank Group's business with its US clients. For more information see Note
26.C.12 to the financial statements.

See also the effect of the revised provision on the financial statements in chapter "Explanation and analysis of results and
business standing” below.

In view of the foregoing, the Bank Board of Directors did not declare a distribution of dividends with respect to earnings of
the second and third quarters of 2018 and did not declare a distribution of dividends with respect to earnings of the fourth
quarter of this year upon approval of these financial statements, with the capital adequacy presented on these financial
statements being as follows: Tier | capital ratio — 10.01% (or 0.17% above the minimum ratio required by the Supervisor
of Banks) and total capital ratio — 13.64% (0.30% above the minimum ratio required by the Supervisor of Banks).

The Bank’s Board of Directors, upon approving the signing of the agreement by the Bank, estimated that the Bank can
achieve the outline for the five-year strategic plan for 2017-2021.

The Board of Directors further estimated that in 2019, the Bank could resume acting in conformity with its policy of
distributing dividends, subject to terms and conditions prescribed in the strategic plan, including compliance with statutory
requirements and limits stipulated by the Supervisor of Banks.

The Board of Directors shall continue to monitor execution of the strategic plan, and may make changes to this plan from
time to time, as required, including due to changes in factors which may affect the plan, as described above.

This information constitutes forward-looking information, as defined in the Securities Act, 1968 and based on assumptions,
facts and data underlying the strategic plan and listed therein, which may fail to materialize due to factors not solely under
Bank control, causing the the strategic plan, including with regard to the policy of distribution of dividends, to fail to
materialize.

Plan to relocate Bank headquarters units

On June 19, 2017, the Bank’s Board of Directors resolved to take action in order to locate, in as much as possible, the
Bank's headquarters units in a single site, in Lod. For information about this contract and capital relief authorized by the
Supervisor of Banks with regard to streamlining in the real estate sector, see Note 25K to the financial statements.
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Significant developments in business activities

Business in the mortgage market grew in 2018, with housing loan origination in the banking system amounted to NIS 60
billion, higher than in 2017 and 2016. The Bank is acting to reinforce its leadership position in the mortgage market in
terms of market share and in perception and further reinforce the expertise of mortgage bankers. Over the past year, the
Bank successfully retained its leadership position in the mortgage sector, while maintaining low risk attributes for LTV and
repayment ratio out of borrower income.

The household segment is in the midst of growing competition, both from the banking system and from insurance
companies and credit card companies — along with increased regulatory effects. The Bank's target is to increase its market
share in the household segment, by expanding the client base with a focus on high-quality target audiences. Regulatory
steps to increase competition in the household segment and to remove barriers to account transfer between banks — are
an opportunity for increased client recruitment, based on the unique, high-quality personal service provided by the Bank.
In this context, the Bank used hybrid banking platform and the LIVE branches to recruit new clients and improve service
to current clients, while expanding the value proposition.

The mortgage client base at the Bank offers potential for increase of the client base for commercial activities. The Bank
also strives to expand in specific client segments, including the Arab, Jewish Orthodox and retiree segments. Bank Yahav
bolsters the Group's retail segment operations, by expanding and intensifying its operations with salaried employees,
while leveraging the capabilities of its new core banking system.

The Bank focuses its efforts on raising stable, diversified financing sources for different time frames, from individual and
business clients, so as to further maintain appropriate liquidity ratios, in order to reduce the cost of sources required for
its operations and to improve profitability. These efforts resulted in the Bank continuing to significantly increase the scope
of retail deposits in 2018, while maintaining high liquidity ratios.

The Bank's business strategy emphasizes significant expansion of the client base and increase of the Bank's market
share among small to medium business clients, with regular risk assessment at client level, at sector level and for the
economy as a whole. The Bank addresses growing competition in these operating segments by increased marketing
activities with clients, with client segmentation by type of occupation and needs and an overall view of their activities, as
well as by expanding Bank activity in the State fund for small and medium businesses. In order to expand business in the
commercial banking segment, the number of branches focused on providing banking services to business segments was
increased, with reinforcing of professional training of the staff and maintaining appropriate underwriting levels. This
infrastructure would support further expansion of operations in this segment in coming years.

The competition in providing banking and financial services to the business banking segment was affected, in 2018, by
strong growth in loans to large businesses, similar to the previous year. Moreover, competition in this segment have been
affected in recent years by expanded operations of non-banking entities, which are focused on providing large-scale credit
for long terms. The Bank is dealing with competition in this segment by relying on the advantages of its human resources
and on their knowledge and experience in providing professional service and in adapting banking solutions for client
needs. The Bank's business strategy in this segment is directed toward maximizing the economic potential of the capital
by focusing on activities having high profitability relative to the capital needed for them, Concurrently, the Bank is acting
to leverage its professional advantage by increased cooperation in consortiums with other entities.

In order to maximize the economic potential of capital, in 2018 the Bank sold loan portfolios to various institutional
investors. For more information see chapter "Significant developments in management of Bank business" below.

The Bank continues to maintain high operating efficiency through, inter alia, reorganization of assets and optimization of
the branch network, including opening new branches in locations with potential for business growth — along with
streamlining the existing branch network.

This information constitutes forward-looking information, as defined in the Securities Law, 1968, based on assumptions,
facts and data (hereinafter jointly: "assumptions") brought before the Bank’s Board of Directors. These assumptions may
not materialize due to factors which are under the Bank's control.
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Developments in capital structure

Investments in Bank Capital and Transactions in Bank Shares

- On February 1, 2018, the Bank applied to the Supervisor of Banks for approval of a buy-back of 5 million Bank
shares. The share purchase is to be conducted against shares allotted or to be alloted pursuant to the stock option
plans for 2014-2016 and the stock option plans for 2017-2019. On July 23, 2018, the Supervisor of Banks approved
the buy-back plan subject to conditions specified.

Buy-back of Bank shares is tantamount to a distribution of dividends. See also chapter "Business goals and strategy
— strategic plan" above and chapter "Dividends" below.

- For more information about share issuance in conjunction with an employee’ stock option plan, see statement of
changes in shareholders equity in the financial statements.

- For more information about changes to the control structure at the Bank, see chapter "Corporate Governance, Audit,
Other Information about the Bank and Management thereof' (Controlling shareholders) on these financial
statements.

Raising of capital sources

In conjunction with the Bank’s work plan, which is set by the Board of Directors and includes growth objectives for different
lines of business, an assessment is made of the impact of achieving these objectives on total risk assets for the Bank,
and accordingly on its capital adequacy ratio. Accordingly, along with business and profitability objectives, a plan is set to
raise capital sources in order to maintain capital adequacy, in accordance with instructions of the Board of Directors
concerning capital adequacy.

The plan includes issue of contingent subordinated notes (Contingent Convertibles — CoCo) as needed and should ensure
that the overall capital ratio would be at least 13.34%. as from 2018.

This information constitutes forward-looking information, as defined in the Securities Law, 1968, based on assumptions,
facts and data (hereinafter jointly: "assumptions") brought before the Bank’s Board of Directors. These assumptions may
not materialize due to factors which are not under the Bank's control.

For more information on issuance of CoCo contingent subordinated notes amounting to NIS 710.6 million in October 2018,
see "Developments in financing sources" below.

For more information about Tier Il capital raised by Bank Yahav, amounting to NIS 180 million in August 2018, see
"Developments in financing sources" below.

Developments in financing sources

Group financing sources include deposits from the public and from other banks, issuance of types of debentures as well
as shareholder equity. The Group selects the mix of financing sources based on its business objectives, including
objectives for profitability, return on equity, liquidity, capital adequacy and leverage — subject to statutory limitations
applicable to banking corporations and in accordance with the state of the capital market and management forecasts
regarding development therein.

Deposits

The Bank distinguishes between different deposit types by size, client type, individual depositor, number of clients, product
and average deposit term. The Bank reviews, on a daily basis, the depositor concentration level and in this regard, the
Board of Directors and management have set restrictions and guidelines for concentration risk and have defined
qualitative and quantitative indicators for on-going monitoring and estimation of the change to concentration risk, as part
of the liquidity risk management system.

Total deposits from the public for the Group as of December 31, 2018 amounted to NIS 199.5 billion, compared to NIS
183.6 billion at end of 2017: an increase by 8.7%. Deposits from the public in the NIS-denominated, non-CPI linked
segment decreased in 2018 by 9.4%; deposits in the CPI-linked segment decreased by 7.9%; and deposits denominated
in or linked to foreign currency increased by 13.4%. For more information see chapter "Analysis of developments in assets,
liabilities, equity and capital adequacy" below.

For details of Amendment 28 of the Mutual Investment Act which applies to ETFs restrictions as to the investment rate
and holdings of various assets, see chapter "Corporate Governance, Audit, Other Information about the Bank and
Management thereof" (Legislation and Supervision of Bank Group Operations) of these financial statements.

Bank of Israel

The Bank of Israel serves as a key party for the short-term financing and absorption of money for the entire banking
system, and for the Bank in particular. It should be noted that a bank that borrows money from the Bank of Israel must
provide collateral, and the Bank takes this parameter into account in its day-to-day management of liquidity.
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Another source for raising short-term funds is the inter-bank money market. Excess liquidity in the banking system in
Israel remained high in 2018 as well. The Bank of Israel absorbs excess liquidity through monetary deposit tenders for
terms of one day, one week and other liquidity periods.

Among the factors influencing the scope and types of deposits in the banking system is the monetary policies of the Bank
of Israel.

Obligatory notes and debentures issued to the public

The Bank is acting to raise long-term sources via issuances, inter alia via Mizrahi Tefahot Issuance Company Ltd.
("Tefahot Issue"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Bank. Over the years, Tefahot Issue Company issued subordinated
notes to the public under published prospectuses.

On October 21, 2018, Tefahot Issuance issued to the public contingent subordinated notes (Contingent Convertibles —
CoCo) (Series 48) with loss-absorption provisions through principal write-off (compliant with Basel Il provisions and
recognized by the Supervisor of Banks as Tier |l capital), with par value of NIS 711 million for consideration of NIS 711
million.

On June 13, 2018, ISA resolved to extend the deadline for offering securities pursuant to the existing shelf prospectus of
Tefahot Issuance by a further 12 months, to July 4, 2019. For more information see Immediate Report by Tefahot Issuance
dated June 13, 2018 (reference: 2018-01-051207).

In August 2018, Bank Yahav raised Tier Il capital by issue of contingent subordinated notes amounting to NIS 180 million.
In addition to Tefahot Issuance operations, the Bank itself has a shelf prospectus in effect since September 25, 2016
(dated September 26, 2016). In 2018, the Bank did not issue any securities pursuant to this prospectus.

On September 20, 2018, ISA resolved to extend the deadline for offering securities pursuant to the existing shelf
prospectus of the Bank by a further 12 months, to September 24, 2019.

As of the date of these financial statements, total debentures and subordinated notes amounted to NIS 30.6 billion,
compared to NIS 29.9 billion as of December 31, 2017.

Complex capital instruments

Contingent convertible (CoCo) subordinated notes

Contingent subordinated notes (Contingent Convertibles — CoCo) with loss-absorption provisions through principal write-
off (compliant with Basel Ill provisions and recognized by the supervisor of Banks as Tier Il capital), as of December 31,
2018, amounted to NIS 2.2 billion, compared to NIS 1.3 billion as of December 31, 2017.

Standard & Poor's Ma'alot rated the contingent subordinated notes ilAA-.

Other complex capital instruments

Capital note which does not qualify as supervisory capital pursuant to Basel Il directives and is gradually written down,
as of December 31, 2018 amounted to NIS 2.0 billion, similar to December 31, 2017.

Other notes

Subordinated notes, which are not considered complex capital instruments (included in Tier Il capital for the purpose of
maintaining minimum capital ratio and gradually reduced subject to transition provisions), as of December 31, 2018,
amounted to NIS 1.6 billion, compared to NIS 1.4 billion as of December 31, 2017.
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Significant developments in management of business operations

Branch deployment

Group branches are primarily aimed at providing professional, high-quality service to clients of all banking segments, close
to the location where the service is required (residence, place of business). To this end, branches manage day-to-day
client activities and offer to clients and the public at large advanced financial products and services, including advisory
services for capital market activity and pension advisory services.

As of December 31, 2018, Group branches are located nationwide, consisting of 193 business centers, branches and
affiliates, including 49 Bank Yahav branches (of which 3 branches providing partial service).

The Bank continues to expand its branch network in accordance with its strategic plan, with location selection based on
considerations such as providing optimal service to clients, economic viability considerations etc.

In 2018, the Bank Group opened 6 new points of sale, of which 3 are Bank Yahav branches offering partial service, and relocated
several others to better geographic locations, following the mapping of bank client needs and in order to improve service to
clients and expand future recruitment activity. In 2019, the Bank is expected to open 3 more points of service and sale.

The Bank operates 6 LIVE branches — which are branches providing full personalized service during extended business
hours using a range of communication channels between clients and bankers (via telephone, fax, internet, email, SMS,
video conferencing).

This information constitutes forward-looking information, as defined in the Securities Law, 1968, based on assumptions,
facts and data (hereinafter jointly: "assumptions") brought before the Bank’s Board of Directors. These assumptions may
not materialize due to factors which are not under the Bank's control.

Direct channels

The policy applied by the Direct Banking sector concerning direct channels is as follows:
— Apply a multi-channel strategy, at the center of which stands the branch, and direct banking services constitute an
integral part of it
— Develop the hybrid banking service as a primary channel for communication with the banker.
— Expand the range and diversity of services offered through direct banking channels.

Direct channels offered to Bank clients include:

Hybrid Banking services
Hybrid Banking is about integrating personal service accessible to clients with technology.
Hybrid Banking services are provided by Bank branches and banking centers, as follows:
— Bank branches — phone calls, emails and SMS messages from identified clients are directly routed to that client's
banker and are answered by the banker or by the backup staff at the branch.
— The branch team at the banking center provides backup to branch bankers, assisting with transactions and providing
information to Bank clients, as part of the integrated Hybrid service offered to clients. Service is provided 24 hours
a day (on weekdays).
— In 2018, the Bank expanded the chat service to potential clients in mortgages, sales and investments.

On line, cell phone, notification box, IVR and fax services

On line service — allows clients to receive banking information and execute transactions in your account for a range of
banking products available to Bank clients at a reduced cost.

In 2018, the services for business clients were expanded, a new website was launched for international activity, a new
foreign currency transfer service was added to digital, services of the website for foreign securities in the capital market
arena were expanded. The set of tools for clients interested in a mortgage was also expanded, with the launch of a digital
mortgage form, CALL ME and chat.

in 2019, the Bank intends to launch a new account management application, to develop support for fingerprint authentication,
to reduce barriers to entry for digital, to launch a new Bank website and to expand the service offering for business clients.

Self-service at branches

- The Bank plans to expand its services to clients through self-service machines.

- Service stations — The Bank provides clients with service stations, allowing them to conduct transactions such as:
Taking out a loan, depositing checks and obtaining information about their commercial and mortgage accounts
independently, 24 hours a day - even when the branch is closed. Some of the service stations also offer immediate
checkbook printing.

- In 2018, the Bank started deployment of the cash deposit service using self-service machines at the branch — a
process which is to be expanded in 2019.

- ATMs — The Bank owns 203 cash withdrawal machines, some in Bank branches and some are "remote ATMs".
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This information constitutes forward-looking information, as defined in the Securities Law, 1968, based on assumptions,
facts and data (hereinafter jointly: "assumptions") brought before the Bank’s Board of Directors. These assumptions may
not materialize due to factors which are not under the Bank's control.

Expansion of business operations
For more information about the Bank's strategic plan, see chapter "Business goals and strategy (Strategic plan)" above.

Addendum to the agreement with Bank Igud shareholders

For more information about an addendum to the agreement with Bank Igud shareholders, see chapter "Significant Events
in the Bank Group's Business" below.

Sale of assets and liabilities in mortgage portfolio

In 2018, the Bank and institutional investors signed agreements for sale of 80% of assets and liabilities in a housing loan
portfolio valued in total at NIS 2.7 hillion. The loan portfolios sold include loans with LTV ratios not exceeding 60%.

In the aforementioned transactions, the remainder of this loan portfolio is retained by the Bank, so that rights of the buyer
and those of the Bank | have equal priority (pari passu).

In conformity with management agreements signed by the parties, the Bank will manage and operate, on behalf of the
buyer, the portion of the loan portfolios acquired — in the same manner and based on the same rules used by the Bank to
manage and operate its own housing loans, including the portion of the loan portfolio retained by the Bank.

Strategic cooperations

In 2018, the Bank continued to conduct transactions to sell off and share credit risk with institutional investors and financial
institutions in Israel and overseas. Further cooperation with institutional investors is part of the Bank's strategic plan for
2017-2021.

As part of this activity, the Bank has expanded the providing of service for operating financial assets, including
management and operation of housing loans purchased from the Bank.

For more information about sale of assets and liabilities in the mortgage portfolio (80% of a housing loan portfolio valued
at NIS 2.7 billion), see above.

Obtaining a guarantee insurance policy

On December 28, 2016, the Bank acquired an insurance policy for credit exposure due to guarantees provided by the
Bank pursuant to the Sale Act (Apartments) (Securing Investments of Home Buyers), 1974 and obligations to issue such
guarantees.

The aforementioned transaction was made through an insurance company which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Bank which, concurrently, has contracted with international reinsurers with a high international rating.

The insurance policy provides the Bank with coverage should the Bank be required to pay due to forfeiture of the
guarantees; it is primarily intended to reduce risk assets with respect to credit exposure due to these guarantees.

In the second quarter of 2018, the Bank increased the coverage ratio of the insurance policy from 80% to 90% for
guarantee amounting to NIS 15.5 billion.

In the third quarter, the Bank purchased a rider to the existing insurance policy, so that it would also apply to other types
of guarantees associated with projects, amounting to NIS 1.8 billion.

The aforementioned insurance policies apply to guarantees issued by the Bank through 2018.

In the fourth quarter of 2018, the Bank obtained an insurance policy with 90% coverage for credit exposures with respect
to guarantees to be issued by the Bank as from January 2019, in conformity with the Sale Law and other project-related
guarantees, similar to the insurance policies described above.

Award of tender for custodian services

In the fourth quarter of 2018, the Bank was awarded a tender proceeding for provision of custodian services to a large
institutional investor and consequently, has started to accept a significant volume of client assets.

For more information about business results of the various operating segments, see chapter "Supervisory operating
segments” below.
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Significant developments in human resources and administration

Developments in labor relations

For more information about a verdict with regard to an economic arbitration between the Bank and the Employee Union,
issued on January 28, 2019, see chapter "Significant Events in the Bank Group's Business" below, as well as Note 22.A.6
to the financial statements.

Payroll agreements for employees represented by the Council of Managers and Authorized Signatories

On December 20, 2018, a collective bargaining agreement was concluded with the Managers’ Council, with respect to
wages and work conditions for 2018-2022. For more information see Note 22.A.7 to the financial statements.

Labor and payroll agreements at the Technology Division

Employment terms of employees of Mizrahi Tefahot Technology Division Ltd. (hereinafter: "the Technology Division") are
arranged in the labor constitution that was signed in 1989 and in a series of agreements signed by the Technology Division
Employee Council, the Labor Union and the Technology Division over the years.

Employees of the Technology Division have their pay linked to the pay for Bank employees.

On August 15, 2018, a collective bargaining agreement was signed by the Technology Division and the division's
employee representation and the MAOF trade union. This agreement has no material impact on the financial statements.

Labor and payroll agreements at Bank Yahav

On January 17, 2019, Bank Yahav signed a new collective bargaining agreement with employee representation which
governs labor and remuneration at Bank Yahav for 2018-2022.

The aforementioned payroll agreements have no material impact on the financial results for 2018.

Developments in logistics, administration and streamlining

In 2018, the Bank continued the trend of streamlining and utilizing existing resources as follows:

- Streamlining of space usage.

- Better deployment of the branch network.

- Further leveraging of infrastructure through temporary leasing of space used by the Bank as reserve for future growth
to third parties.

- Complete making Bank branches accessible, in conformity with the new accessibility regulations. For a specific
property, a temporary extension was authorized by the Supervisor of Equal Rights to Disabled Persons.

- On April 30, 2017, the Bank’s Board of Directors approved a strategic move to relocate operations of Bank
headquarters units to one central site in Lod. Thus, in 2017 the Bank acquired land in Lod, with an area of 6,000 m?,
for consideration amounting to NIS 25.8 million, adjacent to the property currently housing the Technology-Logistics
Center ("Mizrahi Tefahot Lod"). The plan is to construct another building and to relocate all Bank headquarters units
to this building, within 6 years. In 2018, the planning stage of this building continued, and an application was filed
for a construction permit.

The activities and trends described above are expected to continue in 2019.

This information constitutes forward-looking information, as defined in the Securities Law, 1968, based on assumptions,
facts and data (hereinafter jointly: "assumptions”) brought before the Bank’s Board of Directors. These assumptions may
not materialize due to factors which are not under the Bank's control.

For more information about human resources at the Bank, organizational structure and senior officers of the Bank, see
chapter "Corporate Governance, Audit, Other Information about the Bank and Management thereof" of these financial
statements.
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Significant developments in IT

For more information about investments and expenses with respect to IT, see chapter "Analysis of composition of assets,
liabilities, capital and capital adequacy" below.

For more information about fixed assets and installations see chapter "Corporate Governance, Audit, Other Information
about the Bank and its Management of these annual financial statements.

Given the current developments in the financial market and the age of existing systems at the Bank, the Bank decided to
move to a new platform. The Bank has completed the feasibility review process for transition of the Bank's capital market
system to the capital market module of the new platform. On December 27, 2018, the software licensing agreement was
signed and in the coming month, an agreement should be signed for implementation of a new capital market system at
the Bank.

This information constitutes forward-looking information, as defined in the Securities Law, 1968, based on assumptions,
facts and data (hereinafter jointly: "assumptions") brought before the Bank’s Board of Directors. These assumptions may
not materialize due to factors which are not under the Bank's control.

Developments in international geographic deployment

The international operations segment of the Bank Group includes business operations and private banking services via
subsidiaries, branches and affiliates in Israel and overseas. Bank Group international operations are primarily focused on
private banking and on providing financial services to foreign residents, foreign trade finance, local credit and participation
in syndicated loans. In addition, provision of banking services to Israeli clients who have activities outside of Israel. The
Bank has affiliates in several countries, as listed in the chapter "Corporate governance, audit, other information about the
Bank s and its management".

International operations, in Israel and overseas, report to the Private Banking and International Operations sector in the
Bank's Financial Division. In addition, control of affiliate operations is conducted by the Risks Control Division.

Each overseas affiliate operates subject to local laws and regulations, and is regularly assisted by local legal counsel who
specialize in banking operations applicable for each affiliate.

International operations also involve cross-border risk, for more information see chapter "Risks overview" below.
The Bank operates representative offices in Mexico City and in Frankfurt.

For more information about the various affiliates and their business, see chapter "Corporate Governance, Audit, Other
Information about the Bank and its Management (Operating results of overseas operations)" in this annual report.

Other matters
Significant Agreements

For more information about material agreements, see chapter "Corporate Governance, Audit, Other Information about the
Bank and its Management " of these annual financial statements.

Corporate social responsibility

In July 2018, the Bank issued its 2017 Corporate Social Responsibility Report.
For more information see the Bank's Corporate Social Responsibility Report on the Bank website:
www.mizrahi-tefahot.co.il >> about the bank >> investor relations

Legal Proceedings

For material changes in legal proceedings to which the Bank is party, see Note 26.C.10-12 to the financial statements.
For more information about an ISA demand for payment of a monetary sanction amounting to NIS 220 thousand, see
chapter "Compliance and regulatory risk" below.

Changes in legal structure and incorporation of the Bank

In 2018 there was no change to the legal structure and manner of incorporation of the Bank.
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Explanation and analysis of results and business standing

This chapter includes a description of trends, phenomena, developments and material changes with regard to results and
business condition, including analysis of revenues, expenses and profit as well as analysis of developments in assets,
liabilities, capital and capital adequacy. It also describes the results of the Bank's supervisory operating segments and
operating results for holdings in major investees.

Trends, phenomena and material changes

Significant Events in the Bank Group's Business

Verdict with regard to economic arbitration between the Bank and the Employees’ Union

In late 2015,an economic arbitration process was launched between the Bank and the Employees’ Union, to discuss the
demands made by the Employees’ Union for 2005-2015.

On January 28, 2019, a verdict was issued with regard to an economic arbitration between the Bank and the Employees’
Union, which stipulated that the Bank is to pay a one-time compensation payment, amounting to NIS 94 million (cost) to
employees who are members of the Employees’ Union and who worked for the Bank in certain periods, as specified in
the arbitration verdict, payable in two installments (in 2019 and in 2020). The arbitration verdict also accepted some of the
demands for various benefits. The implications of this arbitration verdict is an expense recognized in the amount of the
one-time compensation of NIS 94 million (before tax) and NIS 62 million (after tax) on the Bank's 2018 financial statements,
and an annual additional payroll expense, as from 2019, estimated by the Bank at NIS 15 million (before tax). For further
details, see Note 22.A.6. to the financial statements.

DPA agreement with the US Department of Justice

On March 12, 2019, the Bank’s Board of Directors approved the signing of a DPA agreement with the US Department of
Justice to conclude the investigation into the Bank Group's business with its US clients. For more information see Note
26.C.12 to the financial statements.

These financial statements include an update to the provision with respect to this investigation:

In the second quarter of 2018 — - NIS 425 million.
In the fourth quarter of 2018 — - NIS 121 million.
Total update to the provision with respect to this investigation in 2018 - NIS 546 million.

The cumulative provision with respect to this investigation as of December 31, 2018 amounts to USD 195 million (NIS
731 million).

Furthermore, total cumulative costs with respect to professional consulting (attorneys and CPAs) amounted to USD 49.7
million (NIS 186 million).

On March 27, 2019, the Bank received a letter from the Supervisor of Banks, whereby the Bank is required, upon
conclusion of the investigation and given the Agreement, to conduct an intensive, structured process of reviewing lessons
learned, including appointment of an independent committee headed by a retired judge, to review the managerial and
control processes and to reach conclusions and recommendations, both general and personal, as required. The Bank
Board of Directors resolved, on March 27, 2019, to establish such committee.

Addendum to the agreement with Bank Igud shareholders

In conformity with the resolution by the Bank’s Board of Directors dated November 27, 2017, the Bank signed an
agreement with controlling shareholders of Bank Igud Le-Israel Ltd. (hereinafter: "Igud"), who jointly hold 47.63% of Igud's
issued and paid-up share capital, to acquire the shares of Bank Igud and to merge it with the Bank by way of exchange
of shares (hereinafter: "the agreement"). Moreover, prior to signing this agreement, notice was received from another
Igud shareholder who holds (through Trustees) 27.12% of Igud's issued and paid-in share capital (hereinafter: "the other
shareholder"). According to this agreement, as noted in the 2017 Report of the Board of Directors and Management,
subject to fulfillment of suspensive conditions highlighted in the agreement, the Bank would issue a full exchange tender
offer (hereinafter: "tender offer") to purchase Bank Igud shares and, conversely, the controlling shareholders and the other
shareholder committed to accept the tender offer, to be completed subject to suspensive conditions stated in the
agreement.

On May 30, 2018, the Acting Director General of the Antitrust Authority decided to object to the merger (hereinafter: "the
Decision"). On August 5, 2018, the Bank and the Shareholders signed an addendum to the Agreement (hereinafter: "the
Addendum"), whereby the parties and Igud would appeal the Decision. Such appeal was filed on September 6, 2018. It
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was further agreed that the extended effective date would be 12 months after the signing date of the Addendum
(hereinafter: "the Extended Effective Date") and if, by the Extended Effective Date, a verdict would be issued denying the
appeal, or should no verdict be given with regard to the appeal, then the Agreement would be null and void.

It was further agreed that if, by the Extended Effective Date, the parties would receive a verdict accepting the appeal, the
Bank would issue the Tender Offer within 60 days of the appeal being accepted, based on the annual or quarterly financial
statements for the period ended on the final day of the quarter preceding the date of appeal acceptance (hereinafter: "the
Effective Financial Statements"), provided that should the Effective Financial Statements be the annual financial
statements and should they not be issued within the aforementioned 60-day period, then the deadline for issuing the
Tender Offer would be delayed to the 14" business day after publication of the Effective Financial Statements.

The Addendum stipulates that through the closing date of the Tender Offer, Igud would not conduct any further distribution
other than the Allowed Distribution — amounting up to NIS 100 million, and clarifies that any distribution by Igud over and
above the Allowed Distribution would constitute material breach of the Agreement by the Sellers.

Furthermore, the formula to calculate the number of Bank shares to constitute the consideration shares was amended,
whereby the number of consideration shares would reflect the ratio of the amount equal to 60% of total Igud capital, based
on lgud's Effective Financial Statements, net of the Allowed Distribution amount, if any, and excluding other amounts to
be agreed by the parties, to the average adjusted closing price on the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange Ltd. of one NIS 0.1 par
value share of the Bank, over 60 trading days starting 60 trading days prior to the date of the Effective Financial Statements
and ending on the date of the Effective Financial Statements, after adjustments stipulated in the Agreement and in the
Addendum, including certain adjustments due to distribution of dividends by the Bank, for which the effective date is later
than the Bank's Effective Financial Statements.

The Addendum stipulates a mutual termination right by the parties, subject to conditions listed in the Immediate Report
issued on June 25, 2018.

Pursuant to the Addendum, the restrictions imposed on the Sellers pursuant to the original Agreement, with regard to their
conduct in the interim period, including a restriction whereby the Sellers undertook to exercise their means of control over
Igud, during the interim period, to preclude Igud from taking any extraordinary action which may have material adverse
effect on the financial results of Igud and/or on the transaction feasibility and/or the valuation thereof, without derogating
in any way from the Bank's right to claim that any action in contravention of such eliminated section has resulted in any
event, change, development or undertaking which constitutes ground for the Bank to terminate the Agreement, as stated
above.

The Bank received notice from the Trustee holding shares on behalf of the other shareholder, holding a 27.12% holding
stake, whereby the joining notice shall expire on the earliest of the dates specified there or on December 31, 2019, and
no further changes would be made to other provisions of the joining notice, other than changes due to the Addendum.
For more information about the agreement and Addendum with Bank Igud shareholders, see chapter "Significant
developments in management of business operations" in the Report of the Board of Directors and Management for 2017,
Immediate Report dated May 30, 2018, reference 2018-01-053347, Immediate Report dated June 25, 2018, reference
2018-01-060643 and Immediate Report dated August 5, 2018, reference 2018-01-072859.

The General Environment and Effect of External Factors on the Bank Group

Major developments in the banking industry in Israel and overseas

The banking system has been facing several key challenges in recent years:

- Moderate economic activity, with a low interest rate and inflation environment over time, which impairs bank
profitability.

- In the past year, a trend of monetary cut-back started in some developed markets, reflected in higher interest rates
and in cut-back in quantitative easing. This was concurrently with higher inflation.

- More moderate global growth results in a trend of transition from global multi-national banking to local banking.

- Rapid development of digital banking based on Internet platforms and increased use of mobile devices, accompanied
by regulatory relief from the Bank of Israel, designed to promote digital banking activities. Along with these
developments, use of digital channels by households is constantly growing. Furthermore, the growing digital trends
allows technology companies to enter the financial brokerage market, in cooperation with the banking system.

- Competition in the household segment and in the small and medium business segments has increased in recent years,
given the focus of the banking system on these segments, along with increased new entries from institutional investors
and credit card companies. These effects are accompanied by increased regulation in the following areas: Supervision
of prices of banking services; elimination of barriers to account transfer between banks; promotion of the Credit
Information Act and creation of a banking ID for increased transparency for consumers and for reducing information
gaps; increased competition in the banking sector by encouraging entry of new competitors.
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Further to the trend of growing regulatory directives, various initiatives to increase competition in the financial system

were formulated:

- On January 27, 2017, the Increased Competition and Reduced Concentration in Israeli Banking Act was passed,
following the final recommendations made by the Shtrum Committee. The objective of this Act is to increase
competition in retail banking services, with reference to both supply (adding new players) and demand (increasing
consumer power). Below are key provisions of the Act:

- Separation of control and ownership by large banks (banks with total balance sheet assets, on consolidated basis,
exceeding 20% of total balance sheet assets for the Israeli banking system) from credit card companies. Following
this directive, in July 2018, Bank Leumi signed an agreement to sell Leumi Card to Warburg Pincus, and Bank
HaPoalim is preparing to issue Isracard shares on the stock exchange.

- Imposing restrictions on large banks with regard to issue and distribution of credit cards.

- Launching a technology interface for viewing financial information (Read Only), to make it easier for consumers to
choose between various financial alternatives.

- Financial institutions may acquire IT services from banks.

- Credit card settlement — Existing clearing houses would be required to contract with a new clearing house, so as to
allow them to provide settlement services to merchants.

- In order to review competition in the credit market, a committee was established, headed by the Director General
of the Ministry of Finance and the Manager, Research Division at the Bank of Israel. The committee is tasked with
monitoring the implementation of the Act and recommending further steps to increase competition in the credit
market.

On December 13, 2017, the Ministry of Finance and the Bank of Israel announced a reform designed to allow for
easier client transition between banks, by creating an automated system for account mobility.

On February 25, 2018, the Bank of Israel issued the final outline designed to reduce the cross commission in deferred
charge transactions, in multiple stages in 2019-2023, from 0.7% of transaction amount today, down to 0.5%.
Furthermore, an outline was specified to reduce the cross commission for immediate charge transactions, from 0.3%
of transaction amount today, down to 0.25%.

The Credit Information Act is designed to promote the creation and management of a central credit information
database for calculating every citizen's credit rating . This rating will be provided to credit providers, subject to client
consent. The Act should become effective in April 2019. Implementation of the Act may result in improved underwriting
and pricing capacity of banks and non-bank entities.

In August 2018, the Supervisor of Banks launched a project concerning the Open Banking API standard. Open Banking
would allow sharing of financial information of clients, subject to client consent. Such information sharing may result
in improved financial services provided to clients and in increased competition for such services. The project is to be
implemented in 2020.

Stricter requirements with regard to maintaining liquidity coverage ratio and leverage ratio, in order to improve stability
of the banking system. On the other hand, the Supervisor of Banks allowed Israeli banks to issue debentures with a
loss-absorption provision, as is common around the world (contingent conversion debentures — CoCo). Such
debentures contribute to stability of the issuing bank and to reduced support required from the Government should the
bank be in trouble. For more information about issue of contingent subordinated notes (Contingent Convertibles —
CoCo), see chapter "Developments in financing sources" above.

Stricter international regulation is characterized by increased, cross-border enforcement as well as by local taxation
issues.

Increased consumer awareness due, inter alia, to increased use of social networks and to technology which allows for
easier access to information and to comparison of financial alternatives. Consequently, the banking world is becoming
focused on identifying client needs.

This information constitutes forward-looking information, as defined in the Securities Law, 1968, based on assumptions,
facts and data (hereinafter jointly: "assumptions") brought before the Bank’s Board of Directors. These assumptions may
not materialize due to factors which are not under the Bank's control.
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Developments in Israel's Economy and in the global economy in 2018

Israeli economy

Real Developments

According to the second estimate by the Central Bureau of Statistics for the second half of 2018, GDP growth in 2018
was at 3.3%, compared to 3.5% in the previous year and compared to 4.0% in 2016. The GDP growth rate in 2018 was
favorably affected by the following: Higher growth rate of durable goods consumption, investment in the economy and
public consumption. Conversely, the growth rate was negatively impacted by lower investment in residential construction,
and by moderation of growth in current private consumption.

According to estimates by the Bank of Israel, the labor market continues to indicate a high level of activity with near-full
employment. The average unemployment rate in 2018 was 4.0%, compared to 4.2% in 2017. The average participation
rate decreased moderately to 63.9%.

On August 3, 2018, S&P announced it was raising the credit rating of the State of Israel, from A+ to AA-, in view of
"improvement in the fiscal policy of the Israeli Government, along with strong growth and high tax revenues, which have
resulted in significant decrease in the ratio of net Government debt to GDP in recent years", as stated in the
announcement.

Inflation and exchange rates

In 2018, the Consumer Price Index increased by 0.8%, following an increase by 0.4% in the previous year. In 2018, the
CPI was primarily affected by higher prices for housing (rental), food, fruits and vegetables — which contributed 1.0% to
the overall CPI. Conversely, prices of transportation and communications, clothing and footwear declined, which mitigated
the overall CPI by 0.2% on aggregate.

Below is information about official exchange rates and changes there to:

December 31, December 31,

2018 2017 Change in %
Exchange rate of:
USD (in NIS) 3.748 3.467 8.1
EUR (in NIS) 4.292 4.153 3.3

On March 25, 2019, the USD/NIS exchange rate was 3.623 — a 3.3% revaluation compared to December 31, 2018. The
EUR/NIS exchange rate on this date was 4.102 — a revaluation of 4.4% compared to December 31, 2018.

Monetary policy

In November 2018, the Bank of Israel raised its interest rate by 0.15%, to 0.25%. The Bank of Israel monetary policy, year
to date, was impacted, inter alia, by the economy reaching its potential growth rate, along with similar data for exports of
goods, inflationary expectations slightly above the lower limit of the price stability target, exacerbation of the trade war
between the USA and China, increase in political risk in Europe and further slow growth of the world's major economies.

On October 9, 2018, the Prime Minister and the Minister of Finance announced the appointment of Professor Amir Yaron
to the position of Governor of the Bank of Israel, replacing Professor Karnit Flug.

Fiscal policy

In 2018, the government budget recorded a NIS 38.9 billion cumulative budget deficit, compared to a NIS 24.6 billion
cumulative deficit last year. The deficit rate in relation to the GDP for 2018 was 2.9% (in line with the target), compared to
1.9% in the previous year. In 2018, expenditure by Government ministries increased by 5.2% compared to 2017, with
expenditure by non-defense ministries increasing by 6.2% and expenditure by the defense system increasing by 1.6%,
compared to a planned increase by 5.2% and a decrease by 0.4%, respectively. Total tax collection in the past year
decreased by a nominal 0.1% compared to the previous year. Excluding legislative amendments and extraordinary
revenues, tax revenues increased by 2.3%.

Residential construction and the mortgage market

According to data from the Central Bureau of Statistics, in 2018 demand for new apartments (apartments sold and
apartments constructed not for sale) in 2017 was 38.2 apartments, a decrease by 10% over 2017 and by 23% over 2016.
The decrease was due, inter alia, to housing buyers (who do not currently own housing) waiting to win an apartment in
the " price per occupant” program and to lower demand for apartments by investors. In 2018, housing loans given to the
public amounted to NIS 60.3 billion, compared to NIS 53.8 billion last year and NIS 59.1 billion in 2016 — an increase by
12% and 2%, respectively.

According to data from the Central Bureau of Statistics, owned housing prices decreased in 2018 by 1.4%, following an
increase by 2.3% in 2017 and by 6.7% in 2016.
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Capital market

Trading on global equity markets in 2018 was negative, led by stock exchanges in the USA and by major equity
benchmarks in the Israeli market.

The following are changes in key equity indices in Israel (in %):

CPI All of 2018 All of 2017  All of 2016
Tel-Aviv 35 (3.0) 2.7 (3.8)
Tel-Aviv 125 (2.3) 6.4 (2.5)
Tel-Aviv 90 (3.0) 21.2 17.3

The average daily trading volume in shares and convertible securities in 2018 was NIS 1.6 billion, compared to NIS 1.4
billion in 2017. The increase in trading volume, mostly in the fourth quarter of 2018, was due to the transition reform from
ETNs to ETFs (Amendment 28 to the Mutual Investment Act, 1994).

The following are changes in key debenture indices in Israel (in %):

CPI All of 2018 All of 2017  All of 2016
General debentures (1.5) 4.7 2.2
CPl-indexed Government debentures (1.4) 3.4 0.8
Non-linked Government debentures 1.2) 3.7 1.2
Tel Bond 20 1.1) 7.1 3.2
Tel Bond 40 (0.5) 4.4 1.8

Global economy

In 2018, the US economy grew by 2.9%, compared to 2.2% growth in 2017 and to 1.6% in 2016. In 2018, industrial output
and retail commerce benchmarks were higher and the purchasing manager index continued to indicate economic
expansion. However, in the second half of the year, these benchmarks moderated somewhat, especially given the higher
trade friction with China and with the European Union. The labor market showed positive trends: The number of new jobs
created in the US economy was mostly higher than expected, and inflation dropped below 4%. The core inflation was
higher by 2.2% in 2018. Due to positive economic indicators, the FED raised interest rates four times this year, to 2.25%-
2.5%. However, since the start of 2019, capital market estimates increased that the FED interest rate will remain
unchanged in 2019.

In 2018, GDP in the Euro Zone increased by 1.8%, compared to 2.4% growth last year and to 2.0% in 2016. In 2018,
industrial output declined and growth in retail commerce was moderated. The purchasing manager index and the
expectation benchmarks were lower year to date. Unemployment continued to decline, to 7.9% in December 2018. Core
inflation remained at 1% for the twelve months ended December 2018. Note that due to slower economic activity in
Europe, as from the start of 2019, the ECB announced that interest rates would not be raised in 2019 and announced a
new loan program for commercial banks (TLTRO) to promote lending to businesses. In March 2019, the British parliament
rejected the proposal by British Prime Minister, Theresa May, to ratify the agreement for the UK departure from the EU.
The parliament also decided not to leave the EU without agreement. Therefore, the parliament authorized the Prime
Minister to ask the EU for an extension of the date for the UK leaving the EU; currently, the exit date is March 29, 2019.
In the fourth quarter of 2018, GDP in China grew at an annualized 6.4%, lower than the average growth rate in the previous
three quarters at 6.7% and compared to 6.9% for all of 2017. Growth rates of the industrial output and retail trade
benchmarks were more moderate in 2018, and the industrial purchasing manager index declined to below 50 points,
indicating a contraction in economic activity.

The following are changes in key equity indices world-wide (in %):

CPI All of 2018 All of 2017  All of 2016
Dow Jones 6.7) 25.1 13.4
S&P 500 (7.0 19.4 9.6
NASDAQ 100 .7) 315 5.9
DAX (18.3) 125 6.9
FTSE 100 (12.4) 7.6 14.4
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Risk events

For more information about a DPA agreement reached by the Bank and the US Department of Justice, to conclude the
investigation of Bank Group business with its US clients and its financial implications for these financial statements, see
chapter "Business goals and strategy"”, chapter "Explanation and analysis of results and business standing (Significant
Events in the Bank Group's Business)", as well as Note 26.C.12 to the financial statements.

For more information about a motion for approval of derivative lawsuits in this regard, see Note 26.C. 11.A) to the financial
statements.

Key and emerging risks

In its operations, the Bank is exposed to a succession of risks which may potentially impact its financial results and its
image.

As part of the risks mapping, the Bank reviews the top risks, existing (or new) risks which may materialize over the coming
12 months which potentially may materially impact the Bank's financial results and stability, such as: credit, interest and
liquidity risks. The Bank also identifies emerging risks, which may materialize over the longer term and subject to
uncertainty with regard to their nature and impact on the Bank. Of these risks, one may note the following: information
security and cyber risk, IT risk and reputation risk. As noted, the risks mapping is regularly reviewed to ensure that it
encompasses all business operations at the Bank, market conditions and regulatory requirements.

Assessment of the effect of all risk factors takes into account the developments in risk associated with conclusion of the
investigation into the Bank Group's business with its US clients.

For more information, including analysis of major risks to which the Bank is exposed and an overview of their management
and evolution in the reported period, see chapter "Risks Overview" as well as the Detailed Risks Report on the Bank
website:

www.mizrahi-tefahot.co.il >> about the bank >> investor relations >> financial statements.

Independent Auditors’ reports

The Independent Auditors have drawn attention in their report to Note 26.C.11 with regard to claims filed against the Bank,
including motions for class action status, as well as to Note 26.C.12 with regard to the DPA agreement signed by the Bank
on March 12, 2019 with the US Department of Justice to conclude the US DOJ investigation with regard to Bank Group
business with its US clients.

Events after the date of the financial statements

On January 28, 2019, after the balance sheet date, a verdict was issued with regard to an economic arbitration between
the Bank and the Employees’ Union. For more information see chapter "Significant Events in the Bank Group's Business"
above and Note 22.A.6 to the financial statements.

For more information about a DPA agreement reached by the Bank and the US Department of Justice, to conclude the
derivative investigation of Bank Group business with its US clients and its financial implications for these financial
statements, see chapter "Business goals and strategy”, chapter "Explanation and analysis of results and business
standing (Significant Events in the Bank Group's Business)", as well as Note 26.C.12 to the financial statements.

Changes to critical accounting policies and to critical accounting estimates

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting policies in Israel (Israeli GAAP)
and in accordance with directives and guidance from the Supervisor of Banks. The significant accounting policies are
detailed in Note 1 to the financial statements.

Below are changes to critical accounting policies and to critical accounting estimates which impact the operating results
in the reported periods:

Impaired debt, credit risk and provision for credit losses

As stated in Note 1.D.6 to these financial statements, the group-based provision for credit losses is based, inter alia, on
historical loss rates in various economic sectors, divided into problematic and non-problematic debt, for the 8 years ended
on the report date.

For more information about application of the Supervisor of Banks' directives concerning sector liability limit, see Note
1.C.3.

Provisions with respect to contingent liabilities and lawsuits

For more information about a DPA agreement reached by the Bank and the US Department of Justice, to conclude the
derivative investigation of Bank Group business with its US clients and its financial implications for these financial
statements, see chapter "Business goals and strategy", chapter "Explanation and analysis of results and business
standing (Significant Events in the Bank Group's Business)", as well as Note 26.C.12 to the financial statements.
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Material developments in revenues, expenses and other comprehensive income

Net profit for the Group in 2018 amounted to NIS 1,206® million. This includes provisions-with respect to the investigation
by the US Department of Justice.

In the second quarter of 2018 — NIS 425 million.

In the fourth quarter of 2018 — NIS 121 million.

Total provision with respect to the investigation by the US Department of Justice in 2018 — NIS 546 million.
Against this background, return on equity in 2018 — 8.5%.

Net profit in 2017 — NIS 1,347 million (return on equity in 2017 — 10.2%).

Net profit in the fourth quarter of 2018 was impacted by the aforementioned provision and amounted to NIS 202 million®
(return on equity — 5.7%).
Net profit in the corresponding period last year — NIS 365 million (return on equity in 2017 — 11.2%).

Analysis of developments in revenues, expenses and other comprehensive income

Net interest revenues and non-interest financing revenues® in 2018 amounted to NIS 5,367 million, as described on
these financial statements, compared to NIS 4,483 million in 2017, an increase by 19.7%.

Net interest revenues and non-interest financing revenues® in the fourth quarter of 2018 amounted to NIS 1,381 million,
as described on these financial statements, compared to NIS 1,191 million in the corresponding period last year, an
increase by 16.0%.

Net interest revenues and non-interest financing revenues® from current operations in 2018 amounted to NIS 4,939
million, as described below, compared to NIS 4,333 million in 2017, an increase by 14.0%.

Net interest revenues and non-interest financing revenues @ from current operations in the fourth quarter of 2018
amounted to NIS 1,324 million, as described below, compared to NIS 1,124 million in the corresponding period last year,
an increase by 17.8%.

Below is analysis of development in financing revenues from current operations (NIS in millions):

All of All of Change rate

2018 2017 (In %)
Interest revenues, net 4,922 4,347
Non-interest financing revenues® 445 136
Total financing revenues 5,367 4,483 19.7
Less:
Effect of CPI 182 32
Revenues from collection of interest on problematic debts 41 43
Gains from realized debentures and available-for-sale securities and
gains from debentures held for trading, net 15 43
Effect of accounting treatment of derivatives at fair value and others® 190 32
Total effects from other than current operations 428 150
Total financing revenues from current operations 4,939 4,333 14.0

(1) Operating and other expenses for 2018 include a provision, amounting to NIS 546 million, with respect to the investigation by the
US Department of Justice (NIS 425 million in the second quarter and NIS 121 million in the fourth quarter).

The Bank's net operating profit, excluding the aforementioned provisions and taking into account the provisions for bonus
payments in line with operating profitability in that period and related tax expenses, amounted to:

In the second quarter of 2018 — NIS 472 million.

In the fourth quarter of 2018 — NIS 378 million.

In 2018 — NIS 1,647 thousand.

(2)  Non-interest financing revenues include effect of fair value and others and expense with respect to linkage differentials on CPI
derivatives, where the corresponding revenue is recognized as interest revenues, in conformity with accounting rules.

(3) The effect of accounting treatment of derivatives at fair value is due to the difference between accounting treatment of balance
sheet instruments, charged to the profit and loss statement on an accrual basis (interest, linkage differentials and exchange rate
differentials only), vs. derivatives measured at their fair value.

Other impacts include the effect of Bank coverage against tax exposure with respect to overseas investments, by allocating excess
financing sources against such investments.
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Below is an analysis of development in financing revenues from current operations — Continued (NIS in millions):

Change in %

2018 2018 2018 2018 2017 2017 2017 2017 Fourth quarter of
Fourth Third Second First Fourth Third Second First 2018 to fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter quarter of 2017
Interest revenues, net 1,260 1,236 1,345 1,081 1,136 1,011 1,173 1,027
Non-interest financing
revenues (expenses) @ 121 105 129 90 55 61 21 @)
Total financing revenues 1,381 1,341 1,474 1,171 1,191 1,072 1,194 1,026 16.0
Less:
Effect of CPI 17 32 172 (39) 10 (62) 105 (21)
Revenues from collection of
interest on problematic debts 12 9 8 12 10 11 9 13
Gains from realized
debentures and available-for-
sale securities and gains from
debentures held for trading,
net 2 11 - 2 2 16 18 7
Effect of accounting treatment
of derivatives at fair value and
others® 26 36 73 55 45 12 (5) (20)
Total effects from other than
current operations 57 88 253 30 67 (23) 127 (21)
Total financing revenues
from current operations 1,324 1,253 1,221 1,141 1,124 1,095 1,067 1,047 17.8

(1) Non-interest financing revenues include effect of fair value and others and expense with respect to linkage differentials on CPI
derivatives, where the corresponding revenue is recognized as interest revenues, in conformity with accounting rules.

(2) The effect of accounting treatment of derivatives at fair value is due to the difference between accounting treatment of balance
sheet instruments, charged to the profit and loss statement on an accrual basis (interest, linkage differentials and exchange rate
differentials only), vs. derivatives measured at their fair value. Other impacts include the effect of Bank coverage against tax
exposure with respect to overseas investments, by allocating excess financing sources against such investments.

Below are total financing revenues by supervisory operating segment (NIS in millions):

For the year ended For the year ended

Operating segment

December 31, 2018 December 31, 2017

Change amount

Change rate (In %)

Individuals:

Households — housing loans 1,517 1,311 206 15.7
Households — other 1,273 1,143 130 11.4
Private banking 76 59 17 28.8
Total —individuals 2,866 2,513 353 14.0
Business operations:

Small and micro businesses 1,005 895 110 12.3
Medium businesses 244 206 38 18.4
Large businesses 534 463 71 15.3
Institutional investors 118 111 7 6.3
Total — business operations 1,901 1,675 226 13.5
Financial management 387 126 261 -
Total activity in Israel 5,154 4,314 840 19.5
Overseas operations 213 169 44 26.0
Total 5,367 4,483 884 19.7

For definition of supervisory operating segments and differences between supervisory operating segments and operating
segments based on the management approach — see chapter "Supervisory operating segments" below and chapter "Other
Information about the Bank and its Management " on the Financial Statements.
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Below are attributable to operations in Israel in the various linkage segments attributable to operations in Israel in the
various linkage segments (NIS in millions):

For the year ended For the year ended
Linkage segment December 31, 2018 December 31, 2017 Change in %
Israeli currency — non-linked 161,959 153,835 5.3
Israeli currency — linked to the CPI 52,560 50,996 3.1
Foreign currency (including Israeli currency linked to
foreign currency) 13,894 12,550 10.7
Total 228,413 217,381 5.1

The changes in average balances of interest-bearing assets in the different segments is due to growth in loans to the
public (housing loans, individual non-housing loans and business loans), in line with principles of the strategic plan.

The increase in average foreign currency balances is due to higher cash balances and deposits in foreign currency, as
part of the Bank's asset and liability management.

Below are interest spreads (difference between interest income on assets and interest expenses on liabilities)® based on
average balances®, attributable to operations in Israel in the various linkage segments, (in percent):

For the year For the year For the quarter For the quarter

ended Decemberended Decemberended Decemberended December

Linkage segment 31, 2018 31, 2017 31, 2018 31, 2017
Israeli currency — non-linked 1.90 1.95 1.95 2.02
Israeli currency — linked to the CPI 1.24 0.84 1.68 0.89
Foreign currency 1.12 1.48 0.88 1.57
Total 1.69 1.65 1.76 1.73

(1) Revenue and expense rates were calculated relative to interest-bearing assets and liabilities.
(2) Average balances before deduction of provision with respect to credit losses.

In the non-linked NIS-denominated sector — the lower interest rate spread is due to raising of long-term sources with fixed costs.
In the CPI-linked NIS-denominated segment —the higher interest spread is due to the continued improvement in interest margins.
In the foreign currency segment — higher FED interest rates impacted the cost of sources. On the other hand, revenues
from net derivative assets are not included in the interest spreads presented above (as for the other segments).

For composition of interest spreads by different criteria (activity type, linkage segment and quantity and price analysis),
more information about non-interest bearing assets and liabilities and information about overseas activities, see appendix
"Interest Revenue and Expense Rates" to the annual financial statements.

Expenses with respect to credit losses for the Group in 2018 amounted to NIS 310 million, or 0.16% of total loans to
the public, net compared to NIS 192 million in 2017, or 0.11% of total loans to the public, net), for a total increase of NIS
118 million.

Expenses with respect to credit losses for the Group amounted to NIS 77 million in the fourth quarter of 2018, or an
annualized rate of 0.16% of total loans to the public, net, compared with NIS 60 million in the corresponding period last
year — an annualized rate of 0.13% of total loans to the public, net in the corresponding period last year — an increase by
NIS 17 million in total.

Development of expenses with respect to credit losses (NIS in millions) is as follows:

For the year For the year For the quarter For the quarter
ended Decemberended Decemberended Decemberended December
31, 2018 31, 2017 31, 2018 31, 2017
Provision for credit losses on individual basis
(including accounting write-offs)
Increased expenses 374 354 110 94
Reduced expenses (171) (230) (51) (46)
Total individual provision 203 124 59 48
Provision for credit losses on Group basis:
By extent of arrears 10 1 (5) 2
Other 97 67 23 10
Total expenses with respect to credit losses 310 192 77 60
Rate of the expenses with respect to credit losses
as percentage of total loans to the public, net
(annualized) 0.16% 0.11% 0.16% 0.13%
Of which: With respect to commercial loans other
than housing loans 0.40% 0.27% 0.44% 0.35%
Of which: With respect to housing loans 0.03% 0.02% 0.01% 0.02%
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Reduced expenses for the individual provision for credit losses was impacted by some maximization of collection of
previously written-off debts up to the present.

The other group-based provision was impacted by higher growth in commercial lending, on- and off-balance sheet,
compared to the corresponding period last year.

Below are details of expenses with respect to credit losses by supervisory operating segments of the Group (NIS in millions):

For the year For the year For the quarter For the quarter
ended Decemberended Decemberended Decemberended December
Operating segments 31, 2018 31, 2017 31, 2018 31, 2017
Individuals:
Households — housing loans 36 24 2 6
Households — other 108 122 27 36
Private banking 1 1 - -
Total —individuals 145 147 29 42
Business operations:
Small and micro businesses 137 149 34 42
Medium businesses 11 7 12 23
Large businesses 8 (89) (5) (42)
Institutional investors 2 (22) 2 3)
Total — business operations 158 45 43 20
Financial management 3 (1) 2 (1)
Total activity in Israel 306 191 74 61
Overseas activity 4 1 3 (1)
Total 310 192 77 60

For definition of supervisory operating segments and differences between supervisory operating segments and operating
segments based on the management approach — see chapter "Supervisory operating segments" below and chapter "Other
Information about the Bank and its Management " on the Financial Statements.

For more information about analysis of development of loans to the public, see chapter "Analysis of composition of assets,
liabilities, capital and capital adequacy" below.

For more information about analysis of credit risk, see chapter "Credit risk" below and the detailed Risks Management
Report on the Bank website.

Non-interest revenues amounted to NIS 1,967 million in 2018, compared with NIS 1,653 million in 2017, an increase by
NIS 314 million.

Non-interest revenues in the fourth quarter of 2018 amounted to NIS 517 million, compared to NIS 464 million in the
corresponding period last year, an increase by NIS 53 million — see explanation below.

Non-interest financing revenues in 2018 amounted to NIS 445 million, compared to NIS 136 million in the corresponding
period last year.

Non-interest financing expenses in the fourth quarter of 2018 amounted to NIS 121 million, compared to NIS 55 million in
the corresponding period last year — see explanation below.

This item includes, inter alia, the effect of fair value, gains (losses) from transactions in debentures and securities and
expenses (revenues) with respect to linkage differentials on CPI derivatives, where the corresponding revenues
(expenses) are recognized as interest revenues, in conformity with accounting rules. The significant upward trend in non-
interest financing revenues is also due to higher interest rates. The effect of interest accrual (time value) inherent in
derivative assets is charged, in conformity with accounting practices, to Non-interest Financing Revenues. See analysis
of financing revenues from current operations above.

Commission revenues amounted to NIS 1,475 million in 2018, compared with NIS 1,423 million in 2017, an increase by 3.7%.

Commission revenues in the fourth quarter of 2018 amounted to NIS 384 million, compared to NIS 367 million in the
corresponding period last year — an increase by 4.6%.

For more information about commission revenues by commission type, see Note 4 to the financial statements.
Other revenues in 2018 amounted to NIS 47 million, compared with NIS 94 million in 2017, a decrease by NIS 47 million.

Other revenues in the fourth quarter of 2018, amounted to NIS 12 million compared with NIS 42 million in the
corresponding period last year — a decrease by NIS 30 million.

In 2017 and in the fourth quarter of 2017, capital gains amounting to NIS 47 million and NIS 30 million before tax,
respectively, from realization of assets were included in conjunction with asset reorganization and streamlining of the
Bank's branch network.
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Operating and other expenses amounted to NIS 4,384 million in 2018, compared with NIS 3,611 million in 2017.

Operating and other expenses in the fourth quarter of 2018 amounted to NIS 1,211 million, compared to NIS 939 million
in the corresponding period last year.
Operating expenses include provisions with respect to:
- Provision with respect to the investigation by the US Department of Justice, as stated above.
- Provision for payroll and associated expenses, amounting to NIS 94 million, following a verdict with regard to
economic arbitration between the Bank and the Employees’ Union. For more information see Note 22.A.6 to the
financial statements.

See details by operating expense component below.

Payroll and associated expenses amounted to NIS 2,407 million in 2018, compared with NIS 2,271 million in 2017, an
increase by 6.0%.
Payroll and associated expenses amounted to NIS 683 million in the fourth quarter of 2018, compared with NIS 593 million
in the corresponding period last year — an increase by NIS 90 million.
In the fourth quarter of this year, a provision was recorded, amounting to NIS 94 million, following a verdict with regard to
economic arbitration between the Bank and the Employees’ Union. For more information see Note 22.A.6 to the financial
statements.
With reference to the aforementioned changes between the reported periods, note also these other material effects:

- Inthe third quarter of 2017, results include extraordinary payroll expenses amounting to NIS 160 million with respect

to the payroll agreement with the Employees’ Union for 2016-2021.

- Adjustment of bonuses to reported results.

- At this stage, implementation of the voluntary retirement plan is partial.
Maintenance and depreciation expenses for buildings and equipment in 2018 amounted to NIS 747 million, compared
with NIS 742 million in 2017, an increase by NIS 5 million.
Maintenance and depreciation expenses for buildings and equipment amounted to NIS 186 million in the fourth
quarter of 2018, compared with NIS 188 million in the corresponding period last year — a decrease by NIS 2 million.
For more information about expenses with respect to IT, see chapter "Composition and development of assets, liabilities,
capital and capital adequacy" below.
Other expenses amounted to NIS 1,230 million in 2018, compared with NIS 598 million in 2017.

Other expenses in the fourth quarter of 2018 amounted to NIS 342 million, compared to NIS 158 million in the
corresponding period last year. Other expenses include provisions with respect to the investigation by the US Department
of Justice, as mentioned above.

In the fourth quarter of this year, a provision was recorded with respect to a lawsuit brought against the Bank, amounting
to NIS 38 million.

Furthermore, in both periods there was an increase in expenses with respect to actuarial components, charged in conformity
with GAAP to Other Expenses (see Note 1.C.4 to the financial statements) and in professional services expenses.
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Cost-Income ratio information is as follows® (in percent):

2018 2018 2018 2018 2017 2017 2017 2017

Fourth Third Second First  Fourth Third Second First
Quarter Quarter quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter quarter Quarter
Cost-income ratio 268.1 54.5 @717 59.1 58.7 ©®)67.2 56.3 59.0

For the year ended December 31, 2018 For the year ended December 31, 2017
Cost-income ratio 63.6 60.2

(1) Total operating and other expenses to total operating and financing revenues and expenses with respect to credit losses.

(2) Operating and other expenses for 2018 include a provision, amounting to NIS 546 million, with respect to the investigation by the
US Department of Justice (NIS 425 million in the second quarter and NIS 121 million in the fourth quarter). The cost-income ratios
for the Bank's current operations, excluding the aforementioned provisions and taking into account the provisions for bonus
payments in line with operating profitability in that period and related tax expenses, are as follows:

In the second quarter of 2018 — 53.2%.
In the fourth quarter of 2018 — 61.3%.
In 2018 - 57.2%.

(3) Expenses with respect to the memorandum of understanding with the Employees’ Union and with respect to the negative known

CPlI resulted in an increase in the cost-income ratio in the third quarter of 2017, by 13.4 percentage points.

Group profit before taxes amounted to NIS 2,195 million in 2018, compared with NIS 2,197 million in 2017, a decrease
by 0.1%.

Pre-tax profit for the Group in the fourth quarter of 2018 amounted to NIS 489 million, compared to NIS 601 million in the
corresponding period last the third — a decrease by 18.6%. See detailed explanation above.

The provision rate for taxes on profit in 2018 was 42.0%, compared to 36.7% in 2017.

The provision rate for taxes on profit in the fourth quarter of 2018 was 54.8% — compared to 36.9% in the corresponding
period last year.

The difference in provision for taxes, compared to the corresponding periods last year, is primarily due to increase in
expenses in the second and fourth quarters of this year, by NIS 55 and NIS 97 million, respectively, due to potential tax
implications with regard to a provision with respect to the investigation by the US Department of Justice.

For more information see Note 8 to the financial statements.

The Bank's share of after-tax profit of associated companies in 2018 amounted to gain with respect to associated
companies of NIS 1 million, compared to no profit with respect to associated companies in 2017.

In the fourth quarter of 2018 there were no profits with respect to associated companies, similar to the corresponding
period last year.

The share of non-controlling interest in net results of subsidiaries attributable to Bank Yahav in 2018 amounted to
NIS 68 million, compared to NIS 44 million in 2017.

The share of the non-controlling interests in net results of subsidiaries attributable to Bank Yahav in the fourth quarter of
2018 amounted to NIS 19 million, compared to NIS 14 million in the corresponding period last year.

The increase in Bank Yahav earnings is due to an increase in business, improved financing margins and stable expenses.

Net profit attributable to shareholders of the Bank amounted to NIS 1,206 million in 2018, compared with NIS 1,347
million in 2017, a decrease by NIS 141 million.

Net profit attributable to shareholders of the Bank amounted to NIS 202 million in the fourth quarter of 2018, compared
with NIS 365 million in the corresponding period last year — a decrease by NIS 163 million.

Other comprehensive income attributable to shareholders of the Bank increased in 2018 and in the fourth quarter of
2018 by NIS 103 million and by NIS 104 million, respectively compared to the corresponding periods last year. The change
is primarily due to adjustments with respect to employees’ benefits and to adjustments with respect to presentation of
securities available for sale at fair value. See Note 10 to the financial statements for details.

For more information about results of the Bank Group for the interim period, see multi-quarter information for the past two
years in Addendums to the financial statements.
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Below is the development of Group return® on equity® and ratio of Tier | capital to risk components liquidity coverage
ratio® and leverage ratio at the end of the quarter® (in %):

2018 2018 2018 2018 2017 2017 2017 2017

Fourth Third Second First Fourth Third Second First
Quarter Quarter quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter quarter Quarter

Net return on equity ®5.7 13.4 ®6.1 10.3 11.2 8.0 12.7 10.4
Ratio of Tier | capital to risk

components at end of quarter 10.01 10.11 9.95 10.16 10.20 10.16 10.15 10.12
(Quarterly) liquidity coverage

ratio 116 121 120 ©®125 118 117 122 118
Leverage ratio at end of

quarter 5.42 5.47 5.38 5.43 5.48 5.36 5.42 5.27

For the year ended December 31, 2018 For the year ended December 31, 2017

Net return on equity 8.5 10.2

(1) Annualized return.
(2) Return on average shareholders’ equity, including “total capital resources”, as presented in reporting of revenue and expense

rates, less average balance of minority interests and less/plus the average balance of unrealized gains/losses from adjustment to
fair value of debentures held for trading as well as gains/losses from debentures available for sale.

(3) Liquidity Coverage Ratio — ratio of total High-Quality Liquid Assets to net cash outflow. This ratio is calculated in conformity with

Proper Conduct of Banking Business Directive 221, in terms of simple averages of daily observations during the reported quarter.

(4) Leverage Ratio — ratio of Tier | capital, according to Basel rules, to total exposure. This ratio is calculated in conformity with

Proper Conduct of Banking Business Directive 218

(5) Operating and other expenses for 2018 include a provision, amounting to NIS 546 million, with respect to the investigation by the

6

US Department of Justice (NIS 425 million in the second quarter and NIS 121 million in the fourth quarter). Net profit return on
equity from the Bank's current operations, excluding the aforementioned provisions and taking into account the provisions for
bonus payments in line with operating profitability in that period and related tax expenses, is as follows:

In the second quarter of 2018 — 14.1%.

In the fourth quarter of 2018 — 10.7%.

In 2018 - 11.6%.

Includes the effect of implementation of Bank of Israel guidelines to apply a reduced withdrawal rate with respect to operational
deposits, as from the first quarter of 2018.

~

(7) Expenses with respect to the memorandum of understanding with the Employees’ Union and with respect to the negative known

CPlI resulted in a decrease in the rate of return in the third quarter of 2017, by 4.6 percentage points.

Earnings and dividends per ordinary, NIS 0.1 par value share are as follows (in NIS):

2018 2018 2018 2018 2017 2017 2017 2017

Fourth Third Second First Fourth Third Second First
Quarter Quarter quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter quarter Quarter

Basic earnings per share 0.87 1.95 0.89 1.47 1.57 1.12 1.72 1.38
Diluted earnings per share 0.86 1.94 0.88 1.46 1.56 1.11 1.71 1.37
Dividends per share (in
Agorot) O — O — 58.91 47.03 33.67 51.63 41.45 17.10
For the year ended For the year ended For the year ended
December 31,2018 December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016
Basic earnings per share 5.17 5.80 5.46
Diluted earnings per share 5.15 5.76 5.45
Dividends per share (in Agorot) 1106.00 143.91 80.26
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Analysis of composition of assets, liabilities,

capital and capital adequacy

Assets and liabilities

Development of key balance sheet items for the Bank Group (NIS in millions) is as follows:

Balance sheet total

Cash and deposits with banks
Loans to the public, net

Securities

Buildings and equipment

Deposits from the public

Deposits from banks

Debentures and subordinated notes
Shareholders’ equity

December 31, December 31,

2018 2017 Change in %
257,873 239,572 7.6
45,162 41,130 9.8
194,381 181,118 7.3
11,081 10,133 9.4
1,424 1,403 15
199,492 183,573 8.7
625 1,125 -
30,616 29,923 2.3
14,681 13,685 7.3

Cash and deposits with banks — the balance of cash and deposits with banks increased in 2018 by NIS 4.0 billion. The
increase in the cash balance is part of on-going management of Bank liquidity.

Loans to the public, net —loans to the public, net on the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2018 accounted
for 75% of total assets, compared to 76% at the end of 2017. Loans to the public, net for the Group increased in 2018 by

NIS 13.3 billion, an increase by 7.3%.

For more information about on-balance sheet and off-balance sheet credit risk, development of problematic debts and
various risk benchmarks with regard to housing loans, see chapter "Risks" below and the Detailed Risks Report on the

Bank website.

Loans to the public, net by linkage basis (NIS in millions) are as follows:

Balance as of
December 31

Balance as of
December 31

Percentage of Percentage of
total loans to thetotal loans to the
public, net as of public, net as of
December 31 December 31

Linkage segment 2018 2017 Change in % 2018 2017
Israeli currency

Non-linked 129,087 120,730 6.9 66.4 66.7

CPlI-linked 53,339 50,293 6.1 27.4 27.8
Foreign currency and foreign
currency linked 11,955 10,095 18.4 6.2 5.6
Total 194,381 181,118 7.3 100.0 100.0
Loans to the public, net by supervisory operating segments (NIS in millions) are as follows:

2018 2017 Change in %

Individuals:
Households — housing loans 126,105 119,559 55
Households — other 20,932 19,824 5.6
Private banking 98 117 (16.2)
Total — individuals 147,135 139,500 5.5
Business operations:
Small and micro businesses 18,977 16,717 135
Medium businesses 6,585 5,779 13.9
Large businesses 16,236 14,833 9.5
Institutional investors 1,331 1,166 14.2
Total — business operations 43,129 38,495 12.0
Overseas operations 4,117 3,123 318
Total 194,381 181,118 7.3
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For definition of supervisory operating segments and differences between supervisory operating segments and operating
segments based on the management approach — see chapter "Supervisory operating segments” below and chapter "Other
Information about the Bank and Management thereof" on the Financial Statements.

Below are details of problematic credit risk and non-performing assets before provision for credit losses, in accordance
with provisions for measurement and disclosure of impaired debts, credit risk and provision for credit loss:

As of As of
December December
31, 2018 31,2018 As of

Credit risk® Credit risk®

As of

As of

December December
31, 2017 31, 2017 As of

December Credit risk® Credit risk® December

Reported amounts On balance Off balance 31,2018 On balance Off balance 31, 2017
(NIS in millions) sheet sheet Total sheet sheet Total
1. Problematic credit risk

Impaired credit risk 1,101 64 1,165 723 63 786
Inferior credit risk 152 - 152 315 - 315
Credit risk under special supervision® 1,724 48 1,772 1,499 30 1,529
Total problematic credit risk 2,977 112 3,089 2,537 93 2,630
Of which: Non-impaired debts in arrears 90

days or longer® 1,316 1,136

2. Non-performing assets® 1,058 697

(1) On- and off-balance sheet credit is stated before impact of provision for credit losses, and before impact of deductible collateral

with respect to indebtedness of borrower and of borrower group.

(2) Including with respect to housing loans for which a provision was made by extent of arrears, and housing loans for which no
provision was made by extent of arrears and which are in arrears of 90 days or longer, amounting to NIS 1,241 million (as of

December 31, 2017 — NIS 1,072 million).
(3) Assets not accruing interest.

For more information about credit risk with respect to individuals (excluding housing loans), credit risk in the construction
and real estate economic sector in Israel and housing loan risk, see chapter "Credit risk" below and chapter "Credit risk"

in the detailed Risks Report available on the Bank website.

For more information see also Notes 13 and 30 to the financial statements.

Development of Group credit risk distribution by size of borrower (in %) is as follows:

2018

Share of total
Group credit

2018

Share of total
Group number

2017

Share of total
Group credit

2017

Share of total
Group number

Credit risk per borrower (NIS in thousands) risk  of borrowers risk  of borrowers
Up to 150 9.6 70.9 10.0 71.6
150-600 20.7 17.5 22.7 18.0
600-2,000 37.7 10.7 35.3 9.6
Above 2,000 32.0 0.9 32.0 0.8
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Credit risk by major industrial sectors with respect to borrower operations in Israel® (NIS in millions):

2018 2017

2018 Percentage of total 2017 Percentage of total

On-balance sheet balance-sheet credit On-balance sheet balance-sheet credit

Sector credit risk® risk credit risk®® risk@
Private individuals (includes

mortgages) 146,201 75.7 139,030 77.3

Construction and real estate 17,014 8.8 14,341 8.0

Financial services 5,777 3.0 4,246 2.4

Industry 5,903 3.1 5,063 2.8

Commerce 8,159 4.2 7,607 4.2

Other 10,031 5.2 9,640 5.3

Total 193,085 100.0 179,927 100.0

(1) Includes credit and investments in debentures by the public, and other assets with respect to derivative instruments of the public.
(2) Reclassified.

Credit risk is composed of on-balance-sheet risk and off-balance-sheet credit risk, which are weighted by nature of the
borrower and credit type, as per Bank of Israel directives. On-balance-sheet risk includes balances of loans to the public,
derivative instruments purchased by the public and Group investment in public debentures. Off-balance-sheet credit risk
includes guarantees and transactions in off-balance-sheet instruments, obligations to provide credit and unutilized credit
facilities. Total credit risk to the public for the Bank Group as of December 31, 2018 amounted to NIS 254 billion, compared
to NIS 235 billion as of December 31, 2017 — an increase by 8.0%.

Development of key off balance sheet items for the Bank Group (NIS in millions) is as follows:

Change in % over

December 31, December 31, December 31,
2018 2017 2017

Off balance sheet financial instruments other than
derivatives®:
Unutilized debitory account and other credit facilities in
accounts
available on demand 15,586 15,045 3.6
Guarantees to home buyers 10,544 10,795 (2.3)
Irrevocable commitments for loans approved but not yet
granted 16,730 12,044 38.9
Unutilized revolving credit card facilities 7,574 6,801 11.4
Commitments to issue guarantees 7,482 5,981 25.1
Guarantees and other liabilities 7,945 5,677 40.0
Loan guarantees 2,388 2,283 4.6
Documentary credit 292 201 45.3
Financial derivatives®@:
Total par value of financial derivatives 246,375 227,453 8.3
(On-balance sheet) assets with respect to derivative
instruments 3,240 3,808 (14.9)
(On-balance sheet) liabilities with respect to derivative
instruments 3,661 3,293 11.2

(1) Contractual balances or their stated amounts at the end of the period, before effect of provision for credit losses. For more
information see Note 11 to the financial statements.

(2) Includes forward transactions, swaps, options and credit derivatives.
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Securities - investment in securities increased in 2018 by NIS 0.9 billion. The increase in the balance of investment in

securities is in the framework of asset and liability management of the Bank.
Composition of Group securities by portfolio (NIS in millions) is as follows:
December 31, 2018

Unrecognized
gains from
Carrying Amortized cost (for adjustments to

Unrecognized

losses from

adjustments to

amount shares — cost) fair value fair value Fair value®
Securities held to maturity 3,917 3,917 29 (6) 3,940
Securities available for sale 6,876 6,965 @6 @(95) 6,876
Securities held for trading 288 288 - - 288
Total securities 11,081 11,170 35 (101) 11,104
December 31, 2017
Unrecognized Unrecognized
gains from losses from
Carrying Amortized cost (for adjustments to adjustments to
amount shares — cost) fair value fair value Fair value®
Securities held to maturity 3,267 3,267 75 - 3,342
Securities available for sale 6,657 6,678 @24 @45 6,657
Securities held for trading 209 209 - - 209
Total securities 10,133 10,154 99 (45) 10,208

)

sale of a large volume of securities.

@

Distribution of Group security portfolio by linkage segment (NIS in millions) is as follows:

Fair value data are generally based on stock exchange prices, which do not necessarily reflect the price to be obtained on the

Included in shareholders' equity in "adjustments on presentation of securities available for sale at fair value".

Balance as of

Balance as of
December 31 2018

December 31

2017 Change in %
Israeli currency
Non-linked 4,661 3,859 20.8
CPI-linked 418 753 (44.5)
Foreign currency and foreign currency linked 5,910 5,422 9.0
Non-monetary items 92 99 (7.1)
Total 11,081 10,133 9.4

Distribution of Group security portfolio by issuer type (NIS in millions) is as follows:

Carrying amount as of
December 31, 2018

Carrying amount as of
December 31, 2017

Government debentures:

Government of Israel 8,625 7,612
Government of USA 1,862 2,233
Total government debentures 10,487 9,845
Debentures of banks in developed nations:

Germany 186 173
USA 74 -
Other 224 -
Total debentures of banks in developed nations 1484 173
Corporate debentures (composition by economic sector):

Public and community services 10 10
Financial services 8 6
Total corporate debentures 18 16
Shares @92 99
Total securities 11,081 10,133

(1) Includes exposure to Multi-party Development Banks (MDB).

(2) Includes shares for which a fair value is not available, that are stated at cost, net of a provision for decline in value other than
temporary, amounting to NIS 91 and 98 million as of December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively.
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For more information about investments in securities and impairment of a temporary nature of securities available for sale,
listing the duration of impairment and its rate out of the amortized cost, see Note 12 to the financial statements.

Buildings and equipment — The balance of buildings and equipment increased in 2018 by NIS 21 million. The increase
in buildings and equipment is due to new investments, primarily as part of technological investments, and offset by current
change with respect to depreciation.

Investments and expenses with respect to IT

Below is information about investments and expenses for the Bank with respect to IT.

IT-related expenses, as listed on the statement of profit and loss (NIS in millions):

For the year For the year For the year For the year For the year For the year For the year For the year
ended ended ended ended ended ended ended ended
December December December December December December December December
31 (reported 31 (reported 31 (reported 31 (reported 31 (reported 31 (reported 31 (reported 31 (reported
amounts) amounts) amounts) amounts) amounts) amounts) amounts) amounts)

2018 2018 2018 2018 2017 2017 2017 2017

Software  Hardware Other Total Software  Hardware Other Total
Payroll and
associated
expenses®) 214 39 32 286 221 40 30 291
Usage license
expenses not
capitalized to
assets® 110 13 1 124 106 14 2 122
Outsourcing
expenses® 131® 6 9 146 133® 6 8 147
Depreciation
expenses® 160 33 - 193 161 35 1 196
Other expenses® 12 2 34 48 12 2 31 44
Total expenses 627 93 77 797 633 97 72 801

Total cost with respect to IT recognized as assets on the financial statements in the reported period

Additional IT-related assets not expensed (NIS in millions):

For the year For the year For the year For the year For the year For the year For the year For the year
ended ended ended ended ended ended ended ended
December December December December December December December December
31 (reported 31 (reported 31 (reported 31 (reported 31 (reported 31 (reported 31 (reported 31 (reported
amounts) amounts) amounts) amounts) amounts) amounts) amounts) amounts)

2018 2018 2018 2018 2017 2017 2017 2017

Software  Hardware Other Total Software  Hardware Other Total
Payroll and
associated
expenses® 16 - - 16 17 - - 17
Cost of acquisition of
usage licenses® 62 59 1 122 61 34 1 96
Outsourcing
expenses® 67 - - 67 66 - - 66
Total 145 59 1 205 143 34 1 179

Balance of IT-related assets at the end of the reported period

Balance of IT-related assets (NIS in millions):
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For the year For the year For the year Forthe year Forthe year Forthe year Forthe year For the year
ended ended ended ended ended ended ended ended
December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31
(reported (reported (reported (reported (reported (reported (reported (reported
amounts) amounts) amounts) amounts) amounts) amounts) amounts) amounts)

2018 2018 2018 2018 2017 2017 2017 2017
Software Hardware Other Total Software Hardware Other Total
Total
depreciated
balance 488 86 3 577 476 70 3 549
Of which:
Payroll and
associated
expenses 39 — - 39 38 - - 38

@)
@
®)
4)

(5)
(6)
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Includes payroll of hardware and software professionals as well as payroll of other IT staff, such as: administrative staff,
maintenance staff and operations staff. Payroll costs added to assets include labor costs for development of software for the
Bank's own use, capitalized to assets in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.

These expenses primarily consist of current software maintenance. These expenses are included on the financial statements
under "Maintenance and depreciation expenses for buildings and equipment”. Additions to assets are with respect to usage
licenses and software purchases.

These expenses are with respect to hardware and software maintenance by external employees. These expenses are included
on the financial statements under "Maintenance and depreciation expenses for buildings and equipment". Additions to assets with
respect to outsourcing include cost of external employees employed by the Bank to develop software for the Bank's own use.
For more information about accounting policies with regard to depreciation expenses, see Notes 1.D.8 and 16 to the financial
statements.

Includes expenses with respect to rent and taxes, communication and general & administrative expenses.

As from January 1, 2017, Bank Yahav receives IT and operating services from an international Tata Group company. The
company specializes, inter alia, in providing IT services to financial institutions and banking corporations world-wide. In this
regard, Bank Yahav uses a core banking system which includes banking services in various channels, based on the bank's lines
of business. The cost of service in 2018 amounted to NIS 97 million (in 2017: NIS 95 million).
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Deposits from the public —these account for 77% of total consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2018, similar
to the rate at the end of 2017. In 2018, deposits from the public for the Bank Group increased by NIS 15.9 billion, an
increase by 8.7%. Deposits from the public include deposits from retail clients, corporations, financial entities and others.

Composition of deposits from the public by linkage segments (NIS in millions) is as follows:

Share of total Share of total
deposits from deposits from
the public as of the public as of

Balance as Balance as December 31 December 31
of December of December (in percent)  (in percent)
Linkage segment 312018 312017 Change in % 2018 2017
Israeli currency
Non-linked 145,705 133,194 9.4 73.0 72.6
CPI-linked 14,443 15,681 (7.9) 7.2 8.5
Foreign currency and foreign currency
linked 39,344 34,698 13.4 19.7 18.9
Total 199,492 183,573 8.7 100.0 100.0

Composition of deposits from the public by supervisory operating segments (NIS in millions) is as follows:

As of December As of December Change rate

31, 2018 31, 2017 (In %)
Individuals:
Households — other 82,119 75,008 9.5
Private banking 13,777 12,448 10.7
Total — individuals 95,896 87,456 9.7
Business operations:
Small and micro businesses 22,664 18,942 19.6
Medium businesses 8,332 7,138 16.7
Large businesses 29,460 26,284 12.1
Institutional investors 37,712 38,881 (3.0)
Total — business operations 98,168 91,245 7.6
Overseas operations 5,428 4,872 11.4
Total 199,492 183,573 8.7
Evolution of deposits from the public for the Group by depositor size (NIS in millions) is as follows:

2018 2017

Maximum deposit
Upto1l 69,559 n63,493
Over 1to 10 47,240 41,125
Over 10 to 100 26,703 26,906
Over 100 to 500 18,658 23,911
Above 500 37,332 28,138
Total 199,492 183,573

Deposits from banks — The balance of deposits from banks decreased in 2018 by NIS 0.5 billion. The decrease is
primarily due to a current change in deposits of collateral with respect to transactions in derivatives.

For more information on the evolution of the composition of deposits from the public and the evolution of the composition
of deposits from banks, see Notes 18 and 19 to the financial statements.

Debentures and subordinated notes — The balance of debentures and subordinated notes increased in 2018 by NIS
0.7 billion. See also chapter "Developments in financing sources" above.

For more information about balances of assets and liabilities for the Bank Group for interim periods, see multi-quarter
information for the past two years in Addendums to the annual financial statements.
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Capital, capital adequa-cy and leverage

Shareholders’ equity attributable to shareholders of the Bank — Shareholders’ equity attributable to equity holders of
the Bank as of December 31, 2018 amounted to NIS 14.7 billion, compared to NIS 13.7 billion as of December 31, 2017,
an increase by 7.3%.

Below is the composition of shareholders’ equity (NIS in millions):

As of As of
December 31, December 31,  Rateof change
2018 2017 (In %)
Share capital and premium® 2,197 2,180 0.8
Capital reserve from benefit from share-based payment transactions 48 65 (26.2)
Total cumulative other loss®®) (346) (383) 9.7)
Retained earnings® 12,782 11,823 8.1
Total 14,681 13,685 7.3

(1) For more information about share issuance, see statement of changes to shareholders’ equity.
(2) For more information about other comprehensive income (loss), see Note 10 to the financial statements.
(3) Includes actuarial liability with respect to employees’ retirement program, see Notes 22 and 25 to the financial statements.

(4) For more information about developments in revenues and expenses accumulated to retained earnings in the reported period,
see chapter "Material developments in revenues, expenses and other comprehensive income" above.

The ratio of shareholders' equity to total assets for the Group as of December 31, 2018 was 5.69%, compared to
5.71% as of the end of 2017.

Capital adequacy
Supervisory capital

The Bank assesses its capital adequacy in accordance with Basel rules, as prescribed by Proper Conduct of Banking
Business Directives 201-211. The Bank applies the standard approach in assessing exposure to credit risk, operational
risk and market risk.

Capital is composed of two tiers: Tier | capital (including Tier | capital and Tier | additional capital) and Tier Il capital.

Tier | capital primarily consists of equity attributable to shareholders of the Bank (accounting equity on the books) and
non-controlling interests, which is the primary component for loss absorption.

Additional Tier | capital consists of equity instruments which fulfill the requirements specified in the directives. As of
December 31, 2018, the Bank had no equity instruments included in additional Tier | capital.

Tier Il capital consists of the group-based provision for credit losses and CoCo (Contingent Convertible) capital
instruments, which include a provision for absorbing loss of principal when the Tier | Capital ratio drops below the specified
quantitative trigger level, or upon receiving notice from the Supervisor of Banks, whereby activating the provision for
absorbing loss of principal is required to ensure stability of the banking corporation (a Bank "non existence" event). For
more information about issue of debentures and contingent subordinated notes (Contingent Convertibles — CoCo) in 2018,
see chapter "Developments in financing sources" above.

Subordinated notes, recognized as Tier Il capital instruments under the previous directives, no longer qualify as
supervisory capital under the current directives (primarily due to lacking loss absorption provisions) and are amortized
over the term of the transitional provisions.
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Capital planning at the Bank

Capital planning in the normal course of business — The Bank prepares a detailed, multi-annual capital planning
forecast, taking the following into consideration: Expected growth rates of risk assets and profitability, the strategic plan,
dividends distribution policy, capital targets and leverage, appropriate safety margins and other factors.

The Bank regularly monitors the actual results vs. the forecast, revises the forecast as required and reviews any necessary
actions in order to achieve the specified capital targets.

The sensitivity of the Bank's capital adequacy ratio to changes in Tier | capital and risk assets is:

Change in Tier | capital by NIS 100 million would result in a change in Tier | capital adequacy ratio of 0.07%. Change in
risk assets by NIS 1 billion would result in a change in Tier | capital adequacy ratio of 0.07%.

Internal capital adequacy assessment process — The Bank uses this process to verify the existence of a sufficient
capital absorption buffer to address various risks associated with Bank operations, including stress scenarios.

The planning horizon is three years, in which the Bank challenges the strategic plan by a range of stress scenarios
involving significant impact to Bank profitability and erosion of Bank capital. The outcome of the Bank's most recent capital
planning indicates that the capital absorption buffer is sufficient.

For more information see the Detailed Risks Report on the Bank website.

Below is information about supervisory capital and risk assets on the consolidated report (NIS in millions):

As of As of
December December 31,
31, 2018 2017

Capital for purpose of calculating the capital ratio
Tier | shareholders’ equity 15,172 14,333
Tier | capital 15,172 14,333
Tier Il capital 5,515 5,251
Total capital 20,687 19,584

Weighted risk asset balances

Credit risk 140,572 130,525
Market risks 1,494 1,605
Operational risk 9,561 8,394
Total weighted risk asset balances® 151,627 140,524

Ratio of capital to risk components

As from January 1, 2014, the Bank applies provisions for capital measurement and adequacy, based on Basel Il
provisions, as published by the Supervisor of Banks and as incorporated in Proper Conduct of Banking Business
Directives 201-211. As per instructions of the Supervisor of Banks, as from January 1, 2015 the Bank is required to
maintain a minimum Tier | capital ratio of no less than 9% and a minimum total equity ratio of no less than 12.5% of
weighted total of risk components of its balance sheet assets and off-balance-sheet items. The Supervisor of Banks'
instructions specifies the manner of calculation of total capital and total risk components

An additional capital requirement was added to these ratios at 1% of the housing loan balance as of the report date.
Accordingly, the minimum Tier | capital ratio and the minimum total equity ratio required by the Supervisor of Banks, on a
consolidated basis, in conformity with data as of the reporting date, are 9.84% and 13.34%, respectively. See Note 25 to
the financial statements for additional information.

For more information about the Board of Directors resolutions with regard to capital to risk components ratio and to
dividends distribution policy, see Note 25 to the financial statements and chapter "Analysis of composition of assets,
liabilities, capital and capital adequacy" (Dividend distribution policy) below.
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Development of Group ratio of capital to risk components is as follows (in %):

December 31, December 31,

2018 2017
Ratio of Tier | capital to risk components 10.01® 10.20
Ratio of total capital to risk components 13.64 13.94
Minimum Tier | capital ratio required by Supervisor of Banks 9.84 9.86
Total minimum capital ratio required by the directives of the Supervisor of Banks 13.34 13.36

(1) Due to provisions with respect to the investigation by the US Department of Justice, safety margins maintained by the Bank for its
capital adequacy were somewhat eroded. The reported Tier | capital ratio is 10.01% (or 0.17% above the minimum ratio required
by the Supervisor of Banks).

Composition of risk assets and capital requirements with respect to credit risk by exposure group are as follows (NIS in
millions):

As of December As of December As of December As of December

31, 2018 31, 2018 31, 2017 31, 2017

Weighted risk Capital ~ Weighted risk Capital

Exposure group asset balances  requirement® asset balances  requirement®
Sovereign debts 223 30 688 92
Public sector entity debts 197 26 766 102
Banking corporation debts 712 95 927 124
Corporate debts 42,166 5,625 37,362 4,992
Debts secured by commercial real estate 2,523 337 2,459 328
Retail exposure to individuals 15,154 2,022 14,217 1,899
Loans to small businesses 7,468 996 6,858 916
Residential mortgages 66,663 8,893 62,265 8,319
Other assets 4,890 652 4,454 595
Total 139,996 18,676 129,996 17,367

(1) The capital requirement was calculated at 13.34% of risk asset balances.
(2) The capital requirement was calculated at 13.36% of risk asset balances.

Risk assets and capital requirements with respect to market risk, CVA risk and operational risk are as follows (NIS in
millions):

As of December As of December As of December As of December

31, 2018 31, 2018 31, 2017 31, 2017

Weighted risk Capital Weighted risk Capital

asset balances  requirement® asset balances  requirement®

Market risk 1,494 198 1,605 214
CVA risk with respect to derivatives® 576 77 529 71
Operational Risk® 9,561 1,275 8,394 1,121
Total 11,631 1,550 10,528 1,406
Total risk assets 151,627 20,178 140,524 18,773

(1) The capital requirement was calculated at 13.34% of risk asset balances.

(2) The capital requirement was calculated at 13.36% of risk asset balances.

(3) Credit Value Adjustments — mark to market with respect to credit risk of counter-party, in conformity with Basel Ill provisions.
(4) Capital allocation with respect to operational risk was calculated using the standard approach.

Leverage ratio

On April 28, 2015, the Supervisor of Banks issued a new Proper Conduct of Banking Business Directive 218 concerning
"Leverage ratio". This directive adopts the Basel Committee recommendations with regard to leverage ratio, stipulated in
January 2014.

The leverage ratio is reflected in percent, defined as the ratio of Tier | capital to total exposure. Total exposure for the
Bank is the sum of balance sheet exposures, exposures to derivatives and to securities financing transactions and off-
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balance sheet items.

According to the directive, banking corporations must maintain a leverage ratio of 5% or higher on a consolidated basis,
as from January 1, 2018.

Below is the Bank's leverage ratio (in %):

As of December As of December

31, 2018 31, 2017
1. Consolidated data
Tier | capital 15,172 14,333
Total exposure 279,827 261,504

As of December As of December
31,2018 in % 31,2017 in %

Leverage ratio 5.42 5.48
Minimum leverage ratio required by the Supervisor of Banks 5.00 5.00
2. Significant subsidiaries

Bank Yahav for Government Employees Ltd. and its subsidiaries

Leverage ratio 5.38 5.14

Minimum leverage ratio required by the Supervisor of Banks 4.70 4.70

For more information see Note 25 to the financial statements and the Detailed Risk Management Report on the Bank
website.

Dividends

Dividends distribution policies

On February 26, 2018, the Bank’s Board of Directors resolved to update the Bank's dividends policy for 2018 through
2021, after monitoring the execution of the aforementioned strategic plan.

The Bank's revised dividends policy is to distribute dividends, as from 2018, with respect to quarterly earnings, at 40% of
net profit attributable to shareholders of the Bank. This policy is subject to the Bank achieving a ratio of Tier | capital to
risk components as required by the Supervisor of Banks and maintaining appropriate safety margins.

On March 12, 2019, the Bank’s Board of Directors approved the signing of a DPA agreement with the US Department of
Justice to conclude the investigation into the Bank Group's business with its US clients. For more information see chapter
"Business goals and strategy" and chapter "Explanation and analysis of results and business standing (Significant Events
in the Bank Group's Business)", as well as Note 26.C.12 to the financial statements.

In view of the foregoing, the Bank’s Board of Directors did not declare a distribution of dividends with respect to earnings
of the second and third quarters of 2018 and did not declare a distribution of dividends with respect to earnings of the
fourth quarter of this year upon approval of these financial statements, with the capital adequacy presented on these
financial statements being as follows: Tier | capital ratio — 10.01% (or 0.17% above the minimum ratio required by the
Supervisor of Banks) and total capital ratio — 13.64% (0.30% above the minimum ratio required by the Supervisor of
Banks).

The Bank’s Board of Directors, upon approving the signing of the agreement by the Bank, estimated that the Bank can
achieve the outline for the five-year strategic plan for 2017-2021.

The Board of Directors further estimated that in 2019, the Bank could resume acting in conformity with its policy of
distributing dividends, subject to terms and conditions prescribed in the strategic plan, including compliance with statutory
requirements and limits stipulated by the Supervisor of Banks.

This information constitutes forward-looking information, as defined in the Securities Act, 1968 and based on assumptions,
facts and data underlying the strategic plan and listed therein, which may fail to materialize due to factors not solely under
Bank control, causing the the strategic plan, including with regard to the policy of distribution of dividends, to fail to
materialize.

For more information about the summary of previous resolutions by the Board of Directors with regard to the dividends
distribution policy, see Note 24 to the financial statements.
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Dividends distribution

Below are details of dividends distributed by the Bank since 2017 (in reported amounts):

Dividends per

Total dividends

share Dividends as paid
Declaration date Payment date (Agorot)  percent of profit (NIS in millions)
March 20, 2017 April 26, 2017 17.12 0.15 39.8
May 15, 2017 June 20, 2017 41.45 0.30 96.3
August 28, 2017 September 26, 2017 51.63 0.30 120.0
November 13, 2017 December 10, 2017 33.67 0.30 78.3
Total dividends distributed in 2017® 334.4
February 26, 2018 March 26, 2018 47.03 0.30 109.5
May 7, 2018 June 5, 2018 58.91 0.40 137.2
Total dividends distributed in 2018®? 246.7

(1) Total dividends distributed with respect to 2017 earnings — NIS 404.1 million.
(2) Total dividends distributed with respect to 2018 earnings — NIS 137.2 million.

Other Off Balance Sheet Activity

Below is the development of off balance sheet monetary assets held on behalf of Bank Group clients, for which the Bank
Group provides management, operating and/or custodial services (NIS in millions):

As of December

As of December

Change rate

31,2018 31,2017 (In %)
Securities®® 233,600 222,623 4.9
Assets of provident funds for which the Group provides
operating services 79,865 76,893 3.9
Assets held in trust by the Bank Group 70,153 80,258 (12.6)
Assets of mutual funds for which the Bank provides
operating services 14,514 16,246 (10.7)
Other assets under management® 14,260 12,571 13.4

(1) Value of securities portfolios in Bank custody, held by clients, including balance of securities of provident funds and mutual funds
to which the Bank provides operating services. Note that the balance of client operations presented includes, in addition to the
balance of securities for mutual funds as noted above, also the value of participation units in such funds held by Bank clients.

(2) Including: - Loan balances secured by deposits whose repayment to the depositor is contingent upon collection of the
loan balance. With respect to these balances, the Bank receives margin or commissions Revenues. —
managed by the Bank, including housing loans managed and operated by the Bank on behalf of others.

(3) For more information about the Bank being awarded a tender for provision of custodian services, see chapter "Significant

developments in management of business operations" above.
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Description of Businesses of the Bank Group
by Supervisory Operating Segment

Supervisory operating segments

On November 3, 2014, the Supervisor of Banks issued an update to the Public Reporting Directives concerning
supervisory operating segments. According to the directive, the Bank is required to provide, on its financial statements,
disclosure with regard to supervisory operating segments in conformity with a uniform, comparable layout specified by the
Supervisor of Banks; attribution to supervisory operating segments is typically determined by the client's turnover (annual
sales or annual revenues).

Supervisory operating segments include operating segments for individuals and operating segments for business clients
other than individuals (including institutional investors and financial management of the Bank).

Individuals are defined as persons with no indebtedness to the Bank or whose indebtedness is classified as indebtedness
of "individuals — housing loans and others", in conformity with definitions of credit risk classification by economic sector.
The Bank's operating segments by the "management approach” are based on client attribution to the organizational
structure responsible in the past period.

However, client attribution to supervisory operating segments is based on uniform definitions specified by the Supervisor
of Banks, as noted above.

There is a strong correlation between attributes specified by management for client attribution to the responsible division
and the supervisory definitions.

However, according to "the management approach”, in some cases the final client attribution may be based on other
parameters, such as: specialization of a certain unit in activity types of clients or past experience working with the client,
which result in business and service-related advantages to client attribution to the specific division.

Given the Supervisor of Banks' requirement to discuss and analyze the supervisory operating segments in the Report of
the Board of Directors and Management and given the correlation between supervisory operating segments and the
"management approach”, the segment information (both quantitative and qualitative) is briefly presented below for each
segment, as follows:

- Supervisory definition of the segment

- Brief qualitative description of the segment (using "management approach").

- Explanation of differences between the "supervisory" definition and how business is actually managed (using the
"management approach")

- Financial results of the segment (using the "supervisory approach")

For more information and detailed description of the segments, see chapter "Corporate Governance" of these annual
financial statements.

Financial results using "management approach” are presented in Note 29 to the financial statements.
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Below is a summary of financial results by supervisory operating segment (NIS in millions):

Share of total Share of total
net profit® net profit®

Net profit Net profit (in %) (in %)
For the year For the year For the year For the year
ended ended ended ended
December 31, December 31,December 31,December 31,
2018 2017 2018 2017
Individuals:

Households — housing loans 666 527 41.0 38.8
Households — other 36 (120) 2.2 -
Private banking (420) 9 - 0.7
Total —individuals 282 526 - 39.5

Business operations:
Small and micro businesses 348 266 21.4 19.6
Medium businesses 125 107 7.7 7.9
Large businesses 300 327 18.5 24.1
Institutional investors 23 33 1.4 2.4
Total — business operations 796 733 49.0 54.0
Financial management 119 8 7.3 0.6
Total activity in Israel 1,197 1,267 99.5 94.1
Overseas operations 9 80 0.5 5.9
Total 1,206 1,347 100.0 100.0

(1) The percentage of total net profit in 2018 was calculated excluding the effect of private banking.

For more information about operating results in conformity with the management approach, see Note 29 to the financial statements.

Household segment

The supervisory definition

In conformity with the supervisory definition, the household segment includes individuals, other than those clients included
in the private banking segment. Thus, this segment excludes individuals with financial assets in excess of NIS 3 million.
Individuals are defined as persons with no indebtedness to the Bank or whose indebtedness is classified as indebtedness
of "individuals — housing loans and others", in conformity with definitions of credit risk classification by economic sector.

Brief description of segment attributes (using the "management approach")

The household segment mainly consists of individual clients, with low levels of indebtedness and relatively small-scale
financial activity. Segment clients include those with individual accounts, joint accounts for spouses etc. as well as
mortgage borrowers. The segment is highly diversified, and is handled by the Bank's Retail Division.

Differences between the management approach and the supervisory definition

- Some individual clients attributed to the private banking segment using the "management approach" are classified
to the household segment using supervisory segments. The difference is primarily due to clients' financial assets
used for client classification — the Bank threshold for client classification according to the "management approach"
is NIS 1 million, lower than the supervisory definition.

- As a rule, individual clients are attributed to the household segment. According to the supervisory approach,
individual clients with high indebtedness or with business attributes are classified to the business operating
segments, rather than to the household segment.
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Developments in the household segment during the reported period

In 2018, public moves continued, designed to encourage non-bank entities to enter the competition in the household
segment and to increase competition in consumer credit. Along with the Increased Competition and Reduced
Concentration in Israeli Banking Act, enacted in January 2017, there are several legislative and regulatory efforts
under way, which should result in increased competition in this segment, including creation of the credit information
database, which should be launched in April 2019, the project for arranging account relocation between banks and
a project for arranging a system for sharing banking information by definition of a standard Open Banking API.

In 2018, branch closures and elimination of teller positions at branches of some banks continued, with clients
referred to digital solutions. Consequently and in conformity with legislation dated August 2016 of the Banking Act
(Licensing) (Amendment no. 22), 2016, any banking corporation seeking to close a permanent branch is required
to obtain permission from the Supervisor of Banks after filing a written justification and application to do so.

In the credit card market, regulatory changes continued due, inter alia, to implementation of the Increased Competition
and Reduced Concentration in Israeli Banking Act. In 2018, the process of separating credit card companies from
banks started with signing of the agreement for sale of Leumi Card to a foreign equity fund. Furthermore, several
significant agreements have been signed by credit card companies and retail clubs, for joint issuing of non-bank cards.

For more information and detailed description of products and services, key markets and distribution channels, business
strategy and layout of competition in this segment and changes to them, see chapter "Corporate Governance" of these
annual financial statements.

Analysis of operating results in the household segment (NIS in millions)

For the year For the year
For the year ended For the year For the year ended For the year
ended December ended ended December ended

December 31,2018 December December 31,2017 December
31,2018 Housing 31, 2018 31, 2017 Housing 31, 2017

Other loans Total Other loans Total
Profit and profitability
Total interest revenues, net 1,273 1,517 2,790 1,143 1,311 2,454
Non-interest financing revenues - - - - - -
Commissions and other revenues 520 156 676 502 145 647
Total revenues 1,793 1,673 3,466 1,645 1,456 3,101
Expenses with respect to credit losses 108 36 144 122 24 146
Operating and other expenses 1,575 611 2,186 1,506 600 2,106
Profit before provision for taxes 110 1,026 1,136 17 832 849
Provision for taxes 39 360 399 6 305 311
After-tax profit 71 666 737 11 527 538
Net profit (loss):
Attributable to non-controlling interests (35) - (35) (212) - (21)
Attributable to shareholders of the
banking corporation 36 666 702 (10) 527 517
Balance sheet — key items:
Loans to the public (end balance) 21,184 126,749 147,933 20,058 120,189 140,247
Loans to the public, net (end balance) 20,932 126,105 147,037 19,824 119,559 139,383
Deposits from the public (end balance) 82,119 - 82,119 75,008 - 75,008
Average balance of loans to the public 19,607 123,590 143,197 18,866 118,042 136,908
Average balance of deposits from the public 77,970 - 77,970 73,505 - 73,505
Average balance of risk assets 17,987 68,903 86,890 16,675 65,085 81,760
Credit margins and deposit margins:
Margin from credit granting operations 808 1,449 2,257 744 1,268 2,012
Margin from activities of receiving deposits 462 - 462 396 - 396
Other 3 68 71 3 43 46
Total interest revenues, net 1,273 1,517 2,790 1,143 1,311 2,454

Contribution of the household segment (in conformity with supervisory definitions) to Group profit in 2018 amounted to
NIS 702 million, compared to NIS 517 million in the corresponding period last year.

Below are key factors affecting the change in segment contribution:
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Contribution of housing loans (including general-purpose loans secured by a lien on a residential apartment) in 2018
amounted to NIS 666 million, compared to NIS 527 million in the corresponding period last year. Interest revenues, net
amounted to NIS 1,517 million, compared to NIS 1,311 million in the corresponding period last year — an increase by
15.7%, attributed to increase in business volume and to increase in lending margin compared to the corresponding period
last year. Commissions and other revenues increased by 7.6%. In the current period, expenses with respect to credit
losses amounted to expenses of NIS 36 million, compared to an expense of NIS 24 million in the corresponding period
last year. The increase in expenses with respect to credit losses is due to higher growth in the portfolio compared to the
corresponding period last year. Operating expenses amounted to NIS 611 million, compared to NIS 600 million in the
corresponding period last year — an increase by 1.8%.

Contribution of other household operations (other than housing loans) in 2018 amounted to NIS 36 million, compared to
a loss of NIS 10 million in the corresponding period last year. Interest revenues, net increased by NIS 130 million. The
increase is due to increase in lending margins and to increase in margin from deposit operations, due to higher volumes
of both lending and deposits and to higher interest rates. Commissions and other revenues amounted to NIS 520 million,
compared to NIS 502 million in the corresponding period last year — an increase by 3.6%.

Expenses with respect to credit losses decreased by NIS 14 million compared to the corresponding period last year.

Operating expenses amounted to NIS 1,575 million, compared to NIS 1,506 million in the corresponding period last year
—an increase by 4.6%. For detailed analysis of operating expenses, see also chapter "Explanation and analysis of results
and business standing".

For more details and extensive information about results of this segment and operating results in conformity with
management’s approach - see Note 29 to the financial statements.

Private Banking Segment

The supervisory definition
According to the supervisory definition, the private banking segment consists of individuals whose financial assets with
the bank (including deposits, securities portfolios and other financial assets) exceed NIS 3 million.

Brief description of segment attributes (using the "management approach")

The private banking segment provides banking services in Israel to both Israeli clients and foreign resident clients. Private
banking is the concept of banking services geared to clients with high financial wealth, with a considerable part of their
activity executed in the management of financial assets. Private banking segment clients are individual clients with liquid
deposits and investments in securities in excess of NIS 3 million.

Financial consulting, which is part of the service offered to this operating segment, is provided to the clients of the
segments who have signed consulting agreements. A response is also provided for other financial needs of these clients,
while providing high-quality personal service and offering a range of advanced products.

This segment has potential for expanding business relationships with clients from a high socio-economic standing, who
demand personal, professional service which is highly available.

Differences between the management approach and the supervisory definition

- Some individual clients attributed to the private banking segment using the "management approach" are classified to
the household segment using supervisory segments. The difference is primarily due to clients' financial assets used
for client classification — the Bank threshold for client classification according to the "management approach” is NIS
1 million, lower than the supervisory definition.

- The private banking segment according to the management approach also includes businesses with liquid assets in
excess of NIS 8 million. These clients are classified to the business operating segments under the supervisory
approach.

Developments in the private banking segment during the reported period

Over the past year there were no material market developments nor material changes in client attributes in the private
banking segment.

For more information and detailed description of products and services, key markets and distribution channels and layout
of competition in this segment and changes there to, see chapter "Corporate Governance" of these annual financial
statements.
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Analysis of operating results of the private banking segment (NIS in millions)

For the year

ended December

For the year
ended December

31, 2018 31, 2017
Profit and profitability
Total interest revenues, net 76 59
Non-interest financing revenues - -
Commissions and other revenues 10 10
Total revenues 86 69
Expenses with respect to credit losses 1 1
Operating and other expenses 540 53
Profit (loss) before provision for taxes (455) 15
Provision for taxes (35) 6
Net profit (loss) (420) 9
Balance sheet — key items:
Loans to the public (end balance) 99 119
Loans to the public, net (end balance) 98 117
Deposits from the public (end balance) 13,777 12,448
Average balance of loans to the public 93 86
Average balance of deposits from the public 12,511 11,563
Average balance of risk assets 30 28
Credit margins and deposit margins:
Margin from credit granting operations 1 1
Margin from activities of receiving deposits 75 58
Other - -
Total interest revenues, net 76 59

Results of the private banking segment (in conformity with supervisory definitions) in 2018 amounted to a loss of NIS 420

million, compared to a profit of NIS 9 million in the corresponding period last year.

Total interest revenues, net increased by NIS 17 million, due to increase in deposits from the public and to higher interest
rates. Commissions and other revenues, as well as expenses with respect to credit losses were essentially unchanged.

Operating and other expenses include expenses attributed to this segment with respect to the US Department of Justice
investigation, as well as potential tax implications. See also chapter "Overview, targets and strategy" and chapter

"Explanation and analysis of results and business standing (Significant Events in the Bank Group's Business)".

For more details and extensive information about results of this segment and operating results in conformity with

management’s approach - see Note 29 to the financial statements.
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Micro and Small Business Segment

The supervisory definition
The micro and small business segment includes businesses with annual turnover below NIS 50 million.

Brief description of segment attributes (using the "management approach")

The micro and small business segment operates in the Retail Division, primarily consisting of small companies and small
business clients, with annual turnover below NIS 10 million (micro business), as well as annual turnover between NIS 10
million and NIS 50 million (small business). In conformity with the management approach, in some cases clients may
cross the turnover threshold and still be served by the Retail Division.

This segment is characterized by large client diversification. In view of the fact that the availability of data and their quality
regarding the clients of this segment is relatively lower than for major business clients, there is a need for professional
service and appropriate means of control, in order to assess the quality of the client for the purpose of issuing credit.
Additionally, this segment is characterized by a high percentage of collateral required from the clients to ensure credit
repayment.

Differences between the management approach and the supervisory definition

- Business clients currently attributed to commercial banking using the management approach and whose annual
turnover is lower than NIS 50 million, are classified to the micro and small business segment using the supervisory
approach.

- Such exceptional business clients, attributed to the Retail Division based on the management approach, and whose
annual turnover is higher than NIS 50 million, are classified under the commercial banking segment using the
supervisory approach.

Developments in the micro and small business segment during the reported period

Growing competition among banks in the small business segment continued to accelerate over the past year. In addition,
a number of public actions were taken to encourage entry of non-bank entities into the market for credit to small business.

In November 2018, the Bank proposal was selected as one of the winning proposals for a new foundation, guaranteed by
the State, to extend loans to projects involving improved energy efficiency. The Bank should start providing loans as part
of this new foundation in the first half of 2019.

This information constitutes forward-looking information, as defined in the Securities Law, 1968, based on assumptions,
facts and data (hereinafter jointly: "assumptions") brought before the Bank’s Board of Directors. These assumptions may
not materialize due to factors which are not under the Bank's control.

Changes to client attributes in this segment
During the year, there were no significant changes in attributes of segment clients — this segment is highly diversified as
for clients, with strong collateral requirements from clients to secure repayment of credit.

For more information and detailed description of products and services, key markets and distribution channels, business
strategy and layout of competition in this segment and changes to them, see chapter "Corporate Governance" of these
annual financial statements.

56



Report of the Board of Directors and management
As of December 31, 2018

Analysis of operating results of micro and small business segment (NIS in millions)

For the year For the year
ended December  ended December
31, 2018 31, 2017
Profit and profitability
Total interest revenues, net 1,005 895
Non-interest financing revenues - -
Commissions and other revenues 367 335
Total revenues 1,372 1,230
Expenses with respect to credit losses 137 149
Operating and other expenses 696 659
Profit before provision for taxes 539 422
Provision for taxes 189 155
After-tax profit 350 267
Net profit attributed to non-controlling interests (2 (1)
Net profit attributable to shareholders of the banking corporation 348 266
Balance sheet — key items:
Loans to the public (end balance) 19,324 17,045
Loans to the public, net (end balance) 18,977 16,717
Deposits from the public (end balance) 22,664 18,942
Average balance of loans to the public 18,267 16,190
Average balance of deposits from the public 20,458 18,284
Average balance of risk assets 17,381 15,484
Credit margins and deposit margins:
Margin from credit granting operations 874 786
Margin from activities of receiving deposits 108 84
Other 23 25
Total interest revenues, net 1,005 895

Contribution of the micro and small business segment (in conformity with the supervisory definitions) to Group profit in
2018 amounted to NIS 348 million, compared to NIS 266 million in the corresponding period last year.

Below are key changes in segment results:

Interest revenues, net amounted to NIS 1,005 million, compared to NIS 895 million in the corresponding period last year
—an increase by 12.3%, primarily due to increase in business volume and higher lending and deposit margins.
Commissions and other revenues amounted to NIS 367 million, compared to NIS 335 million in the corresponding period
last year — an increase by 9.6%. For more information see Note 4A "Revenue from contracts with customers".

Expenses with respect to credit losses amounted to NIS 137 million, compared to NIS 149 million in the corresponding
period last year.

Operating expenses amounted to NIS 696 million, compared to NIS 659 million in the corresponding period last year — an
increase by 5.6%. For detailed analysis of operating expenses, see also chapter "Explanation and analysis of results and
business standing”.

For more details and extensive information about results of this segment and operating results in conformity with
management’s approach - see Note 29 to the financial statements.
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Medium business segment

The supervisory definition

The medium business segment includes businesses with annual turnover higher than NIS 50 million and lower than NIS
250 million.

Brief description of segment attributes (using the "management approach")

The medium business segment primarily includes medium-sized private and public companies (Middle Market), with
turnover between NIS 30 and 120 million.

Clients in this segment are primarily served by the Bank's Business Division, primarily by the Business Sector, operating
three business centers nation-wide.

Segment clients primarily operating in the real estate sector are served by the Construction and Real Estate sector of the
Business Division, which specializes in provision of dedicated services to this sector.

Clients in this segment use a range of banking services, associated with a relatively high ratio of required collateral
compared to Business Banking segment clients.

Differences between the management approach and the supervisory definition

- The commercial banking segment, according to management approach, includes businesses with turnover between
NIS 30 million and NIS 120 million. This means that some commercial banking clients (under management
approach) whose turnover is below NIS 50 million are classified to the micro and small business segment using the
supervisory operating segments.

- On the other hand, business clients attributed to the business banking segment using the management approach
and whose annual turnover is lower than NIS 250 million, are attributed to the medium business segment using the
supervisory approach.

Developments in the medium business segment during the reported period

In 2018 there was no material change to markets and to segment attributes.

For more information and detailed description of products and services, key markets and distribution channels, business
strategy and layout of competition in this segment and changes to them, see chapter "Corporate Governance" of these
annual financial statements.

Analysis of operating results in the medium business segment (NIS in millions)

For the year For the year
ended December ended December
31, 2018 31, 2017
Profit and profitability
Total interest revenues, net 244 206
Non-interest financing revenues - -
Commissions and other revenues 78 76
Total revenues 322 282
Expenses with respect to credit losses 11 7
Operating and other expenses 119 106
Profit before provision for taxes 192 169
Provision for taxes 67 62
Net profit 125 107
Balance sheet — key items:
Loans to the public (end balance) 6,669 5,854
Loans to the public, net (end balance) 6,585 5,779
Deposits from the public (end balance) 8,332 7,138
Average balance of loans to the public 6,205 5,704
Average balance of deposits from the public 7,680 6,470
Average balance of risk assets 7,150 6,484
Credit margins and deposit margins:
Margin from credit granting operations 198 176
Margin from activities of receiving deposits 40 25
Other 6 5
Total interest revenues, net 244 206
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Contribution of the medium business segment (in conformity with the supervisory definitions) to Group profit in 2018
amounted to NIS 125 million, compared to NIS 107 million in the corresponding period last year.

Below are key factors affecting the change in segment contribution:
Interest revenues, net increased by NIS 38 million, primarily due to increase in business volumes in this segment.

Commission and other revenues increased by NIS 2 million compared to the corresponding period last year. Expenses
with respect to credit losses amounted to NIS 11 million, compared to NIS 7 million in the corresponding period last year.

Operating expenses amounted to NIS 119 million, compared to NIS 106 million in the corresponding period last year — an
increase by NIS 13 million, in line with growth of business.

For more details and extensive information about results of this segment and operating results in conformity with
management’s approach - see Note 29 to the financial statements.

Large business segment

The supervisory definition
The large business segment includes businesses with annual turnover higher than NIS 250 million.

Brief description of segment attributes (using the "management approach")

The segment specializes in providing complete banking and financing services to the largest companies, in a range of
sectors, with turnover exceeding NIS 120 million.

Segment clients are served under responsibility of the Bank's Business Division, primarily by the Large Corporation Sector.

Segment clients operating in the real estate sector are served by the Construction and Real Estate sector of the Business
Division, which specializes in provision of dedicated services to this sector.

In its activities in this segment, the Bank emphasizes expansion of the current client base and improved profitability
through expansion of activity in financing areas with very high profitability relative to capital, such as trading room
transactions, including transactions in derivatives and other products provided to clients by the trading room.

Differences between the management approach and the supervisory definition

- The business banking segment, according to management approach, includes businesses with turnover in excess
of NIS 120 million. This means that some business banking clients (under the management approach) whose
turnover is below NIS 250 million are classified to the medium business segment using the supervisory approach.

- Institutional investors served, under the management approach, by business banking are presented as a separate
segment under supervisory operating segments.

For more information and detailed description of products and services, key markets and distribution channels, business
strategy and layout of competition in this segment and changes to them, see chapter "Corporate Governance" of these
annual financial statements.

59



Report of the Board of Directors and management
As of December 31, 2018

Analysis of operating results in the large business segment (NIS in millions)

For the year For the year
ended December ended December
31, 2018 31, 2017
Profit and profitability
Total interest revenues, net 534 464
Non-interest financing revenues - 1)
Commissions and other revenues 113 134
Total revenues 647 597
Expenses with respect to credit losses 8 (89)
Operating and other expenses 177 170
Profit before provision for taxes 462 516
Provision for taxes 162 189
Net profit 300 327
Balance sheet — key items:
Loans to the public (end balance) 16,440 15,011
Loans to the public, net (end balance) 16,236 14,833
Deposits from the public (end balance) 29,460 26,284
Average balance of loans to the public 16,528 14,642
Average balance of deposits from the public 26,172 27,864
Average balance of risk assets 21,239 20,887
Credit margins and deposit margins:
Margin from credit granting operations 448 393
Margin from activities of receiving deposits 70 60
Other 16 11
Total interest revenues, net 534 464

Contribution of the large business segment (in conformity with the supervisory definitions) to Group profit in 2018
amounted to NIS 300 million, compared to NIS 327 million in the corresponding period last year.

Below are key factors affecting the change in segment contribution:

Total interest revenues, net amounted to NIS 534 million, compared to NIS 464 million in the corresponding period last
year, an increase by 15.1%, primarily due to increase in business volume. Commissions and other revenues decreased
by NIS 21 million. In 2017, the Bank recorded non-recurring commission revenues from financing business in the fourth
quarter of the year.

Expenses with respect to credit losses amounted to an expense of NIS 8 million, compared to a decrease in the provision
of NIS 89 million in the corresponding period last year. This change is due to some maximization of collection, for the time
being, of previously written-off debts. The other group-based provision was impacted by higher growth in commercial
lending, on- and off-balance sheet.

Operating expenses amounted to NIS 177 million, compared to NIS 170 million in the corresponding period last year — an
increase by 4.1%. See also chapter "Explanation and analysis of results and business standing".

For more details and extensive information about results of this segment and operating results in conformity with
management’s approach - see Note 29 to the financial statements.

Institutional investor segment

The supervisory definition

This segment includes provident funds, pension funds, study funds, mutual funds, ETFs, insurance companies and
stock exchange members who manage client portfolios.

Brief description of segment attributes (using the "management approach")

This segment provides service to financial asset managers, incorporating activities involving providing services to financial
asset managers:

insurance companies, managers of provident funds, study funds and pension funds, managers of mutual funds and ETFs,
stock exchange members and investment portfolio managers.

Segment operations includes operating these financial assets and providing banking services to their managers.
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Services include: asset valuation, generating control reports, reporting to authorities, accounting, administration of
accounts and rights of provident fund members and calculation of returns. Banking services also include credit of various
types and transactions involving derivative instruments.

The Bank has agreements in place to provide operating services to provident fund management companies, some of
which are associated with the sale of provident funds previously owned by the Bank. As for mutual funds, the Bank has
agreements in place to provide services to mutual fund management companies.

The segment also provides comprehensive service to management companies of provident funds and mutual funds.

Differences between the management approach and the supervisory definition

Under the management approach, institutional investors are administered by the business banking and by the financial
management segment, but are presented as a separate segment under supervisory operating segments.

For more information and detailed description of products and services, key markets and distribution channels, business
strategy and layout of competition in this segment and changes to them, see chapter "Corporate Governance" of these
annual financial statements.

Analysis of operating results of institutional investor segment (NIS in millions)

For the year For the year
ended December  ended December
31,2018 31, 2017
Profit and profitability
Total interest revenues, net 118 112
Non-interest financing revenues - 1)
Commissions and other revenues 42 44
Total revenues 160 155
Expenses with respect to credit losses 2 (22)
Operating and other expenses 123 125
Profit before provision for taxes 35 52
Provision for taxes 12 19
Net profit 23 33
Balance sheet — key items:
Loans to the public (end balance) 1,341 1,175
Loans to the public, net (end balance) 1,331 1,166
Deposits from the public (end balance) 37,712 38,881
Average balance of loans to the public 1,434 1,413
Average balance of deposits from the public 39,260 38,748
Average balance of risk assets 2,624 2,334
Credit margins and deposit margins:
Margin from credit granting operations 30 34
Margin from activities of receiving deposits 85 76
Other 3 2
Total interest revenues, net 118 112

Contribution of the institutional Investor segment (in conformity with the supervisory definitions) to Group profit in 2018
amounted to NIS 23 million, compared to NIS 33 million in the corresponding period last year.

Below are key factors affecting the change in segment contribution:

Interest revenues, net amounted to NIS 118 million, compared to NIS 112 million in the corresponding period last year —
an increase by NIS 6 million, primarily due to increase in margin from receiving deposits.

Expenses with respect to credit losses amounted to an expense of NIS 2 million, compared to a decrease in the provision
of NIS 22 million in the corresponding period last year, due to collection of written off debts.

For more details and extensive information about results of this segment and operating results in conformity with
management’s approach - see Note 29 to the financial statements.
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Financial Management Segment

The supervisory definition

The financial management segment includes trading operations, asset and liability management and non-banking
investments by the Bank.

Trade operations — Investment in securities held for trading, market making operations for securities, operations involving
derivative instruments not designated as hedges and which are not part of asset and liability management for the Bank,
borrowing of securities for trading, short selling of securities, underwriting services for securities.

Asset and liability management — including investment in debentures available for sale and in debentures held to maturity,
hedging using derivative instruments, ALM hedging, currency hedging of investments overseas.

Real investments — Investment in shares available for sale and in associated companies of businesses.

Other financial management operations — management, operation, trust and custody services for banks, sale and
management of loan portfolios.

Brief description of segment attributes (using the "management approach")

Financial management at the Bank is conducted by the Finance Division. The financial management segment operates
in Israel and overseas in several key areas: Management of Bank assets and liabilities, management of the debenture
portfolio, management of exposure to market risk and liquidity management as well as trading room operations in the
financial and capital markets, in conformity with management's viewpoint as to management of these activities.

Asset and liability management operations are managed by the Financial Management Sector, including management of
sources and uses, exposures to market risk — including management of liquidity, basis and interest risk, management of
transfer prices ("shadow prices"), pricing of special financial transactions and management of the debenture portfolio.

Trading operations are carried out by the Trading Room, including the Bank's activity in foreign currency, options, interest
derivatives, securities in Israel and overseas and financial assets, with local and overseas entities as counter-parties.

The Division also includes a unit dedicated to managing relations with financial institutions and investors. This unit is in
charge of all activities with overseas banks, including management of correspondent accounts, obtaining and providing
service and developing activities in support of Bank client needs.

Business in this segment is subject to the relevant risk management policy and to restrictions imposed by the Board of
Directors and by management on various exposure levels.

Differences between the management approach and the supervisory definition

Under the management approach, institutional investors are administered by the financial management segment, but
are presented as a separate segment under supervisory operating segments.

Developments in the financial management segment during the reported period

In 2018, operations in this segment were affected by:

- Growing competition in the banking sector, along with a downward trend in commissions and spreads.
- Regulatory changes in the global and local markets.

For more information and detailed description of products and services, key markets and distribution channels, business
strategy and layout of competition in this segment and changes to them, see chapter "Corporate Governance" of these
annual financial statements.
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Analysis of operating results of the financial management segment (NIS in millions)

For the year For the year
ended December  ended December
31, 2018 31, 2017
Profit and profitability
Total interest expenses, net (48) (5)
Non-interest financing revenues 435 131
Commissions and other revenues 208 242
Total revenues 595 368
Expenses with respect to credit losses 3 1)
Operating and other expenses 362 321
Profit before provision for taxes 230 48
Provision for taxes 81 18
After-tax profit 149 30
Share of banking corporation in earnings of associated companies 1 -
Net profit before attribution to non-controlling interests 150 30
Net profit attributed to non-controlling interests (31) (22)
Net profit attributable to shareholders of the banking corporation 119 8
Balance sheet — key items:
Average balance of risk assets 6,323 5,872
Credit margins and deposit margins:
Margin from credit granting operations - -
Margin from activities of receiving deposits - -
Other (48) (5)
Total interest expenses, net (48) (5)

Contribution of the financial management segment (in conformity with the supervisory definitions) to Group profit in 2018
amounted to NIS 119 million, compared to NIS 8 million in the corresponding period last year.

Below are key factors affecting the change in this segment:

Results of financing operations (net interest expenses and non-interest financing revenues) increased by NIS 261 million
compared to the corresponding period last year, primarily due to increase in the (known) Consumer Price Index by 1.2%,
compared to 0.3% in the corresponding period last year, and to impact of the accounting treatment of derivatives at fair
value and other effects. See also analysis of evolution of financing revenues in chapter "Material developments in
revenues, expenses and other comprehensive income”.

Commissions and other revenues amounted to NIS 208 million, compared to NIS 242 million in the corresponding period
last year. In the corresponding period, the Bank recognized capital gains amounting to NIS 47 million from realization of
assets in conjunction with asset reorganization and improvements to the Bank's branch network.

Operating expenses include a provision with respect to a lawsuit brought against a Bank subsidiary ("Trust Company") by
verdict, amounting to NIS 38 million.

For more details and extensive information about results of this segment and operating results in conformity with
management’s approach - see Note 29 to the financial statements.

Operating results of overseas operations

The supervisory definition
The Bank's overseas operations are presented separately, divided into operations involving individuals and business
operations.

Brief description of segment attributes (using the "management approach")

The Bank Group's international operations include providing banking services to businesses and private banking services
to individuals, through subsidiaries and branches overseas. The Group's international operations include: private banking
services, foreign trade financing; local credit for purchase of real estate; commercial financing and participation in
syndicated lending. International operations, in Israel and overseas, report to the Private Banking and International
Operations sector in the Bank's Financial Division.
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Differences between the management approach and the supervisory definition

Business and individual clients at overseas branches classified into the various operating segments in conformity with the
management approach, are classified into the overseas operations segment in the disclosure of supervisory operating
segments.

Business and individual clients at overseas branches are presented as a separate segment under supervisory operating
segments and under the management approach are managed by the various operating segments — mostly private and
business banking.

Products and services

Services offered to clients of the overseas operations segment are:

- Private banking services for clients with high financial wealth. These services include management of client deposits
and providing financial advice on management of client securities portfolio.

- Credit solutions for needs of individual and business clients, both local and Israelis operating overseas.

Developments in the overseas operations segment during the reported period

In recent years, competition with affiliates of Israeli banks overseas has diminished. Furthermore, global regulatory
changes have resulted in a change in business focus and changes to client preferences.

For more information and detailed description of products and services, key markets and distribution channels, business
strategy and layout of competition in this segment and changes to them, see chapter "Corporate Governance" of these
annual financial statements.

Analysis of operating results of overseas operations (NIS in millions)

For the year For the year
ended December ended December
31, 2018 31,2017
Profit and profitability
Total interest revenues, net 203 162
Non-interest financing revenues 10 7
Commissions and other revenues 28 29
Total revenues 241 198
Expenses with respect to credit losses 4 1
Operating and other expenses 181 71
Profit before provision for taxes 56 126
Provision for taxes 47 46
Net profit 9 80
Balance sheet — key items:
Loans to the public (end balance) 4,150 3,151
Loans to the public, net (end balance) 4,117 3,123
Deposits from the public (end balance) 5,428 4,872
Average balance of loans to the public 3,391 3,031
Average balance of deposits from the public 5,432 5,102
Average balance of risk assets 3,953 3,495
Credit margins and deposit margins:
Margin from credit granting operations 112 93
Margin from activities of receiving deposits 14 12
Other 77 57
Total interest revenues, net 203 162

Contribution of overseas operations to Group profit in 2018 amounted to NIS 9 million, compared to NIS 80 million in the
corresponding period last year.

Below are key factors affecting the change in segment contribution:

Interest revenues, net amounted to NIS 203 million, compared to NIS 162 million in the corresponding period last year,
primarily due to increase in business volume.

In the current period, expenses with respect to credit losses amounted to NIS 4 million, compared to NIS 1 million in the
corresponding period last year.

Operating and other expenses include provisions with respect to the investigation by the US Department of Justice.

For more details and extensive information about results of this segment, including information about geographic regions
and operating results in conformity with management’s approach - see Note 29 to the financial statements.
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Major Investee companies

The contribution of investees to net operating profit in 2018 amounted to NIS 81 million, compared with NIS 122 million
last year. These data include impact of changes in exchange rates on the balance of investment in overseas investee
companies, covered by the Bank's own sources.

Excluding the aforementioned effect of exchange rates, as noted above, and excluding the effect of expenses attributed
to Bank Mizrahi Switzerland with respect to the investigation by the US Department of Justice, as well potential tax
implications, contribution of investees amounted to NIS 155 million, compared to NIS 145 million in the corresponding
period last year — see details of impact of investees below. For more information see Note 29 to the financial statements
(Operating Segments and Geographic Regions).

Bank Yahav for Government Employees Ltd. (hereinafter: "Bank Yahav").

Bank Yahav is a banking corporation operating in accordance with a "Bank" license as per provisions of the Banking Act
(Licensing), 1981. On January 28, 2009, the replacement license for the Bank's previous license dated January 11, 2005,
was received which allows the Bank to do business with government and public sector employees. In accordance with
the replacement license, Bank Yahav may engage in new operations and may expand its client base, subject to advance
permission by the Supervisor of Banks.

Concurrently with receiving the replacement license, Bank Yahav received approval from the Supervisor of Banks to
provide services to individual clients (such as salaried employees, self employed and households) and to corporations,
provided that credit granted to corporations shall not exceed the specified limit. Bank Yahav operates in accordance with
the replacement license, subject to policies of the Bank Yahav Board of Directors on this matter.

Bank Yahav's contribution to Group net profit in 2018 amounted to NIS 68 million, compared with NIS 44 million in 2017.
Net profit return on equity for Bank Yahav amounted in 2018 to 10.2%, compared to 7.1% in 2017. Bank Yahav's balance
sheet total as of December 31, 2018 amounted to NIS 25,928 million, compared to NIS 24,782 million as of December
31, 2017, an increase by 4.6%. The balance of loans to the public, net as of December 31, 2018 amounted to NIS 10,162
million, compared to NIS 9,569 million as of December 31, 2017, an increase by 6.2%. The balance of deposits from the
public as of December 31, 2018 amounted to NIS 22,289 million, compared to NIS 20,908 million as of December 31,
2017, an increase by 6.6%.

Tefahot Insurance Agency (1989) Ltd. ("Tefahot Insurance")

Tefahot Insurance is an insurance agency wholly owned by the Bank, which sells life insurance policies and property
insurance policies of clients obtaining mortgages from the Bank. Tefahot Insurance’s contribution to Group net profit in
2018 amounted to NIS 82 million, compared with NIS 73 million in 2017.

Net return on equity amounted to 8.4% in 2018, compared to 7.6% in 2017.

Other investee companies operating in Israel

Other investees operating in Israel, wholly controlled by the Bank and supported by Bank infrastructure, lost NIS 5 million
in 2018, net, compared with net profit of NIS 27 million in 2017. Of this, a loss of NIS 16 million (compared to a profit of
NIS 13 million in 2017) from trustee operations of the subsidiary, Mizrahi Tefahot Trust Company Ltd. (hereinafter: "Trust
company").

Financial results of the Trust Company in 2018 Include a provision for claim amounting to NIS 38 million, in conformity
with a verdict given against the Company.

United Mizrahi Bank (Switzerland) Ltd.

United Mizrahi Bank (Switzerland) Ltd. ("Mizrahi Bank Switzerland") is focused on international private banking services.
The Swiss bank is held by a wholly-owned Bank subsidiary, UMOHC B.V. ("United Mizrahi Overseas Holding Company"),
incorporated in Holland.

Operating results of Bank Mizrahi Switzerland include provisions with respect to the US Department of Justice
investigation, as well as potential tax implications thereof. For more information see Note 29 to the financial statements
(Operating Segments and Geographic Regions).

In view of the foregoing, operating results in Switzerland amounted to a loss of CHF 24.1 million, compared to profit of
CHF 0.7 million in 2017. Mizrahi Bank Switzerland's balance sheet total as of December 31, 2018 amounted to CHF 140
million, compared to CHF 174 million as of December 31, 2017.
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Interest revenues and net interest revenues in 2018 amounted to CHF 2.0 million, compared to CHF 1.9 million in 2017.
Loss before tax in 2018 amounted to CHF 26.5 million, compared to pre-tax profit of CHF 1.0 million in 2017. Loss before
tax net of exchange rate effects in 2018 amounted to NIS 99.0 million, compared to profit of NIS 3.4 million in 2017.

The balance of loans to the public as of December 31, 2018 amounted to CHF 80 million, compared to CHF 72 million as
of December 31, 2017. Deposits with banks as of December 31, 2018 amounted to CHF 56 million, compared to CHF
100 million as of December 31, 2017. Deposits from the public as of December 31, 2018 amounted to CHF 65 million,
compared to CHF 111 million as of December 31, 2017.

These data exclude off-balance-sheet items, such as fiduciary deposits and client security portfolios which are major
components of the Bank's business operations in Switzerland.

For more information about approval by the Bank’s Board of Directors of signing a DPA agreement with the US Department
of Justice to conclude the investigation into the Bank Group's business with its US clients, see Note 26.C.12 to the financial
statements.

Investment in non-banking corporations

The Bank manages nostro investments in non-banking corporations. Shares of non-banking corporations in which the
Bank invested were acquired for the purpose of earning capital gains, and are presented at fair value in the available-for-
sale security portfolio and under investment in associated companies, where the Bank has a material investment in such
entity. About 1% of these investments are marketable and presented at their market value. The remainder of these
investments are presented at cost or at their carrying amount. In case of impairment of a non-temporary nature, in
accordance with management’s assessment, a provision for impairment of the investment is recorded as a loss in the
Bank’s accounts.

Bank investments in non-banking corporations as of December 31, 2018 amounted to NIS 91 million, compared to NIS
97 million as of December 31, 2017, as follows (NIS in millions):

For the year

ended
For the year ended December
December 31, 2018 31, 2017
Under "securities available for sale"
Participation units in equity funds 57 63
Negotiable investments 1 1
Investments in corporations presented on cost basis 1 1
Total under "securities available for sale" 59 65
Under "investment in associated companies":
Investment in Psagot Jerusalem® 19 19
Investments in mezzanine funds® 1 11
Investment in Rosario Capital® 2 2
Total investment in associated companies 32 32
Total investment in non-banking corporations 91 97

(1) Psagot Jerusalem is a private company which acquired land in the Jerusalem area to be developed for residential construction.
The carrying amount of Bank investments as of December 31, 2018 and as of December 31, 2017 amounted to NIS 35 million.
For more information about investment in Psagot Jerusalem, see Note 15 to the financial statements.

(2) A mezzanine fund is a fund for interim financing, providing companies in various sectors with financing complementary to bank
credit. This financing is typically extended in return for interest, stock options and other equity instruments.

(3) Rosario Capital is a private company engaged in underwriting, assistance and advisory services for private and public issuances,
mergers and acquisitions, investment in securities and distribution of securities.

Bank net gain from investments in non-banking corporations, after provision for impairment, in 2018 amounted to NIS 18
million, compared with gain amounting to NIS 11 million in 2017.
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Risks overview

Overview of risks and manner of managing them

The Bank is engaged in commercial banking operations (business and retail) and in mortgage operations, where the Bank
is a leader in the Israeli banking system. Day-to-day activities in a variety of balance sheet and off-balance-sheet financial
instruments expose the Group to different risks, mainly — market, interest in the Bank portfolio, liquidity, credit, operational,
compliance, business-strategic and reputation risks. Risks management at the Bank is conducted from a comprehensive
viewpoint and in conformity with regulatory requirements, so as to support achievement of the Group's strategic objectives,
while assuming risks in an informed manner and maintaining a risk level in line with the overall risk appetite specified by
the Bank’s Board of Directors.

Risk appetite defines the overall risk level which the Bank is willing and capable of assuming, and is a high-level
determination of where the Bank wishes to be on the scale of reward (return) vs. risk (forward-looking view). Risk appetite
is defined in qualitative and quantitative terms and is based on basic principles of the Bank's business and strategic plan
and the required liquidity and capital for achieving the strategic objectives.

Risk tolerance is a specific determination of risk levels for all risks to which the Bank is exposed. Risk levels are determined
by a range of qualitative and quantitative benchmarks, in support of achieving the business goals, while keeping the Bank
within the overall limits of the specified risk appetite and subject to strict regulatory restrictions. These risk restrictions, on
aggregate, reflect the overall risk level which the Bank is willing to assume.

In 2018, There were no deviations from the risk appetite specified by the Bank’s Board of Directors for various risks. Risk
benchmarks are within a reasonable distance from restrictions specified and in line with the strategic plan outline and with
current work plans. Key financial ratios and profitability benchmarks show stable profit and capital for the Bank. The Bank
has sufficient capital buffers to achieve its capital objectives under normal business conditions as well as under stress
conditions.

On March 12, 2019, the Bank’s Board of Directors approved the signing of a DPA agreement with the US Department of
Justice to conclude the investigation into the Bank Group's business with its US clients. For more information see chapter
"Business goals and strategy" and chapter "Explanation and analysis of results and business standing (Significant Events
in the Bank Group's Business)", as well as Note 26.C.12 to the financial statements.

For more information about assessment of the impact of all risk factors, see table "Risk factor assessment" below. In
2018, the Bank's risks profile is not high. Risks with a risk level other than Low typically arise from inherent risk in Bank
operations, and are in line with the specified risk appetite principles.

Risks description

The Bank has in place an extensive framework for management and control of the risks to which the Bank is exposed,
including an organizational structure to support management and control of such risks. Risks are managed at the Group
in conformity with Bank of Israel's Proper Business Conduct Directive 310 "Risks management" and in conformity with the
framework specified in Basel Il, Pillar 2 — including required changes upon Basel Il coming into effect.

The Bank’s Board of Directors and the Board’s Risks Management Committee are responsible for setting the required
principles for management and control of the various risks to which the Bank is exposed in its operations, including setting
the risk appetite and supervision of Bank compliance with the specified guidelines and risk appetite.

Bank management is committed to regular management of material risks to which the Bank is exposed and to
implementation of principles stipulated by the Bank’s Board of Directors for addressing such risks.

The organizational culture for risks management and corporate governance at the Bank is the main means for risks
mitigation existing at the Bank. Corporate governance supports the risks management culture and processes for risks
management and control at the Bank are efficient, comprehensive and ensure its stability over time. All risks to which the
Bank is exposed are regularly and effectively managed and monitored by the relevant units.

The Bank has in place a structured process for mapping and identification of specific risk associated with Bank operations,
determined based on a materiality threshold, in accordance with the potential damage which the Bank may incur under
scenarios of varying intensity. Materiality is considered before putting into use the risk mitigation measures, including:
Management and control. Guidelines for handling the various material risks, as identified and mapped, including: risk
appetite, measurement method, on-going monitoring of the Bank's risk profile, given the risk appetite specified by the
Board of Directors, management and mitigation of any risk are included in specific policy documents.
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The framework policy on risk management, which includes corporate governance for risk management, the Bank's overall
risk appetite, mapping of material risks, principles of risk measurement and management, and the reporting required under
normal conditions and in emergency. The custom policy documents are discussed and approved annually by the Board
of Directors.

The Bank's business model is based on the business strategy and overall risk appetite principles of the Bank.

The Bank is acting in conformity with the outline of the five-year strategic plan. The current strategic plan was approved
in November 2016 and its principles have been made public. The strategic plan is based on three key principles: Growth,
differentiation and efficiency, and forms the basis for specific work plans for the various units.

Strategic risk is the risk, in real time or in future, to Bank profits, capital, reputation or status, due to erroneous business
decisions, improper deployment of decisions by the Bank or inappropriate alignment of the Bank to changes in the
business environment in which it operates.

Business-strategic risk is inherent in all Bank operations and is impacted both by internal factors (such as: corporate
governance failures, credit failures and exposures, technological risk and other factors) and by external factors (such as:
regulatory changes, competition risk, changes to consumer behavior, macro-economic factors and other factors).

The Bank regularly monitors the achievement of work plan targets. Risks control maintains regular processes to challenge
the work plans and achievement of strategic plan targets.

Credit risk is the primary risk faced by banking corporations in the course of their business. At the Bank, credit risk is
primarily due to retail credit operations, mainly housing loans, which are typically associated with relatively low risk. In
conformity with principles of the five-year strategic plan, the Bank strives to maintain and establish its leadership position
in the retail sector and to increase focus on and expand operations of the business segments. The Bank monitors and
manages risk in the loan portfolio using various tools, including by development and deployment of advanced models. For
more details see chapter "Credit risk" below.

In the business sector, the Bank operates while regularly assessing risk at client level, at sector level and for the economy
as a whole (sector concentration).

The Bank has a liquidity coverage ratio (LCR) higher than the required regulatory ratio (100%) with appropriate safety
margins, and is constantly acting to diversify and extend the sources, so as to maintain a stable source structure.

The Bank has low exposure to overseas operations, as are its operations in nostro investments, primarily designed for
investment of excess liquidity in high-quality assets with minimal credit risk.

Non-financial risk is a material part of the Bank's risks map, requiring strict and structured risks management, evolving
concurrently with global technological and regulatory evolution.

Developments in technology and ever increasing sophistication of those involved in cyber attacks result in higher risk, as
well as more intense management and monitoring of operational risks, IT risks and information and cyber security risks.
Compliance and regulatory risk reflect the risk of imposition of financial sanctions and enforcement procedures, which
may be applied by competent authorities, as well as of claims against the Bank and implications for reputational risk.

Conduct risk is included under compliance risk — the Bank acts in this area to maintain a fair relationship with Bank clients
and other stake holders and to reduce exposure to materialization of risk and failure events in this area. Fairness is a
basic value in the Bank's Code of Ethics.

The Bank has the business, legal and operating infrastructure to manage these exposures and to take proactive action to
mitigate and/or hedge risk, in order to limit its exposure. The Bank has flexibility in management of physical assets as well
as financial assets and liabilities, and in making changes to risk assets and capital, in the course of normal operations, so
as to achieve the strategic targets.

Risk appetite and risks management

The Bank's overall risk appetite is defined, in qualitative and quantitative terms, in line with the Bank's business strategy.
The specific risk appetite for all material risks is determined through quantitative and qualitative limits. For most risks,
limits have been specified for the normal course of business and for stress situations.

ICAAP is a process for assessment of internal capital (Pillar 2), designed to ensure that overall capital at the Bank is in
line with its risk profile, specified capital targets and business targets, in conformity with the strategic plan. This is done
both in the normal course of business and under stress scenarios. Moreover, this pillar includes qualitative assessment
processes for the level of various risks, their management f and identification of risk hubs.

The Bank's most recent capital planning, submitted to the Bank of Israel in December 2018, based on data for the first
half of 2018, based on the Bank's strategic plan and for a three-year planning horizon, indicates that the Bank has a
sufficient capital absorption cushion to face the range of risks associated with Bank operations, even in case of stress
events. Moreover, the Tier | capital ratio for each year of the scenario is not lower than 6.5% (capital ratio restriction for
threat condition, a test conducted under strict assumptions with regard to potential impact to the Bank).
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Stress scenarios

Stress scenarios are risk management techniques used to assess Bank exposure to risks, both currently and from a
forward-looking viewpoint. Stress scenarios ares used by the Bank to estimate current risk exposure and from a forward-
looking viewpoint which assumes uncertainty. Stress scenarios are a complementary tool for risk assessment models.
The Bank has a range of calculation methodologies for conducting stress scenarios. The primary uses of stress scenarios
and guidelines for setting them are included on the risks management policy document. The Bank extensively uses the
outcome of stress scenarios in the capital planning process, which is part of the ICAAP document. This process reviews
whether the Bank has sufficient capital to fulfill the strategic plan, which is challenged by a range of stress scenarios at
various severity levels. The Bank also applies a system-wide scenario, which is a uniform macro-economic stress
scenario, prepared by the Supervisor of Banks for the banking system, primarily based on changes to macro-economic
variables under hypothetical scenarios, designed to conduct systemic and individual testing of the financial stability of the
banking system in a different macro-economic environment and to identify the major risk hubs.

The results of this scenario indicate that the potential impact on Bank performance under such scenario is low relative to
the Bank's capital and annual profit.

Risks Document

The risks document is the primary tool available to the Board of Directors to aid in discharging their role in risk management
and control. The document presents, clearly and concisely, the Bank's risk profile, in order to allow the Board of Directors
to monitor action taken by management and to ensure that such action is in line with the risk appetite and with the risks
management framework specified by the Board of Directors.

For more information see the Detailed Risks Report on the Bank website.

69



Report of the Board of Directors and management

Risk factor assessment

As of December 31, 2018

Below is a mapping of risk factors, their potential impact on the Bank Group and executives appointed Risk Owners for

each risk factor:

Risk factor®

Risk factor impact

Risk Owner

Overall effect of credit risks Low-medium Manager, Business Division

Risk from quality of borrowers and

collateral Low-medium

Risk from industry concentration Low-medium

Risk from concentration of borrowers/

borrower groups Low

Risk with respect to mortgage portfolio Low

Overall effect of market risk Low-medium Manager, Financial Division

Interest risk Medium

Inflation risk Low-medium

Exchange rate risk Low

Share price risk Low

Liquidity risk Low-medium Manager, Financial Division

Overall effect of operational risk Medium Manager, Risks Control Division

Cyber and information security Medium Manager, Risks Control Division
Manager, Mizrahi-Tefahot Technology

Information technology risk Medium Division Ltd.

Legal risk Low-medium Chief Legal Counsel

Compliance and regulatory risk Low-medium Manager, Risks Control Division

Cross-border and AML risk Low-medium Manager, Risks Control Division
Manager, Marketing, Promotion and

Reputation risk®? Low Business Development Division

Business-strategic risk® Low-medium President & CEO

(1) Assessment of the effect of risk factors takes into account the development in the US Department of Justice investigation. For more
information about the Bank’s Board of Directors' approval of signing a DPA agreement reached by the Bank and the US Department
of Justice, to conclude the derivative investigation of Bank Group business with its US clients and its financial implications for these
financial statements, see chapter "Strategic plan and forward-looking information" above, as well as Note 26.C.12 to the financial
statements. For more information about a motion for approval of a derivative claim in this regard, see Note 26.C. 11.A to the financial
statements.

(2) The risk of impairment of the Bank's results due to negative reports about the Bank.

(3) The definition of business-strategic risk includes the capital planning and management process.

The impact of the various risks factors in the table above have been determined based on management assessment, as
provided from time to time. These assessments are based on monitoring of various quantitative risk benchmarks specified
by the Bank, includes the direction of their development and are based on qualitative assessment of risk management
and the effectiveness of control circles, in line with the Bank's ICAAP process and its results , led by the Bank's Risk
Managers.

The Bank conducts processes for risk identification and measurement, base on a range of methodologies to assess risk
levels and exposure to various risks, in the normal course of business and under stress scenarios. The Bank applies
guantitative measurement methods (models, benchmarks / indicators, scenarios and sensitivity analysis, inter alia) and
qualitative measurement methods (expert assessments and surveys).

For more information see the Detailed Risks Report on the Bank website.
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Credit risk

Risk description

Credit risk is the risk that a borrower or counter-party of the Bank would not fulfill its obligations towards the Bank. This
risk is affected by multiple factors: Business risk due to client activities, concentration risks due to over-exposure to a
borrower / borrower group and to economic sectors, geographic concentration risk, risk due to exogenous changes,
overseas credit risks and operational risks which, should they materialize, would have implications for credit risks.
Moreover, such risk is interrelated to multiple other risks, such as market and interest risk, liquidity risk, compliance risks
and other risks.

Description of risk appetite and management guidelines

Credit risk management at the Bank is carried out in conformity with Directive 311 "Credit risk management" of the Bank
of Israel.

The Bank’s Board of Directors has set credit policy, based upon the Bank's objectives and business strategy, emphasizing
macro-economic changes in Israel and overseas and their implications on credit risk. The credit policies includes other
policy documents which discuss the relevant risks to the Bank's credit operations, including: Credit concentration policy,
which ensures that the credit concentration level at the Bank is regularly managed and monitored; derivatives policy,
which stipulates the principles for management and monitoring of Bank clients with activity involving derivatives and
securities; collateral policy, which stipulates the principles required for management of client collateral, safety factors
required by transaction type and risk factors; and the environmental risks policy.

Risk appetite consists of a long list of benchmarks and risk factors relevant to the Bank's credit operations, including:
Economic sectors, borrower groups, risk factors in the mortgage portfolio, unique activity types, overseas operations etc.
and other risk factors relevant for the Bank's credit risk profile and its business operations. Credit risk is also monitored
using a range of stress tests, which estimate the potential impact of stress events on the Bank's credit portfolio. This is
done, inter alia, in order to review the resilience of Bank capital to various stress events and as part of the ICAAP process.

Monitoring of the risk profile, in view of the specified risk appetite, is made at the frequency specified under the credit
policies, and compliance with these limitations is reported to Bank’s Board of Directors and management. The Bank’s
credit policies prescribe principles and rules for making credit available and for the management and control over the loan
portfolio, in order to preserve its quality and reduce the inherent risk. These principles and rules enable controlled
management of the risk involved in granting loans to borrowers, at the level of the individual borrower, group of borrowers
and the level of economic and business sectors. The credit policies are reviewed during the year, in view of developments
in the business environment in which the Bank and Bank clients operate and the policy is revised as needed.

The three lines of defense in the credit area:

First line of defense — credit-related business lines at the Bank

The structure of lines of business with regard to credit is based on three divisions, reporting to the President & CEO, as
follows:

Retail Division

This division consolidates most of the bank credit activity of individual clients, including mortgages and the activity of small
business clients. Bank branches and business centers operate under this division in eight geographic regions.

Business Banking Division

This division handles most banking activity of business clients (including from the real estate and construction sector) of
medium to large business operations.

Finance Division

With regard to credit, the Finance Division serves private banking and international operations through private banking
units in Israel and through overseas subsidiaries and affiliates.

For more information about client attributes in each segment, see chapter "Explanation and analysis of results and
business standing” (Description of Bank Group business by operating segment) above.

The professional units in each of these client segments are responsible for regularly verification, monitoring and control
of exposure to clients and operating segments for which they are responsible. This line of defense includes specific control
units, such as division controllers and other control functions. These operations are incorporated in specific procedures,
which ensure implementation of the specified principles for risk management.
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Second line of defense — Risks Control — The Risks Control Division acts as the Bank's independent risks management
function, thus serving as the second line of defense within corporate governance for risk management. Its activities include
post-factum assessment, independent of Bank entities which approve credit, of borrower quality and quality of the Bank's
credit portfolio, as well as producing an independent opinion for credit to material clients, as part of the credit approval
process.

Second line of defense — Chief Accountant — The Chief Accountant is responsible for credit classification, for
determination of provisions for credit losses, as well as for challenging the discovery and dissemination processes of
problematic debt.

Third line of defense — Internal Audit — Internal Audit serves as the third line of defense within corporate governance
for risks management, operating in line with the work plan for auditing the Bank's credit operations.

The Bank operates on multiple levels to monitor and mitigate credit risk in as much as possible, from the credit approval
stage, emphasizing the required collateral and financial covenants specified in accordance with procedures, authorization
and diversification policies specified by the Bank, through to regular control by business units and dedicated control units
operating within the lines of business. This is done with constant effort invested in improving the professional expertise of
those involved with credit, by means of banking courses and training, as well as professional seminars at all levels.
Concurrently, the Bank invests extensive resources in improving its control mechanisms and IT systems available to
decision makers in the credit sector.

In 2018, the overall effect of credit risk remained Low-Medium, with risk in the housing loan portfolio categorized as Low.
In 2018, the Bank continued to deploy, implement and use advanced models under development for optimal analysis and
management of retail credit, including an update and re definition of some risk benchmarks. As from the third quarter of
this year, actual current management at the Retail Division is primarily based on the MADHOM system (for client
management, rating and pricing). As part of this effort, the Bank's Training Center developed a customized activity for
deployment of diverse uses of the model outcomes at branches.

For more information about key processes involved in management and control of credit risk at the Bank, see the Detailed
Risks Report on the Bank website.

Handling of non-performing loans and collection of debts — The handling of problem loans requires special focus and
professionalism, other than the level that approved or processed the credit extended and collateral received. Initial
identification is typically computer-based by designated departments for identification and control. Identified clients are
handled by the Special Client Sector of the Business Division.

In order to identify credit risk materializing, or which may materialize, at the Bank, the Bank regularly conducts a process
to review and identify debts, based on specified criteria. Some of these criteria require debt to be classified as problematic
debt, while others provide a warning and allow the professional entity to exercise discretion. Debts are reviewed by a
ranking of authorizations specified in Bank procedures. This authorization ranking includes individual authorizations, from
branch and headquarters staff, to authorizations at higher levels with regard to classifications and provisions. A built-in,
independent control process is conducted by regional management and by designated units at headquarters. The Chief
Accountant forms a second line in the classification and provision setting process; he is responsible, in conformity with
Proper Conduct of Banking Business Directive 311, for being the independent factor in charge of classification and setting
the provision for credit losses.

A computer system which supports application of measurement and disclosure provisions for impaired debts, credit risk
and provision for credit losses, including in identification and control processes, carries out logical, criteria-based testing
and determines defaults for debts classification as debts under special supervision, inferior debt, impaired debt or debt in
restructuring, as required.

Identification of housing loans (mortgages) with risk attributes is automated by identifying criteria for arrears and other
qualitative criteria. In early stages of arrears, the Bank mostly applies automated collection processes. Later on, the Bank
applies proactive processes, both internal and external, including legal proceedings, if needed.

For more information about impaired debts, credit risk and provision for credit losses, see Note 1.D.6) to the financial
statements and the chapter "Credit risk" of the detailed Risks Report on the Bank website.
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Analysis of credit quality and problematic credit risk
Significant exposure to groups of borrowers

Disclosure of credit risk with respect to significant exposure to borrower groups is provided with regard to each group of
borrowers whose net indebtedness, on a consolidated basis, after allowed deductions pursuant to Proper Conduct of
Banking Business Directive 313, exceeds 15% of the banking corporation's capital (as defined in Regulation 313).

As of December 31, 2018, the Bank had no borrower group which meets the aforementioned criteria.

Bank business with major borrower groups is conducted subject to several guidelines designed to mitigate risk associated
with such activity:

- Activity with borrower groups is primarily done with established, leading public companies.

- Credit is mostly provided for short- and medium term, to be used in current operations of these companies.

- Credit is diversified among Group companies operating in different segments and economic sectors.

- Credit is provided, in as much as possible, to companies which are not mutually dependent or which are subject to
mutual covenants or guarantees.

The Bank takes the following steps in order to manage exposure to groups of borrowers:

- Set financial covenants as needed.

- Provide credit against collateral, in as much as possible, and closely monitor exposure not secured by collateral.
- Closely monitor company operations and financial results.

- Closely monitor compliance of borrower group companies with financial covenants, if and when specified.

Major borrowers

Below is the sector composition of the top 6 borrowers for the Group as of December 31, 2018 (NIS in millions):

On-balance sheet Off balance sheet Total credit

Borrower no. Sector credit risk® credit risk® risk®
Institutional
1. investors 2 1,306 1,308
2. Construction 260 686 946
3. Construction 217 646 863
4, Construction 1 681 682
5. Other industrial 3 674 677
6. Construction 238 302 540

(1) On- and off-balance sheet credit risk is stated before impact of provision for credit losses, and before impact of deductible
collateral with respect to indebtedness of borrower and of borrower group.

Leveraged financing

Leveraged financing is credit financing provided to customers which fulfills one of the following criteria:

1. Credit for an equity transaction would be classified according to one of the following rules:

- Credit for an equity transaction (as defined below), provided that the balance of such credit exceeds 0.5% of Bank
capital or NIS 35 million, whichever is higher.

- For credit financing acquisition of equity interests in another banking corporation, or in a banking holding
corporation, provided that the balance of such credit exceeds NIS 35 million.

- Additional credit extended to the borrower after the financing for the equity transaction, with repayment primarily
based on the cash flows derived from the equity interest whose purchase was financed by the banking
corporation.

"Equity transaction": A transaction with one of the following goals:

- Buyout — purchase or buyback, by the borrower, of the borrower’s issued capital (including an employees’ stock
purchase plan).

- Acquisition of another corporation — the purchase of any capital rights in another corporation, or the purchase of
all, or a significant share, of the assets of another corporation.

- Capital distribution — the payment of dividends or another transaction whose goal is to increase shareholder value.

An equity transaction, with regard to leveraged financing, is one where the loan balance exceeds 0.5% of Bank capital

and where the LTV ratio exceeds 50%.
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2. Financing for leveraged companies, which is credit extended to companies with attributes which indicate that an
adverse change in the global economic environment or in the specific environment of the sector in which they do
business, may significantly impact their capacity to repay the bank. The Bank has specified criteria for defining credit
included in this category, based on the business client's credit risk rating, as reflected by the Bank's rating model; it
also specified benchmarks for leveraging (i.e. for significantly high deviation from typical norms for the sector),
determined based on generally accepted financial ratios among Bank clients with material credit in major sectors in
which the Bank operates. Leverage benchmarks and economic sectors are reviewed based on changes to the
business environment and are modified as necessary. Borrowers flagged for one or more of the criteria specified are
individually reviewed by a forum which includes representatives from the Business Division, the Risks Control Division
and the Accounting and Financial Reporting Division, which reviews changes to financial parameters of the company
and the economic environment in which it operates.

Details of Bank exposure to credit constituting leveraged financing are as follows:

Credit for equity transactions (NIS in millions):

December December
December December 31, 2018 December December 31, 2017
31,2018 31,2018 December |ndividual 31,2017 31,2017 December |ndividual

BalanceOff-balance 31,2018 provision  BalanceOff-balance 31,2017 provision

Econ_omic sector of sheet sheet Total credit for credit sheet sheet Total credit for credit
acquired company credit risk credit risk risk losses credit risk credit risk risk losses
Business services and other

services 55 28 83 - - - - -
Total 55 28 83 - - - - -

Credit to leveraged companies (NIS in millions):

December December
December December 31,2018 December December 31, 2017
31,2018 31,2018 December |ndividual 31,2017 31,2017 December |ndividual

BalanceOff-balance 31,2018 provision  BalanceOff-balance 31,2017 provision

Economic sector of sheetsheet credit Total credit for credit sheetsheet credit Total credit for credit
borrower credit risk risk risk losses credit risk risk risk losses
Industry and production 61 - 61 1 - - - -
Construction and real estate 420 - 420 - - - - -
Commerce 236 46 282 - 108 16 124 -
Information and

communications 40 90 130 - 40 90 130 -
Financial services 156 - 156 6 183 - 183 -
Public and community

services 71 5 76 — — - - —
Total 984 141 1,125 7 331 106 437 =

(1) The increase in credit risk to leveraged companies in 2018 is primarily due to a single client, for which the credit risk was
classified as leveraged credit risk in this period.
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Developments in problematic credit risk

Below is a summary of overall problematic credit risk and non-performing assets before provision for credit losses, in
accordance with provisions for measurement and disclosure of impaired debts, credit risk and provision for credit losses
(NIS in millions):

Total credit risk Total credit risk
December 31, 2018 December 31, 2017

Problematic credit risk:

Impaired credit risk 1,165 786
Inferior credit risk 152 315
Credit risk under special supervision — housing 1,251 1,072
Credit risk under special supervision — other 521 457
Total problematic credit risk 3,089 2,630

Changes to inferior and impaired credit risk are primarily due to classification of inferior clients as impaired.
The increase in housing credit under special supervision risk is due to increase in the total mortgage portfolio.
The increase in credit under special supervision risk is due to classification of several individual clients.

Major risk benchmarks related to credit quality (in percent):

December 31, 2018 December 31, 2017

Ratio of impaired loans to the public to total loans to the public 0.6 0.4
Ratio of impaired loans to the public to total non-housing loans 15 1.1
Ratio of problematic loans to the public to total non-housing loans 2.4 2.3
Ratio of housing loans in arrears 90 days or longer to total loans to the

public @ 0.7 0.6
Ratio of problematic credit risk to total credit risk with respect to the public 1.2 1.2

(1) This non-housing rate is negligible.
(2) Balance of credit in arrears before provision by extent of arrears.

For more information see chapter "Explanation and analysis of results and business standing" above.

Below is a summary of impaired debt under restructuring made or in default (NIS in millions):

December 31, 2018 December 31, 2017
Recorded debt December 31, 2018 Recorded debt December 31, 2017
balance Recorded debt balance Recorded debt
Before balance Before balance
restructuring After restructuring restructuring After restructuring
Restructurings made 291 288 177 116
December 31, 2018 December 31, 2017

Recorded debt balance Recorded debt balance

Restructurings made which are in default 10 4

For more information see Note 30.B.2.C to the financial statements.
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Movement in impaired debts and impaired debt under restructuring (NIS in millions):

As of December 31, 2018

For the For the For the For the
year ended For the year ended For the year ended For the year ended For the
December year ended December year ended December year ended December year ended
Movement in impaired debt 31,2018 December 31,2018 December 31,2017 December 31,2017 December
with respect to loans to the Comme- 31, 2018 Individual -= 31,2018 Comme- 31, 2017 Individual = 31, 2017
public® rcial  Housing other Total rcial  Housing other Total
Balance of impaired debts
at start of the year 620 33 70 723 584 27 70 681
Debts classified as
impaired during the year 553 55 43 651 331 10 39 380
Debts re-classified as non-
impaired during the year (14) (4) (13) (31) (35) - 3) (38)
Impaired debts written off (80) 3) 17) (100) (108) 4) (13) (125)
Impaired debts repaid (136) (22) (8) (166) (167) - (10) a77)
Other changes 21 1 2 24 15 - (13) 2
Balance of impaired
debts at end of the year 964 60 77 1,101 620 33 70 723
For the For the For the For the
year ended For the year ended For the year ended For the year ended For the
@ Includes: Movement in December year ended December year ended December year ended December year ended
: 31, 2018 December 31,2018 December 31, 2017 December 31,2017 December
problemat_ic debts under Comme- 31, 2018 Individual = 31,2018 Comme- 31, 2017 Individual = 31, 2017
restructuring rcial  Housing other Total rcial  Housing other Total
Balance of problematic
debts under restructuring at
start of year 105 - 50 155 102 - 46 148
Re-structuring made during
the year 221 - 17 238 35 - 29 64
Debt reclassified as non-
impaired due to subsequent
restructuring (1) - (2) (3) (8) - (1) (9)
Debts under restructuring
written off (13) - (5) (18) @ - ®) (15)
Debts under restructuring
repaid (23) - (5) (28) (65) - @) (69)
Other changes 1 - 3 4 48 - (12) 36
Balance of problematic
debts under restructuring
at end of year 290 - 58 348 105 - 50 155

For more information about problematic credit risk, see Notes 13 and 30 to the financial statements.
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Analysis of provision for credit losses

Analysis of movement in balance of provision for credit losses (NIS in millions):

Provision for credit losses For the year ended December 31, 2018

Loans to the Loans to the

Loans to the
public Loans to the

public public Individual — public Banks and

Commercial Housing other Total governments Total
Balance of provision for credit losses
at start of period 699 630 245 1,574 1 1,575
Expenses with respect to credit losses 164 36 107 307 310
Accounting write-offs (199) (24) (153) (376) - (376)
Recovery of debts written off for
accounting purposes in previous years 102 2 64 168 - 168
Net accounting write-offs 97 (22) (89) (208) - (208)
Balance of provision for credit
losses at end of period 766 644 263 1,673 4 1,677

Provision for credit losses For the year ended December 31, 2017
Loans to the
Loans to the Loans to the public Loans to the
public public Individual — public Banks and

Commercial Housing other Total governments Total
Balance of provision for credit losses at
start of period 724 615 208 1,547 2 1,549
Expenses with respect to credit losses 46 24 123 193 (1) 192
Accounting write-offs (245) 9) (145) (399) - (399)
Recovery of debts written off for
accounting purposes in previous years 174 - 59 233 - 233
Net accounting write-offs (71) 9 (86) (166) - (166)
Balance of provision for credit
losses at end of period 699 630 245 1,574 1 1,575

For more information about provision for credit losses see Notes 13 and 30 to the financial statements.

Major risk benchmarks related to provision for credit losses (in percent):

Ratio of provision for credit losses® to total loans to the public

Ratio of provision for credit losses to total credit risk with respect to the

public

December 31, 2018

December 31, 2017

0.9

0.7

0.9

0.7

Ratio of expenses with respect to credit losses to average balance of

loans to the public, gross

Ratio of net write-offs to average balance of loans to the public, gross

Ratio of expenses with respect to credit losses to average balance of

loans to the public, net

Of which: With respect to commercial loans other than housing loans®
Ratio of net write-offs to average balance of loans to the public, net

For the year ended
December 31, 2018

For the year ended
December 31, 2017

0.2
0.1

0.2
®0.4
0.1

0.1
0.1

0.1
0.3
0.1

(1) On- and off-balance sheet provision.

(2) The rate with respect to housing loans with respect to credit is negligible.

(3) Total expenses with respect to credit losses were impacted by maximization of collection of previously written-off debts up to

the present.

For more information about changes to components of the provision for credit losses, see chapter "Material developments
in revenues, expenses and other comprehensive income" above.
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Credit risk to individuals (excluding housing loans®

The household segment is a key growth engine and a significant component of the Bank's strategic plan for 2017-2021.
The individual client segment is highly diversified — by number of clients and by geographic location. Most clients in this
segment are salaried employees with an individual account or joint household account. A recession in non-banking
operations is a major risk factor for household activity and higher unemployment may increase the number of clients who
face difficulties.

Credit policies and work procedures with regard to extending credit, including to individual clients, include directives and
guidelines with regard to credit underwriting and adapting credit to client needs and repayment capacity: Review of credit
objective, requested LTV, loan term, analysis of client's repayment capacity and repayment sources, for all of their
indebtedness. This includes review of various economic parameters of the client based, inter alia, on the client's regular
income®, pledged or unencumbered savings, knowledge of the client and past experience working with the client.

The Bank regularly monitors the risk level in the loan portfolio to individuals, including by using an internal model for credit
rating of individual clients, monitoring and analysis of expenses with respect to credit losses and by conducting various
stress tests, including stress tests in conformity with Bank of Israel directives, which include scenarios such as: economic
recession, significant increase in unemployment and higher interest rates.

Below is information about credit risk to individuals — balances and various risk attributes as of December 31 (NIS in millions):

December 31, December 31,

2018 2017

Debts
Checking balances 2,158 2,176
Utilized credit card balances 3,768 3,623
Auto loans — adjustable interest 1,038 1,366
Auto loans — fixed interest 734 738
Other loans and credit — variable interest 11,557 10,677
Other loans and credit — fixed interest 218 232
Total debt (on-balance sheet credit) 19,473 18,812
Unutilized facilities, guarantees and other commitments
Checking accounts — unutilized facilities 3,998 3,780
Credit cards — unutilized facilities 6,238 5,661
Guarantees 228 187
Other liabilities 32 67
Total unutilized facilities, guarantees and other commitments (off-balance sheet
credit) 10,496 9,695
Total credit risk to individuals 29,969 28,507
Of which:
Bullet / balloon loans®) 492 647
Financial asset portfolio and other collateral against credit risk®
Financial assets portfolio:

Deposits 3,392 3,305

Securities 205 247

Other monetary assets 388 465
Other collateral® 697 1,054
Total financial assets portfolio and other collateral against credit risk 4,682 5,070

(1) As defined in Proper Conduct of Banking Business Directive 451.

(2) For measuring regular income in client accounts, the Bank uses "credit turnover” data for the account, including inter alia salaries
and regular pensions.

(3) Loans with a grace period for principal longer than one year.
(4) Amounts presented are the financial assets portfolio and other collateral, only up to client debt amount.

(5) Collateral is after applying the safety factor, in conformity with Bank factors accounted for when extending credit. The decrease is
primarily due to downward revision of safety factors for vehicles and the maximum vehicle age accounted for in calculating the
collateral value.
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Below is composition by size of borrower indebtedness®:
As of As of As of As of
As of December December As of As of December December As of

December 31,2018 31,2018 pecember December 31,2017 31,2017  pecember
31, 2018 On-balance Off-balance 31, 2018 31, 2017 On-balance Off-balance 31, 2017

Loan ceiling and credit Number of sheet credit sheet credit Total credit Number of sheet credit sheet credit Total credit

risk (NIS in thousands) Borrowers risk risk risk Borrowers risk risk risk
Up to 10 273,164 115 358 473 271,929 260 349 609
Above 10 Upto 20 87,473 511 723 1,234 84,818 511 700 1,211
Above 20 Up to 40 117,331 1,441 1,908 3,349 115,167 1,497 1,846 3,343
Above 40 Up to 80 120,070 3,608 3,197 6,805 116,728 3,569 3,010 6,579
Above 80 Up to 150 77,903 5,774 2,590 8,364 73,393 5,612 2,316 7,928
Above 150 Up to 300 38,609 6,353 1,423 7,776 35,058 5,870 1,202 7,072
Above 300 3,827 1,671 297 1,968 3,520 1,493 272 1,765
Total 718,377 19,473 10,496 29,969 700,613 18,812 9,695 28,507

(1) Number of borrowers is for total on- and off-balance sheet credit risk.

Composition of on-balance sheet credit by fixed income® in account:

As of As of

As of December December As of December December

31, 2018 31, 2018 31, 2017 31, 2017

Income NIS in millions In % NIS in millions In %
Accounts with no fixed income for the account 632 3.2 636 3.4
Less than NIS 10 thousand. 5,904 30.3 6,187 329
Between NIS 10 thousand and NIS 20 thousand 6,999 35.9 6,548 34.8
Over NIS 20 thousand 5,938 30.6 5,441 28.9
Total 19,473 100.0 18,812 100.0

@ For measuring regular income in client accounts, the Bank uses "credit turnover" data for the account, including inter
alia salaries and regular pensions.

Below is composition of on-balance sheet credit by remaining term to maturity™:

As of As of

As of December December As of December December

. 31, 2018 31, 2018 31, 2017 31, 2017

Term to maturity NIS in millions In % NIS in millions In %
Up to 1 year 3,590 26.5 3,531 27.1
Over 1 year to 3 years 4,641 34.3 4,690 36.0
Over 3 years to 5 years 2,394 17.7 2,318 17.8
Over 5 years to 7 years 1,398 10.3 1,210 9.3
Over 7 years® 1,524 11.2 1,264 9.7
Total 13,547 100.0 13,013 100.0

(1) Excluding checking account and credit cards.

(2) Primarily loans to salaried Government employees, where loan repayment is directly deducted from the client's pay check and
which bear significantly lower risk than similar loans for the same term.

79



Report of the Board of Directors and management
As of December 31, 2018

Problematic credit risk before provision for credit losses (NIS in millions):

As of As of As of As of
December 31, December 31, As of December 31, December 31, As of
2018 Credit 2018 Credit December 31, 2017 Credit 2017 Credit December 31,
risk® risk® 2018 Credit risk® risk® 2017 Credit
On balance Off balance risk®  on balance Off balance risk®
sheet sheet Total sheet sheet Total
Balance of problematic credit risk 229 4 233 217 4 221
Problematic credit risk rate® 1.18% 0.04% 0.78% 1.15% 0.04% 0.78%

(1) On- and off-balance sheet credit before impact of provision for credit losses, and before impact of deductible collateral with
respect to indebtedness of borrower and of borrower group.

(2) The ratio of problematic credit risk to total credit risk before provision for credit losses.

Below is the expense rate with respect to credit losses to individuals (annualized)

For the year For the year
ended ended
December December
31,2018 31, 2017

Expense with respect to credit losses as percentage of total loans to the public to individuals 0.56% 0.65%

Data for credit risk to individuals show that:

- Total debts by individuals (on-balance sheet credit) increased by 3.5% compared to December 31, 2017, primarily
due to increase in loans and other credit.

- There was no significant change to composition of debts by individuals in 2018.

As of December 31, 2018:

Checking accounts 11%
Credit cards 19%
Auto loans 9%
Other loans and credit 61%

- Of all debts (on-balance sheet credit) as of December 31, 2018, 20% is secured by financial assets and other
collateral in the client's account (compared to 23% as of December 31, 2017).

Given the risk attributes of this segment, the rate of group-based qualitative provision for individuals is higher than in other
segments, in conformity with guidelines from the Supervisor of Banks.

Credit risk in construction and real estate economic sector in Israel

Credit operations in this sector account for a significant component of credit operations of the Business Division. In
financing the construction and real estate industry, specific analysis and monitoring tools are used to assist the Bank in
reaching decisions on the granting of financial support to the various projects. Construction financing in this industry is
focused mainly on residential construction in areas with strong demand in central Israel at mid-level prices. In addition,
the financing is allocated between geographic regions, based inter alia on relevant demand. In providing credit for
construction, the Bank focuses on the financial support method (closed assistance). The application of this method is
designed to reduce the exposure to risks in the granting of the loans, because it incorporates current and close monitoring
of the progress of the financed project, both before the loans are provided, and as the project receives the financial
support, while maintaining a distinction between the financed projects and the business risks inherent in the other activities
of the developer-borrower. The Bank is assisted by outside construction supervisors, and also relies on liens on the land
in the project, to secure the loans. Loans are issued for financed projects only by business centers and branches with
professional knowledge of the subject, and under the supervision of the construction and real estate sector. The Bank
also sets policies and rules for financing other real estate transactions, such as financing for rental properties,
Construction, purchase groups, urban renewal, National Zoning Plan 38 etc.

For more information about the Bank acquiring an insurance policy for guarantees, see chapter "Significant developments
in management of business operations” above.
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Below is information about credit risk in the construction and real estate economic sector in Israel, by real estate

collateral type (NIS in millions):

December 31, 2018 - Credit risk to the public®

Balance of Balance of
Total provision  provision
problematic for credit for credit
Credit risk  Credit risk Total creditrisk losses losses
On Off problematic Other Balance Off-balance
balance balance Creditrisk credit risk proble- sheet sheet credit
sheet®? sheet® Total Impaired matic®  credit risk risk
Secured by real estate in
Israel:
Housing 9,904 13,167 23,071 31 33 69 24
Commercial and industrial 4,849 1,013 5,862 52 6 64 2
Total secured by real estate
in Israel: 14,753 14,180 28,933 83 39 133 26
Not secured by real estate in
Israel 2,261 2,908 5,169 146 69 41 13
Total for construction and
real estate economic sector
in Israel 17,014 17,088 34,102 229 108 174 39
Of which: Designated for
project assistance 9,211 11,470 20,681 1 26 70 26
December 31, 2017 - Credit risk to the public®
Balance of Balance of
Total provision provision
problematic for credit for credit
Credit risk  Credit risk Total  credit risk losses losses
On Off problematic Other Balance Off-balance
balance balance Creditrisk creditrisk proble- sheet sheet credit
sheet® sheet® Total Impaired matic®  credit risk risk
Secured by real estate in
Israel:
Housing 7,439 14,188 21,627 24 5 63 25
Commercial and industrial 4,001 767 4,768 60 13 57 2
Total secured by real estate
in Israel: 11,440 14,955 26,395 84 18 120 27
Not secured by real estate in
Israel 2,901 2,968 5,869 132 66 47 9
Total for construction and
real estate economic sector
in Israel 14,341 17,923 32,264 216 84 167 36
Of which: Designated for
project assistance 7,617 13,047 20,664 1 4 61 28

(1) On- and off-balance sheet credit risk, problematic credit risk and impaired loans to the public are stated before impact of
provision for credit losses, and before impact of deductible collateral with respect to indebtedness of borrower.

(2) Loans to the public, investment in debentures by the public, other debt by the public and other assets with respect to derivative

instruments against the public.

(3) Credit risk of off-balance-sheet financial instruments as calculated for the purpose of determining per-borrower indebtedness

limits.

(4) On- and off-balance sheet credit risk with respect to the public, which is inferior or under special supervision.

(5) Reclassified.
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Below is information about credit risk in the construction and real estate economic sector in Israel, by asset status (NIS in
millions):

December  December

December 31, December 31,2018 31,2018
2018 Credit 31,2018 December Credit Credit December 31,
risk® Credit risk® 31, 2018 risk®® risk®? 2018 Credit
On balance Off balance Credit risk® On balance Off balance risk®®
sheet sheet Total sheet sheet Total
Real estate collateral in Israel
Real estate yet to be completely
constructed:
Raw land 5,035 430 5,465 3,511 911 4,422
Real estate under construction 5,867 12,752 18,619 4,433 12,997 17,430
Real estate completely constructed 3,851 998 4,849 3,496 1,047 4,543
Total credit secured by real estate in
Israel 14,753 14,180 28,933 11,440 14,955 26,395
Not secured by real estate in Israel 2,261 2,908 5,169 2,901 2,968 5,869
Total credit risk for construction and
real estate 17,014 17,088 34,102 14,341 17,923 32,264

(1) On- and off-balance sheet credit risk, problematic credit risk and impaired loans to the public are stated before impact of
provision for credit losses, and before impact of deductible collateral with respect to indebtedness of borrower.

(2) Reclassified.

Credit risk data for the construction and real estate clients sector as of December 31, 2018 show that 54.1% of the on-
balance sheet credit risk and 67.1% of the off-balance sheet credit risk is associated with closed assistance to real estate
projects, mostly for residential construction in areas of strong demand in Central Israel and in Jerusalem. Most of the off-
balance sheet credit is due to guarantees provided to home buyers pursuant to the Sale Act.

Most of the credit risk in the construction and real estate sector is backed by real estate fully pledged to secure loan
repayment. Note that for credit not secured by real estate collateral, there is other collateral in place, such as: deposits,
securities etc.

The share of the construction and real estate sector in Israel out of total credit risk to the public at the Bank as of December
31, 2018, as presented in chapter "Risks" below (Credit Risk by Economic Sector) and in chapter "Credit risk" of the
detailed Risks Report on the Bank website, is 13.8%.

Note that according to Proper Conduct of Banking Business Directive 315, the rate of indebtedness of the construction
and real estate sector (for calculation of sector concentration) is 9.35% (excluding liabilities, including contingent liabilities
to extend credit or to provide guarantees and amounts of Sale Act guarantees for which the Bank has obtained an
insurance policy).
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Credit Risk® by Economic Sector — Consolidated

As of December 31, 2018
Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

Credit Credit

losses® losses® Credit

Credit Of which: Credit Expen-ses Credit  losses®

losses® CreditCredit losses® losses® with losses® Balance of

Total perfor- Of which: Of which: respect to Net provision

credit mance Problematic Impaired credit accounting for credit

risk®  rating®  credit risk® credit risk losses write-offs losses

Industry and production 9,977 9,555 422 279 33 18 126

Construction and real estate —

construction® 30,901 30,604 297 203 @) (8) 160
Construction and real estate — real

estate operations 3,201 3,161 40 26 1) (4) 53

Commerce 11,010 10,663 347 234 74 44 181

Financial services 11,954 11,774 180 168 6 5 70

Other sectors 14,338 14,098 240 113 49 42 135

Total commercial 81,381 79,855 1,526 1,023 160 97 725

Private individuals — housing loans 135,960 134,650 1,310 60 36 22 643

Private individuals — other 30,245 29,752 233 77 109 91 263

Total public — activity in Israel 247,586 244,257 3,069 1,160 305 210 1,631
Banks in Israel and Government of

Israel 9,850 9,850 - - - - -

Total activity in Israel 257,436 254,107 3,069 1,160 305 210 1,631

Total public — activity overseas 6,324 6,304 20 5 2 (2) 42

Overseas banks and governments 9,097 9,097 - - 3 - 4

Total activity overseas 15,421 15,401 20 5 5 (2) 46

Total 272,857 269,508 3,089 1,165 310 208 1,677

(1) On- and off-balance sheet credit risk, including with respect to derivative instruments (NIS in millions): Debts® — 202,053;

@

®
4

®)

(6)

debentures — 10,988; securities borrowed or acquired in conjunction with resale agreements — 26; Assets with respect to
derivative instruments — 3,240; and Credit risk of off-balance-sheet financial instruments as calculated for the purpose of
determining per-borrower indebtedness limits — 56,550.

Loans to the public, loans to governments, deposits with banks and other debts, except for debentures and securities borrowed
or acquired in conjunction with resale agreements.

Includes with respect to off-balance sheet credit instruments (included on balance sheet under Other Liabilities).

Credit risk whose credit rating as of the report date matches the credit rating for new credit performance, in conformity with
Bank policies.

On- and off-balance sheet credit risk which is impaired, inferior or under special supervision, including with respect to housing
loans for which a provision was made by extent of arrears, and housing loans for which no provision was made by extent of
arrears and which are in arrears of 90 days or longer.

Includes on-balance sheet credit risk amounting to NIS 2,023 million and off-balance sheet credit risk amounting to NIS 2,241
million, provided to certain purchase groups in the process of construction and includes off-balance sheet credit risk amounting
to NIS 4,794 million for which insurance has been acquired to cover the portfolio of Sale Law guarantees and performance
guarantees pursuant to the Sale Law from international re-insurers.
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Credit Risk® by Economic Sector — Consolidated — continued

As of December 31, 2017
Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

Credit Credit
Credit Credit losses® Credit  losses®
losses® Credit losses®Credit losses®  losses® Expen-ses losses® Balance of
Total Of which: Of which: Of which:with respect Net provision
credit Credit perfor- Problematic Impaired to credit accounting for credit
risk® mance rating®  credit risk® credit risk losses write-offs losses
Industry and production 8,629 8,353 276 127 34 15 111
Construction and real estate —
construction® 29,226 28,844 280 201 4 (16) 153
Construction and real estate —
real estate operations 3,038 3,018 20 15 (64) (53) 50
Commerce 9,956 9,675 281 213 49 99 151
Financial services 10,395 10,193 202 15 (37) 9) 69
Other sectors 13,366 13,124 242 108 59 34 128
Total commercial® 74,610 73,207 1,301 679 45 70 662
Private individuals — housing
loans 126,273 125,169 1,104 33 24 9 629
Private individuals — other 28,728 28,163 221 71 123 86 245
Total public — activity in Israel 229,611 226,539 2,626 783 192 165 1,536
Banks in Israel and Government
of Israel 10,471 10,471 - - €] - -
Total activity in Israel 240,082 237,010 2,626 783 191 165 1,536
Total public — activity overseas 5,542 5,538 4 3 1 1 38
Overseas banks and
governments 5,164 5,164 - - - - 1
Total activity overseas 10,706 10,702 4 3 1 1 39
Total 250,788 247,712 2,630 786 192 166 1,575
(1) On- and off-balance sheet credit risk, including with respect to derivative instruments (NIS in millions): Debts® — 185,145;
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(©)
(©)
®)

(6)

@)

debentures — 10,034; securities borrowed or acquired in conjunction with resale agreements — 76; Assets with respect to
derivative instruments — 3,421; and Credit risk of off-balance-sheet financial instruments as calculated for the purpose of
determining per-borrower indebtedness limits — 52,112.

Loans to the public, loans to governments, deposits with banks and other debts, except for debentures and securities borrowed
or acquired in conjunction with resale agreements.

Includes with respect to off-balance sheet credit instruments (included on balance sheet under Other Liabilities).

Credit risk whose credit rating as of the report date matches the credit rating for new credit performance, in conformity with
Bank policies.

On- and off-balance sheet credit risk which is impaired, inferior or under special supervision, including with respect to housing
loans for which a provision was made by extent of arrears, and housing loans for which no provision was made by extent of
arrears and which are in arrears of 90 days or longer.

Includes on-balance sheet credit risk amounting to NIS 1,571 million and off-balance sheet credit risk amounting to NIS 1,478
million, provided to certain purchase groups in the process of construction and includes off-balance sheet credit risk amounting
to NIS 5,237 million for which insurance has been acquired to cover the Sales Act guarantee portfolio from international re-
insurers.

Reclassified.



Report of the Board of Directors and management
As of December 31, 2018

Key exposure to Foreign Countries — Consolidated®

Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

December  December 31, December December 31,
31, 2018 2018 December 31, 2017 2017 December
Exposure Exposure 31,2018 Exposure Exposure 31, 2017
On balance Off-balance  Exposure On balance Off-balance  Exposure
Country sheet? sheet@®® Total sheet® sheet®®® Total
December 31, 2018
USA 6,639 519 7,158 4,806 654 5,460
France 1,384 2,092 3,476 1,437 2,565 4,002
UK® 2,133 1,182 3,315 - - -
Germany 321 2,651 2,972 331 2,999 3,330
Other 2,518 1,105 3,623 3,436 1,661 5,097
Total exposure to foreign countries 12,995 7,549 20,544 10,010 7,879 17,889
To Greece, Portugal, Spain, Italy 35 66 101 46 66 112
Of which: Total exposure to LDC
countries 433 130 563 546 149 695

Of which: Total exposure to foreign
countries facing liquidity issues® -

(1) Based on final risk, after effect of guarantees, liquid collateral and credit derivatives.

(2) On- and off-balance sheet credit risk is stated before impact of provision for credit losses, and before impact of deductible
collateral with respect to indebtedness of borrower and of borrower group.

(3) Credit risk of off-balance-sheet financial instruments as calculated for the purpose of determining per-borrower indebtedness
limits, in conformity with Proper Conduct of Banking Business Directive 313.

(4) The balance of off-balance sheet exposure includes NIS 4,794 million with respect to acquiring insurance from international
reinsurers for the portfolio of Sales Act guarantees for borrowers in the real estate sector in Israel. (As of December 31, 2017:
NIS 5,237 million). For more information about revision of the Credit Conversion Factor (CCF) applied to guarantees to secure
investments by apartment buyers pursuant to the Sale Act. See Note 25 to the financial statements for additional information.

(5) As of December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, the Bank has no exposure to foreign countries facing liquidity issues.

(6) As of December 31, 2017, the exposure to the UK did not exceed the reportable threshold according to the Public Reporting

Directives of the Bank of Israel.

The exposure presented above represents, in accordance with directives of the Supervisor of Banks, exposure based on
final risk. The party bearing the final risk is an individual, business, institution or instrument which provides "credit
reinforcement” to the Bank, such as guarantees, collateral, insurance contracts or credit derivatives. When no "credit
reinforcement" exists, the party bearing the final risk is the debtor.

The row "Total exposure to LDC countries" includes total exposure to countries classified as "Less Developed Countries"
(LDC) in Proper Conduct of Bank Businesses Directive 315 "Supplementary provision for doubtful debts".

Balance sheet exposure to a foreign country includes cross-border balance sheet exposure and balance sheet exposure
of affiliates of the banking corporation in foreign country to local residents. Cross-border balance sheet exposure includes
balance sheet exposure of Israeli offices of the banking corporation to residents of the foreign country and balance sheet
exposure of overseas affiliates of the banking corporation to non-residents of the country where the affiliate is located.
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Credit exposure to foreign financial institutions

Below is information on the Bank's exposure to foreign financial institutions®®® (NIS in millions):

On-balance
sheet On-balance Current credit
credit risk® sheet exposure Current credit
Before credit risk® Before exposure
offset of After offset offset of After offset
deposits of deposits with deposits of deposits with
with respect to respectto  Off balance with respect to respect to
master netting master netting sheet credit master netting master netting
External credit rating agreements®  agreements® risk® agreements®  agreements®
As of December 31, 2018
AAA to AA- 927 820 5,040 5,967 5,860
A+ to A- 26 10 271 297 281
BBB+ to BBB- 3 3 57 60 60
BB+ to B- - - 20 20 20
Lower than B- - - - - -
Unrated 1 1 - 1 1
Total credit exposure to foreign
financial institutions 957 834 5,388 6,345 6,222
As of December 31, 2017
AAA to AA- 746 648 5,581 6,327 6,229
A+ to A- 306 94 269 575 363
BBB+ to BBB- 73 72 - 73 72
BB+ to B- - - 20 20 20
Lower than B- - - - - -
Unrated 2 2 - 2 2
Total credit exposure to foreign
financial institutions 1,127 816 5,870 6,997 6,686

As of December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017 there was no problematic commercial credit risk, net.
Problematic credit risk — credit risk for impaired, inferior credit or credit under special supervision.

(1) Foreign financial institutions include: banks, investment banks, brokers/dealers, insurance companies, institutional entities and
entities controlled by the former. Bank exposure is almost entirely to banks and investment banks primarily incorporated in the
UK, USA, Germany, Switzerland and France.

(2) After deduction of provision for credit losses.

(3) Bank deposits, loans to the public, investment in debentures, securities borrowed or acquired in conjunction with resale
agreements and other assets with respect to derivative instruments.

(4) Primarily guarantees and commitments to grant credit, including guarantees to secure indebtedness of third parties. The
balance of off-balance sheet exposure to financial institutions includes NIS 4,794 million as of December 31, 2018 (as of
December 31, 2017: NIS 5,237 million) with respect to acquiring insurance from international reinsurers for the portfolio of Sale
Act guarantees for borrowers in the real estate sector in Israel.

(5) Presented net of fair value of liabilities with respect to derivative instruments for counter-parties which have signed master
netting agreements.

(6) With respect to offset of cash deposits used as collateral for transactions with regard to financial derivatives.

The aforementioned credit exposure excludes exposure to financial institutions for which complete, explicit government
guarantees are in place, and exclude investments in asset-backed securities. For further information with regard to credit
exposure composition with respect to derivative instruments vis-a-vis banks and dealers/brokers (domestic and foreign),
see Note 28.C to the financial statements.

Some of the exposures listed in the above table are included under "Credit Risk by Economic Sector”, under "Financial
services". This includes deposits with banks, loans to the public, public investment in debentures and other assets with
respect to derivative instruments. Futures transactions, weighted in accordance with rules stated in Proper Business
Conduct Directive 313, are included as part of off-balance sheet credit risk, and are excluded from the above table.

In conjunction with its policies regarding management of exposure to foreign financial institutions, the Bank’s Board of
Directors sets, inter alia, the risk appetite — i.e. the maximum exposure limit for states and foreign financial institutions,
while adjusting the exposure limit to the risk assessment for each state and financial institution. Exposure limits are set
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based, inter alia, on rating of the various nations and financial institutions and on Bank assessment of the risk level in a
manner which diversifies exposure.

The Bank determines the exposure limit to each financial institution based on the most recent rating available for said
institution, provided by one of the leading international rating agencies are used — based on financial information for the
institution under review. Exposure limits per institution include maximum exposure amount and maximum time to maturity
for different types of activities and transactions. To this end, the existence (or absence) of an offset agreement for
derivative operations with these financial institution is also taken into consideration. The policies also specify a hierarchy
of authority for approval of specific transactions within the exposure limits.

The Bank monitors current ratings published for financial institutions to which it has exposure, and adjusts the exposure
limits and actual exposure, as required, to the current rating. The Bank also reviews on a regular basis any additional
information available with regard to these institutions in order to monitor exposure even where the credit rating may not
reflect the complete picture.

The Bank takes into consideration the maturity dates of its credit exposure in conjunction with the Bank's liquidity
requirements. Deposits are normally deposited for short terms, whereas exposure with respect to derivatives and
investments in securities are for longer terms.

Ratings — Bank activity with overseas entities generates exposure to sovereigns and to financial institutions. The Bank
has set policies with regard to review and routing of risk arising from this exposure. For credit risk exposure management,
as stated above, the Bank uses ratings by independent rating agencies, primarily: Fitch, Standard & Poor's, and Moody's.
These ratings are accounted for as part of the considerations in setting limits on the Bank’s exposure to nations and
banks, intended primarily for derivatives operations, financing and guarantees for foreign trade and various investments.
External ratings form a basis for in-house analysis of a country or counter-party, conducted by the Bank. Other data from
various sources used for this analysis are also taken into account. The Bank's assessment of the counter-party may differ
from that of the rating agency.

As noted above, the Bank acquires the ratings, and analysis underlying such ratings, from Fitch, Standard & Poor's
and Moody's. Ratings and analysis are periodically updated by the rating agencies and the Bank uses the most current
information available when setting facilities or when reviewing a counter-party.

Housing credit risk

In conjunction with credit risks management, the Bank takes various actions to manage, control and mitigate risks
associated with provision of housing loans. The Bank estimates the risk profile associated with provision of housing loans
as low, relative to the inherent risk in the Bank's overall loan portfolio, due to the high level of client diversification,
geographic diversification of borrowers, relatively low leverage, which recently has decreased even further due to Bank
of Israel directives, intensive review procedures of borrower quality and their repayment capacity, and securing credit
with property as collateral.

The Bank acts regularly to control and manage the risk associated with housing loans, for which the Retail Division, the Risks
Control Division and other Bank entities are responsible. This activity includes portfolio analysis by inherent risk factors (LTV,
repayment ratio, geographic location, loan age, income decile etc.) and carrying out a variety of stress scenarios to review the
impact of macro-economic factors on portfolio risk — primarily the impact of the unemployment rate and interest rates. The
Bank has developed an advanced model for rating housing loans, which includes a rating for each loan and calculation of
potential loss in case of failure. This model is in addition to the Bank's existing monitoring tools.

Risk appetite and risk profile in mortgage segment

As part of its credit risk policies, the Bank has set various restrictions on housing loan operations, to account for major risk factors.
These factors are reviewed from time to time and additional restrictions are imposed as needed, i.e. based on the actual risk profile
of the mortgage portfolio and its trend, as well as on regulatory directives from the Bank of Israel.

The risk appetite for mortgages is defined using multiple risk benchmarks, which apply to credit risk and concentration
risk aspects at regular performance level. These benchmarks include: differential risk premium (reflecting the risk of the
mortgagee), the LTV ratio, property location (geographic risk), credit quality benchmark, loan repayment to income ratio,
loan purpose, loan term, loan track mix, property type, document quality, normative interest rate, financial wealth and
cross restrictions on combinations of multiple parameters.

The Bank constantly monitors the risk profile of the mortgage portfolio and its development over time, in view of the specified
risk appetite. In particular, this monitoring is conducted through the Bank's quarterly risks document which is presented to
and approved by the Board of Directors and its Risks Management Committee. Such monitoring reveals that leading risk
benchmarks continue to remain relatively low. These benchmarks include: LTV ratios, repayment ratio, rate of obligo in
default and, in particular, the rate of arrears for new loans (one year since origination), which is testimony to the high quality
of underwriting at the Bank. Note that the average LTV ratio for the Bank's mortgage portfolio (at end of December 2018)
was 52.6% (reflecting the LTV ratio upon loan origination — see more details below). The Bank also estimates the current
LTV ratio, calculated for the current portfolio value, and the "actual” LTV ratio in the portfolio, based on changes to property
values, based on estimates by the Central Bureau of Statistics against the outstanding portfolio balances. These ratios are
significantly lower than the original LTV ratio, due to continuous decrease in loan value (due to current repayments) and the
cumulative increase in housing prices. These data support the Bank's estimate that the potential for loss due to the Bank's
mortgage portfolio, even in scenarios involving material decline in housing prices, is low.
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Volume of mortgages granted by the Household segment is as follows:

Loans granted Loans granted Loans granted

(NIS in millions)(NIS in millions) (NIS in millions)

Change in %

Change in %

2018 2017 2016 2017-2018 2016-2018
Mortgages issued (for housing and any
purpose) out of Bank funds 21,406 19,897 23,627 7.6 9.4)
From funds of the Finance Ministry
Directed loans 294 228 103 28.9 185.4
Standing loans and grants 73 73 116 — (37.1)
Total new loans 21,773 20,198 23,846 7.8 (8.7)
Refinanced loans 2,251 1,556 2,103 44.7 7.0
Total loans originated 24,024 21,754 25,949 10.4 (7.4)
Number of borrowers (includes refinanced loans) 43,801 41,605 48,450 5.3 (9.6)

Below are details of various risk attributes of the housing loan portfolio® as of December 31, 2018 (NIS in millions):

Loan age® Loan age®
(time Loan age® Loan age® Loan age® Loan age® (time Loan age®
elapsed (time (time (time (time elapsed (time
since loan elapsed elapsed elapsed elapsed sinceloan elapsed
grant) sinceloan sinceloan sinceloan sinceloan grant) sinceloan
Repayment ratio Upto3 grant) grant) grant) grant) Over 10 grant)
LTV ratio out of regular income months 3-12 months 1-2 years 2-5years 5-10 years years Total
Up to 60% Up to 35% 2,950 8,877 10,992 24,436 18,106 5,820 71,181
35%-50% 286 894 1,436 4,100 5,115 1,276 13,107
50%-80% - - 6 38 1,538 467 2,049
Over 80% — — — — 124 86 210
60%-75% Up to 35% 1,234 3,521 4,046 14,625 8,045 1,219 32,690
35%-50% 109 308 449 1,693 1,896 342 4,797
50%-80% - - - 8 409 123 540
Over 80% — — — — 28 18 46
Over 75% Up to 35% 85 392 225 255 1,108 1,084 3,149
35%-50% 2 35 21 31 225 371 685
50%-80% - - - - 36 113 149
Over 80% - - - - 1 27 28
Total 4,666 14,027 17,175 45,186 36,631 10,946 128,631
Of which:
Loans granted with original amount
over NIS 2 million 321 864 1,152 2,406 1,699 194 6,636
Percentage of total housing loans 6.9% 6.2% 6.7% 5.3% 4.6% 1.8% 5.2%
Loans bearing variable interest:
Non-linked, at prime lending rate 1,258 3,946 4,416 12,556 12,322 3,871 38,369
CPI-linked® 16 20 26 108 3,030 2,040 5,240
In foreign currency® 149 402 756 1,186 1,594 259 4,346
Total 1,423 4,368 5,198 13,850 16,946 6,170 47,955
Non-linked loans at prime lending rate, as
percentage of total housing loans 27.0% 28.1% 25.7% 27.8% 33.6% 35.4% 29.8%
CPI-linked loans bearing variable
interest as percentage of total
housing loans 0.3% 0.1% 0.2% 0.2% 8.3% 18.6% 4.1%
Loans with LTV over 75% as
percentage of total housing loans 1.9% 3.0% 1.4% 0.6% 3.7% 14.6% 3.1%

(1) Balance of housing loans after provision by extent of arrears.

(2) The loan balances presented above are aged based on the date of loan origination, and include under the same age group
any loan balances actually provided at a later date. Furthermore, loan refinancing does not modify the loan age, i.e. the loan
balance is attributed to the original loan origination date. This treatment also applies to refinancing of "directed" loans
originally guaranteed by the State and refinanced to loans for which the Bank is responsible.

(3) Pursuant to directives by the Supervisor of Banks, these include loans for which the interest rate is adjusted more frequently

than once every 5 years.
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Attributes of the Bank's housing loan portfolio

The Bank's policies with regard to mortgages are based on a conservative approach, limiting specific risk for each loan
by reviewing various attributes. These attributes include: LTV ratio, ratio of repayment to regular borrower income, and
borrower capacity to make current repayments even under scenarios involving a change in interest rates. Whenever
loans are granted with attributes which do not meet one or more of the standards set by the Bank for these attributes, the
Bank requires additional bolstering for the loan, such as guarantors for the loan, proven repayment capacity not based
on regular borrower income etc. In recent years, due to expansion of the housing market and relatively low interest
environment, the Bank has enhanced measures taken to monitor and mitigate risk, as reflected by a significant decrease
in loan risk factors, as detailed below (all data below as of December 31, 2018).

LTV ratio

One of the key parameters used by the Bank in minimizing risk in its housing loan portfolio is the LTV ratio (ratio of loan
amount to value of the property pledged as collateral).

The average loan-to-value ratio for the Bank's mortgage portfolio as of December 31, 2018 was 52.6%, compared to
54.1% on December 31, 2017 and to 54.7% on December 31, 2016. Out of the total loan portfolio of the Bank, amounting
to NIS 128.6 million, some 96.9% were granted with an original LTV ratio under 75%, which secures the loan even in
case of an extreme 25% decrease in value of the property pledged as collateral.

The LTV ratio in this report is the historical LTV ratio calculated upon loan approval, and does not account for any current
repayments which reduce the loan balance nor any changes in value of properties pledged as collateral. The significant
increase in housing prices, as from late 2008 and, conversely, reduced loan balances due to current repayments result
in a decrease in the current "actual" LTV ratio and, as noted above, based on changes to property values as estimated
by the Central Bureau of Statistics, against current portfolio balances. This ratio is significantly lower than the historical
LTV ratio. Total loans granted at LTV ratios over 75% in the past two years amounted to NIS 0.8 billion, or only 0.6% of
the total housing loan portfolio.

Note, in this regard, that the Bank's average LTV ratio as of December 31, 2018, based on current outstanding balances
(with no change to property value due to changes in housing prices) would have decreased as follows: For loans
originated up to one year ago — by 4.1%; for loans originated one to 5 years ago — by 7.1%; and for loans originated over
5 years ago — by 19.0%; for all loans in total — by 11.1%.

The percentage of loans granted with a high LTV ratio (over 75%) out of total housing loan portfolio of the Bank to 1.4%
for loans granted 1-2 years ago, 3.0% for loans granted 3-12 months ago and 1.9% for loans granted in the fourth quarter
of 2018.

Repayment as percentage of regular income

The LTV ratio of a housing loan is a benchmark of loan security, regardless of borrower attributes. Therefore, in addition,
when a mortgage is approved, the Bank requires borrowers to show their capacity to make current loan repayments on
schedule, primarily by calculating the ratio of monthly repayment to regular borrower income.

The average repayment ratio for the Bank's housing loan portfolio is 26.5%. Some 83.2% of the Bank's mortgage portfolio
were granted to borrowers with a repayment ratio under 35% (the average repayment ratio for these borrowers is 23.3%).
Some 14.5% of the mortgage portfolio was granted to borrowers with a repayment ratio of 35% to 50% (the average
repayment ratio for these borrowers is 39.5%). Some 2.1% of mortgages was granted to borrowers with a repayment
ratio of 50% to 80% (the average repayment ratio for these borrowers is 59.5%), and only 0.2% were granted to borrowers
with a repayment ratio over 80% (the average repayment ratio for these borrowers is 92.0%).

The loans with a high repayment ratio are loans granted to borrowers with high income per capita (free per capita income,
after deduction of mortgage expenses and other long-term loans), significant other assets, whose repayment capacity is
not necessarily based on currentincome, to borrowers with very high income where the repayment ratio is less significant,
or where additional bolstering of the loan is in place, in addition to the pledged property and repayment capacity of the
borrower, such as financially robust guarantors.

Loans bearing variable interest

The Bank offers clients housing loans which in part bear adjustable interest and in part are linked (to CPI, foreign
currency) or non-linked (NIS-denominated loans).

The directive by the Supervisor of Banks dated May 3, 2011, restricted the portion of loans extended bearing interest
which may vary within a 5-year term to 33% of total loan amount. The Supervisor's letter dated August 29, 2013 stipulates
that in addition, a banking corporation may not approve a housing loan where the ratio of the loan portion bearing variable
interest to total loan amount exceeds 67% — regardless of the frequency of interest rate change.

The Bank provides clients with the knowledge and expertise of its staff in order for clients to understand the risk involved
with a loan bearing adjustable interest and how this risk may be mitigated or avoided. The Bank advises clients to attribute
appropriate weighting to this risk, and to be cautious when deciding upon the loan composition.
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Total loans linked to the prime lending rate granted over the past two years, which constitute the major portion of risk
associated with such mortgages, is NIS 9.6 billion, or only 7.5% of the housing loan portfolio.

Note however that before approving a loan linked to the prime lending rate, similar to loan approvals for other variable
interest tracks, the Bank reviews the repayment capacity of the borrower under scenarios where the prime lending rate
would increase to the "normative interest rate".

Loan amount

Loans granted by the Bank with an original amount over NIS 2 million amounted in total to NIS 6.6 billion on December
31, 2018, or only 5.2% of the Bank's housing loan portfolio.

Provision by extent of arrears

Below are details of the provision for credit losses with respect to housing loans for which a minimum provision for credit
losses was made by extent of arrears, in accordance with appendix to Proper Conduct of Banking Business Directive
314, as of December 31, 2018 (NIS in millions):

Extent of arrears

In arrears In arrears In arrears In arrears Balance with
90 days or90 days or90 days or90 days or respect to
In arrears longer longer longer longer refinanced
30 to 8990 days to 6-15 15-33 Over 33 Total over loans in
days® 6 months months months months 90 days arrears® Total
Amount in arrears 8 21 16 13 198 248 40 296
Of which: Balance of provision for
interest® - - - 1 109 110 6 116
Recorded debt balance 505 688 271 80 130 1,169 88 1,762
Balance of provision for credit
losses ¥ - - 35 40 86 161 42 203
Debt balance, net 505 688 236 40 44 1,008 46 1,559

(1) In conformity with Public Reporting Directives, excludes the balance of housing loans in arrears up to 2 months.
(2) Loans for which an agreement was signed for repayment of arrears by borrower, where a change was made in the repayment
schedule for the loan balance not yet due.
(3) With respect to interest on amounts in arrears.
(4) Excludes balance of provision for interest.
For more information about housing credit risk, see the Detailed Risks Report on the Bank website.

Means for risk management in housing loans

Means for risk management in housing loans include:

- Underwriting process — Housing loans are reviewed and approved based on the following criteria:

- Loan approval criteria include: Accumulated experience at the Bank with regard to housing loans; Results of
current credit reviews; Review of loan portfolios carried out by a special-purpose nation-wide review center;
Assessment of credit risks in different areas of the country; Borrower quality and repayment capacity; Proposed
property collateral and guarantors; Nature of the transaction.

- Credit authorization — Specification of the party authorized to approve a loan is based on data in the credit
application and the risk associated there with.

- Model for determination of differential risk premium — This model was developed by the Bank, based on past
empirical data, for rating transaction risk.

- Built-in controls in loan origination system — These controls include: Ensure information completeness; Control
over transactions based on authorizations; Work flow process.

- Mortgage-related training — The Bank’s Training Center delivers courses for training, development and improvement
of all those involved in provision of housing loans.

- Professional conferences — In these conferences, extensive reviews of developments in the mortgage market are
presented, along with steps to be taken to handle the risks associated with such developments.

- Regular monitoring of borrower condition and of the housing loan portfolio — At the individual loan level, the Bank
acts to identify as early as possible any symptoms indicating a decline in borrower repayment capacity, in order to
identify as soon as possible any credit failure situation. The Bank applies multiple control types, including regular
internal controls at branches, regions and headquarters.

Entities participating in risk management and control for housing loans

- Mortgage Management Department of the Retail Division — This department handles different events which occur
during the loan term.
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- The National Review Center of the Retail Division — Loan files are sent to this Center prior to origination. These files
are reviewed by the Center, in order to verify that the branch did carry out the actions required according to Bank
procedures, regulations and instructions of the loan approver.

- Collection Department — Handles debts collection from borrowers in arrears and realization of properties.

- Arrears Forum — The Forum specifies targets for debts processing and for reducing arrears.

- Legal Division — As part of the underwriting process, collateral for non-standard loans and for high-value loans are
reviewed.

- Risks Control Division — The Risks Control Division monitors the quality of the Bank's loan portfolio and the evolution
of the Bank portfolio's risk profile, in view of the specified risk appetite. The division is responsible for regularly
applying stress scenarios to the Bank's mortgage portfolio.

- Credit risks and credit concentration monitoring forum — The Bank operates a forum for monitoring credit risks,
headed by the Manager, Risks Control Division, which promotes issues such as: review of credit policy and, in
particular, changes to the risk appetite specified there, analysis of credit portfolio risk level, application of advanced
modeling approaches, supervision of design and application process of stress scenarios, and monitoring of the risk
profile of the Bank's loan portfolio.

- Internal Audit — The work plan for Internal Audit with regard to loans includes, inter alia, reference to review of entities
involved in loan approval, origination, administration and control.

Tools for risk mitigation in housing loans

- Collateral — In accordance with Bank procedures for mortgages, loans are only provided if secured by property
collateral. In some cases, the Bank demands guarantors for the debt, in addition to property collateral.

- Insurance — According to Bank procedures, all properties serving as collateral must be insured under property
insurance. In addition, the borrowers are insured by life insurance assigned to the Bank in case of death prior to
complete repayment of the loan.

- Loan To Value Ratio — The maximum LTV ratio approved by the Bank is determined by the credit policies and is
periodically reviewed. Generally, the Bank requires borrowers to contribute part of the financing for the acquisition.
This self-equity payment forms a safety cushion in case the property is realized during a down-turn in the real estate
market. Furthermore,the rate of the borrower’s participation is a further indication of the borrower's financial
robustness.

For more information about operations of these entities, see the Detailed Risks Report on the Bank website.

Environmental risks

For more information about environmental risks, see Other Risks below and the detailed Risks Management Report on
the Bank website.

Market risk and interest risk

Risk description

Market risk — This is the risk of loss from on— and off-balance sheet positions, arising from change in fair value of financial
instruments, due to change in market risk factors (interest rates, exchange rates, inflation, prices of equities and
commodities).

Interest rate risk in the banking portfolio is the risk to Bank profit (change in revenues) or to the Bank's economic value,
primarily due to changes in the structure of interest rate curves relevant for Bank operations, non-identical fluctuations of
various curves used by the Bank for pricing and management of its exposures, or from the fact that a change in interest
rates may result in a change in composition of the Bank's assets and liabilities due to exercise of options for early
repayment due to change in market interest rates.

Overview of market and interest risk and guidelines for management thereof

The Bank has no exposure to commodities and its exposure to equities is not material; thus, the Bank's major exposure
to market risk is due to basis risk — which is due to Bank assets and liabilities being denominated in different currencies
or linkage segments — and to interest risk in the banking book. Changes in interest rates impact Bank profits (change in
revenues) and the value of Bank assets (change in fair value).

Market risk and interest risk form an integral part of banking business and of management of Bank assets and liabilities.
However, excessive market risk and/or interest risk may expose the Bank to loss and may pose a threat to Bank capital.
Therefore, the Bank’s Board of Directors and management have specified, in the Bank's structured process for risks
mapping and identification, that market risk and interest risk are material risks and that management of these risks is
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critical for stability of the Bank, especially in view of the low interest rate environment and the potential for change in
market interest trend. Management of these risks is designed to maintain a reasonable risk level, in conformity with the
exposure caps, i.e. the risk appetite specified for these risks, while taking advantage of opportunities and constant
monitoring of the risk profile, so that the Bank would not be exposed to significant losses.

Management of market risk and interest risk at the Bank consists of two main risk focus points: the bank portfolio and the
negotiable portfolio. The negotiable portfolio is small relative to activity in the bank portfolio and is associated with low
risk. The bank portfolio, which accounts for most of the Bank's operations, is primarily exposed to interest risk.

Market risk and interest risk are managed at Group level, including the Bank's overseas affiliates and subsidiaries.
Operations vis-a-vis Bank Yahav are regularly coordinated, in particular for setting the Group risk appetite, which requires
monitoring of the Group-level risk profile. Policy principles were specified in line with Bank strategy and with regulatory
requirements, i.e. Proper Conduct of Banking Business Directives of the Bank of Israel, relevant Basel Committee
directives and in line with globally accepted best practice.

As part of risk management, the Bank is required to allocate capital, as part of Basel IlI, Pillar 1, against risk in the
negotiable portfolio, in conformity with Proper Conduct of Banking Business Directive 208 "Capital measurement and
adequacy — market risk" which includes the Basel Il directives with regard to definition, management and revaluation of
the negotiable portfolio.

Overall market risk is categorized as Low-Medium. The market risk in the negotiable portfolio is minimal, in line with Bank
policy. The bank portfolio includes the positions not classified as negotiable positions in the negotiable portfolio. The
Bank handles interest risk in the bank portfolio and overall additional capital allocation with respect there to, in conformity
with Basel Pillar 2. Capital allocation in conformity with Basel Pillar 2 is reviewed both under scenarios which reflect the
normal life state and under stress scenarios, including systemic scenarios and threat scenarios. This is done as part of
the ICAAP process, as described in chapter "Capital adequacy".

The Bank structure, which is weighted towards the mortgage portfolio, produces long-term uses for which the Bank
requires sources. Due to incomplete alignment of the average duration of uses and the average duration of sources, the
Bank's economic value is exposed to increase in interest rate curves.

This risk is monitored on a regular basis, both in managing interest risk for the overall portfolio in VaR terms, and in EVE
(Economic Value of Equity) terms, as well as another range of scenarios which mostly reflect stress conditions.
Assessment of Bank exposure to interest risks in the fourth quarter of 2018 remains Medium, as for all of 2018. It is Bank
policy to raise relatively long sources and custom deposits, which both provide a solution for client needs and constitute
a medium- and long-term source for hedging interest rate exposures.

For more information about these models, their use and their limitations, see the Detailed Risks Report on the Bank
website.

Means of supervision over and implementation of the policy

The Bank has put in place an organizational structure for management of market risks and interest risks in the bank
portfolio, which includes the Board of Directors, management and the three lines of defense. This structure is supported
by special committees and forums, created for such risks management and in order to create an internal controls system,
designed to prevent deviation from Bank policy in its activity in the negotiable portfolio and in the bank portfolio.

For more information about market and interest risk, see the Detailed Risks Management Report on the Bank website.
Hedging and risks mitigation policy

A major tool for management and mitigation of interest risk is setting shadow prices at the Bank (transfer pricing). Shadow
prices at the Bank are determined daily by the Asset and Liability Management Department (hereinafter: "ALM") of the
Financial Management Sector and reflect the needs for management of various exposures under the policy on risk and
reward management.

Another tool is buying / selling government debentures. The Asset and Liability Management Department o the Financial
Management Sector also manages the interest and/or basis position through forward contracts, swap transactions and
options. The advantages of using these tools stem from the ability of rapid execution at large amounts, which allows for
dynamic, effective management of market and interest exposures for asset and liability management by the Bank, within
a reasonable time frame. In addition, these transactions are unfunded, are highly liquid and are conducted through the
Bank's trading room.

Derivatives transactions, which are identified as hedging balance sheet positions in accordance with accounting rules, are to
be specified as hedge accounting transactions, in accordance with the Bank's hedging procedure. Hedge effectiveness is the
degree of correlation between changes in fair value or between cash flows of the hedged item and of the hedging derivative.
The hedge is considered highly effective if the changes in fair value or cash flows of the hedged item, are nearly fully set off by
changes in fair value or cash flows of the hedged instrument. Hedge effectiveness is tested quarterly.

At least once a year, the Bank reviews the underlying assumptions of models used to manage market and interest risks,
including behavioral assumptions made in order to determine forecasting of certain instruments.

The Bank reviews the concentration of interest risk by linkage segment and by major instrument type. The concentration
map is discussed annually by risks management committees.
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The Bank constantly acts to increase awareness of market and interest risks in the bank portfolio at Group level, including
at overseas units of the Bank, through operating procedures, training and seminars on this topic. Furthermore, constant
contact is maintained with all relevant units for management of market and interest risk. Coordination between units is
designed to achieve a uniform methodology for management of market and interest risks in the bank portfolio.

Measurement of market and credit risks exposure and their management using models for risks management

Measurement of market and interest risks is supported by a wide range of information systems, models, processes, risk
benchmarks and stress tests, and information systems involved in the calculation are regularly reviewed, through internal
controls processes at the Bank, including continuous validation processes.

The Bank has two major models for managing its market and interest risks: The VAR model and the EVE model. The Bank
calculates these benchmarks, as well as other benchmarks used for management of such risks, at least once per day.

The VAR model is a statistical model that estimates the loss expected for the Bank in a certain investment period and at a
predetermined statistical level of assurance. This model measures risk level in terms of money, where the Bank aligns the
investment horizon for the portfolios reviewed using this benchmark. The Bank uses a combination of multiple methods for VaR
calculation, commonly used around the world. The VAR calculation is in addition to a Back testing calculation, designed to
review the quality of its calculation estimates, i.e. review the model forecast, compared to actual results.

EVE (Economic Value of Equity) is a model which reflects the economic value approach. This is the Bank's main model
for estimating interest risk in the bank portfolio, which reviews changes in economic value of the portfolio under various
assumptions of changes to interest rate curves, under normal conditions and under stress conditions, including a
concurrent increase / decrease in the interest rate curve. In addition, the Bank has various stress tests at different severity
levels, designed to review its risk profile under stress conditions, in view of the risk appetite determined by the Board of
Directors. The Bank also applies innovative methods to review interest risk in the bank portfolio under emergency
conditions, including under stress scenarios of an economic outline. This scenario is based on the Bank's understanding
as to development under stress conditions of macro-economic conditions relevant for these risks. The Bank also performs
a scenario where the interest rate curve moves in non-parallel fashion. Such scenario complements the EVE approach,
which is based on parallel move of interest rate curves.

Bank methods for measuring risk values are conservative in many aspects, and during the year, the Bank conducted a
comprehensive review of the risk estimation methodology, in line with common practice for implementation of the Basel
principles. Consequently, Bank policy, including measurement methods and the resulting risk limits, was significantly
revised in the first quarter of 2019, so as to more reliably reflect the interest exposure, including dynamic effects of
behavioral options inherent in the mortgage portfolio and in deposits, which are dependent on interest.

Below is the VAR for the Bank Group (NIS in millions):

All of 2018 All of 2017
At end of period 537 533
Maximum value during period (FEB) 640 (APR) 781
Minimum value during period (DEC) 537 (FEB) 388

Market risk in the Bank's negotiable portfolio, primarily composed of portfolios managed in the trading room, is managed
by means of relatively low quantitative limitations specified for each portfolio based on its activity.

Market risk is primarily due to interest risk in the bank portfolio, as presented below.

Back-testing of the historical-analytic VAR model shows one case in which the daily loss exceeded the forecast VAR
value. This number of cases is within the criteria specified by the Basel Committee for review of the VAR model quality.
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Analysis of interest risk in bank portfolio

Below is the effect® of a parallel shift of the curve by 2% on the economic value of the Bank's portfolio in EVE terms (NIS

in millions):
December 31, 2018 Change in fair value
Israeli
Israeli  currency Foreign Foreign
currency Linked to currency currency
Non-linked CPI Dollar EUR Other Total
2% increase (289) (2,076) 46 (43) (2) (2,363)
Decrease of 2% 757 2,522 (30) 48 - 3,297
December 31, 2017 Change in fair value
Israeli
Israeli  currency Foreign Foreign
currency Linkedto currency currency
Non-linked CPI Dollar EUR Other Total
2% increase (714) (1,112) 26 (47) 1) (1,848)
Decrease of 2% 1,285 1,408 (5) 53 2 2,743
1) Calculated based on current data used for actual interest risk management.

In preparing the mortgage repayment cash flows forecast for the Bank, assumptions with regard to the prepayment rate and
manner are taken into account. Market risk in the Bank's negotiable portfolio, primarily composed of portfolios managed in the
trading room, is managed by means of quantitative limitations specified for each portfolio based on its activity.

Credit balances in checking accounts are attributed in line with common practice in conformity with the Basel directives,

i.e. over an average term of 3-4 years for different client types.

The increase in risk values in 2018 is primarily due to mortgage performance and to purchase of debentures. This
increase was partially offset by deposits raised and sale of mortgage portfolios.

Quantitative information about interest risk — Sensitivity analysis

Net adjusted fair value® of financial instruments of the Bank and its subsidiaries thereof:

As of As of
As of December As of As of December As of
December 31,2018 December December 31,2017 December
31, 2018 Foreign 31, 2018 31, 2017 Foreign 31, 2017
NIS currency® Total NIS currency® Total
Net adjusted fair value® 11,568 (476) 11,092 9,130 42 9,172
Of which: Banking portfolio 10,926 (1,081) 9,845 8,707 172 8,879
Impact of change scenarios in interest rates on net adjusted fair value® of the Bank and its subsidiaries:
As of As of
As of December As of As of December As of
December 31,2018 December December 31,2017 December
31, 2018 Foreign 31, 2018 31, 2017 Foreign 31, 2017
NIS currency® Total NIS currency® Total
Concurrent changes

Concurrent 1% increase 262 (87) 175 676 (113) 563
Of which: Banking portfolio 201 (21) 180 623 (48) 575
Concurrent 1% decrease (212) 93 (119) (660) 125 (535)
Of which: Banking portfolio (156) 26 (130) (616) 58 (558)

Non-concurrent changes
Steeper® (186) (82) (268) (34) (75) (109)
Shallower® 309 73 382 126 65 191
Short-term interest increase 351 52 403 238 41 279
Short-term interest decrease (349) (52) (401) (216) 75 (141)

(1) Net fair value of financial instruments, except for non-monetary items, after effect of liability with respect to employee rights

and attribution of on-call deposits to terms.
(2) Includes Israeli currency linked to foreign currency.
(3) Short-term interest decrease and long-term interest increase.
(4) Short-term interest increase and long-term interest decrease.
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Impact of change scenarios in interest rates on net interest revenues and non-interest financing revenues:

As of As of

As of December As of December
December 31,2018 As of December 31, 2017 As of
31, 2018 Non-interest December 31, 2017 Non-interest December
Interest  financing 31,2018 Interest  financing 31, 2017
revenues revenues® Total revenues revenues® Total

Concurrent changes

Concurrent 1% increase 478 228 706 438 224 662
Of which: Banking portfolio 478 226 704 438 227 665
Concurrent 1% decrease (308) (232) (540) (358) (232) (590)
Of which: Banking portfolio (308) (231) (539) (358) (232) (590)

(1) Includes the effect of fair value, gain (loss) from transactions in debentures and the effect of interest accrual for transactions in
derivatives.

Sensitivity of revenues for 2018 was calculated based on attribution of current account balances based on the model
commonly used by the Bank.

For more information about interest risk, see the Detailed Risks Management Report on the Bank website.

For further details of assumptions used in calculation of the fair value of financial instruments, see Note 33 to the financial
statements.

CPI and exchange rate
Overview of inflation and currency risks and guidelines for management thereof

Inflation exposure — The risk appetite varies with expected profit from holding a position and the Bank's capacity to reduce
the exposure within a reasonable time frame. This exposure is included among the risk appetite benchmarks and models
applied by the Bank to all market risks.

Currency exposures — It is Bank policy to maintain minimal (operating) currency positions, except for specific strategic
positions approved by the different committees and/or Trading Room positions, in conformity with approved risk
restrictions. Foreign currency strategic positions are capped by a Stop Loss mechanism to restrict and reduce risk.
Derivatives in the bank portfolio used for economic hedging of balance sheet activity, or which cannot be defined as an
accounting hedge, impact accounting profit and loss. The gap derives from difference in accounting treatment between
balance sheet items and derivatives other than accounting hedges. This effect is regularly monitored and managed
subject to guidelines specified by management, by the Financial Management Sector and is reported and discussed by
various risks management committees.

Presented below are major data reflecting CPI and exchange rate exposures, as reflected in the financial statements,
while relating to the difference between the accounting presentation and measurement of economic exposure:

Financial capital — As of December 31, 2018, the Group capital exceeded its non-monetary items by NIS 13,964 million.
Group free capital, which includes financial capital, was used in 2018 to finance uses in the CPI-linked NIS segment, in
line with current policies on resource and use management in the bank portfolio.

Linkage status — Details on the assets and liabilities in the various linkage segments at December 31, 2018 and 2017
are presented in Note 31 to the financial statements. However, the extent of the Bank’s economic exposure is not fully
reflected in the positions included in this note because of differences between the accounting approach and the economic
approach with regard to capital items, non-monetary items and investments in investee companies, as explained below.
Surplus CPI-linked assets of the Group, which include balance sheet and off-balance-sheet items as of December 31,
2018 as presented in Note 31 to the financial statements, amounts to NIS 12.9 billion, representing the economic
exposure. In December 2017, excess assets in this segment amounted to NIS 9.8 billion.

Excess liabilities in foreign currency for the Group as of December 31, 2018 amounted to NIS 432 million. After adjustment
of the economic reference to deposits used to cover investments in overseas subsidiaries, which are presented as non-
monetary items, and to temporary impairment of investments in securities, the position in this segment amounts to surplus
sources of NIS 175 million. As of December 31, 2017, the foreign currency position for the Group, after the
aforementioned adjustments and after attribution of the general and supplementary provision for doubtful debts to free
capital, amounted to surplus resources amounting to NIS 15 million.

The position in the non-linked NIS segment balances the open economic positions in the CPI-linked and foreign currency
segments.
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The Bank has CPI-linked uses due to current operations in the mortgage portfolio linked to the CPI, for which the Bank
raises CPI-linked sources, including debenture issues and deposits from the public. The Bank uses financial derivatives
to actively manage this exposure, in line with the specified exposure policy.

The Report of the Board of Directors and Management presents the Group's exposure to interest on a consolidated
basis,s presented in terms of average effective duration and in terms of fair value. Cash flows used in calculating exposure
are based on assumptions with regard to withdrawal rates at exit points for deposits and early mortgage repayment rates.
The percentage of withdrawals is based on empirical data.

For further details of assumptions used in calculation of cash flows and fair value of financial instruments, see Note 33
to the financial statements.

Below is analysis of the sensitivity of Bank Group capital to changes in major exchange rates and in the CPI(before tax
effect) as of December 31, 2018, capital increase (erosion) (NIS in millions):

Historical Historical

stress stress

Scenarios  scenario®  scenario®

Scenarios  Scenarios  Scenarios 10%  Maximum Maximum

10% increase 5% increase 5% decrease decrease increase decrease

CPI® 1,305.8 652.9 (714.6) (1,429.1) 131.9 (110.3)
Dollar 22.0 7.8 6.4 8.4 4.0 1.0
Pound Sterling 0.5 0.2 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.1
Yen (0.9) - (0.3) (0.3) 0.1) 0.2)
EUR (2.5) 3.2 (0.3) (6.0) 2.6 (0.4)
Swiss Franc (0.5) (0.2) 0.2 0.3 (0.8) 0.2

(1) Stress scenarios were calculated based on daily changes in the exchange rate and monthly changes in the CPI, in the last 10
years.

(2) Capital sensitivity to a 3% increase / decrease in the CPI is NIS 391.7 million and NIS (428.7) million, respectively.

Share price risk
For more information about share price risk, see the Detailed Risks Report on the Bank website.

For more information about equity investments in the bank portfolio, see chapter "Major investee companies" above, the
Detailed Risks Report on the Bank website and Notes 12 and 15.A to the financial statements.

Operational risk

Risk description
Operational risk is defined by the Bank of Israel as the risk of loss due to inappropriateness or failure of internal
procedures, people, systems or due to external events.

The Bank has defined a framework for management of operational risks, which includes a definition of corporate
governance that specifies the roles and responsibilities of the lines of defense and the importance of deploying an
appropriate operational risk management culture at the Bank.

The Bank actively handles operational risk in order to support operations of the business units, to improve major business
processes associated with their operations and thus, to increase business value, rather than only reduce expected loss
due to operational risk.

Operational risk includes information security and cyber risk, IT risk and legal risk.

Overview of operational risk and guidelines for management thereof

With the developments in global markets and the higher complexity of financial activity and supporting technological
infrastructure, an understanding has emerged, that Bank exposure to potential loss due to failures in regular operating
activity may impact the business activity. Operating failure events which occurred at financial institutions in recent years
have increased legislator awareness and financial institutions' awareness of operating failure events, to the large potential
for damage which may be caused by such operational risk event and to their main attributes, as follows:

Operating events may occur throughout the organization and are inherent to financial institution operations.

Operational risk may potentially impact earnings, revenues, value and reputation of the Bank.
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Operational risk has inter-relationships with other risks, such as market risk, credit risk, liquidity risk, reputation risk and
other risks. Thus, for example, an operational risk event may cause reputation risk to materialize, after which the Bank
may face a liquidity event.

Some operating failures have very low probability, but relatively large damage potential.

Operational risk has diverse instances, from human error, malfunction in technological systems, fraud, embezzlement,
war, fire, robbery etc.

Operating events sometimes occur which are not under control of the financial institution, and may develop as a result of
external events, some of which are unforeseen, with chances of occurring which cannot be estimated in advance, such
as: natural disaster (earthquake, flooding) or security event.

Bank management and the Board of Directors attach great importance to managing this risk, due to its materiality, as
part of the Bank's overall framework for risks management and control. The Board of Directors and management have
determined that management of operational risk requires creation of an appropriate culture within the organization, by
means of training, dissemination of related content and application of elevated standards of internal control at all levels.

The Bank has a designated policies document for addressing operational risk. The Operational Risk Owner at the Bank
is the Manager, Risks Control Division — who is also the Bank's Chief Risks Officer. The framework stipulated also
includes the framework required for handling fraud and embezzlement, which are part of the operational risk categories
according to Bank of Israel directives. The Bank is acting to deploy a framework for addressing operational risk which is
not only defensive, i.e. acting only to minimize potential loss due to operational risk events, but also actively strives to
regulate aspects of operational risk in systems, processes and controls applied by the Bank, in order to support
achievement of its business targets.

Bank policies specify the Bank's quantitative operational risk appetite, in terms of actual annual damage, at 1% of the
Bank's core capital. This appetite is constantly monitored by follow up on any default events which caused a loss,
managed by category of operational risk, in conformity with Bank of Israel directives and also includes loss due to legal
risk, information security and cyber risk, including fraud and embezzlement. The policy also specifies a qualitative risk
appetite for potential loss in the normal course of business and in case of occurrence of stress events, by different risk
categories.

The Bank allocates capital with respect to operational risk using the standard approach. According to this approach, the
Bank was segmented into eight lines of business, as stipulated by the Bank of Israel, with a standard risk weighting
assigned to each line of business, reflecting its sensitivity to loss with respect to operational risk. This segmentation and
treatment of the required capital allocation are incorporated in a specific policies document which governs the aspects
required for capital allocation using the standard approach and, in particular, specified the lines of business in Bank
operations.

The Bank framework for handling operational risk is reviewed quarterly, as part of the Bank's Risks Document. The
guantitative and qualitative risk profile is presented in this context in view of the risk appetite and the most material events
which occurred during the quarter are also presented and analyzed.

The Bank is prepared to put in place comprehensive infrastructure for addressing fraud and embezzlement risk. As part
of this effort, the Bank operates a range of laws designed to identify anomalies. The framework for handling fraud and
embezzlement includes a combination of Bank entities: Risks Controls, information security and cyber, human resources
and the Technology Division.

Operational risk mitigation

Due to the significance of operational risk, the Bank takes different steps to mitigate this risk. One of the key tools is
conducting operational risk surveys for all Bank operations, to create and manage the risks map on a regular basis. The
surveys are conducted as risk self-assessment (RSA), where the business unit (the first line of defense) assesses the
risks associated with its operations, led by the Risks Control Division, which provides guidance to the business unit,
provides the methodology for conducting the survey and for effective assessment of the existing risks, as well as
challenging the survey results. The methodology for conducting surveys consists of four stages:

Assessment of inherent risk, assessment of the effectiveness of controls, assessment of residual risk, and managing the
findings and risk mitigation processes.

Another key process is to instill a corporate culture which promotes strong awareness of operational risk, and of
deployment of risk-mitigating processes. The internal controls trustees, across the entire organization, are the long arm
of the Operational Risks Owner in this process. The Bank initiates delivery of in-person and technology-based training
about operational risk to new employees and to units and populations within such units which were identified as being
associated with high operational risk.

One of the tools used by the Bank is debriefing and lesson learning flowing internal and/or external events. Conclusions
formulated by this process are incorporated into work processes, systems, training content and procedures — and are
also disseminated using the operational risk system to internal controls trustees for deployment at their units.

The Bank has established policies and operating plans for a time of emergency, for backup, recovery and business
continuity in case of physical damage to Bank infrastructure. This plan, supported by emergency procedures and pre-
appointed officers, is exercised annually and the conclusions from such exercises is incorporated into the action plan.
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Mitigating operational risk through insurance — the Bank is insured under a banking insurance policies, against
damage which may be incurred in the course of normal operations, as a result of human error, fraud, embezzlement etc.
The Bank acquires an officers' insurance policies, which applies to all officers at the Bank and at the different Bank Group
companies, which provides insurance coverage for personal claims which may be filed against officers with respect to
their actions in the course of their position with Group companies. Obtaining such an officer liability insurance policy is
subject to approval by the General Meeting of Bank shareholders.

The Bank has obtained specific insurance policies for property damage and liability, which provide insurance coverage
of Bank property and liability. The Bank has a specific policies document which governs insurance aspects related to
Bank operations.

In the fourth quarter of 2018, the Bank obtained an insurance policy to cover cyber damage for the Bank Group. The
insurance coverage acquired in this insurance policy is another layer, over and above the existing banking insurance
policy, which also provides insurance coverage for items not covered by the existing banking insurance policy including:
consequential damage due to disruption of operations due to a cyber event, cyber extortion, operating failure due to a
cyber event and reimbursement of special expenses with respect to a cyber attack.

Business continuity
The Bank applies Proper Conduct of Banking Business Directive 355 concerning "Management of business continuity".

in the fourth quarter of 2018, the Bank continued to implement the exercise plan, including the following: Joint exercise
with the Bank of Israel currency unit and cash center, operation of a mobile branch, relocating branch staff to work at the
banking center, system operation from the backup site and other exercises. In order to intensify the learning with regard
to business continuity, an eLearning kit was sent to branch staff and the branch emergency folder and emergency
procedures were refreshed.

In the fourth quarter of 2018, the Bank completed a business implications analysis (BIA) process, as part of the multi-
annual maintenance plan, and the conclusions there from were presented to and approved by management. Furthermore,
a report was presented to the Board of Directors with regard to implementation of the business continuity plan, including
ratification of the policy document on business continuity and discussion of the effectiveness of the working framework
for business continuity management.

Information security and cyber security

Directive 361 with regard to Cyber Defense Management provides guidelines for proper management of cyber risk, which
require expansion and adjustment of the IT risk management framework with regard to the threat space perception and
the required defensive capabilities. Accordingly, the Bank has approved strategy and comprehensive cyber defense
policies and has specified the defense lines for their implementation , has appointed an Information Security and Cyber
Defense Manager, reporting to the Manager, Risks Control Division — responsible, inter alia, for setting policies on
information security and cyber defense at the Bank, development of a cyber defense work plan, monitoring the
implementation of this work plan and review of the effectiveness of systems and processes for information security and
cyber defense.

As from 2017, direct banking systems at the Bank include authentication processes and tools in conformity with Proper
Conduct of Banking Business Directive 367.

In the fourth quarter of 2018, a small number of fraud attempts against clients were identified (through fishing attacks),
which resulted in stealing their account credentials in order to conduct unauthorized transactions in their accounts. Most
of these attempts to conduct unauthorized transactions were identified and blocked by the defense systems applied by
the Bank to protect its client accounts. However, a damage amounting to NIS 33 thousand was caused (and covered by
the Bank) due to several individual transfers not properly identified during these fraud attempts. The Bank immediately
notified the clients whose accounts showed suspicious login or transfer attempts.

This event was reported to relevant parties at the Bank and elsewhere. Other than the foregoing, no damage was incurred
by the Bank nor by Bank clients.

Information technology risk

In recent years, the risks associated with IT management have increased, due to development and deployment of new
technologies and evolution of new risk and threats. Other than under routine conditions, the IT management framework
addresses system failures, such as: system faults and preparation for emergency situations. This is also intended to
ensure that the Bank maintain business continuity during an alert or emergency. This may mitigate reputation risks and
business risks which could arise under such conditions.

The Technology Division Manager is responsible for management of IT assets and the management framework is
specified in a special policies document, in line with principles specified in policy documents on risks management and
control at the Bank. The IT asset management policy is in line with requirements of the Supervisor of Banks and, in
particular, with the principles stipulated in Proper Conduct of Banking Business Directive 357 "IT management"; Proper
Conduct of Banking Business Directive 350 "Operational risk management"; Proper Conduct of Banking Business
Directive 355 "Business continuity management" and Proper Conduct of Banking Business Directive 361 "Cyber security
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management". The Bank has minimal risk appetite for this risk, which is included, as noted above, under management
of risk appetite under routine conditions and under stress conditions, for operational risk.

Given the current developments in the financial market and the age of existing systems at the Bank, the Bank decided to
move to a new platform. The Bank has completed the feasibility review process for transition of the Bank's capital market
system to the capital market module of the new platform. On December 27, 2018, the software licensing agreement was
signed and in the coming months, an agreement should be signed for implementation of a new capital market system at
the Bank.

This information constitutes forward-looking information, as defined in the Securities Law, 1968, based on assumptions,
facts and data (hereinafter jointly: "assumptions") brought before the Bank’s Board of Directors. These assumptions may
not materialize due to factors not under the Bank's control.

Legal risk

Proper Conduct of Banking Business Directive 350 concerning "Operational risks" defines legal risk as including absence
of potential for legal enforcement of an agreement and "including, but not being limited to exposure to fines or penalties
arising from supervisory action, as well as from individual arrangements".
The Bank's Legal Division regularly analyzes the legal risk components, the risk boundaries (arising, for example, from
the counter-party identity, from creation of collateral etc.) as well as specific risk attributes while reviewing its risk level
and exposure with attention to the different lines of business at the Bank.

For more information about assessment of the current impact of legal risk, see table "Risk factor assessment" above.

For more information about approval by the Bank’s Board of Directors of signing a DPA agreement with the US
Department of Justice to conclude the investigation into the Bank Group's business with its US clients, see Note 26.C.12
to the financial statements.

For more information about operational risk, see also the Detailed Risks Report on the Bank website.

Liquidity and financing risk

Risk description

Liquidity risk — risk resulting from uncertainty as to the availability of sources and the ability to realize assets within a
specified period of time and at a reasonable price.

Financing risk — risk resulting from shortage of financing sources or too high costs to raise such sources.

Overview of liquidity risk and guidelines for management

Liquidity risk is managed in conjunction with Proper Conduct of Banking Business Directive 310 "Risks management",
Directive 342 "Liquidity risk management" and Directive 221 "Liquidity coverage ratio". The risk is managed subject to
the limitations of the Board of Directors and Executive Management in an effort to minimize the losses deriving from an
investment of surplus liquidity in assets that are highly liquid, but have a low yield.

Liquidity risk management is governed by a policies document submitted annually or more frequently for approval by the
Board of Directors. The policies document covers how risk is managed, including roles and responsibilities of the various
organs, the regular management of liquidity risk, all parameters used for risk measurement in the normal course of
business and under various stress scenarios, restrictions specified by the Board of Directors and by management,
including restrictions on source concentration and composition, as well as a detailed emergency plan for handling a
liquidity crisis, including various states of alert for liquidity risk management and potential means under each scenario
type and the estimated time for execution.

The Bank’s Board of Directors sets strategy for liquidity risk management and the risk appetite in conformity with
regulatory requirements, using a range of restrictions on three risk dimensions: Normal course of business, scenarios
(liquidity coverage ratio and minimum liquidity ratio — internal model) and concentration. Bank management has specified
a further set of restrictions to serve as management guidelines — beyond those specified by the Board of Directors. In
2018 there were no recorded deviations from the Board of Directors’ restrictions.

The Bank applies tools for monitoring liquidity risk using endogenous and exogenous indicators, which may point to an
increase in risk up to crisis status. The Bank developed an integrated benchmark for monitoring financial markets in
Israel, in order to identify any instability in the financial system in Israel — this benchmark is a decision-support tool for
declaring a state of alert due to systemic failure.

There were no material unusual events observed in 2018. Note that in December, the Bank raised its state of alert to
Elevated Alert, due to market volatility in Israel and world-wide. In practice, no events and/or indications were observed
which would indicate realization of a liquidity event. In early 2019, after market calm was reestablished, the Bank decided
to return to the normal course of business.

For more information about liquidity risk, see also the Detailed Risks Report on the Bank website.
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Overview of financing risk and guidelines for its management

Financing risk is managed, as part of the liquidity risk, using Board and management restrictions on concentration of
financing sources and through reduced dependence on material counter-parties.

Concentration of financing sources is monitored through a wide range of restrictions set by the Board of Directors,
management as well as by key risk indicators, classified into several sub-categories: Size, client type, individual depositor,
number of clients, product, currency and average deposit term. A "super-benchmark" was defined, which averages all
indicators related to concentration of financing sources. Current management of source composition includes setting
policies on source diversification and financing terms as well as setting specific targets for risk benchmarks. Concentration
is monitored daily and is regularly managed and reported.

The Bank's main financing sources are stable and diverse sources for different time horizons — retail and business
deposits, long-term deposits from financial institutions and issues of debentures and notes. The Bank sees the great
importance of diversification of its financing sources and acts proactively to identify sources for longer terms, including
through a wide range of deposits offered by the Bank to its clients, deposits with unique attributes, which allow clients to
benefit from relatively high interest over the long term with optional liquidity during the deposit term. In 2018, concentration
risk for financing sources remained low.

Furthermore, exposure to derivatives is regularly managed, in line with the exposure to each counter-party, counter-party
collateral is immediately increased or collateral is immediately demanded from the counter-party.

For more information about financing sources, see chapter "Developments in financing sources" above.
For more information about financing risk, see also the Detailed Risks Report on the Bank website.

Liquidity coverage ratio

In conformity with Proper Conduct of Banking Business Directive 221 "Liquidity coverage ratio", the minimum regulatory
requirement as from January 1, 2017 is 100%. This Directive stipulates minimum liquidity ratios for a one-month term
(regulatory LCR), calculated based on uniform multipliers for the banking system, specified by the Bank of Israel based
on Basel Il directives. As part of its risks management policy, the Bank’s Board of Directors specified that additional
safety cushions are to be maintained, beyond the regulatory minimum ratio; so that the target liquidity coverage ratio for
the Bank and the Group would by 5% higher than the minimum required. This ratio is managed and reported for all
currencies in aggregate and for NIS separately, both at Bank level and on Group basis. The ratio for the Bank solo and
the consolidated ratio are calculated daily and reported as the average of daily observations over 90 days prior to the
report date. This directive is in addition to liquidity risk management using internal models, as stipulated by Directive 342,
as described above.

As from early 2018, the Bank applies Directive 221 with regard to identification and handling of operational deposits.
The average (consolidated) liquidity coverage ratio for the fourth quarter of 2018 was 116%. As noted above, in 2018
there were no recorded deviations from these restrictions.

For details of Amendment 28 of the Mutual Investment Act which applies to ETFs restrictions as to the investment rate
and holdings of various assets, see chapter "Corporate Governance, Audit, Other Information about the Bank and
Management thereof" (Legislation and Supervision of Bank Group Operations) of these annual financial statements.
For more information about liquidity risk, see also the Detailed Risks Report on the Bank website.

For more information about the Bank's cash flows by maturity, see Note 32 to the financial statements.

As of December 31, 2018, the balance of the three largest depositor groups at the Bank Group amounted to NIS 10.4
billion.

The Bank consistently acts, as part of its strategy on resource and use management, to raise long-term sources.

The Bank's NIS-denominated balance sheet sources for terms longer than 1 month, as percentage of total NIS-
denominated sources as of December 31, 2018, was 52% (as of December 31, 2017: 54%), of which balance sheet
sources for terms longer than 1 year — 50% (as of December 31, 2017: 49%).

Most of the Bank's balance sheet sources in foreign currency as of December 31, 2018 are for terms of up to 1 year,
constituting 98% of total foreign currency-denominated sources (as of December 31, 2017: 97%), of which 27% are
sources for terms longer than 3 months (as of December 31, 2016: 26%).

The NIS-denominated sources have longer terms than foreign currency-denominated sources, in line with the longer term
use of NIS-denominated funds, primarily for mortgages denominated in NIS.

The Bank also conducts a significant volume of futures transactions to divert excess liquidity between NIS and foreign
currency and by conforming the terms, as part of dynamic management of sources and uses.

Soliciting sources and Bank liquidity status — During 2018, there was an increase in the Bank’s balance of deposits from
the public. The balance of deposits from the public rose from NIS 183.6 billion on December 31, 2017 to NIS 199.5 billion
on December 31, 2018, an increase by 8.7%.

In the non-linked segment, total deposits from the public amounted to NIS 145.7 billion, an increase by 9.4% compared
to end of 2017. In the CPI-linked sector, deposits from the public amounted to NIS 14.4 billion, a decrease by 7.9%, and
in the foreign currency sector — to NIS 39.3 billion, an increase by 13.4% compared to end of 2017.
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Other risks

Compliance and regulatory risk

Risk description

Compliance risk is the risk of imposition of legal or regulatory sanctions, material financial loss or impact to reputation,
which the Bank may incur due to its failure to comply with compliance provisions.

Compliance risk includes cross-border and AML risk, which is presented separately below.

Overview of compliance and regulatory risk and guidelines for management thereof

The compliance and regulatory Risk Manager for the Bank is the Manager, Risks Control Division. The Compliance
Officer is responsible for continuous management of this risk.

The Bank has specified a multi-annual work plan for the Compliance Function, which includes qualitative targets for
reducing compliance risk across the Bank.

The Bank operates in conformity with policies on compliance and regulation risk management, approved by the Bank’s
Board of Directors. The Compliance Officer acts to deploy a compliance culture at the Bank, its subsidiaries and overseas
affiliates by implementing a Group policy and supervising the implementation of appropriate compliance processes at
subsidiaries and affiliates. Compliance risk is managed by identification, documentation and assessment of compliance
risk associated with business operations of the Bank, including developments related to new products, business conduct,
lines of business or new clients, or to material changes to any of the above.

The Bank deals fairly with all stake holders. The value of fairness is enterprise-wide and is based on application of basic
values: integrity, fairness and transparency. The Bank strives to maintain a fair relationship with its clients and with other
stake holders, places the client at the center of its business operations and strictly adheres to business fairness in all its
operations. Fairness is a basic value in the Bank's Code of Ethics and the Bank takes action to deploy and implement
the value of Fairness among employees.

The Bank has minimal risk appetite for compliance and regulatory risk, with regard to compliance with statutory provisions
applicable to the Bank.

Compliance risk remained unchanged in 2018 and is defined as low-medium; the Bank believes it is trending downwards.
The decrease is due, inter alia, to further addressing the risks classified as High and further increase in control and
training, further increased efficiency of work processes in this area and focused management, including improvement of
client accounts where documents and data were found to be missing.

On July 8, 2018, the Bank received a demand from ISA for payment of a monetary sanction amounting to NIS 220
thousand, due to breach of Section 4 of the ISA directive concerning "Client referral to portfolio management services" —
whereby investment advisors are prohibited from discouraging clients from contracting with a particular portfolio
management company.

For more information about compliance and regulatory risk, see the Detailed Risks Management Report on the Bank
website.

Cross-border and AML risk

Risk description

Cross-border risk is the risk of financial loss (including due to legal proceedings, fines or sanctions imposed by statutory
authorities or others in Israel and in other countries) and of impact to reputation, arising from the Bank's failure to comply
with statutory provisions originating in other countries — whether provisions binding on the Bank or provisions which are
not binding, but failure to comply with them may cause the Bank to incur damage, or from overseas activities of Bank
clients in contravention of any statutory provisions.

Cross-border risk includes, inter alia, risk of damage, including impact to reputation, due to lawsuits or other enforcement
proceedings brought by authorities in other countries, with regard to foreign tax laws applicable to certain Bank clients,
AML and terror financing laws, sanctions imposed by international bodies and foreign authorities or other laws. Cross-
border risk also applies at the Bank's overseas affiliates; in transactions with clients who are foreign residents; in business
operations conducted by Bank representatives in foreign countries; and with regard to funds of individual Israeli clients
invested overseas.

Cross-border risk includes the risk arising from obligations arising from US tax laws applicable to Bank Group operations
outside of the USA (the Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act — "FATCA" and Qualified Intermediary —"QI"). This
risk is also due to obligations stipulated by the Common Reporting Standard (CRS) issued by the OECD.

AML risk is the risk of financial loss and impact to reputation, which the Bank may incur due to breach of various statutory
provisions regarding the Bank's obligations with regard to AML and terror financing.
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Overview of cross-border risk and guidelines for management thereof

The Bank applies the statutory provisions for implementation of the FATCA agreement and provides timely reports to the
Israeli Tax Authority, The Bank is compliant with terms and conditions of the QI agreement and is preparing to implement
the CRS regulations.

The Bank has zero appetite for cross-border risk. Therefore, the Bank has specified that any faults discovered with regard
to cross-border risk would be addressed by Bank units as a top priority. The Bank has specified a multi-annual work plan
for the Compliance Function, which includes required action for reducing compliance risk across the Bank.

The Bank has branches specialized in management of foreign-resident client accounts and only allows foreign residents
to open accounts in these branches. Current foreign-resident clients with a significant balance were relocated from other
Bank branches to these specialized branches.

Cross-border risk remained un-changed in 2018, at low-medium, due inter alia to continued action taken to manage such
risk and to complete efforts to refresh and improve client data and to update forms.

For more information about cross-border risk, see the detailed Risks Management Report on the Bank website.

Overview of AML risk and guidelines for management thereof

The Bank regards itself as a partner in the international AML and terror financing effort and takes part in the international
effort against bribery and corruption, acting to identify, monitor and follow up on activities and clients that may be exposed
to bribery and corruption. The Bank also avoids any activities opposed to the international sanctions regime of OFAC (of
the US Department of Treasury) and of the European Union.

The Bank applies on a Group basis, with required changes, its policies in this area as well as statutory provisions, at its
subsidiaries and branches in Israel and overseas.

When opening an account, as well as during normal business operations, the Bank acts to identify clients who may be
exposed to offering, accepting or brokering bribes.

In early 2018, Proper Conduct of Banking Business Directive 411 "AML and Terror Financing Risk Management" became
effective. The Bank implements this directive, which introduced significant changes to definitions, Know Your Client,
setting risk levels and other changes, with emphasis on risk-based management.

In 2018, the Bank conducted an annual risk assessment, in conformity with Directive 411, based inter alia on "Key findings
of money laundering risk assessment — financial system, 2017", as published by the Ministry of Justice.

AML risk remained unchanged in 2018, due to continued intensive training and deployment activity, along with risk-
focused controls and taking effective action to avoid recurrence of extraordinary events and compliance failures. The new
AML system — MEA — deployed this year, in order to identify unusual activity and for reporting, is operating in branches
on regular basis and enables close control over the banking activity. This is along with the increase in business activity
and in view of further increased regulatory activity reflected, inter alia, in new directives being issued frequently, which
the Bank is preparing for.

For more information about cross-border and AML risk, see the Detailed Risks Management Report on the Bank website.

Reputation risk

Risk description

The Bank has mapped reputation risk as a material risk, because past events indicate that impact to the reputation of a
financial institution may result in significant loss of value. Reputation risk is a stand-alone risk, but may also arise from
materialization of other risks at the Bank, such as materialization of an operational risk event. Furthermore, impact to
Bank reputation may bring about the materialization of other risks, in particular liquidity risk — with growing demand by
clients to withdraw deposits.

Overview of reputational risk and guidelines for management thereof

The Bank has defined its risk appetite for reputation risk as minimal. In recent years, the Bank took action to put in place
a framework for handling reputation risk. The Bank considers that this risk should be addressed based on similar
principles to those used to address other risks, such as credit risk or market risk — even though this risk is considered
harder to quantify.

The Reputational Risk Manager is the Manager, Marketing, Promotion and Business Development Division at the Bank.

Reputation risk is managed in conformity with the policy on three levels: In advance (under normal conditions), in real
time (alert condition) and in retrospect.

For more information about assessment of the current impact of reputation risk, see table "Risk factor assessment" above.
For more information about reputation risk, see also the Detailed Risks Report on the Bank website.
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Business-strategic risk

Risk description

Business-strategic risk is the risk, in real time or potentially in future, of impact to Bank profits, capital or reputation, due
to erroneous business decisions, improper deployment of decisions or insufficient preparation for changes in the business
environment. This means the risk that the Bank chose the wrong strategy or that the Bank would not be able to implement
the business and strategic plan as planned. The materiality of business-strategic risk requires the Bank to take measures
which would allow it to manage this risk and take steps for assessment and early identification of events which may
preclude implementation of the strategy.

Overview of business-strategic risk and guidelines for its management

The Bank operates in conformity with the outline of a five-year strategic plan, most recently approved by the Bank’s Board
of Directors in November 2016, whose principles have been made public. Material deviation from Bank strategy is subject
to approval by the Bank’s Board of Directors. This risk is monitored by the Planning, Operations and Client Asset Division
(hereinafter: "the Planning and Operations Division") and is challenged by the Risks Control Division.

The Strategic Risk Owner is the President & CEO; based on their guidance, management periodically reviews the
implementation of the strategy, monitoring of regulatory, economic or technology developments which affect the strategy
and initiating annual work plans derived from and in conformity with the strategic plan.

For more information about assessment of the current impact of business-strategic risk, see table "Risk factor
assessment" above.

For information about approval by the Bank’s Board of Directors of signing a DPA agreement with the US Department of
Justice to conclude the investigation into the Bank Group's business with its US clients, see Note 26.C.12 to the financial
statements.

In conformity with the resolution by the Bank Board of Directors dated November 27, 2017, the Bank signed an agreement
with Bank Igud shareholders to acquire a 100% interest in Bank Igud and to merge it with the Bank by way of exchange
of shares. On May 30, 2018, the acting Anti-Trust Supervisor issued a decision objecting to the merger of Bank Igud with
and into Bank Mizrahi-Tefahot. Since the conditions precedent for publication of the Tender Offer have not been fulfilled,
in conformity with provisions of the Agreement, the Agreement is deemed null and void as of June 27, 2018, and none
of the parties has any obligations pursuant to the Agreement nor any claim against the other parties to the Agreement.
On August 5, 2018, the Bank and shareholders of Bank Igud signed an addendum to the agreement, whereby the parties
agreed to appeal the decision, jointly with Bank Igud. Such an appeal was filed with the Anti-Trust Court on September
6, 2018.

Realization of the Igud acquisition transaction, should it be realized, would challenge the Bank, due to the operating
merger of the two banks, along with continued achievement of objectives in Mizrahi Tefahot's current strategic plan.
This information constitutes forward-looking information, as defined in the Securities Law, 1968, based on assumptions,
facts and data (hereinafter jointly: "assumptions") brought before the Bank’s Board of Directors. These assumptions may
not materialize due to factors which are not under the Bank's control.

For more information about strategic — business risk, see also the Detailed Risks Report on the Bank website.

Environmental risks

Environmental risk to the Bank is the risk of loss which may be incurred due to deterioration in the borrower's financial
position due to high costs incurred as a result of environmental hazard and regulation concerning environmental
protection, or due to impairment of collateral exposed to environmental risk or to the Bank being indirectly liable for an
environmental hazard caused by a project funded by the Bank. Environmental risk also includes other risks derived from
this risk (goodwill, third party liability etc.) In recent years, global awareness of the potential financial exposure arising
from regulations related to environmental protection has grown.

The Bank has a structured methodology for identification, assessment and handling of environmental risk and acts to
incorporate management of exposure to environmental risk within all risks at the Bank, including specification of work
processes for identification of significant risk when granting credit and inclusion of risk assessment, if any, within periodic
assessment of quality of credit extended.

For more information see the Bank's Corporate Social Responsibility Report on the Bank website:
www.mizrahi-tefahot.co.il >> about the bank >> investor relations
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Policies and critical accounting estimates

The Bank's financial statements are prepared in conformity with generally accepted accounting policies in Israel (Israeli
GAAP) and in accordance with Public Reporting Directives of the Supervisor of Banks.

For most topics, these directives are based on generally acceptable accounting practices by US banks. For other, less
material topics, these directives are based on International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and on generally
accepted accounting principles in Israel (Israeli GAAP). When International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) allow
multiple alternatives, or do not specifically refer to a certain situation, these directives prescribe specific implementation
guidelines, mostly based on generally acceptable accounting practices by US banks.

The significant accounting policies are detailed in Note 1 to the financial statements.

The application of generally accepted accounting principles by management at the time that the financial statements are
prepared occasionally involves various assumptions, assessments and estimates that affect the amounts and business
results reported in the financial statements. Some of the assumptions, assessments and estimates are critical to the
financial position or the results of operations reflected in the Group's financial statements, because of the materiality of
the matter, complexity of calculations or the extent of the probability that matters shrouded in uncertainty will be realized.

The following were used in assumptions, assessments and estimates:

Provision for credit losses

- Individual provision — The Bank regularly reviews the forecasted expected credit losses, based on actual cash flows,
and adjusts the individual provision to the current forecast.

- Group provision — based on historical loss rates in various economic sectors, divided into problematic and non-
problematic debt, for the period from January 1, 2011 through the report date. The Bank also accounts for relevant
environmental factors, including trends in credit volume for each sector as well as sector condition, macro-economic
data, general quality assessment of credit to each economic sector, changes in volume and in trend of balances in
arrears and impaired balances and the effect of changes in credit concentration. Furthermore, the rate of adjustment
with respect to relevant environmental factors for group provision for credit losses with respect to individuals is not
less than 0.75% of the non-impaired consumer credit balance (excluding credit due to receivables for bank credit cards
without interest charge).

- Housing loans — A minimum provision with respect to housing loans is calculated based on the formula stipulated by
the Supervisor of Banks, by extent of arrears, such that the provision rate is higher the longer the arrears. This directive
applies to all housing loans, other than loans not repaid by periodic installments and loans used to finance activity of
a business nature. The group-based provision for credit losses with respect to housing loans shall be at least 0.35%
of the balance of such loans as of the report date.

- Off-balance sheet credit — The provision is based on provision rates specified for total credit exposure (as stated
above), accounting for expected credit realization rate for the off-balance sheet credit risk.

For more information, see Note 1.D. 6. to the financial statements.

Derivative instruments
Instruments measured at fair value are divided into 3 levels:

Level 1 — fair value measured using prices quoted for identical instruments on an active market accessible by the Bank
upon the measurement date.

Level 2 — fair value measured using observed data, either direct or indirect, which are not quoted prices as set forth under
Level 1. Level 2 data include quoted market data on active markets, or on non-active markets, if they exist, or data derived
from or based upon such observed market data.

Level 3 — fair value measured by using non-observed data.

The Bank estimates credit risk for derivative instruments using a model based on indications of credit quality of the
counter-party, derived from prices of debt instruments of the counter-party traded on an active market, and from prices
of credit derivative instruments based on the counter-party's credit quality. In the absence of such indications, the Bank
calculates the adjustments based on internal ratings. The Bank reviews the materiality of the credit risk component
compared to fair value as a whole, in conjunction with review of instrument classification under fair value ranking levels.
Fair value measurement of a derivative instrument, when no quoted prices, liquid collateral or offset agreements exist
which adequately secure the derivative's credit quality, and when no market information exists as to the credit quality of
the counter-party (such as CDS or negotiable debentures of the counter-party) — shall be classified as a Level 3 fair value
measurement.

For more information, see Note 1.D. 16. to the financial statements. For details of derivatives measured at fair value by
different fair value levels — see Note 33 to the financial statements.
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Securities

Securities in the portfolio held for trading and in the portfolio available for sale are presented at fair value. Securities
classified in the portfolio held to maturity are measured at amortized cost. The fair value of the securities is determined
based on quoted market prices in active markets for the securities or for securities with similar terms, i.e. stock market
price, quotes from recognized data services, such as Bloomberg, or quotes from banks acceptable to the Bank. The Bank
uses internal models for reviewing the fair value of financial instruments for which there is no quote on a stock exchange,
and does not rely entirely on prices obtained from counter-parties or from quoting firms.

For more information, see Note 1.D. 5. to the financial statements. For details of securities measured at fair value by
different fair value levels — see Note 33 to the financial statements.

Liabilities with respect to employees’ rights

are calculated using actuarial models, based on a discount rate determined based on the yield of Government debentures
in Israel plus the average yield spread for corporate debentures rated AA (international rating scale) or higher upon the
report date. For practical reasons, the spread would be determined by the difference between yields to maturity, by term
to maturity, for corporate debentures rated AA or higher in the USA — and yields to maturity, for the same term to maturity,
for US government debentures, all as of the report date. The actuarial models include assumptions related to the mortality
tables, disability rates, departure rates and wage hike rates. A change in any of the parameters could lead to a change
in the amount of the Bank's liabilities for employees’ rights.

Group liabilities for employees’ rights calculated based on an actuarial model amount to NIS 1,349 million. (Including
provision for employees’ retirement at beneficial terms).

The following is a sensitivity analysis of total provision for employees’ rights to changes in key assumptions used as basis
for the actuarial estimate, as of the transition date (NIS in millions):

1% change in 1% change in
departure ratedeparture rate

1% change in 1% change in before before

1% increaseannual payrollannual payroll retirement retirement

in discount increase increase age age

rate Increase Decrease Increase Decrease

Severance pay provision (80) 80 (67) 105 (122)
Budgetary pension (5) - - - -
Other (27) 5 (2) (7) 7

For more information, see Note 1.D. 13. to the financial statements.

Share-based payment transactions

The financial statements include the benefit value of the stock option plan for the Bank President & CEO and for Bank
managers, estimated based on the opinion of an expert external consultant, using generally accepted models, including
the Black & Scholes model, the binomial model and the Monte Carlo model, based on various assumptions, mainly with
regard to expected exercise date of the options and standard deviation of Bank share price. Changes in the price of the
Bank's share, the standard deviation for the Bank's shares and other factors which could affect the economic value of
the benefit.

The benefit value is recognized by the Bank over the vesting term of the options using accelerated amortization.

Some of the Bank's stock option plans include multiple lots which vest on specified dates. The number of options which
the offerees may actually exercise, will be primarily based on the net operating profit return on the Bank's average
shareholders' equity, up to an annual rate of return equal to 13%, as well as on other parameters (for more information
see Note 23 to the financial statements), based on the exercise eligibility formula, as stated in the option plan. As of
December 31, 2017, the number of options which each offeree may exercise have been adjusted based on actual
parameters for each year of the plan.

As of December 31, 2016, the option plans have been fully amortized, hence there is no effect due to changes in
management estimates or actual return on equity or other such parameters on the number of options to be awarded.
For more information, see Note 1.D. 14 and Note 23 to the financial statements.
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Provisions with respect to contingent liabilities and lawsuits

The financial statements include appropriate provisions to cover possible damages, where, in the estimation of the Bank's

management, based on the opinion of its legal counsel, a provision is required.

In accordance with the directives of the Supervisor of Banks, claims have been classified according to the range of

probability of realization of the risk exposure, as follows:

1) Probable risk: there is a probability of more than 70% that a loss will be sustained from the claim. For claims whose
probability of realization has been classified as Probable, an appropriate provision was made in the financial
statements.

2) Reasonably Possible risk: there is a probability of between 20% and 70% that a loss will be sustained from the claim.
For claims whose probability of realization has been classified as Reasonably Possible, an appropriate provision is
made in specific instances on the financial statements, at the discretion of Bank management and based on the
opinion of legal counsel.

3) Remote risk: there is a probability of less than 20% that a loss will be sustained from the claim. For claims whose
probability of realization has been classified as Remote, no provision was made in the financial statements.

Note 26.C. provides disclosure of material claims (whose amount, excluding interest and expenses, is over 1% of equity
attributable to equity holders of the Bank).

Likewise, disclosure is given to motions for recognition as class actions, when the amount claimed in them is material,
when, in the estimation of the Bank's management, based on the opinion of its legal counsel, it is not possible, on the
date of preparing these financial statements, to estimate their possible outcome, and therefore, no provision was recorded
for them.

is not possible to estimate the prospects for realization of the exposure to risk in the four financial statements published
since the claim was filed, or in case of delay of proceedings by decision of the Court. Beyond this, only in rare cases is
the Bank permitted to determine that the prospects for realizing the exposure cannot be determined.

Note that the provision for legal claims and contingent liabilities depends on multiple factors and involves a high degree
of uncertainty. New information to be received by the Bank in the future with regard to existing exposures as of the
approval date of the financial statements may materially impact the exposure amount or the provision required with
respect to such exposure.

Provision for impairment of non-financial assets
Provision for impairment, if needed, is based on assessor valuations updated by the assessor or valuator as required.
For more information, see Note 1.D. 8. to the financial statements.

Deferred taxes
Deferred taxes are recognized with respect to temporary difference between the carrying amount of asset and liabilities
for the purpose of financial reporting, and their value for tax purposes.

Deferred taxes are measured so as to reflect the tax implications expected to arise from the manner in which the Bank,
at the end of the reported period, anticipates recovering or discharging the carrying amount of assets and liabilities.

Deferred taxes are measured using tax rates expected to apply to temporary differences when realized, based on statutes
enacted, or essentially enacted, as of the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax assets are recognized with respect to carry-forward loss, tax credits and deductible temporary differences,
when taxable revenue is more likely than not in future, which may enable utilization of these deferred tax assets.

For more information, see Note 1.D. 17. to the financial statements.

Uncertain tax positions

The Bank only recognizes the effect of tax positions if it is more likely than not that those positions would be accepted by
the Tax Authority or by the Court. Tax positions recognized are measured at the maximum amount whose likelihood of
realization exceeds 50%. Changes in recognition or measurement are reflected in the period in which a change in
circumstances resulted in a change in judgment.

The consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2018 includes deferred taxes, net amounting to NIS 1,115 million
(excludes deferred taxes with respect to securities, which do not affect the provision for taxes). an increase by 1% in tax
rates would cause a decrease by NIS 33 million in the provision for taxes.

For more information, see Note 1.D. 17. to the financial statements.
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Controls and Procedures

In accordance with the Public Reporting Directives of the Supervisor of Banks, based on requirements stipulated in
Sections 302 and 404 of the American Sarbanes Oxley Act, the Bank President & CEO and the Chief Accountant of the
Bank have each separately signed a Certification attached to the financial statements on "Disclosure Controls and
Procedures (hereinafter: "Disclosure Certification").

The Disclosure Certification relates to the controls and procedures that were designed to assure that the information that
the Bank requires for disclosure in accordance with the Public Reporting Directives of the Supervisor of Banks, is
accumulated, processed and sent to the Bank's Executive Management in a manner that enables decisions to be reached
at an appropriate time, with respect to disclosure requirements. The certification also refers to setting of internal controls
over financial reporting intended to provide a reasonable degree of certainty with regard to the reliability of financial
reporting and to the fact that the financial statements for external use are prepared in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles and with directives and guidelines of the Supervisor of Banks.

Controls and procedures with regard to disclosure

At the end of the period covered by this Report, the Bank's management, together with the Bank President & CEO and
the Chief Accountant of the Bank, evaluated the effectiveness of the Bank's disclosure controls and procedures. Based
on this evaluation, the Bank President & CEO and Chief Accountant of the Bank concluded that at the end of this period,
the disclosure controls and procedures are effective for recording, processing, summarizing and reporting the information
that the Bank is required to disclose in the annual report, in accordance with the Public Reporting Directives of the
Supervisor of Banks, on the date stipulated in these Directives.

Developments in internal controls

In the quarter ended December 31, 2018, no change occurred in the Bank's internal controls over financial reporting that
had a material effect, or can reasonably be expected to have an effect on the Bank's internal controls over financial
reporting.

In accordance with the directive by the Supervisor of Banks with regard to adoption of provisions of Section 404 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act, starting with financial statements as of December 31, 2008, this report includes a declaration
concerning the responsibility of management and the Board of Directors for setting and maintaining proper internal
controls over financial reporting and management's assessment of the effectiveness of internal controls over financial
reporting as of the date of the financial statements. Concurrently, the opinion of the Bank's independent auditors with
regard to appropriateness of the Bank's internal controls over financial reporting in accordance with the applicable
standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (PCAOB) is also provided.
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Moshe Vidman Eldad Fresher
Chairman of the President & CEO
Board of Directors

Approval date:
Ramat Gan, March 27, 2019
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Certification

I, ELDAD FRESHER, certify that:

1.
2.

I have reviewed the annual report of Bank Mizrahi Tefahot Ltd. (“the Bank”) for 2018 (“the Report”).

Based on my knowledge, this Report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact nor omit to state any
material fact necessary so that the statements included therein, in light of the circumstances under which such
statements were made, would not be misleading with respect to the period covered by the Report.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements and other financial information included in the Report fairly present,
in all material respects, the financial condition, results of operations, and changes in shareholders’ equity and cash
flows of the Bank as of the dates and for the periods presented in this Report.

| and others at the Bank who provide this certification, are responsible for determining and maintaining controls and
procedures with regard to disclosure® and to the Bank's internal controls over financial reporting® as well as:

A.

We have determined such controls and procedures, or caused these controls and procedures to be determined
under our supervision, for the purpose of ensuring that material information relating to the Bank, including its
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others in the Bank and in those entities, particularly during the period in which
the Report is being prepared;

. We have set such internal controls over financial reporting, or had it set under our supervision, intended to provide

a reasonable degree of certainty with regard to the reliability of financial reporting and to the fact that the financial
statements for external use are prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and with
directives and guidelines of the Supervisor of Banks;

. We have evaluated the effectiveness of the Bank’s disclosure controls and procedures and have presented in this

report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures in this Report, as of the
end of the period covered by this Report based on our evaluation; and

. We have disclosed in this Report any change in the Bank’s internal controls over financial reporting that occurred

during the fourth quarter, that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Bank’s internal
controls over financial reporting; and

I and others in the Bank who are declaring this certification, have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of
the internal controls over financial reporting, to the Bank’s independent auditors, the Board of Directors and the Audit
Committee of the Board of Directors of the Bank:

A.

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the determination or operation of internal controls over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to impair the Bank’s ability to record, process, summarize and report
financial information; and

. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in

the Bank’s internal controls over financial reporting.

The aforesaid does not derogate from my responsibility or the responsibility of any other person according to the law.

(@)

As defined in Public Reporting Directives with regard to "Report of the Board of Directors and Management".

President & CEO

Ramat Gan, March 27, 2019
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Certification

I, MENAHEM AVIV, certify that:

I have reviewed the annual report of Bank Mizrahi Tefahot Ltd. (“the Bank”) for 2018 (“the Report”).

Based on my knowledge, this Report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact nor omit to state any
material fact necessary so that the statements included therein, in light of the circumstances under which such
statements were made, would not be misleading with respect to the period covered by the Report.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements and other financial information included in the Report fairly present,
in all material respects, the financial condition, results of operations, and changes in shareholders’ equity and cash
flows of the Bank as of and for the periods presented in this Report.

| and others at the Bank who provide this certification, are responsible for determining and maintaining controls and
procedures with regard to disclosure® and to the Bank's internal controls over financial reporting® as well as:

A. We have determined such controls and procedures, or caused these controls and procedures to be determined
under our supervision, for the purpose of ensuring that material information relating to the Bank, including its
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others in the Bank and in those entities, particularly during the period in which
the Report is being prepared;

B. We have set such internal controls over financial reporting, or had it set under our supervision, intended to provide
a reasonable degree of certainty with regard to the reliability of financial reporting and to the fact that the financial
statements for external use are prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and with
directives and guidelines of the Supervisor of Banks;

C. We have evaluated the effectiveness of the Bank’s disclosure controls and procedures and have presented in this
report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures in this Report, as of the
end of the period covered by this Report based on our evaluation; and

D. We have disclosed in this Report any change in the Bank’s internal controls over financial reporting that occurred
during the fourth quarter, that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Bank’s internal
controls over financial reporting; and

I and others in the Bank who are declaring this certification, have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of
the internal controls over financial reporting, to the Bank’s independent auditors, the Board of Directors and the Audit
Committee of the Board of Directors of the Bank:

A. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the determination or operation of internal controls over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to impair the Bank’s ability to record, process, summarize and report
financial information; and

B. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in
the Bank’s internal controls over financial reporting.

The aforesaid does not derogate from my responsibility or the responsibility of any other person according to the law.

(@)

As defined in Public Reporting Directives with regard to "Report of the Board of Directors and Management".

Menahem Aviv

Vice-president, Chief Accountant

Ramat Gan, March 27, 2019
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Report of the Board of Directors and Management as to
Internal Controls over Financial Reporting
As of December 31, 2018

Report of the Board of Directors and Management as to Internal
Controls over Financial Reporting

The Board of Directors and Management of Mizrahi Tefahot Bank Ltd. (hereinafter: "the Bank") are responsible for
establishing and maintaining proper internal controls over financial reporting (as defined in Public Reporting Directives
with regard to "Report of the Board of Directors and Management"). The Bank's internal controls system has been
designed to provide the Bank's Board of Directors and management a reasonable degree of certainty as to proper
preparation and presentation of financial statements published in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles and with directives and guidelines of the Supervisor of Banks. Regardless of the quality of the design there of,
all internal controls systems have inherent limitations. Therefore, even should it be determined that these systems are
effective, they may only provide a reasonable degree of certainty with regard to preparation and presentation of financial
statements.

The management, under supervision of the Board of Directors, maintains a comprehensive system of controls intended
to ensure that transactions are executed in line with management authorization, that assets are protected, and that
accounting records are reliable. Furthermore, management under supervision of the Board of Directors, takes steps to
ensure that information and communication channels are effective and monitor execution, including execution of internal
control procedures.

The Bank's management, under supervision of the Board of Directors, has evaluated the effectiveness of the Bank's
internal controls system over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018 based on criteria stipulated in the internal control
model of the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Based on the
aforementioned evaluation, management believes that as of December 31, 2018, the Bank's internal controls over
financial reporting are effective.

The effectiveness of the Bank's internal controls over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018 was audited by the Bank's

independent auditors, Brightman Almagor Zohar & Co as noted in their report on page 111, which includes their unqualified
opinion as to the effectiveness of the Bank's internal controls over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018
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Moshe Vidman Eldad Fresher Menahem Aviv
Chairman of the Board President & CEO Vice-president, Chief
of Directors Accountant

Approval date:
Ramat Gan, March 27, 2019
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Independent Auditors’ Report to Shareholders of Bank Mizrahi-Tefahot Limited
As of December 31, 2018

Independent Auditors’ Report to Shareholders of Bank Mizrahi-Tefahot Limited

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Mizrahi Tefahot Limited and its subsidiaries (“the
Bank”) as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, and the statements of profit and loss, consolidated statements of
comprehensive income, consolidated statements of changes to equity and consolidated statements of cash flows — for
each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2018. The Bank’s Board of Directors and management are
responsible for these financial statements. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based
on our audit.

We have not audited the financial statements of subsidiaries whose assets included in consolidation account for 5.80%
and 6.21% of total consolidated assets as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively and whose net interest revenues
before expenses with respect to credit losses, included in the consolidated statements of profit and loss, account for
8.54%, 9.20% and 8.46%, respectively of total consolidated net interest revenues before expenses with respect to credit
losses for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively. Furthermore, we have not audited the
financial statements of an associate, the investment in which amounts to NIS 19 million as of December 31, 2018 and
2017. The financial statements of these companies were audited by other auditors, whose reports were furnished to us,
and our opinion, insofar as it relates to amounts included with respect to these companies, is based on the reports of the
other auditors.

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards in Israel, including those prescribed
by the Auditors’ Regulations (Mode of Performance), 1973 and certain auditing standards, the application of which was
prescribed by the directives of the Supervisor of Banks. These regulations require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also
includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by the Board of Directors and by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits and the reports
of the other auditors provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, based on our audits and the reports of the other auditors, the above financial statements present fairly, in
all material respects, the financial position — of the Bank — as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, and the results of
operations, changes in shareholders’ equity and cash flows of the Bank for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2018, in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in Israel (Israeli GAAP). Also, in our
opinion, the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the directives and guidelines of the Supervisor
of Banks.

Without qualifying our aforementioned opinion, we draw your attention to:

A. Note 26.C. 11 with regard to lawsuits filed against the Bank, including motions for class action status.

B. Note 26.C. section 12 with regard to DPA agreement signed by the Bank on March 12, 2019 with the US Department
of Justice to conclude the US DOJ investigation with regard to Bank Group business with its US clients.

We have also audited in accordance with PCAOB standards in the USA with regard to audit of internal controls over
financial reporting, as adopted by the Institute of Certified Public Accountants in Israel, the internal controls over financial
reporting at the Bank as of December 31, 2018, based on criteria specified in the integrated framework for internal controls
published by COSO, and our report dated March 27, 2019 included an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of internal
controls over financial reporting at the Bank.

@J’fa fonauw /Hfhﬂ?or 'ZG}W% (o‘

Brightman Almagor Zohar & Co.
Certified Public Accountants

Ramat Gan, March 27, 2019
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Independent Auditors’ Report to Shareholders of Bank Mizrahi-Tefahot Limited
As of December 31, 2018

Independent Auditors' Report to Shareholders of Bank Mizrahi-Tefahot Limited
Pursuant to Public Reporting Directives of the Supervisor of Banks Concerning
Internal Controls over financial Reporting

We have audited the internal controls over financial reporting at Bank Mizrahi Tefahot Ltd. and subsidiaries (hereinafter
jointly: "the Bank") as of December 31, 2018, based on criteria stipulated by the integrated framework for internal controls
(1992) published by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Tread way Commission (hereinafter: "COSQO").
The Bank's Board of Directors and management are responsible for maintaining effective internal controls over financial
reporting, and for evaluating the effectiveness of said internal controls over financial reporting which is included in the
attached enclosed report of the Board of Directors and management with regard to internal controls over financial
reporting. We are responsible for our opinion on the Bank's internal controls over financial reporting, based on our audit.

We have not audited the effectiveness of internal controls over financial reporting at subsidiaries whose assets and net
interest revenue before expenses with respect to credit losses, included in consolidation, account for 5.80% and 8.54%,
respectively of the referring amounts on the consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2018 and for the year
then ended. The effectiveness of internal controls over financial reporting at these companies was audited by other
independent auditors whose reports have been provided to us and our opinion, in as much as it refers to effectiveness of
internal controls over financial reporting at these companies, Is based on the reports of these other independent auditors.

We have conducted our audit in accordance with standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (PCAOB)
in the USA with regard to audit of internal controls over financial reporting, as adopted by the Institute of Certified Public
Accountants in Israel. In accordance with these standards, we are required to plan and perform the audit and obtain a
reasonable degree of assurance as to the maintenance of effective internal controls over financial reporting, in all material
aspects. Our audit included: obtaining an understanding of the internal controls over financial reporting, assessing the risk
of existence of a material weakness, and also testing and evaluating of the design and operating effectiveness of internal
controls based on the assessed risk. Our audit also included performing such other procedures which we considered
necessary under the circumstances. We believe that our audits and the reports of the other independent auditors provide
a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A bank's internal controls over financial reporting is a process designed to provide a reasonable degree of certainty as to
the reliability of financial reporting and preparation of financial statements for external use in accordance with Israeli
GAAP, and directives and guidelines of the Supervisor of Banks. A bank's internal controls over financial reporting include
policies and procedures which: (1) refer to record keeping which, with reasonable detail, accurately and properly reflects
transactions and transfers of Bank assets (including their removal from Bank ownership); (2) provide a reasonable degree
of certainty that transactions are properly recorded so as to allow for preparation of financial statements in accordance
with Israeli GAAP and directives and guidelines of the Supervisor of Banks, and that the Bank's receipts and expenditures
are made exclusively in line with authorizations of the Bank's management and Board members; and (3) provide a
reasonable degree of certainty with regard to avoidance or timely discovery of any unauthorized acquisition, use or transfer
of Bank assets (including removal from Bank ownership) which may materially impact the financial statements.

Due to structural limitations, internal controls over financial reporting may not prevent or disclose misleading presentation.
Also, reaching conclusions about the future on the basis of any current assessment of effectiveness is exposed to the
risk that controls will become unsuitable due to changes in circumstances or that the extent of observance of the policies
or procedures will change adversely

In our opinion, the Bank maintained, in all material aspects, effective internal controls over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2018 based on criteria stipulated in the integrated framework for internal controls (1992) published by
COSO.

We have also audited, in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards in Israel and certain audit standards
whose application to audits of banking corporations was stipulated in directives of and guidance from the Supervisor of
Banks, the Bank's consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 and the consolidated statements of
profit and loss, consolidated statements of comprehensive income, consolidated statements of changes to equity and
consolidated statements of cash flows for each of the three years ended December 31, 2018, and our report dated March
27, 2019 includes an unqualified opinion on the aforementioned financial statements, based upon our audit and on the
reports of other independent auditors, as well as a referral with regard to claims filed against the Bank and its subsidiary
, including requests to recognize them as class actions, and with regard to DPA agreement signed by the Bank on March
12, 2019 with the US Department of Justice to conclude the US DOJ javestigation with reﬁ:afd to Bank%rg p buz’es&;
oJ~ !

with its US clients. J";ﬂ J;fn?uw i
Brightman Almagor Zohar & Co.

Certified Public Accountants
Ramat Gan, March 27, 2019
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Consolidated statements of profit and loss

For the year ended December 31,
Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

Financial Statements
As of December 31, 2018

Note 2018 2017 2016
Interest revenues 2 7,359 6,222 5,311
Interest expenses 2 2,437 1,875 1,533
Interest revenues, net 2 4,922 4,347 3,778
Expenses with respect to credit losses 13,30 310 192 200
Interest revenues, net after expenses with respect to credit losses 4,612 4,155 3,578
Non-interest revenues
Non-interest financing revenues 3 445 136 295
Commissions 4 1,475 1,423 1,433
Other revenues 5 47 94 134
Total non-interest revenues 1,967 1,653 1,862
Operating and other expenses
Payroll and associated expenses 6 2,407 ®2,271 ®2,035
Maintenance and depreciation of buildings and equipment 16 747 742 693
Other expenses 7 1,230 598 ®571
Total operating and other expenses 4,384 3,611 3,299
Pre-tax profit 2,195 2,197 2,141
Provision for taxes on profit 8 922 806 833
After-tax profit 1,273 1,391 1,308
Share in profits of associated companies, after tax effect 15 1 - -
Net profit:
Before attribution to non-controlling interests 1,274 1,391 1,308
Attributable to non-controlling interests (68) (44) (42)
Attributable to shareholders of the Bank 1,206 1,347 1,266
Earnings per share® (in NIS) 9
Basic earnings
Net profit attributable to shareholders of the Bank 5.17 5.80 5.46
Diluted earnings
Net profit attributable to shareholders of the Bank 5.15 5.76 5.45

(1) Comparative figures for previous periods were reclassified. For more information about directives of the Supervisor of Banks
with regard to improved presentation of expenses with respect to pension and other post-employment benefits, see Note 1.C.4.

(2) Share of NIS 0.1 par value. See Note 1.C.1. for application of US GAAP with regard to earnings per share.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

PRGN

Moshe Vidman
Chairman of the Board
of Directors

Approval date:
Ramat Gan, March 27, 2019
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Financial Statements
As of December 31, 2018

Consolidated statements of comprehensive income

For the year ended December 31,
Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

Note 2018 2017 2016
Net profit:
Before attribution to non-controlling interests 1,274 1,391 1,308
Attributable to non-controlling interests (68) (44) (42)
Net profit attributable to shareholders of the Bank 1,206 1,347 1,266
Other comprehensive income (loss) before taxes 10
Adjustments for presentation of available-for-sale securities at fair value, net (68) 22 (26)
Adjustments from translation of financial statements of investments in
associated companies® 1 (4) 1
Net gains (losses) with respect to cash flows hedging - (8) 9)
Adjustment of liabilities with respect to employees’ benefits® 121 “132 3(294)
Total other comprehensive income (loss), before tax 54 (122) (328)
Related tax effect (18) 44 108
Other comprehensive income (loss) after taxes(5)
Other comprehensive income (loss), before attribution to non-controlling
interests 36 (78) ®(220)
Less other comprehensive loss attributed to non-controlling interests (1) (12) -
Other comprehensive income (loss) attributed to shareholders of the
Bank, after taxes 37 (66) (220)
Comprehensive income:
Before attribution to non-controlling interests 1,310 1,313 1,088
Attributable to non-controlling interests (67) (32) (42)
Comprehensive income attributable
to shareholders of the Bank 1,243 1,281 1,046

(1) Adjustments from translation of financial statements of associated companies.

(2) Includes adjustments with respect to actuarial estimates included in the reported period for defined-benefit pension plans and

current amortization of adjustments with respect to liabilities to profit and loss.

(3) Includes the cost of update to the actuarial liability with respect to the streamlining plan, amounting to NIS 286 million; the cost

net of tax, amounting to NIS 188 million, was charged to shareholders’ equity.

(4) Includes the effect of updating the assumption of salary cost and update to the remuneration increase rate in the second quarter
of 2017, on the actuarial liability for employees’ rights at the Bank, amounting to NIS 69 million, net of taxes, as well as the
effect of the streamlining plan at Bank Yahav on Bank shareholders' equity amounting to NIS 11 million. For more information

see Note 22.

(5) For more information see Note 10 — Cumulative Other Comprehensive Income (Loss).

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Financial Statements
As of December 31, 2018

Consolidated balance sheets

As of December 31,
Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

Note 2018 2017
Assets
Cash and deposits with banks 11 45,162 41,130
Securities®® 12 11,081 10,133
Securities loaned or acquired in resale agreements 27 26 76
Loans to the public 13,30 195,956 182,602
Provision for credit losses 13,30 (1,575) (1,484)
Loans to the public, net 13,30 194,381 181,118
Loans to Governments 14 630 456
Investments in associated companies 15 32 32
Buildings and equipment 16 1,424 1,403
Intangible assets and goodwill 15.D 87 87
Assets with respect to derivative instruments 28 3,240 3,421
Other assets 17 1,810 1,716
Total assets 257,873 239,572
Liabilities and Equity
Deposits from the public 18 199,492 183,573
Deposits from banks 19 625 1,125
Deposits from the Government 42 51
Debentures and subordinated notes 20 30,616 29,923
Liabilities with respect to derivative instruments 28 3,661 3,082
Other liabilities ©) 30.E, 21 8,047 7,491
Total liabilities 242,483 225,245
Shareholders’ equity attributable to shareholders of the Bank 14,681 13,685
Non-controlling interests 709 642
Total equity 24 15,390 14,327
Total liabilities and equity 257,873 239,572

(1) Of which: NIS 7,073 million at fair value (December 31, 2017: NIS 6,768 million).
(2) For more information with regard to securities pledged to lenders, see Note 27.

(3) Of which: Provision for credit losses with respect to off balance sheet credit instruments amounting to NIS 98 million (on
December 31, 2017: NIS 90 million).

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Statements of Changes in Shareholders' Equity
For the year ended December 31,

Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

Financial Statements
As of December 31, 2018

Capital
reserve
from
benefit Cumu-
from Total paid- lative
share- up share other
Share based capital compre- Total
capital payment and hensive share- Non-
and pre- transac- Treasury capital income Retained holders’contro-ling Total
mium® tions shares reserves (loss)® earnings®” equity interests equity
Balance as of December 31, 2015 2,222 68 (76) 2,214 97) 9,730 11,847 568 12,415
Net profit for the period - - - - - 1,266 1,266 42 1,308
Dividends paid - - - - - (186) (186) - (186)
Benefit from share-based payment
transactions - 8 - 8 - - 8 - 8
Related tax effect - 1) - Q) - - Q) - 2)
Realization of share-based
payment transactions® 17 17 - - - - - - -
Other comprehensive income
(loss), net, after tax - - - - 9220 - (220 - (220)
Balance as of December 31, 2016 2,239 58 (76) 2,221 (317) 10,810 12,714 610 13,324
Net profit for the period - - — — - 1,347 1,347 44 1,391
Dividends paid - - - - - (334) (334) - (334
Benefit from share-based payment
transactions - 24 - 24 - - 24 - 24
Realization of share-based
payment transactions® 17 17 - - - - - - -
Cancellation of treasury shares® (76) - 76 - - - - - -
Other comprehensive income
(loss), net, after tax - - - - (66) - (66) (12 (78)
Balance as of December 31, 2017 2,180 65 — 2,245 (383) 11,823 13,685 642 14,327
Net profit for the period - - - - - 1,206 1,206 68 1,274
Dividends paid - - - - - (247) (247) - (247)
Realization of share-based
payment transactions® 17 17) - - - - - - -
Other comprehensive income
(loss), net, after tax - - - - 37 - 37 @ 36
Balance as of December 31, 2018 2,197 48 — 2,245 (346) 12,782 14,681 709 15,390

@
@

Share premium generated prior to March 31, 1986.
In 2018, the Bank issued 699,128 ordinary shares of NIS 0.1 par value each, for exercise of options pursuant to the Employees’ Stock Option Plan,

and issued to the President 30,580 ordinary shares of NIS 0.1 par value each.

In 2017, the Bank issued 553,719 ordinary shares of NIS 0.1 par value each, for exercise of options pursuant to the Employees’ Stock Option Plan,
and issued to the President 9,137 ordinary shares of NIS 0.1 par value each.

In 2016, the Bank issued 157,119 ordinary shares of NIS 0.1 par value each, for exercise of options pursuant to the Employees’ Stock Option

®
Q]
®)

(6

O]

Plan, and issued to the President 31,065 ordinary shares of NIS 0.1 par value each.
For more information see Note 10 — Cumulative Other Comprehensive Income (Loss).
For details on various limitations on distributions of dividends, see Note 24.

Includes cost of revision of actuarial liability, amounting to NIS 286 million, with respect to employees’ retirement program. See also Notes 22 and
25.

On September 18, 2017, the Board of Directors of the Bank decided to cancel 2.5 million shares of NIS 0.1 par value each of the Bank's issued
share capital acquired by the Bank which constitute dormant shares that do not confer any rights in the Bank. Accordingly, on September 25,
2017, the dormant shares were canceled in the Bank's records.

Includes: The effect of update to the assumption of salary cost and update to the remuneration increase rate in the second quarter of 2017, on the
actuarial liability for employees’ rights at the Bank, amounting to NIS 69 million, net of taxes, as well as the effect of the streamlining plan at Bank
Yahav on Bank shareholders' equity amounting to NIS 11 million. For more information see Note 22.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Consolidated statements of cash flows®
For the year ended December 31,
Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

Financial Statements
As of December 31, 2018

2018 2017 2016
Cash flows provided by current operations
Net profit 1,274 1,391 1,308
Adjustments
Share of the Bank in undistributed earnings of associated companies (1) - -
Depreciation of buildings and equipment (including impairment 238 245 223
Expenses with respect to credit losses 310 192 200
Gain from sale of securities available for sale (18) (52) (61)
Realized and unrealized loss (gain) from adjustment to fair value of securities held
for trading 1 1 (14)
Gain from sale of buildings and equipment - (47) (92)
Expenses arising from share-based payment transactions - 24 8
Deferred taxes, net (111) 22 3)
Change in employees’ provisions and liabilities 63 98 4
Adjustments with respect to exchange rate differentials (129) 82 195
Proceeds from sale of loan portfolios - (4) (45)
Accrual differences included with investment and financing operations 67 32 110
Net change in current assets
Assets with respect to derivative instruments 181 155 (66)
Securities held for trading (80) 138 (112)
Other assets, net 49 (87) 613
Net change in current liabilities
Liabilities with respect to derivative instruments 579 (484) (68)
Other liabilities 551 380 576
Net cash provided by current operations 2,974 2,086 2,776

(1) Comparative figures for previous periods were restated. Format of the disclosure concerning the cash flows statement was
adapted to US GAAP as stipulated in provisions of Topic 230 of the codification. For more information see Note 1.C.1.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of cash flows continued®

For the year ended December 31,
Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

Financial Statements
As of December 31, 2018

2018 2017 2016
Cash flows provided by investment activities
Net change in deposits with banks 52 (403) (50)
Net change in loans to the public (15,522) (11,865) (14,670)
Net change in loans to Governments (56) (126) (14)
Net change in securities loaned or acquired in resale agreements 50 (67) 62
Acquisition of debentures held to maturity (1,396) (111) -
Proceeds from redemption of securities held to maturity 723 - -
Acquisition of securities available for sale (2,459) (4,501) (6,902)
Proceeds from sale of securities available for sale 838 4,671 7,546
Proceeds from redemption of securities available for sale 1,695 - 1,083
Proceeds from sale of loan portfolios 2,350 2,586 2,662
Purchase of loan portfolios — public (377) (702) (265)
Purchase of loan portfolios — Government (118) - -
Acquisition of buildings and equipment (259) (247) (245)
Proceeds from sale of buildings and equipment - 328 125
Proceeds from realized investment in associated companies 1 1 2
Net cash used in investment activities (14,478) (10,436) (10,666)
Cash flows provided by financing activities
Net change in deposits from the public 15,919 5,321 15,872
Net change in deposits from banks (500) (412) 371
Net change in deposits from Government 9) 1 (8)
Issuance of debentures and subordinated notes 711 6,909 6,318
Redemption of debentures and subordinated notes (415) (4,051) (3,096)
Dividends paid to shareholders (247) (334) (186)
Net cash provided by financing activities 15,459 7,434 19,271
Increase (decrease) in cash 3,955 (916) 11,381
Cash balance at beginning of the period 40,497 41,495 30,309
Effect of changes in exchange rate on cash balances 129 (82 (195)
Cash balance at end of the period 44,581 40,497 41,495
Interest and taxes paid / received
Interest received 6,837 6,521 5,204
Interest paid 2,219 1,717 1,676
Dividends received 7 4 35
Income taxes received 97 81 81
Income taxes paid 1,145 844 800
Appendix A — Non-cash Investment and Financing Transactions
Acquisition of buildings and equipment 14 25 13

Sale of buildings and equipment

(1) Comparative figures for previous periods were restated. Format of the disclosure concerning the cash flows statement was

adapted to US GAAP as stipulated in provisions of Topic 230 of the codification. For more information see Note 1.C.1.
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Notes to financial statements
As of December 31, 2018

Note 1 — Reporting Principles and Accounting Policies

1

2)

3)

4)

122

Overview

On March 27, 2019, the Bank’s Board of Directors authorized publication of these consolidated financial statements
as of December 31, 2018.

The financial statements are prepared in conformity with generally accepted accounting policies in Israel (Israeli
GAAP) and in accordance with Public Reporting Directives of the Supervisor of Banks.

For most topics, the Supervisor of Banks' directives are based on generally acceptable accounting practices by US
banks. For other, less material topics, these directives are based on International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS) and on generally accepted accounting principles in Israel (Israeli GAAP).

When International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) allow multiple alternatives, or do not specifically refer to a
certain situation, these directives prescribe specific implementation guidelines, mostly based on generally acceptable
accounting practices by US banks.

In conformity with the Supervisor of Banks' Public Reporting Directives, the Bank may — under certain circumstances
listed in the regulations — present annual financial statements on consolidated basis only.

In conformity with approval from the Supervisor of Banks, Bank presents its annual financial statements on
consolidated basis only.

For more information about the condensed financial statements of the Bank solo, including balance sheet, statement
of profit and loss and statement of cash flows, see Note 36 to the financial statements. Data for the Bank solo is
available on the Bank website:

www.mizrahi-tefahot.co.il >> about the bank >> investor relations >> financial statements.

Definitions

"International Financial Reporting Standards" — Standards and interpretations adopted by the International
Accounting Standards Board (hereinafter: "IASB"), which include international financial reporting standards
(hereinafter: "IFRS") and International Accounting Standards (hereinafter: "IAS"), including interpretations of these
standards by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) or interpretations by the
Standing Interpretations Committee (SIC), respectively.

"Generally accepted accounting principles for US banks"  Accounting rules which US banks traded in the USA are
required to apply. These principles are specified by banking supervisory authorities in the USA, the US SEC, the US
Financial Accounting Standards Board and other US entities; they are applied in conformity with the hierarchy
specified in FAS 168 (ASC 105-10) — Codification of accounting standards of the US Financial Accounting Standards
Board and GAAP hierarchy. In addition, as stipulated by the Supervisor of Banks, notwithstanding the hierarchy
specified in FAS 168, it has been clarified that any position made public by US banking supervision authorities or by
the team thereof, with regard to application of generally accepted accounting principles in the USA, is a Generally
Accepted Accounting Principle for Banks in the USA.

"FASB" — Financial Accounting Standards Board in the USA.

"The Bank" — Bank Mizrahi-Tefahot Ltd.

"Subsidiaries" — entities whose financial statements are fully consolidated with those of the Bank, directly or indirectly.
"Bank Group" — The Bank and its subsidiaries.

"Associates" — Entities in which the Group has material influence over financial and operational policies, but over
which it has no control. Investment in associates is included in the financial statements using the equity method.
"Investees" — Subsidiaries and associates.

"Overseas affiliates" — Representatives, branches or subsidiaries of the Bank outside Israel.

"Functional currency" — The currency in the primary economic environment in which the Bank operates. This is
typically the currency of the environment in which the corporation generates and expends most of its cash.
"Presentation currency” — The currency in which the financial statements are presented.

"Adjusted amount" — Historical nominal amount, adjusted for changes in the economic purchase power of Israeli
currency.

"Reported amount” — An amount adjusted as of December 31, 2003 (hereinafter: "the transition date"), plus amounts
in nominal values that were added after the transition date, minus amounts deducted after the transition date.
"Cost" — Cost in reported amount.

"Related parties" and "Interested parties" — As defined in Section 80 of the Public Reporting Regulations.



Notes to financial statements
As of December 31, 2018

Note 1 — Reporting Principles and Accounting Policies — continued

1

2)

3)

4)

Preparation basis of the financial statements

Principles of financial reporting

The Bank's financial statements are prepared in conformity with generally accepted accounting policies in Israel
(Israeli GAAP) and in accordance with Public Reporting Directives of the Supervisor of Banks. See above in
section A.2).

Functional currency and reporting currency

The consolidated financial statements are presented in NIS, which is the Bank's functional currency, rounded to the
nearest one million, unless otherwise indicated. NIS is the currency which reflects the primary economic environment
in which the Bank does business. For information about the functional currency of overseas banking affiliates, see
section 1.D. below.

Measurement basis

The financial statements were prepared based on historical cost, except for the following items:

- Financial derivatives and other financial instruments measured at fair value on the statement of profit and loss
(such as: investments in securities in the held-for-trade portfolio or instruments for which the fair value option was
selected);

- Financial instruments classified as available for sale;

- Liability with respect to share-based payment;

- Non-current assets held for sale and asset group held for sale;

- Deferred tax assets and liabilities

- Various provisions, such as provisions for credit losses and provision for legal claims;
- Assets and liabilities with respect to employee benefits;

- Investments in associates.

The value of non-monetary assets and capital items measured based on historical cost was adjusted for changes in
the Consumer Price Index through December 31, 2003. Through this date, the Israeli economy was considered a
hyper-inflationary economy. As from January 1, 2004, the Bank prepares its financial statements in reported amounts.

Use of estimates

In preparing the consolidated financial statements in accordance with Israeli GAAP and with directives and guidelines
of the Supervisor of Banks, Bank management is required to use judgment, assessments, estimates and
assumptions which impact policies implementation and amounts of assets and liabilities, revenues and expenses.
Note that actual results may differ from these estimates.

When making accounting estimates during preparation of the financial statements, Bank management is required to
make assumptions with regard to circumstances and events involving significant uncertainty. In exercising its
judgment when making these estimates, Bank management relies on past experience, various facts, external factors
and reasonable assumptions in accordance with the appropriate circumstances for each estimate.

These estimates and assumptions are regularly reviewed, and changes to accounting estimates are recognized in
the period in which these estimates were revised and in any affected future period.

As stated in section 1.D.6)D. below, the group-based provision for credit losses for 2018 was based, inter alia, on
historical loss rates in various economic sectors, divided into problematic and non-problematic debt, for the 8 years
ended on December 31, 2018, in conformity with directives of the Supervisor of Banks.

123



Notes to financial statements
As of December 31, 2018

Note 1 — Reporting Principles and Accounting Policies — continued

C.

Initial application of accounting standards, accounting standard updates and directives of the Supervisor of
Banks

As from reporting periods starting on January 1, 2018, the Bank initially applies the following new accounting standards
and directives:

1)

Reporting by banking corporations in Israel in conformity with US GAAP on these topics: Non-current assets held for
sale and discontinued operations; fixed assets and impairment of fixed assets, investment property; earnings per
share; statement of cash flows; interim reporting; and other topics.

Share-based payment

Limit on sector indebtedness

Improved presentation of expenses with respect to pension and other post-employment benefits

Recognition of revenues from contracts with clients

Revision of the CCF for Sales Act guarantees with respect to apartments yet to be delivered, see Note 25 "Capital
adequacy, liquidity and leverage".

Below is a description of the substance of changes in accounting policies on the consolidated financial statements and
description of the effect of their initial application, if any:

1

2)

124

Reporting by banking corporations in Israel in conformity with US GAAP on these topics: Non-current assets
held for sale and discontinued operations; fixed assets and impairment of fixed assets, investment property;
earnings per share; statement of cash flows; interim reporting; and other topics.

On October 13, 2016, the Supervisor of Banks issued a circular concerning reporting by banking corporations and
credit card issuers in Israel, in conformity with US GAAP. The circular revises the Public Reporting Directives and
adopts generally accepted accounting standards in the US on these topics:

- US GAAP with regard to topic 205-20 of the codification "Discontinued operations".
- US GAAP with regard to topic 360 of the codification "Fixed assets".

- US GAAP with regard to topic 260 of the codification "Earnings per share".

- US GAAP with regard to topic 230-10 of the codification "Statement of cash flows".
- US GAAP with regard to topic 270 of the codification "Interim period reporting".

- US GAAP with regard to topic 835-20 of the codification "Interest capitalization".

- US GAAP with regard to topic 460 of the codification "Guarantees".

The Bank applies the directives stipulated in the circular dated January 1, 2018.

Application of the circular has no material impact on the Bank's financial statements, other than a change in
presentation in the cash flow statement and of earnings per share on the profit and loss statement.

Share-based payments

In May 2017, the US Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued an amendment to ASU 2017-09,
amending topic 718 of the codification with regard to the scope of changes to terms (hereinafter: “the Amendment”).

The revision is designed to clarify when it is required to treat changes to terms of share-based payment award as a
modification.

According to the revision, modification accounting should be applied with respect to changes to the plan, unless the
fair value, vesting conditions or classification of the award (as capital or liability award) are the same before and after
the modification.

However, companies should continue to apply modification accounting for changes made due to:
- Laws or regulations; or
- New standards with regard to: Revenue recognition, leases or credit losses.

Furthermore, disclosures are still required for significant changes to terms of a share-based payment award as well
as assessment of tax implications, even if such change does not result in modification accounting being applied.

The Bank applies these changes as from January 1, 2018.
Application of this update has no material impact on the Bank's financial statements.
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3)

4)

5)

Limit on sector indebtedness

On July 10, 2017, the Supervisor of Banks published a memo regarding sector indebtedness limit, including changes
to Proper Conduct of Banking Business Directives 314 and 315.

The major changes to Proper Conduct of Banking Business Directives according to this memo are as follows:

- Setting a category of sector indebtedness limit, whereby indebtedness for a specific sector may not exceed 20%
of total indebtedness to the public and, in some cases, not to exceed 22%.

- The additional provision and general provision mechanism has been rescinded.

- When setting the provision for credit losses, the risk with respect to credit for which no current financial statements
are available should be weighted.

The Bank applies these changes as from January 1, 2018.

Application of this amendment has no material impact on the Bank's financial statements.

Improved presentation of expenses with respect to pension and other post-employment benefits

OnJanuary 1, 2018, the Supervisor of Banks issued a circular with regard to codification update 2017-07 re improved
presentation of expenses with respect to pension and other post-employment benefits.

The update clarifies that components of benefit cost included under payroll expenses on the statement of profit and
loss should be separated, so that only cost of service remains under payroll expenses, with all other costs presented
under non-operating expenses (Other Expenses). Furthermore, the update clarifies that only the cost of service may
be capitalized, in cases where payroll expenses may be capitalized, and other components of the benefit cost may
not be capitalized.

According to the circular, the Bank retroactively applies the directives to these financial statements, including by
reclassification of comparative figures.

Below are details of the effect of initial implementation on profit and loss data:

For the year For the year

For the year ended For the year D endbed
ended December ended %Cfrgofé
December For the year 31,2017 December For the year ' |
31, 2017 ended in 31,2016 ended n
Amount December confor-mity Amount December confor-
presented in 31, 2017 with  presented 31,2016  mity with
these Effect of ~ Prévious in these Effect of  Previous
financial classifi- regula-  financial classifi- regula-
statements cation tions statements cation tions
Profit and loss
Payroll and associated expenses 2,271 (55) 2,326 2,035 (36) 2,071
Other expenses 598 55 543 571 36 535

Recognition of revenues from contracts with clients

On January 11, 2015, the Supervisor of Banks issued a circular concerning adoption of an update to accounting rules
with regard to revenues from contracts with clients. The circular updates the Public Reporting Directives in view of
the publication of ASU 2014-09, a new standard on revenue recognition in US accounting rules. In conformity with
provisions of the standard, revenue is to be recognized at the amount expected to be received in consideration of
transfer of goods or provision of services to clients.

The new standard does not apply, inter alia, to financial instruments and to contractual rights or obligations within
the scope of topic 310 of the codification. Furthermore, the Bank of Israel directives clarify that, in general, provisions
of the new standards would not apply to accounting treatment of interest revenues and expenses nor to non-interest
financing revenues.

The Bank applies provisions of the new standard as from January 1, 2018.

Application of this circular has no material impact on the Bank's financial statements. other than addition of a
disclosure format with regard to revenue from contracts with clients in Note 4A.
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D. Accounting policies applied in preparing the financial statements

1

2)
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Foreign currency and linkage:
A. Foreign currency transactions

Upon recognition of a foreign currency transaction, any asset, liability, revenue, expense, gain or loss from the
transaction are translated, upon initial recognition, to the functional currency of the Bank and its affiliates (NIS),
using the exchange rate as of the transaction date.

Upon each reporting date, monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency as of the reporting
date are translated into the functional currency at the exchange rate as of that date.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency and measured at fair value, are translated
into the functional currency using the exchange rate as of the date on which the fair value is determined.

Non-monetary items denominated in foreign currency and measured at historical cost, are translated at the
exchange rate as of the transaction date.

Any gain or loss from translation of foreign currency transactions due to currency fluctuations between the

transaction date and the settlement date / the balance sheet date, including with respect to exchange rate

differences with respect to available-for-sale debt instruments which, according to the Public Reporting

Regulations, would continue to be recognized on the statement of profit and loss through December 31, 2021

(as stipulated in transition provisions for 2018. For more information see section E. below), are recognized on

profit & loss. as gain or loss from translation differences (non-interest financing revenues), except for:

- The effective portion of gain or loss with respect to hedging instrument in cash flow hedge.

- Exchange rate differentials with respect to items that are part of a net investment.

- Exchange rate differentials with respect to equity financial instruments classified as available for sale
(except in case of impairment, in which case translation differences recognized under Other
Comprehensive Income are reclassified to profit and loss).

. Overseas banking affiliates

The Bank treats its overseas banking affiliates as operations whose functional currency is the same as the
Bank's (NIS).

Assets and Liabilities linked to the CPI which are not measured at fair value, are included based on the linkage
terms specified for each balance.

Below is information about major official exchange rates, the Consumer Price Index and changes there to:

As of As of As of Changein Changein Changein
December December December % % %
31, 2018 31, 2017 31, 2016 2018 2017 2016

Consumer Price Index:
CPI for December (points) 107.4 106.5 106.1 0.8 0.4 0.2)
Known CPI for November (points) 107.7 106.4 106.1 1.2 0.3 (0.3)

Exchange rate of:

USD (in NIS) 3.748 3.467 3.845 8.1 (9.8) (1.5)
EUR (in NIS) 4.292 4.153 4.044 3.3 2.7 (4.8)

Consolidation basis
A. Subsidiaries in which the Bank holds less than 50%

The Bank holds 50% of the issued and paid-in share capital of Bank Yahav for Government Employees Ltd.
(hereinafter: "Bank Yahav"). The balance of the issued and paid-in share capital is held by a single shareholder
and the Bank has no excess legal rights. The Supervisor of Banks has allowed the Bank to consolidate the
financial statements of Bank Yahav under the circumstances concerning the Bank's influence over management
of Bank Yahav business and in conformity with Section 9G of the Public Reporting Regulations.

For more information about the balance of investment in investees and contribution to net profit attributable to
equity holders of the Bank, see Note 15 to the financial statements.
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3)

B. Subsidiaries
Financial statements of subsidiaries are included on the consolidated financial statements from the date control
is achieved and through the date control is terminated. Accounting policies of subsidiaries were modified as
needed, to align it with the accounting policies of the Bank.

C. Non-controlling interests
Non-controlling interests are any shareholders' equity in a subsidiary which is not attributable, directly or indirectly,
to the parent company.

Attribution of Comprehensive Income to shareholders

Profit or loss and any Other Comprehensive Income item are attributed to the controlling shareholder of the Bank
and to non-controlling interests. Total profit, loss and Other Comprehensive Income are attributed to the
controlling shareholder of the Bank and to non-controlling interest, even if this results in a negative balance of
non-controlling interest.

D. Investments in associated companies
In reviewing the existence of material influence, the assumption is that a holding stake of 20%-50% in an investee
confers material influence.

Investment in associated companies is accounted for using the equity method and is initially recognized at cost.
The investment cost includes transaction costs.

Investment in an associated company is reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of such investment is not recoverable. Impairment is recognized when
impairment is other-than-temporary in nature.
The consolidated financial statements include the Group's share of revenues and expenses, profit or loss and
other comprehensive income of equity-accounted investee companies. After required adjustments to align
accounting policy with Group policy, from the date when material influence is achieved through the date when
material influence is discontinued.

E. Transactions canceled upon consolidation
Mutual balances within the Group and unrealized revenues and expenses arising from inter-company
transactions have been canceled in the course of preparing the consolidated financial statements.

Offset of assets and liabilities

The Bank applies the rules specified in the Supervisor of Banks' circular dated December 12, 2012.

In conformity with the directives, a banking corporation should offset assets and liabilities arising from the same
counter-party and present their net balance on the balance sheet, when all of the following conditions are fulfilled:

- The banking corporation has an enforceable legal right to offset assets against liabilities with regard to said
liabilities

- The banking corporation intends to repay the liabilities and realize the assets on net basis or concurrently;

- Both the banking corporation and the counter-party owe each other amounts which may be determined.

It was further stipulated that a banking corporation should offset deposits whose repayment to the depositor is
contingent on the extent of collection of borrowing against those deposits, when the banking corporation has no risk
of credit losses.

However, the banking corporation may not offset amounts on the balance sheet without prior approval of the
Supervisor of Banks.

Currently, it is Bank policy to present exposures with transactions on gross basis, except for deposits whose
repayment to the depositor is contingent on the extent of collection of borrowing, as described above. Accordingly,
designated deposits for which repayment to the depositor is contingent upon the collection of the loan (when the
Bank Group is not at risk of credit loss) were set off against the loans issued out of these deposits. The interest
margins from this activity are presented in the statement of profit and loss under “commissions”.
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Basis of recognition of revenues and expenses

A.

Interest revenues and expenses are included on an accrual basis, except as follows:

1) Interest accrued on problematic debt classified as non-performing debt is recognized as revenue on a cash
basis when there is no doubt about collection of the outstanding recorded balance of the non-performing
debt. In such cases, the amount collected on account of interest to be recognized as interest revenues, is
limited to the amount which would have accrued in the reported period for the outstanding recorded debt
balance at the contractual interest rate. Interest revenues on cash basis are classified as interest revenues
under the relevant item on the statement of profit and loss.

When collection of the outstanding recorded balance is doubtful, all payments collected serve to decrease
the loan principal, until such doubt has been eliminated. Moreover, interest on amounts in arrears with
respect to housing loans are recognized in the statement of profit and loss based on actual collection.

For more information about interest accrual for impaired debt under restructuring, see section 6)C. below.

2) Securities — see section 5 below.

3) Financial derivatives — see section 15 below.

Commissions revenues with respect to services rendered (such as: activities in securities and derivative
instruments, credit cards, account management, handling of credit, conversion differences and foreign trade
activities) are recognized in the statement of profit and loss when the Bank becomes eligible to receive them.
Certain commissions, such as commissions with respect to guarantees and certain commissions with respect to
project assistance, are recognized gradually over the transaction term.

Other revenues and expenses — are recognized on accrual basis.

Measuring interest revenues

As from January 1, 2014, the Bank applies the Supervisor of Banks' directives with regard to adoption of adoption
of generally accepted accounting principles for banks in the USA with regard to measuring interest revenues
(ASC 310-20 in the codification). These principles stipulate that commissions from loan origination would not be
recognized on the statement of profit and loss, but rather would be accounted for in calculating the effective
interest for the loan.

Changes to terms and conditions of debt

In case of refinancing or restructuring of non-problematic debt, the Bank reviews whether a material change was
made to terms and conditions of the loan. Accordingly, the Bank reviews whether the present value of cash flows
under the new terms and conditions of the loan differs by at least 10% from the present value of remaining cash
flows under the current terms and conditions (plus early repayment fee), or whether this involves a change in
loan currency. In such cases, all unamortized commissions and early repayment commissions collected from the
client with respect to changes to the terms and conditions of the loan are recognized in profit & loss. Otherwise,
these commissions are included as part of net investment in the new loan and are recognized as adjustments to
returns, as described above.

Early repayment commissions

Early repayment commissions charged with respect to early repayment made prior to January 1, 2014 and yet to
be amortized, are recognized over a three-year period or the remaining term of the loan, whichever is shorter.
Commissions charged with respect to early repayment made after January 1, 2014, are immediately recognized
under Interest Revenues.
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Securities

A.

Investments in securities were classified into three categories, as follows:

1) Debentures held to maturity — debentures that the Bank has the intention and ability to hold until maturity date.
These debentures are presented at their amortized cost, i.e. at par value plus accrued interest and linkage or
exchange rate differentials, plus or minus the discount or premium component generated upon acquisition and
not yet amortized and minus loss with respect to other-than-temporary impairment. Income from debentures held
to maturity is charged accordingly to the statement of profit and loss on the accrual basis.

2) Securities held for trading — securities acquired or held in order to be sold in the near term, or securities
which the Bank has elected to measure at fair value through profit & loss using the fair value option, except
for shares for which no fair value is available. These securities are included in the balance sheet at their fair
value on the reporting date. Unrealized gains or losses from the adjustment to fair value are charged to the
statement of profit and loss.

3) Securities available for sale — securities not classified as debentures held to maturity or as securities held
for trading. Securities available for sale are presented on the balance sheet at fair value. Shares having no
available fair value are presented at fair value as of the date they were received — which does not exceed
their cost — and net of provision for impairment which is not of a temporary nature, which is charged to the
statement of profit and loss, as are dividends received from investment in shares available for sale,
originating from earnings of a company which are distributed after the investment date.

Any unrealized gain or loss from adjustment to fair value is not included in the statement of profit and loss
and is reported net of the appropriate tax reserve, under a separate equity item under Cumulative Other
Comprehensive Income. For securities which include embedded derivatives — see section 15.C below.

. Bank investments in other funds not accounted for using the equity method, are stated at cost net of any other-

than-temporary impairment loss. Gain from these investments are recognized in the Statement of Profit and Loss
upon realization of the investment. Dividends received from Bank investments in these funds are charged to profit
& loss when the Bank has the right to receive them, up to the amount of retained earnings since this investment
was acquired.

The cost of realized securities is calculated on FIFO basis, except for securities acquired as part of a hedge, or
in conjunction with creating a strategic position or for any other specific purpose, which is separately identified.

D. With regard to calculation of fair value, see section 16 below.

E. Impairment:

Pursuant to directives and guidelines of the Supervisor of Banks, the Bank periodically reviews whether impairment of
the fair value of securities classified under the available-for-sale portfolio or the held-to-maturity portfolio, below their
cost (or the amortized cost for debentures held to maturity), is of an other-than-temporary nature.

To this end, the following indicators, inter alia, are reviewed:
Intent and capacity of the Bank to hold the securities for a sufficient period which would allow the security to
recover its original cost.
The time period during which the value of the security was lower than its cost.
The ratio of impairment to total cost.
Adverse change in conditions of the issuer or of the economy as a whole.
Review of conditions reflecting the financial standing of the issuer, including whether or not the impairment is
due to individual reasons related to the issuer, or to any macro-economic conditions.

Furthermore, in any of the following situations, the Bank recognizes other-than-temporary impairment:

The security was sold prior to publication of the report to the public for that period.

The Bank intends, as of the publication of the report to the public for that period, to sell the security within a
short time.

Debenture is significantly impaired between its rating upon acquisition by the Bank and its rating upon
publication of the report to the public for that period.

Debenture classified by the Bank as problematical after its acquisition.

Debenture which is in payment default after its acquisition.

Security where, in general, its fair value as of the end of the reported period and soon prior to publication of the
financial statements, is significantly lower than its cost (amortized cost), or where any payment failure has
occurred after its acquisition, unless proven with a high degree of confidence and based on objective evidence,
that the impairment is merely of a temporary nature.
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If the impairment of fair value is deemed to be other-than-temporary in nature, the cost of the security is written-
off to its fair value, so that any loss amounts referring to securities classified as available for sale, accrued in
equity under Other Comprehensive Income, would be classified upon impairment to the statement of profit and
loss. This value would serve as the new cost basis. Appreciation in subsequent reported periods (for securities
classified in the available-for-sale portfolio) are charged to a separate item under shareholders' equity under
Cumulative Other Comprehensive Income, and are not recognized in the Statement of Profit and Loss.

Impaired debt, credit risk and provision for credit losses

A. Pursuant to the Supervisor of Banks' directive on measurement and disclosure of impaired debt, credit risk and

provision for credit losses, the Bank applies as from January 1, 2011 the rules stipulated by codification of US
accounting standards ASC 310 and the opinion of the US banking supervision authorities and of the US SEC, as
adopted in the Public Reporting Directives, in position statements and directives of the Supervisor of Banks.
Moreover, as from the aforementioned date, the Bank applies the Supervisor of Banks' directive with regard to
treatment of problematic debt. Moreover, as from January 1, 2013, the Bank applies the Supervisor of Banks'
directive with regard to updated disclosure of credit quality of debt and of provision for credit losses.

Furthermore, the Supervisor of Banks revises from time to time the Public Reporting Regulations and the Q&A
File with regard to implementation of the regulations with regard to impaired debt and provision for credit losses,
in order to incorporate directives on this matter applicable to banks in the USA, including directives of US
supervisory entities. As from 2016, the regulations were revised, inter alia, with regard to treatment of restructuring
of problematic debt, regulations with regard to how debt is reviewed based on primary repayment source, as well
as certain regulations with regard to how debt is reviewed.

Scope of the directives

The regulation is applied for all debt balances, such as: deposits with banks, debentures, securities borrowed or
purchased in resale agreements, loans to the public and loans to the government. Loans to the public and other
debt balances for which no specific rules on measurement of provision for credit losses were specified in the
Public Reporting Regulations (such as: loans to the government, deposits with banks and other assets) are
reported in the Bank's accounts at their recorded debt balance.

The recorded debt balance is defined as the debt balance after accounting write-offs but before deduction of the
provision for credit losses for that debt. The recorded debt balance does not include any accrued interest not
recognized, or previously recognized and then reversed.

As for other debt balances, for which there are specific rules in place with regard to measurement and recognition
of a provision for impairment (such as debentures), the Bank continues to apply the measurement rules as
specified in section 5 above.

Identification and classification of problematic debt

The Bank classifies all problematic debt and problematic off-balance sheet credit items under: special
supervision, inferior or impaired. Debt under special supervision is debt with potential weaknesses, which require
special attention by Bank management. Should these weaknesses not be addressed, the likelihood of debt
repayment may deteriorate. Inferior debt is debt insufficiently secured by collateral or by debtor repayment
capacity, and for which the Bank may incur a loss if faults are not corrected.

In conformity with Bank policy, debt in excess of NIS 700 thousand is classified as impaired when, based on
current information and events, it is expected that the Bank will be unable to collect all amounts due pursuant to
contractual terms of the debt contract. In any case, debt in excess of NIS 700 thousand is classified as impaired
when its principal or interest is in arrears over 90 days, unless the debt is well secured and is in collection
proceedings. Further, any debt whose terms and conditions have been changed in conjunction with restructuring
of problematic debt would be classified as impaired debt, unless prior to and following such restructuring, a
provision for credit losses by extent of arrears was made with respect to the debt pursuant to the appendix to
Proper Conduct of Banking Business Directive 314 on problematic debts as housing loans.

Debt under NIS 700 thousand in arrears 90 days is assessed on a Group basis and in such case, is classified
as inferior debt.

Decisions with regard to debt classification are made based, inter alia, on assessment of the borrower's financial
standing and repayment capacity, assessment of the primary debt repayment source, any collateral and its
status, the financial standing of guarantors, if any and their commitment to support the debt and the borrower's
capacity to obtain financing from third parties.
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As from July 1, 2017, the Bank applies the update to Q&A file issued by the Supervisor of Banks, concerning
"Implementation of Public Reporting Regulations with regard to impaired debts, credit risk and provision for credit
losses".

The update primarily concerns debt classification, definition of impaired debt and measurement of specific
provision for credit losses. Appropriate debt classification, through default or when default is highly probable, is
based in general on the debtor's repayment capacity, i.e. expected robustness of the primary repayment source,
despite support from secondary and tertiary repayment sources (such as: collateral, guarantor support, re-
financing by a third party).

The file included, inter alia, a question with regard to definition of primary repayment source.

Primary repayment source is defined as a sustainable cash source over time, which must be controlled by the
debtor and must be separated, explicitly or by nature, for debt service. The Q&A file clarified that for a repayment
source to be considered a primary repayment source, the Bank must show that the debtor is highly likely to
generate, within a reasonable time, suitable cash flows from continued business operations, to be used to repay
all of the payments in full and when due, as stated in the agreement.

The Bank has revised its policy on identification and classification of problematic debt, so that debt has been
assigned repayment sources from business cash flows, except for certain cases where, in the normal course of
business, debt should be repaid out of the cash flows generated by the financed property.

Debt restructuring and treatment of problematic debt in restructuring — In general, when it is possible to
reach agreement on debt repayment with no impact to collateral available to the Bank and without any legal
action, the Bank gives preference to reaching agreement on debt repayment.

In order to improve collection and to avoid, in as much as possible, debt collection default — the Bank makes
attempts to reach agreements on debt repayment prior to taking legal action or even during and after taking such
action, which may include: Delay of repayment, restructuring of debt repayment, reduced interest rates, changes
to repayment schedule, changes to terms and conditions of the debt in order to align it with the borrower's
financing structure, debt consolidation for the borrower, transfer of debt to other borrowers in a borrower group
under joint control, review of financial covenants imposed on the borrower etc.

Debt which has been formally restructured as problematic debt is defined as debt for which, for economic or legal
reasons related to financial difficulties of the debtor, the Bank has made a concession by way of modification to
terms and conditions of the debt, designed to make it easier for the debtor to make cash payments in the near
term (reduction or postponement of cash payments due from the debtor), or by way of receiving other assets as
debt repayment (in whole or in part).

In order to determine whether a debt arrangement executed by the Bank constitutes problematic debt
restructuring, the Bank conducts a qualitative review of all terms of the arrangement and the circumstances under
which it was made in order to determine whether: (1) the creditor is in financial duress; and (2) the Bank made a
concession to the debtor in conjunction with the arrangement.

In order to determine whether the creditor is in financial duress, the Bank evaluates for indications of the creditor
being in financial duress at the time of the arrangement, or for reasonable likelihood that the borrower would be
in financial duress if not for the restructuring. Inter alia, the Bank reviews the existence of one or more of the
following circumstances:

- The debtor is currently in payment default for any of their debts. Moreover, the Bank estimates whether it is
expected that the debtor would be in payment default for any of their debts in the foreseeable future, if the
change is not made. This means that the Bank may conclude that the debtor is in financial difficulties, even if
the debtor is not currently in payment default.

- The debtor has declared bankruptcy or is in Receivership or any in any other bankruptcy or Receivership
proceedings.

- There is significant doubt about the debtor continuing as a going concern.

- The debtor has securities delisted, in the process of being delisted or being threatened with delisting from the
stock exchange.

- According to estimates and projections which only include the debtor's current capabilities, the Bank expects
specific cash flows for the debtor entity would be insufficient to service any of its debt (principal and interest) in
conformity with contractual terms and conditions of the existing agreement in the foreseeable future.

- Without the existing change, the debtor would be unable to obtain cash from sources other than the current
lenders, at effective interest rates equal to the prevailing market interest rates for similar debt of a non-
problematic debtor.
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The Bank concludes that a concession was made to the creditor in conjunction with the restructuring, even if
the contractual interest rate was increased in the restructuring — if one or more of the following exists: Due to
the restructuring, the Bank does not expect to collect all debt amounts (including accrued interest pursuant to
contractual terms); the current fair value of collateral, for debt contingent on collateral, does not cover the
contractual debt balance and indicates inability to collect all debt amounts; the creditor is unable to raise funds
at market rates for debt with similar terms and conditions to those of the restructured debt. If a the Bank does
not perform such additional underwriting upon renewal of inferior debt, or if there is no change in debt pricing or
if pricing has not been adjusted to align with the risk prior to renewal, or the debtor does not provide additional
means to offset the increase in risk due to the borrower's financial difficulties, it is presumed that such renewal
is restructuring of problematic debt.

The Bank does not classify debt as restructured problematic debt, if in conjunction with the arrangement, it
granted to the creditor a delay in payments which is not material considering the payment frequency, the
contractual term to maturity and the expected effective maturity of the original debt. For this matter, if multiple
restructurings took place involving changes to debt terms, the Bank accounts for the accumulated effect of
previous restructurings in order to determine whether the delay in payments is not material.

Handling of debt under restructuring and subsequent restructuring — restructured debt, including debt
assessed on group basis prior to restructuring, shall be classified as impaired debt and shall be individually
assessed for making a provision for credit losses. In general, reorganized problematic debt would continue to be
measured and classified as impaired debt until fully repaid. However, under certain circumstances, when debt is
restructured as problematic debt restructuring and later on, the Bank and the debtor have signed an additional
restructuring agreement, the Bank is no longer required to treat the debt as restructured problematic debt if the
following conditions are fulfilled:

The debtor is no longer facing financial difficulties upon the date of the subsequent restructuring.
According to terms of the subsequent restructuring, the banking corporation did not give the debtor any waiver.

Such debt which has been subsequently restructured and from which the Impaired classification has been
removed, is to be evaluated on group basis in order to quantify the provision for credit losses and the recorded
debt balance will not change during subsequent restructuring (unless cash has been received or paid).

If, in subsequent periods, such debt has been individually reviewed and it was found that impairment should be
recognized with respect to it, or if it undergoes problematic debt restructuring, the Bank would reclassify it as
Impaired Debt and would treat it as reorganization of problematic debt.

Reinstatement of impaired debt to non-impaired status — impaired debt is reclassified as non-impaired debt
upon one of these conditions occurring:

It includes no principal or interest components which are past due, and the Bank anticipates payment of the
outstanding principal and interest in full according to contractual terms (includes amounts subject to accounting
write-off or provision).

When the debt has become well-secured and is in collection proceedings.
Rules governing reinstatement from the Impaired classification, as noted above, shall not apply to debt classified
as impaired due to restructuring of problematic debt.

Reinstatement of impaired debt to impaired and accruing status — debt which has been formally
restructured, such that after restructuring all of the following conditions are fulfilled::

There is reasonable certainty that the debt would be repaid and will perform according to its new terms and
conditions, based on a current, well-documented credit evaluation of the debtor's financial situation and
repayment schedule according to its new terms and conditions.

The debtor has made cash and cash equivalent payments over a reasonable period of at least six months for
loans repaid (principal and interest) by monthly installments, or has repaid 20% of the restructured debt for loans
with longer maturities.

The loan, after restructuring, is not in arrears of 90 days or more.
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D. Provision for credit losses

The Bank has put in place procedures for classification of credit and for measurement of provision for credit
losses, in order to maintain an appropriate provision to cover expected credit losses with regard to the Bank's
loan portfolio. Further, the Bank has put in place procedures to be followed, an appropriate provision to cover
expected credit losses with regard to off-balance sheet credit instruments (such as: commitments to provide
credit, unutilized credit facilities and guarantees).

The required provision to cover expected credit losses from the credit portfolio is estimated under one of the
following tracks: "individual provision" or "group provision". Further, the Bank reviews the overall appropriateness
of the provision for credit losses.

Such review of debts in order to determine the provision and debt handling is consistently applied to all debts in
excess of NIS 700 thousand and in conformity with the Bank's credit management policy — and no transition is
made, during the debt term, between the individual review track and the group-based review track — unless in
case of restructuring of problematic debt, as noted above.

Individual provision for credit losses — According to Bank policies, this is applied for any debts determined to
be impaired, whose contractual balance (including accounting write-offs, unrecognized interest, provisions for
credit losses and collateral) is NIS 700 thousand or higher.

Individual provision is also applied to any debt whose terms and conditions have been changed in conjunction
with restructuring of problematic debt, unless this debt is subject to provision by extent of arrears. The individual
provision for credit losses is estimated based on expected future cash flows, discounted using the effective
interest rate of the original debt. When debt is contingent on collateral, or when the Bank has determined that
seizure of an asset is expected, the individual provision for credit loss is evaluated based on the fair value of the
collateral pledged to secure such debt, after application of consistent, conservative factors to reflect, inter alia,
the volatility in fair value of such collateral, the time it would take until actual realization and the expected cost
for selling the collateral. For this matter, the Bank defines debt as debt contingent upon collateral, when it is
expected to be entirely repaid by pledged collateral, or when the Bank expects repayment from an asset even
with no specific pledge on such asset, provided that the borrower has no other reliable sources available for
repayment.

The Bank regularly reviews the forecasted expected credit losses, based on actual cash flows, and adjusts the
individual provision to the current forecast. Actual credit losses may differ from the Bank's original estimates upon
classification of the debt as impaired.

Group provision for credit losses — This is applied for large, homogeneous groups of small debts (whose
balance is below NIS 700 thousand, according to Bank policy) (such as: credit card debts, housing loans and
consumer debts repaid by installments) as well as for large, non-impaired debts. The provision for credit losses
with respect to debts based on group estimate, other than housing loans for which the provision has been
calculated based on a formula specified by the Supervisor of Banks based on extent of arrears, is calculated
based on rules specified in FAS 5 (ASC 450) as topic 450 of the codification "Accounting treatment of
contingencies" and in conformity with directives and guidance from the Supervisor of Banks. The group-based
provision for credit losses is based, inter alia, on historical loss rates in various economic sectors, divided into
problematic and non-problematic debt.

On February 20, 2017, the Supervisor of Banks issued a circular concerning provision for credit losses, whereby
the "range of years" used as a component in determining the group-based provision for credit losses, should
continue to include 2011 on the financial statements for 2016 and 2017. The guidelines have been revised and
in 2018, the range increased to 8 years.

In addition to the average range of historic loss rates for various economic sectors, as per the above, for
determining the appropriate rate of provision, the Bank also accounts for relevant environmental factors, including
trends in credit volume for each sector as well as sector condition, macro-economic data, general quality
assessment of credit to each economic sector, changes in volume and in trend of balances in arrears and
impaired balances and the effect of changes in credit concentration.

In conformity with directives of the Supervisor of Banks, the Bank has formulated a methodology for measuring
the group provision, which takes into account both past loss rates and adjustments with respect to relevant
environmental factors.
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Furthermore, in conformity with the Supervisor of Banks' directive, the rate of adjustment with respect to relevant
environmental factors for group provision for credit losses with respect to individuals is 0.75% of the non-impaired
consumer credit balance (excluding credit due to receivables for bank credit cards without interest charge). This
is based on a specific directive by the Supervisor of Banks, dated January 19, 2015.

For more information about the Supervisor of Banks' circular with regard to limit on sector indebtedness, which
rescinds the additional provision and general provision mechanism, as from January 1, 2018, see section C. 3
above.

Housing loans — A minimum provision with respect to housing loans is calculated based on the formula
stipulated by the Supervisor of Banks, by extent of arrears, such that the provision rate is higher the longer the
arrears. This directive applies to all housing loans, other than loans not repaid by periodic installments and loans
used to finance activity of a business nature.

The Bank also applies Proper Conduct of Banking Business Directive 329, as per the Supervisor of Banks' letter
dated March 21, 2013 "Update to guidelines with regard to residential real estate".

In conformity with these directives, the Bank has set policies designed to ensure that the Bank would be in
compliance with stipulations of this directive and that, as from June 30, 2013, the balance of group provision for
credit losses with respect to housing loans shall be at least 0.35% of the outstanding balance of such loans as
of the report date.

Off-balance sheet credit — The required provision with regard to off-balance sheet credit instruments is
assessed as per rules stated in FAS 5. The provision estimated on group basis for off-balance sheet credit
instruments is based on provision rates specified for total credit exposure (as stated above), accounting for
expected credit realization rate for the off-balance sheet credit risk. The credit realization rate is calculated by
the Bank based on credit conversion factors, as set forth in Proper Conduct of Banking Business Directive 203
"Measurement and capital adequacy — Credit risk — Standard approach" with certain adjustments.

Further, the Bank reviews the overall appropriateness of the provision for credit losses. Such assessment of
appropriateness is based on management discretion, taking into account the inherent risk in the credit portfolio
and in assessment methods applied by the Bank to determine the provision.

For more information about adoption of updates to US GAAP with regard to provision for credit losses (ASU 2016-
13), as from January 1, 2022, see section E. below.

E. Revenue recognition

Upon classification of debt as impaired, the Bank classifies the debt as non-accruing debt and discontinues
accrual of interest revenues with respect to it, except as stated above for certain restructured debt. Further, upon
classification of debt as impaired, the Bank reverses all accrued and uncollected interest revenues recognized
as income in profit and loss. The debt continues to be classified as non-accruing debt for as long as it is classified
as impaired debt. For further information about revenue recognition on cash basis with respect to debt classified
as impaired, see section 4 above.

For debt reviewed and provided for on group basis, the Bank discontinues accrual of interest revenues when
conditions for accounting write-off of the debt are fulfilled, usually after 150 days in arrears, unless the debt is
well-secured and in collection proceedings. Such debt is subject to assessment of provision for credit losses,
which ensures that Bank profit is not skewed upwards.

F. Accounting write-off

The Bank makes accounting write-offs of any debt, or part of it, individually assessed as not collectible and of
low value, so that maintaining it as an asset is not justified, or any debt which is subject to long-term collection
effort by the Bank (typically defined as terms in excess of two years). For debt whose collection is contingent on
collateral, the Bank immediately writes off the debt against the balance of the provision for credit losses
amounting to the recorded debt balance in excess of the fair value of collateral. For debt assessed on group
basis, write-off rules have been put in place based on extent of arrears (mostly — over 150 consecutive days in
arrears) and on other problem parameters. Note that accounting write-offs do not involve any legal concession,
and merely reduce the debt balance reported for accounting purposes, while creating a new cost basis for the
debt in Bank accounts.

Debt which has been reviewed on group basis and classified as impaired due to restructuring of problematic
debt, are subject to accounting write-off no later than the date when the debt is in arrears 60 days or longer, with
regard to terms and conditions of such restructuring.
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Transfer and service of financial assets and discharge of liabilities

The Bank applies the measurement and disclosure rules set forth in sub-topic 860-10 of the codification, with regard
to transfer and service of financial assets, for handling the transfer of financial assets and discharging of liabilities.

Under these rules, the accounting treatment of transfer of a financial asset would only be deemed a sale if all of these
conditions are fulfilled: (1) the transferred financial asset was separated from the transferring entity, even in case of
bankruptcy or other form of Receivership; (2) any recipient may pledge or replace the assets (or the beneficiary
interests) received, and there is no condition which limits the recipient from exercising their right to pledge or
exchange the financial assets, and grants the transferor a non-trivial benefit; (3) the transferor, or subsidiaries
consolidated with its financial statements , or their agents do not retain effective control over the financial assets or
beneficiary interests related to these transferred assets.

In transactions involving transfer of financial assets, if it is determined that the transferor maintains effective control
over transferred assets, the asset transfer shall be accounted for as secured debt. When all of the following conditions
are satisfied, effective control over the asset is maintained:

- The assets repurchased or redeemed are identical or essentially identical to the transferred assets;
- The agreement is to repurchase or redeem them prior to maturity, at a fixed or fixable price.
- The agreement is made simultaneously with the transfer.

Moreover, for the transfer of part of a financial asset to be considered a sale, the transferred part must fulfill the
definition of participatory rights. Participatory rights must fulfill the following criteria: the interest should represent an
interest proportional to the complete financial asset; all cash flows received from the assets are divided among
participatory interest pro-rata to their ownership stake; interests are not subordinated to other interests; there is no
recourse to the transferor or to other holders of participatory interests (other than in case of breach of representation
or obligation, current contractual obligations to service the financial asset as a whole and management of the transfer
contract, and contractual obligations to share in offset of any benefits received by any holder of participatory
interests); and the transferor and the holder of participatory interests have no right to pledge or replace the financial
asset in whole, unless all holders of participatory interests agree to pledge or replace the financial asset in whole.

If the transaction fulfills the conditions for treating it as a sale, the transferred financial assets are removed from the
Bank's balance sheet. If the sale conditions are not fulfilled, the transfer is considered as secured debt. Sale of part
of a financial asset, other than a participatory right, is treated as secured debt — that is, the transferred assets remain
on the Bank's balance sheet and proceeds from the sale are recognized as a Bank liability.

The Bank applies specific provisions specified in Public Reporting Directives for handling transactions to borrow or
loan securities, in which lending is made against the borrower's general credit and collateral quality, where the
borrower does not provide as collateral for the loaner any liquid instruments specifically related to the securities
loaning transaction, which the loaner may sell or pledge.

Such loaning and borrowing are treated as credit or deposit, measured at fair value of the related security. Revenues
on accrual basis with respect to such securities are recognized as interest income from credit and changes to fair
value (in excess of changes to accrual basis) are recognized under Non-interest Financing Revenues in case of
securities in the held-for-trade portfolio or under Other Comprehensive Income in case of securities available for sale.
The Bank only removes a liability if it has been settled, i.e. if one of the following conditions has been fulfilled: (a) the
Bank has paid the lender and is no longer liable for said liability; or (b) the Bank was legally released from the liability
by a judicial process or by consent of the lender, being the major party liable for said liability.

For details of syndication transactions, see Note 30 to the financial statements.

Buildings, equipment and software

This item includes investments by the Bank in fixed assets (including payments on account), assets leased by the
Bank under a financing lease, and cost of software for its own use, recognized as an asset.
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Buildings and equipment

Recognition and Measurement

Fixed asset items are measured at cost net of accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment loss, if any.
Cost includes any cost directly attributable to acquisition of the asset. Cost of self-constructed assets includes the
cost of materials and direct labor, as well as any additional cost directly attributable to bringing the asset to the
required location and state so as to operate as intended by management.

When significant portions of fixed asset items have a different useful life, they are treated as separate fixed asset
items.

The cost of purchased software, which is an integral part of operation of related equipment, is recognized as part of
the cost of such equipment. Furthermore, in conformity with Public Reporting Regulations, the Bank classifies under
"Buildings and equipment" the cost of software assets acquired, or costs capitalized to an asset with respect to self-
developed software for in-house use. For more information about the accounting treatment of the cost of software
for in-house use, see below.

Gain or loss from disposition of fixed asset items is determined by comparing the proceeds from asset disposition to
its carrying amount and are recognized, net, under "Other revenues" in the statement of profit and loss.

Subsequent costs
Current maintenance costs of fixed asset items are charged to profit and loss when incurred.

Depreciation

Depreciation is methodical allocation of the depreciable amount of an asset over its useful life. Depreciable amount
is the asset cost, or another amount which is a substitute for such cost, less the residual value of the asset.
Depreciation is charged to the statement of profit and loss using the straight line method over the estimated useful
life of each part of the fixed asset items — since this method best reflects the anticipated consumption pattern of future
economic benefits inherent in the asset. Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the lease term or the useful
life, whichever is shorter. Owned land is not depreciated.

An asset is depreciated when available for use, i.e. when it has reached the location and state required for it to be
put into operation as intended by management.

For more information about estimated useful life of buildings and equipment, as of December 31, 2018, see Note 16
to the financial statements.

For more information about application of US GAAP with regard to topics 360 and 360-10 of the codification, which
revised the review of estimated depreciation method and impairment, as from January 1, 2018, see section C. 1
above.

Impairment

The Bank reviews non-current assets (or asset groups) for impairment when events or changes in circumstances
occur, indicating that the depreciated cost may not be recoverable.

Impairment loss is only recognized if the carrying amounts of a non-current asset (asset group) is not recoverable
and exceeds its fair value. The carrying amount is not recoverable if it exceeds total un-capitalized cash flows
expected from use of the non-current asset (asset group) and from realization thereof.

Impairment loss is equal to the difference between the carrying amount of the non-current asset (asset group) and
the fair value thereof, and is charged to the statement of profit and loss.

When impairment loss is recognized, the adjusted carrying amount of the non-current asset (asset group) is the new
cost basis. Such loss is not reversed in subsequent periods, even in case of appreciation.
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Software

Recognition

The Bank applies US GAAP, including the presentation, measurement and disclosure rules specified in provisions

of ASC 350 "Intangible assets — Goodwill* and others. The Bank also applies the Bank of Israel directive concerning

capitalization of in-house software development costs, as follows:

- Setting of a materiality threshold for each software development project; The materiality threshold specified by
the Bank is NIS 450 thousand.

- Reuvision of the useful life of capitalized software costs, so as not to exceed 5 years.

- With respect to software development projects for which the total software cost which may be capitalized is
higher than the specified materiality threshold, capitalization factors would be specified for work hours — factors
which would take into account the potential for deviation in recording work hours and for economic inefficiency.

In conformity with Public Reporting Regulations, the Bank classifies under "Buildings and equipment" the cost of
software assets acquired, or costs capitalized to an asset with respect to self-developed software for in-house use.
Software acquired by the Group is measured at cost, net of accumulated amortization and impairment loss. For more
information about impairment, see section D. 11 below.

Cost associated with software development or adaptation for in-house use are capitalized only if the development
cost may be reliably measured, the software is technically and commercially feasible, future economic benefits are
expected and the Bank has the intention and sufficient resources to complete development and to use the software.
Cost recognized as an intangible asset with respect to development activities includes direct cost of materials,
services and direct payroll cost with respect to employees. Other costs associated with development activities and
research costs are charged to the statement of profit and loss when incurred.

In subsequent periods, capitalized development cost is measured a t cost net of accumulated amortization and
impairment loss.

Subsequent costs

Cost of upgrades and improvements to software for own use are only capitalized if the expenses incurred are
expected to result in additional functionality. Other subsequent costs are expensed when incurred.

Amortization
Depreciation is methodical allocation of the depreciable amount of an asset over its useful life. Depreciable amount
is the asset cost, or another amount which is a substitute for such cost, less the residual value of the asset.

Intangible assets generated from a software project are depreciated to the statement of profit and loss using the
straight line method over the useful life of the software but not to exceed 5 years, as noted above, as from the date
on which the software is ready for its designated use. In this regard, the software is ready for its designated use when
all material testing has been completed.

Impairment of cost of in-house development of computer software
Impairment of such intangible assets is recognized and measured upon occurrence of any event or change in
circumstances that indicate that the carrying amount of the asset may not be recovered.

Events or changes in circumstances which may indicate impairment are:

- Itis not expected that the software would provide significant potential service;

- Asignificant change has occurred in the manner or scope of use or expected use of the software;

- A material modification to the software has been made or will be made;

- The cost of development or adaptation of software for in-house use significantly exceeds the anticipated amount.

When it is no longer expected that software development would be completed, the Bank adjusts the carrying amount
of the software to be the lower of its carrying amount and fair value net of selling costs.

Intangible assets and goodwill

The Bank applies US GAAP with regard to intangible assets including the presentation, measurement and disclosure
rules specified in provisions of ASC 350 "Intangible assets — Goodwill and other".

Intangible assets of unspecified useful life are reviewed if there are indicators of impairment at the Asset Group level.
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An asset group is the smallest group of assets and liabilities which generates a separate cash flow. First is a review
of whether the carrying amount of the asset group is higher than the non-discounted cash flow amount expected
there from. If so, impairment is to be recognized equal to the difference between the carrying amount and the fair
value of the asset group. Impairment is to be proportionately attributed to assets in the asset group, provided that
the value of any individual asset does not drop below its fair value.

Assets of unspecified useful life are reviewed for impairment at least once per year. They are reviewed as to whether
the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its fair value. If so, impairment is to be recognized, equal to the difference
between the carrying amount and the fair value.

Goodwill is not systematically depreciated.

Development cost of acquired software or cost capitalized to an asset with respect to software developed in-house
for in-house use, are classified under "Buildings and equipment".

For more information about implementation of US GAAP for impairment of goodwill (ASU 2017-04) as from January
1, 2020, see section E. below.

Leases

Leases, including land leases from the Israel Land Administration ("ILA") or from third parties, where the Bank
essentially bears all risk and reward associated with the property, are classified as financing leases. Upon initial
recognition, leased assets are measured at their fair value or the present value of minimum future leasing fee,
whichever is lower. Future payments for exercise of an option to extend the lease term with ILA are not recognized
as part of the referring asset and liability, since they constitute contingent leasing fees, derived from the fair value of
the land upon future renewal dates of the lease. Other leases are classified as operating leases, and the leased
assets not recognized in the Bank's balance sheet.

Prepaid leasing fees paid to ILA with respect to land leases classified as operating leases are presented on the
balance sheet as prepaid expenses, and are recognized in the statement of profit and loss over the lease term. The
lease term and amortization amounts account for any option to extend the lease term, if upon contracting the lease
it was reasonably certain that the option would be exercised.

In a lease for land and buildings, the land and building components are individually reviewed for the purpose of
classifying such leases; the key consideration in classification of the land component is the fact that land typically
has an unspecified useful life.

Payments for an operating lease are charged to the statement of profit and loss using the straight line method over
the lease term. Lease incentives received are recognized as an integral part of all lease expenses using the straight
line method over the lease term.

Minimum leasing fees payable for a financing lease are divided into financing expenses and reduction of the liability
balance. Financing expenses are allocated for all periods in the lease term, so as to obtain a fixed periodic interest
rate for the outstanding liability balance. Minimum leasing fees with respect to contingent leasing fees are updated
when the contingency is resolved.

In case of sale and releasing, the type of lease (financing or operating) should be identified. For operating lease —
the capital gain from the sale is deferred and attributed over time, if the sale price exceeds the fair value of the asset.

For more information about reporting by banking corporations and credit card issuers in Israel, in conformity with
generally accepted accounting principles in the USA with regard to leases as from January 1, 2020, see section E.
below.

Contingent liabilities

The financial statements include appropriate provisions to cover possible damage, where, in the estimation of the
Bank's management, based on the opinion of its legal counsel, a provision is required.
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In accordance with the directives of the Supervisor of Banks, claims have been classified according to the range of

probability of realization of the risk exposure, as follows:

A. Probable risk: there is a probability of more than 70% that a loss will be sustained from the claim. For claims
whose probability of realization has been classified as Probable, an appropriate provision was made in the
financial statements.

B. Reasonably Possible risk: there is a probability of between 20% and 70% that a loss will be sustained from the
claim. For claims whose probability of realization has been classified as Reasonably Possible, an appropriate
provision is made in specific instances on the financial statements, at the discretion of Bank management and
based on the opinion of legal counsel.

C. Remote risk: there is a probability of less than 20% that a loss will be sustained from the claim. For claims whose
probability of realization has been classified as Remote, no provision was made in the financial statements.

See Note 26.C.11 for disclosure of material claims (whose amount, excluding interest and expenses, is over 1% of
equity attributable to equity holders of the Bank).

Likewise, disclosure is given to motions for recognition as class actions, when the amount claimed in them is material,
and to appeals to the High Court of Justice when, in the estimation of the Bank's management, based on the opinion
of its legal counsel, it is not possible at this stage to estimate their possible outcome, and therefore, no provision was
recorded for them.

In accordance with the directives of the Supervisor of Banks, the Bank is permitted to determine for class actions
that it is not possible to estimate the prospects for realization of the exposure to risk in the four financial statements
published since the claim was filed, or in case of delay of proceedings by decision of the Court. Beyond this, only in
rare cases is the Bank permitted to determine that the prospects for realizing the exposure cannot be determined.
Motions for class action status and a motion for approval of a derivative claim are pending against the Bank and
subsidiaries, where the amount claimed is material, as well as appeals to the High Court of Justice, as set forth in
Note 26 below, which, in the opinion of the Bank's management, based on the opinion of the managements of its
subsidiaries, and on the opinion of their legal counsel, the prospects for which cannot be estimated on the date of
the financial statements, so that no provision was made for these.

For more information about revised estimated exposure with respect to the US DOJ investigation, see section A. 4
above and Note 26.C.12.

Employees’ rights

The Bank applies the Supervisor's directives with regard to adoption of US GAAP concerning employees’ rights.
These principles were codified in the following codification sections (hereinafter: “the directives”).

- ASC 710 — Compensation — General.

- ASC 712 - Compensation — Non retirement post employment benefits.

- ASC 715 — Compensation — Retirement benefits.

- ASC 718 — Compensation — Stock Compensation.

- ASC 420 - Exit or Disposal Cost Obligations.

According to the directives, banking corporations should classify employees’ benefits according to groups listed in
US GAAP, including setting of clear policies and procedures as to how different types of benefits may be
distinguished. Employees’ benefits fall into the following categories:

- Benefits prior to termination.

- Benefits post termination and prior to retirement.

- Post-retirement benefits.
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Furthermore, the principle set by the Supervisor of Banks whereby a liability should be included with respect to a
material obligation — should be maintained. It is expected that in cases where the Bank expects payment of benefits
beyond contractual terms, they would adjust these to situations where a material obligation exists.

According to the Supervisor of Banks' directives, the discount rate for employees’ benefits is calculated based on
yields of government debentures in Israel plus the average spread for corporate debentures rated AA (international
rating scale) or higher as of the reporting date. For practical reasons, the spread would be determined by the
difference between yields to maturity, by terms to maturity, for corporate debentures rated AA or higher in the USA
—and yields to maturity, for the same terms to maturity, for US government debentures, all as of the reporting date.

Below are details for benefit groups at the Bank:

Post-retirement benefits — pension, severance pay and other benefits — defined-benefit programs

The Bank recognizes amounts with regard to pension programs and other post-retirement programs based on
calculations which include actuarial and other assumptions, including: discount rates, mortality rates, increase in
remuneration and turnover.

The Bank regularly reviews the need to update actuarial assumptions used in the model.

Changes to assumptions are generally recognized, subject to provisions listed below, first in Cumulative Other
Comprehensive Income and are amortized to Profit and Loss in subsequent periods, in conformity with the remaining
average terms of service for employees expected to receive benefits.

The liability is accrued over the relevant period, determined in conformity with rules listed in Section 715 of the
codification.

The Bank applies the Supervisor of Banks' regulations with regard to internal controls over financial reporting with
regard to employees’ rights, including with regard to review of an "essential commitment" to award benefits to Bank
employees with respect to increased severance pay and/or early retirement.
For more information about updates to standards with regard to changes to disclosure requirements for defined
benefit plans (ASU 2018-14) as from January 1, 2021, see section E. below.

Other long-term benefits to active employees:

- The liability is accrued over the period of eligibility for this benefit.

- In calculating the liability, the Bank accounts for discount rates and for actuarial assumptions.

- All components of the benefit cost for the period, including actuarial gains and losses, are recorded to Profit and
Loss.

Absence eligible for compensation — paid leave and sick leave:

The liability with respect to paid leave is measured on a current basis, without accounting for any discount rates or
actuarial assumptions.

The Bank does not accrue a liability with respect to sick leave utilized during current service.
For more information about employee benefits, see Note 22 to the financial statements.

As for accounting treatment of actuarial gains / losses recognized under Other Comprehensive Income due to
changes to discount rates:

Actuarial loss as of January 1, 2013, arising from the difference between the discount rate used for calculation of
provisions to cover employee rights, linked to the Consumer Price Index, as stipulated by the interim directive in the
Public Reporting Directives (4%) — and the discount rates as of that date for CPIl-linked employee liabilities,
determined based on the new rules as noted above (hereinafter: "the loss") is included under Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Income.

Any actuarial gains recognized as from January 1, 2013, due to current changes in discount rates during the reported
period, would be included under Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income and would decrease the loss balance
recorded as noted above — down to zero.

Actuarial losses due to current changes in discount rates during the reported year and actuarial gains due to current
changes in discount rates during the reported year after the loss balance has been decreased to zero as noted
above, would be amortized using the straight line method over the remaining average terms of service for employees
expected to receive benefits over the plan term.

Other actuarial gains and losses(not due to changes in discount rates) as of January 1, 2013 and in subsequent
periods are to be included in cumulative other comprehensive income and would be amortized using the straight line
method over the average remaining service period of employees expected to receive plan benefits.
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In conformity with transitional provisions specified in Proper Conduct of Banking Business Directive 299, a cumulative
other comprehensive loss balance and amounts directly charged to retained earnings as of January 1, 2013 with
respect to remeasurement of net liabilities or net assets with respect to defined benefit to employees, would not be
immediately taken into account for calculation of the capital requirements, but would rather be subject to transitional
provisions, so that the impact is applied at equal rates of 20%. At 40% as from January 1, 2015 and an additional
20% per year, until full application as from January 1, 2018

Principles of accounting treatment of the streamlining plan:

On December 27, 2016, the Bank’s Board of Directors approved the streamlining program recommended by Bank
management, whereby early retirement would be possible for 300 employees in 2017-2021, at improved conditions.

The cost of update to the actuarial liability with respect to the streamlining program, recorded in the financial
statements as of December 31, 2016, amounts to NIS 286 million; the cost net of tax, amounting to NIS 188 million,
was charged to equity (under Other Comprehensive Income).

In subsequent periods, the Bank amortizes the plan costs to the statement of profit and loss, under "Actuarial gain
and loss" using the straight line method over the average remaining service period for the employees, which is at 15
years.

If, in certain periods, total severance pay payments should exceed the cost of service and cost of interest recognized
for that year and a settlement would take place (in conformity with US GAAP concerning employee rights), then the
ratio of amortization of "actuarial gain and loss" would be adjusted for the settlement pace of the actuarial liability in
that period, respectively.

In conformity with the Supervisor of Banks' letter dated January 12, 2016, with regard to operating streamlining of
the Israeli banking system, the Supervisor of Banks allowed capital relief with respect to this plan. The Bank applies
this capital relief so that supervisory capital used to calculate capital adequacy is adjusted (increased) and the capital
effect of the streamlining (a decrease by 0.14%) is applied on a straight line basis as from 2017, over a five-year
period.

See Notes 22 and 25 to the financial statements for further information.
Streamlining program at Bank Yahav

In 2017, the Board of Directors of Bank Yahav approved streamlining measures, including a voluntary retirement
program. Bank Yahav was granted approval for this program by the Supervisor of Banks, as required in the
streamlining directive.

Voluntary retirement is offered to employees in conformity with criteria set forth in the program. The costs of actuarial
liability with respect to the retirement program at Bank Yahav amounted to NIS 35 million before tax (NIS 23 million
after tax).

As directed by the Bank of Israel, supervisory capital used to calculate capital adequacy is adjusted (increased) and
the capital effect of the streamlining is applied on a straight line basis over a five-year period.

Share-based payment transactions (employee stock options)

The Bank applies provisions of ASC 718 "Share-based payment transactions" with regard to options awarded to
employees. In conformity with these provisions, the Bank recognizes payroll expenses due to the awarded options.
Expenses are recognized based on fair value of the options on the award date, concurrently with increase in capital
over the term of service for which the options are awarded.

When determining the fair value of options upon the award date, vesting restrictions due to market conditions (such
as vesting contingent on share price) are taken into account. Other qualitative restrictions which do not concern
market conditions (such as: discretionary component of benefit award) have no impact on determining fair value upon
the award date and are reflected in current expensing of the benefit awarded. As allowed by the standard, the Bank
treats each awarded lot as a separate award.

As for an award in the gain track, tax authorities in Israel allow an expense to be recognized upon option exercise,
so that a tax benefit is expected and deferred taxes should be recognized. According to provisions of the standard,
the tax benefit would be recognized based on the cumulative expense carrying amount, multiplied by the tax rate.
Upon exercise of the options, when the allowed income tax expense exceeds the expense carried, the difference,
multiplied by the tax rate, would be charged to profit and loss.

For more information about update 2017-09 by the US Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") with regard
to share-based payments as from January 1, 2018, designed to clarify when a change in terms of share-based
payment award is to be treated as an amendment, see section C. 2 above.
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14) Guarantees

15)
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Guarantees are contracts which require the guarantor, on contingent basis, to make payments to the guaranteed
party upon occurrence of conditions requiring the guarantee to be exercised. The guarantee obligation is measured
upon initial recognition at the higher of the fair value or the amount of expected loss provisions with respect there to.
The obligation is de-recognized when the Bank no longer bears the risk.

derivative instruments and hedging activities

A.

The Bank trades in derivative instruments, including currency and interest contracts and credit derivative
instruments. The currency contracts include forwards, futures, swaps and options. These trades are executed in
all linkage sectors. The trades are executed with the public and with banks in Israel and overseas, as part of the
Bank’s day-to-day activities as a market maker, and as part of the overall strategy of managing the expedient
level of exposure for the various market risk, including basis and interest risk — risk to which the Bank is exposed
in its day-to-day activities.

. derivative instruments are stated at fair value on the Bank balance sheet, under Assets or Liabilities, as the case

may be. Changes to fair value of derivative instruments, other than derivative instruments used as cash flow
hedges, are recognized on the Statement of Profit and Loss.

. Itis possible that the Bank will enter into a contract, which by itself is not a derivative, but contains an embedded

derivative. When an embedded derivative has economic characteristics that are not clearly and closely tied to the
economic characteristics of the host contract, and a separate instrument with the same conditions as the
embedded derivative would qualify as a derivative instrument, then the embedded derivative is detached from the
host contract and is treated as a hedge by itself.

A detached embedded derivative is stated in the balance sheet together with the host contract. Change in fair
value of detached embedded derivatives is immediately charged to profit and Loss.

. In certain cases, in which the embedded derivative must be detached from the host contract, the Bank adopts a

policies of measuring the entire contract according to its fair value, and records the changes in its fair value in the
statement of profit and loss. This policies was adopted for structured securities in the available-for-sale portfolio.

. The Bank designates certain derivative instruments as fair value hedges or as cash flow hedges. The Bank

formally documents in writing all of the hedging relationships between the hedging financial derivatives and the
hedged items, as well as the objective and strategy of the management of risk through the creating of a hedge
transaction. The documentation includes identification of the asset designated as the hedged item and states the
manner in which the hedging instrument is expected to hedge the risk related to the hedged item. The Bank
estimates the effectiveness of the hedging relationship at the inception of the hedge and continuously, in
accordance with its risks management policies. Based on the above, a determination is made as to whether the
derivative qualifies as a hedge in accordance with Public Reporting Directives.

. Changes in the fair value of an item hedged by a fair value hedge using a derivative that meets the above

conditions, arising from changes in the specified risk factors, are recorded currently to the statement of profit and
loss, concurrent with the changes in the fair value of the hedging derivative.
Changes in the fair value of a derivative which qualifies as a cash flows hedge, which arise from changes in the
risk factor being hedged (which impacts the cash flows resulting from the hedged instrument), attributed to an
anticipated transaction which is probable and may impact profit and loss, are charged to capital reserve from cash
flow hedging, in Other Comprehensive Income, under Shareholders' Equity.

. The Bank stops hedge accounting prospectively, when:

1) Itis determined that a hedge is no longer effective for offsetting the changes in the fair value or cash flow of
the hedged item, as the case may be.

2) The derivative expires, is sold, canceled or realized.
3) Management revokes the designation of the derivative as a hedging instrument.
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16)

When a fair value hedge is discontinued because it is determined that the hedge no longer qualifies as an effective
fair value hedge, the derivative will continue to be recorded in the balance sheet at its fair value, but changes to fair
value of the hedged asset or liability will no longer be regularly charged to profit and loss. When a cash flow hedge
is discontinued because it is determined that the hedge no longer qualifies as an effective cash flow hedge, changes
in the fair value of the derivative since the date of discontinuation of hedging are recorded in the statement of profit
and loss. Profit or loss accumulated under Other Comprehensive Income and previously presented under Equity,
remains under Equity until the anticipated transaction takes place or until it is beyond any reasonable doubt that the
anticipated transaction would not take place. If it is beyond any reasonable doubt that the anticipated transaction
would not take place, the accumulated profit or loss with respect to the hedging instrument, recognized under Other
Comprehensive Income, would be reclassified to profit and loss.

For more information about adoption of updates to US GAAP with regard to derivative instruments and hedging
operations (ASU 2017-12) as from January 1, 2019, see section E. below.

Fair value

A. Fair value is defined as the price which would have been obtained upon sale of the asset, or the price which
would have been paid upon transfer of the liability, in a normal transaction between market participants upon the
measurement date. The standard requires, inter alia, for assessment of fair value, that maximum use be made of
observed data and minimum use be made of non-observed data. Observed data reflects information available on
the market, obtained from independent sources whereas non-observed data reflects assumptions by the Bank.
Sub-topic 820-10 of the codification lists a hierarchy of measurement techniques, based on the source of data
used to determine fair value. These data sources result in the following fair value ranking:

Level 1 — fair value measured using prices quoted for identical instruments on an active market accessible by the
Bank upon the measurement date.

Level 2 — fair value measured using observed data, either direct or indirect, which are not quoted prices as
stipulated under Level 1. Level 2 data include use of quoted market data on active markets, or on non-active
markets, if they exist, or data derived from or based upon such observed market data.

Level 3 — fair value measured by using non-observed data.

The standard stipulates that the Bank should reflect credit risk and non-performance risk in measuring the fair
value of debt, including derivative instruments, issued there by and measured at fair value. Non-performance risk
includes the Bank's credit risk, but is not limited to this risk alone.

The Bank assesses credit risk in derivative instruments as follows:

- When there is sufficient liquid collateral with respect to the exposure, which specifically secures the derivative,
the Bank assumes that credit risk is zero, and does not adjust the fair value with respect to credit quality of
the counter-party.

- In other cases, the Bank estimates the fair value based on indications from transactions on an active market
of the credit quality of the counter party, if such indications are available at reasonable effort. The Bank
derives these indications, inter alia, from prices of debt instruments of the counter-party traded on an active
market, and from prices of credit derivatives based on the credit quality of the counter-party. In the absence
of such indications, the Bank calculates the adjustments based on internal ratings.

When the counter-party exposure, on a consolidated basis, is not material, the Bank calculates the
aforementioned adjustment on a group basis, using a benchmark for credit quality by groups of similar counter-
parties, e.g. based on internal ratings.

Further, the Bank conducts reasonability testing of results obtained from internal assessment with regard to
changes in market spreads, and makes the required adjustments, if any.

In order to adapt the Bank's valuation methods to the exit price principle and to provisions stated in the standard,
the Bank is required to review the valuation methods applied there by for measuring fair value, taking into
consideration the relevant circumstances of the various transactions, including recent transaction prices on the
market, indicative prices from valuation services and results of back testing of similar transaction types.

In accordance with Bank of Israel directives, fair value measurement of a derivative instrument, when no quoted
prices, liquid collateral or offset agreements exist which adequately secure the derivative's credit quality, and
when no market information exists as to the credit quality of the counter-party (such as CDS or negotiable
debentures of the counter-party) — shall be classified as a Level 3 fair value measurement.
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How fair value is determined:

1) Securities

The fair value of securities held for trading and securities available for sale is determined based on quoted
market prices on the major market. When there are multiple markets on which the security is traded, the
estimate is based on the quoted market price on the most effective market. In such cases, the fair value of
the Bank's investment in securities is the product of the number of units and the aforementioned quoted
market price. If a quoted market price is not available, the fair value estimate is based on the best available
information, with maximum use of observed data and taking into account the risks inherent in the financial
instrument (market risk, credit risk, non-negotiability etc.)

2) Financial derivative instruments
Financial derivative instruments with an active market are valued based on market value, determined on the
primary market, or in the absence of a primary market — using a quoted market price on the most effective
market. Derivative financial derivatives not traded on an active market are valued using models which take
into account the risk inherent in the derivative instrument (market risk, credit risk etc.)

3) Financial instruments other than derivatives
Most of the financial instruments in this category (such as: loans to the public and loans to the Government,
deposits from the public and deposits with banks, non-negotiable subordinated notes and bonds) no "market
price" is quotable, since there is no active market on which they are traded. Therefore, the fair value is
estimated using acceptable pricing models, such as present value of future cash flows, discounted at an
interest rate that reflects the level of risk inherent in the instrument.

To this end, the future cash flows for impaired and other debts have been calculated net of effects of accounting
write-offs and provision for credit losses with respect to the debts.

For more information about adoption of updates to US GAAP with regard to recognition and measurement of
financial instruments (ASU 2016-01) as from January 1, 2019, see section E. below.

For more information about principal methods and assumptions used in estimating fair value, see Note 33 to the
financial statements.

. Fair value option

Sub-topic 825-10 of the codification allows banking corporations to elect, upon specified election dates, to
measure at fair value financial instruments and certain other items ("qualified items") which, according to Public
Reporting Directives, are not required to be measured at fair value. Unrealized gain and loss due to changes in
fair value of items for which the fair value option has been selected, are recognized in the statement of profit and
loss at each subsequent reporting date. Furthermore, prepaid costs and commissions related to items for which
the fair value option has been elected, are recognized in the statement of profit and loss as they are incurred.
Election of the fair value option, as stated above, is made for each instrument individually, and may not be
canceled.

Further, the standard stipulates presentation and disclosure requirements designed to assist in comparing
banking corporations which elect different measurement bases for similar types of assets and liabilities.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Supervisor of Banks' directives with regard to application of the standard have
clarified that a banking corporation may not elect the fair value option, unless the banking corporation had
previously developed knowledge, systems, procedures and high-level controls which would allow it to measure
the item with a high degree of reliability. Therefore, the Bank may not elect the fair value option for any asset
which may be classified under Level 2 or Level 3 of the fair value ranking, nor for any liability, without prior consent
of the Supervisor of Banks.
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Taxes on income

Taxes on income include current and deferred taxes. Current and deferred taxes are charged to the statement of
profit and loss, or charged directly to equity if they arise from items directly recognized under equity. The provision
for taxes on income of the Bank and its subsidiaries that are financial institutions for VAT purposes includes profit
tax levied on earnings under the Value Added Tax Act. The payroll tax levied on the salaries of financial institutions
is included under “Payroll and associated expenses”.

A. Current taxes

Current taxes are taxes on income paid or payable (or refundable) for the current period, as determined by
application of statutory tax provisions legislated with regard to taxable income. Current taxes include changes in
tax payments with regard to previous years.

B. Deferred taxes

Deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets reflect the future effects on taxes on income, due to temporary
differences and carry-forward losses existing at the end of the period.

The Bank recognizes deferred tax liabilities with respect to taxable temporary differences. In conformity with
directives of the Supervisor of Banks, as from January 1, 2017 the Bank recognizes a deferred tax liability with
respect to undistributed earnings of subsidiaries accrued since January 1, 2017.

The Bank recognizes deferred tax assets with respect to all deductible temporary differences and carry-forward
losses, while concurrently recognizing a separate valuation allowance for the amount included in the asset that
is more likely than not to be realized.

Deferred tax liabilities or deferred tax assets are measured using the statutory tax rates legislated, that are
expected to apply to taxable income in the period when the deferred tax liability is expected to be settled or the
deferred tax asset is expected to be realized.

C. Offset of deferred tax assets and liabilities

The Bank offsets deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities, as well as any related valuation allowance, for
a specific taxable component and within a specific tax jurisdiction.

D. Uncertain tax positions

The Bank applies the rules for recognition, measurement and disclosure stipulated in FIN 48. In conformity with
these rules, the Bank only recognizes the effect of tax positions if it is more likely than not that those positions
would be accepted by the Tax Authority or by the Court. Tax positions recognized are measured at the maximum
amount whose likelihood of realization exceeds 50%. Changes in recognition or measurement are reflected in the
period in which a change in circumstances resulted in a change in judgment.

Earnings per share

The Bank presents earnings per share data, both basic and diluted, for its ordinary share capital. Basic earnings per
share is calculated by dividing the earnings attributable to holders of ordinary shares of the Group, by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period, after adjustment for treasury shares.

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting earnings (such as adjustment for after-tax effect of dividends,
financing costs and other changes, if any) related to holders of ordinary shares, and adjusting the weighted average
number of ordinary shares outstanding, after adjustment for treasury shares and for the effect of all potentially dilutive
ordinary shares, including stock options awarded to employees.

For more information about application of US GAAP topic 260 of the codification with regard to earnings per share
as from January 1, 2018, which revised the calculation of diluted earnings per share, see section C. 1 above.
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The Bank’s operating segments

A. Supervisory operating segments

A supervisory operating segment is a Bank component engaged in certain activities or grouping clients in certain
classifications, as specified by the Supervisor of Banks. The format for reporting Bank supervisory operating
segments was prescribed in Public Reporting Regulations by the Supervisor of Banks.

A supervisory operating segment is mostly specified in terms of client classification. Individual clients are classified
based on financial assets for the household and private banking segments. Clients other than individuals are
primarily classified based on the entire turnover for business segments (separated into small and micro business,
medium business and large business), institutional investors and the financial management segment.

Furthermore, the Bank is required to apply disclosure requirements for supervisory segments based on the
management approach, when such operating segments materially differ from the supervisory operating
segments.

On September 10, 2015, the Supervisor of Banks issued an updated Q&A file, which includes certain relief with
regard to client categorization by operating segments based on their revenues — when this data is not typical or
is unavailable to the Bank. According to the Q&A file, in such cases the Bank may categorize clients into operating
segments based on other parameters, in line with total client indebtedness. Thus, in some cases listed in the Q&A
file, clients may be categorized based on the number of employees or total assets on their balance sheet. If this
information is not available either, clients may be categorized, in such cases, based on their total financial assets
with the bank, multiplied by a specified factor.

B. Operating segments — the management approach
In addition to uniform reporting by supervisory operating segments, the Supervisor of Banks' circular dated
November 3, 2014 stipulates that disclosure of "Operating segments in conformity with the management
approach" should be provided in conformity with generally acceptable accounting practices by US banks with
regard to operating segments (included in ASC 280), if there is a material difference between the management
approach and supervisory reportable segments.

An operating segment in conformity with the management approach is a Bank component with operations which
may derive revenues and incur expenses which meet the following criteria:

- Its operating results are regularly reviewed by chief decision makers at the Bank for the purpose of making
decisions about resource allocation and performance evaluation, and
- Separate financial information is available with regard to it.

In fact, there is a correlation between the supervisory operating segments and "operating segments in conformity
with the management approach"” but never the less, there are some differences in client attribution to segments
and in decision making. Therefore, the financial statements also include reporting of operating results in
conformity with "the management approach"”, as noted above.

For more information about criteria for client classification into supervisory segments and into segments in
conformity with the management approach and for differences between them and additional extensive segment
information, see Note 29 to the financial statements.

Transactions with controlling shareholders

The Bank applies US GAAP for accounting treatment of transactions between the Bank and its controlling
shareholder and a company controlled by the Bank. In cases where the aforementioned rules do not refer to the
accounting treatment, the Bank applies the rules stated in Standard 23 of the Israel Accounting Standards Board
concerning accounting treatment of transactions between an entity and its controlling shareholder.

Assets and liabilities subject to a transaction with a controlling shareholder are measured at fair value as of the
transaction date.
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E. New accounting standards and new directives by the Supervisor of Banks prior

to their implementation

Standard / update Issue Start date Issued by Standard summary Effect on the
topic date Bank's financial
statements
ASU 2017-04 January January 1, US Financial A two-stage test should be applied for ~ No material effect is
Impairment of goodwill 2017 2020 Accounting each reporting unit, whereby expected
Standards impairment of goodwill is to be
Board recognized as the amount of the
("FASB") difference between the fair value of the
reported unit and its carrying amount,
taking into account the effect of taxes
on income. However, the impairment
loss may not exceed the goodwill
allocated to the reporting unit.
ASU 2017-08 March January US Financial The amortization period of premium on  No material effect is
"Receivables" 2017 01, 2019 Accounting debentures with optional early expected
Standards redemption by the issuer is to be
Board calculated based on the earliest
("FASB") redemption date.
Adoption of updates to  March January Supervisor of  Provision for credit losses is to be The Bank is
US GAAP with regard 2018 01, 2022 Banks calculated in conformity with the preparing to

to provision for credit
losses ASU 2016-13

expected loss over the credit term. This
is in lieu of estimation of the loss
incurred and yet to be identified,;
estimation of the provision for credit
losses shall include significant use of
forward-looking information, reflecting
reasonable forecasts with regard to
future economic events; the new rules
for calculating the provision for credit
losses shall apply to loans (including
housing loans), debentures held to
maturity and certain off-balance sheet
credit exposures.

implement the
updates.

Reporting by banking July 2018 January 1, Supervisor of

Banking corporations that lease assets The Bank is

corporations and credit 2020 Banks for a term longer than 12 months shall  preparing to
card issuers in Israel, in recognize these on the balance sheet, implement the
conformity with even in case of an operating lease; for  updates.
generally accepted operational lease transactions, an asset
accounting principles in shall be recorded on the balance sheet
the USA with regard to reflecting the corporation's right to use
leases the leased asset, against a liability to

make lease payments; as for capital

adequacy, risk assets with respect to

leases recognized on the balance sheet

shall be weighted at 100% for the

purpose of minimum capital ratio.
Adoption of updates to  August January Supervisor of  Changes to fair value of shares No material effect is
US GAAP with regard 2018 01, 2019 Banks available for sale, whose fair value is expected

to classification and
measurement of
financial Instruments
ASU 2016-01

available and are as yet unrealized,
would be recognized in the statement
of profit and loss rather than in Other
Comprehensive Income; shares with no
fair value available would typically be
presented at cost, adjusted for changes
to observable prices of shares of the
same issuer; the methods for
determination of fair value for the Note
on fair value of financial instruments
have been revised.
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E. New accounting standards and new directives by the Supervisor of Banks prior
to their implementation - Cont.

Standard / update Issue Start date  Issued by Standard summary Effect on the
topic date Bank's financial
statements

Adoption of updates to  August January Supervisor of  The rules expand the capacity of No material effect is
US GAAP with regard 2018 01, 2019 Banks banking corporations to hedge certain  expected
to derivative risk components, thereby aligning the
instruments and presentation of hedging instruments
hedging activities ASU and hedged items on the financial
2017-12 statements; the rules simplify the

application of accounting directives with

regard to hedging, primarily through

relief in requirements for review of the

hedge effectiveness and hedge

documentation; the rules update the

disclosure re activities of banking

corporations in derivative instruments.
Updated standard with ~ August January US Financial Elimination of the required presentation No effect on the
regard to changes to 2018 01, 2021 Accounting of estimated amounts under Other financial statements,
disclosure Standards Comprehensive Income expected to be other than change to
requirements of defined Board deducted from cumulative Other presentation in the
benefit plans ASU ("FASB") Comprehensive Income to the Note on employee
2018-14 Statement of Profit and Loss as rights.

expense in the following year;

Elimination of the required presentation

of future annual benefit amounts

covered by insurance contracts and

significant transactions between the

entity or related parties and the plan;

details to be provided of reasons for

material gain or loss associated with

change in liability with respect to

defined benefit in the period;

Clarification of disclosure requirements

for entities with two or more plans.
Extension of January December Supervisor of  The transitional provision instructs No material effect is
transitional provision 2019 31, 2021 Banks banking corporations not to include expected

regarding
implementation of
provisions of Section
830 of the Codification
"Foreign currency
matters"

exchange rate differentials with respect
to available-for-sale debentures as part
of fair value adjustment of such
debentures, but rather to continue
treating these as stipulated in the
Public Reporting Regulations prior to
adoption of Section 830 of the
Codification "Foreign currency , through
December 31, 2021.
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Note 2 — Interest revenues and expenses
For the year ended December 31,
Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

Notes to financial statements
As of December 31, 2018

2018 2017 2016
A. Interest revenues®
From loans to the public 7,049 5,989 5,157
From loans to Governments 25 11 10
From deposits with the Bank of Israel and from cash 102 74 46
From deposits with banks 9 8 5
From securities loaned or acquired in resale agreements® - - -
From debentures 174 140 93
Total interest revenues 7,359 6,222 5,311
B. Interest expenses
On deposits from the public 1,628 1,261 1,045
On deposits from governments 2 2 2
On deposits from banks 11 11 12
On debentures and subordinated notes 793 599 472
On other liabilities 3 2 2
Total interest expenses 2,437 1,875 1,533
Total interest revenues, net 4,922 4,347 3,778
C. Details of net effect of hedging derivative instruments on interest revenues
and expenses® 4 (6) (24)
D. Details of interest revenues on accrual basis from debentures
Held to maturity 45 43 40
Available for sale 126 94 49
Held for trading 3 3 4
Total included under interest revenues 174 140 93

(1) Includes the effective element in the hedging ratios.
(2) Balance lower than NIS 0.5 million.

(3) Detalils of effect of hedging derivative instruments: on interest revenues, net
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Note 3 — Non-interest financing revenues
For the year ended December 31,
Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

2018 2017 2016
A. Non-interest financing revenues (expenses) with respect to non-trading
purposes
1. From activity in derivative instruments
Non-effective element of hedging ratios® 1 - 8
Net revenues (expenses) with respect to ALM derivative instruments® 1,413 (1,089) (181)
Total from activity in derivative instruments 1,414 (1,089) 173)
2. From investment in debentures
Gains on sale of debentures available for sale 8 44 58
Total from investment in debentures 8 44 58
3. Exchange rate differences, net (1,081) 1,196 364
4. Gains from investment in shares
Gain from sale of available-for-sale shares® 10 8 3
Provision for impairment of available-for-sale shares - -
Dividends from available-for-sale shares 7 4
Total from investment in shares 17 12
5. Net gains with respect to loans sold - 4 45
Total non-interest financing revenues with respect to non-trading purposes 358 167 300
B. Non-interest financing revenues (expenses) with respect to trading operations®
Net revenues (expenses) with respect to other derivative instruments 88 (30) (19)
Realized losses from adjustment to fair value of debentures held for trading, net (1) - (1)
Unrealized gains (losses) from adjustment to fair value of debentures held for
trading, net - (1) 15
Total from trading operations® 87 (31) (5)
Details of non-interest financing revenues (expenses) with respect to trading
operations, by risk exposure
Interest exposure - 2 3)
Foreign currency exposure 81 37) 2
Exposure to shares 6 4 1
Exposure to commaodities and others - - (5)
Total 87 (31) (5)

(1) Excludes the effective element in the hedging ratios.

(2) derivative instruments which constitute part of the Bank’s asset and liability management system, which were not intended as

hedges.
(3) Reclassified from Cumulative Other Comprehensive Income.
(4) Includes exchange rate differentials resulting from trading operations.
(5) For interest revenues from investments in debentures held for trading, see Note 2.D.
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Note 4 — Commissions

For the year ended December 31,
Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

Notes to financial statements

As of December 31, 2018

2018 2017 2016
Account management® 344 325 313
Credit cards 189 174 169
Activities involving securities 199 202 221
Commissions on distribution of financial products® 59 55 50
Provident fund operations 23 22 23
Handling credit 31 33 29
Translation differences 208 184 188
Foreign trade activity 43 40 43
Net revenues from credit portfolio service 45 43 42
Life insurance distribution commissions 103 96 96
Home insurance distribution commissions 16 15 14
Other commissions 45 49 49
Total commissions other than from financing business 1,305 1,238 1,237
Commissions from financing transactions @170 185 196
Total commissions 1,475 1,423 1,433
Note 4A — Revenues from contracts with clients®®)
2018
House-
House- holds - Small Commer- Busi- Financial
Holds mortga- Private busi- cial ness mana-

— other ges banking nesses banking banking gement Total
Account management® 137 - 14 155 18 16 4 344
Credit cards 154 - 1 29 3 2 - 189
Activities involving securities 109 - 22 11 4 24 29 199
Commissions on distribution of
financial products® 55 - 1 2 - 1 - 59
Provident fund operations - - - - - - 23 23
Handling credit 6 4 - 13 1 7 - 31
Translation differences 43 - 17 42 5 12 89 208
Foreign trade activity - - - 15 8 20 - 43
Net revenues from credit portfolio
service 5 29 - 1 1 1 8 45
Life insurance distribution
commissions - 103 - - - - - 103
Home insurance distribution
commissions - 16 - - - - - 16
Other commissions 8 2 - 7 1 11 16 45
Total commissions other than
from financing business 517 154 55 275 41 94 169 1,305
Commissions from financing
transactions® 5 2 - ®30 ®14 ®119 ®— 170
Total commissions 522 156 55 305 55 213 169 1,475

(1) In Israeli and foreign currency

(2) Includes distribution commissions from mutual funds and retirement products.
(3) After effect of risk sale by acquiring an insurance policy for Sales Act guarantees, amounting to NIS 54 million (in 2017: NIS 48 million).
(4) Classification of revenues to operating segments is based on the management approach.

(5) Presented in conformity with the Supervisor of Banks' circular concerning adoption of an update to accounting rules with regard
to revenues from contracts with clients. Comparative figures are not presented. For more information see Note 1.C.5.
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Notes to financial statements
As of December 31, 2018

Note 5 — Other revenues
For the year ended December 31,
Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

2018 2017 2016
Gain from sale of buildings and equipment - 47 92
Trustee fees 24 23 19
Revenues from security services 11 9 7
Rent revenues 9 8
Other 8
Total other revenues 47 94 134
Note 6 — Salaries and Related Expenses
For the year ended December 31,
Reported amounts (NIS in millions)
2018 2017 2016
Salaries (including bonuses) 21,592 ®1,510 1,373
Expense due to transactions accounted for as share-based payment transactions
settled using equity instruments® - 24 8
Other associated expenses, including study fund and paid leave 78 76 57
Long-term benefits 22 19 18
National Insurance and VAT on salaries 507 459 416
Expenses with respect to retirement (including severance pay and provident
funds)
Defined benefit — cost of service® 48 ®)40 ®)126
Defined contribution 135 121 114
Other post-employment benefits and post-retirement benefits, other than pension
payment® 7 ®)5 ©)6
Expenses with respect to other employee benefits 18 17 17
Total salaries and related expenses 2,407 2,271 2,035
Of which: Payroll and associated expenses overseas 49 46 54

(1) For more information about the impact of the collective bargaining agreement with the Employees’ Union, see Note 22, section

6.

(2) For more information about an arbitration verdict, a collective bargaining agreement with the Managers’ Council and a payroll

agreement in the Technology Division, see Note 22, sections 6-8.
(3) See Note 23 "Share-based Payment Transactions".
(4) See Note 22 "Employees’ Rights".

(5) Comparative figures for previous periods were reclassified. For more information about directives of the Supervisor of Banks
with regard to improved presentation of expenses with respect to pension and other post-employment benefits, see Note 1.C.4.
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Notes to financial statements
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Note 7 — Other Expenses
For the year ended December 31,
Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

2018 2017 2016
Expenses with respect to retirement (including severance pay and provident
funds), defined benefit (excluding cost of service) 75 W55 W36
Marketing and advertising 61 63 52
Communications 41 40 42
Computer 131 129 92
Office expenses 36 34 35
Insurance 12 11 13
Professional services 129 106 132
Board members' fees 9 9 10
Training and continuing education 14 13 14
Commissions 32 30 28
Cars and travel 35 34 34
Other 655 74 83
Total other expenses 1,230 598 571

(1) Comparative figures for previous periods were reclassified. For more information about directives of the Supervisor of Banks
with regard to improved presentation of expenses with respect to pension and other post-employment benefits, see Note 1.C.4.

Note 8 — Provision for Taxes on Profit
For the year ended December 31,
Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

A. Composition

2018 2017 2016
Current taxes —
For the current year 1,022 762 825
For prior years 11 22 11
Total current taxes 1,033 784 836
Changes in deferred taxes —
For the current year (108) 24 4)
For prior years 3) 2) 1
Total deferred taxes (111) 22 3)
Total provision for taxes on income 922 806 833
Includes provision for taxes overseas 62 41 33
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Notes to financial statements
As of December 31, 2018

Note 8 — Provision for Taxes on Profit — continued
For the year ended December 31,
Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

B. The table excludes the tax effect with respect to certain items recognized directly in equity in each period. The tax
effect of all items recognized directly in equity amounted to a decrease by NIS 43 million in 2018, an increase by NIS

51 million in 2017 and an increase by NIS 98 million in 2016.

C. Below is a reconciliation between the theoretical tax amount that would be applicable had the profit been taxable at
the statutory tax rate applicable to banks in Israel, and between the provision for taxes on profit as included in the

statement of profit and loss:

2018 2017 2016
Pre-tax profit 2,195 2,197 2,141
Statutory tax rate applicable to a bank in Israel 34.19% 35.04% 35.89%
Tax amount based on statutory tax rate 750 770 768
Tax (tax saving) from:
Income of subsidiaries in Israel® 5 (5) (21)
Income of subsidiaries overseas (10) 8 3
Exempt revenues and reduced tax rate revenues (2) - -
Adjustment differences on depreciation, amortization and capital gains (5) (5) (10)
Other non-deductible expenses® 186 10 11
Temporary differences for which deferred taxes have not been recorded (11) - -
Taxes with respect to previous years:
Additional amounts payable for problematic debts 7 8 3
Others 2 18 8
Change in deferred tax balances due to change in tax rates - - 70
Other - 2 1
Total provision for taxes on income 922 806 833

(1) Includes revenues of auxiliary corporations.

(2) Includes expenses amounting to NIS 152 million with respect to DPA signed with the US Department of Justice, for more

information see Note 26.C. to the financial statements.
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Note 8 — Provision for Taxes on Profit — continued
For the year ended December 31,
Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

D. Deferred tax assets and provision for deferred taxes

Balances
Changes
Balances charged to
Changes Other Balances Average tax

Balances chargedto Compre- Changes Balances rate in %
December profit and hensive charged to December December

31, 2017 loss Income equity 31, 2018 31, 2018
Deferred tax assets®:
Provision for credit losses 512 36 - - 548 34.2
Provision for vacation pay, long-service
bonuses and employees’ rights 84 33 - - 117 33.3
Excess liabilities with respect to employees’
benefits over plan assets 430 20 (43) - 407 34.1
Deferred taxes with respect to provision for
DPA signed with US DOJ 24 41 - - 65 324
Other — from monetary items 12 8 - - 20 27.1
Other — from non-monetary items 30 (4) - - 26 34.2
Deferred tax balance, gross 1,092 134 (43) - 1,183 33.7
Provision for tax asset - - - - -
Tax asset balance net of provision for
deferred taxes 1,092 134 (43) - 1,183 33.7
Deferred tax liabilities with respect to®:
Fixed assets and leases 12 7 - - 19 34.2
Securities® - - - - - -
Investments in investees 21 18 - - 39 12.0
Other — from monetary items® 10 (1) - - 9 34.2
Other — from non-monetary items, net 1 (1) - - - -
Deferred tax liability balance, gross 44 23 - - 67 21.7
Deferred tax balance, net 1,048 111 (43) - 1,116

(1) The Bank believes that, with respect to all of the aforementioned deferred taxes, it is more likely than not that future operating
results would generate sufficient taxable income to realize these deferred tax assets.

(2) Changes in this item with respect to a loss amounting to NIS 25 million due to adjustment of fair value of securities available for
sale (previous year — gain amounting to NIS 8 million) were charged to a separate item in shareholders' equity.

(3) Changes in this item amounting to NIS 0.4 million due to net loss from cash flow hedges (previous year — loss amounting to NIS
3 million) were charged to a separate item in shareholders' equity.
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Note 8 — Provision for Taxes on Profit — continued

For the year ended December 31,

Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

D. Deferred tax assets and provision for deferred taxes — Continued

Balances
Changes
Balances charged to
Changes Other  Balances Average tax
Balances charged to Compre- Changes  Balances rate in %
December profit and hensive chargedto December December
31, 2016 loss Income equity 31, 2017 31, 2017
Deferred tax assets®):
Provision for credit losses 479 33 - - 512 34.2
Provision for vacation pay, long-service
bonuses and employees’ rights 121 (37) - - 84 33.0
Excess liabilities with respect to employees’
benefits over plan assets 380 2 48 - 430 34.2
Deferred taxes with respect to provision for
DPA signed with US DOJ 29 (5) - - 24 34.2
Other — from monetary items 19 ©) - - 12 34.2
Other — from non-monetary items 14 16 - - 30 34.2
Deferred tax balance, gross 1,042 2 48 - 1,092 34.1
Provision for tax asset - - - - -
Tax asset balance net of provision for
deferred taxes 1,042 2 48 - 1,092 34.1
Deferred tax liabilities with respect to®:
Fixed assets and leases 18 (6) - - 12 34.2
Securities® - - - - _ _
Investments in investees - 21 - - 21 12.0
Other — from monetary items®) 9 (3) - 10 34.2
Other — from non-monetary items, net 1 — — — 1 —
Deferred tax liability balance, gross 23 24 (3) - 44 23.7
Tax balance, net 1,019 (22) 51 - 1,048

(1) The Bank believes that, with respect to all of the aforementioned deferred taxes, it is more likely than not that future operating
results would generate sufficient taxable income to realize these deferred tax assets.
(2) Changes in this item with respect to gain amounting to NIS 8 million due to adjustment of fair value of securities available for
sale (previous year — loss amounting to NIS 9 million) were charged to a separate item in shareholders' equity.
(3) Changes in this item amounting to NIS 3 million due to net loss from cash flow hedges (previous year — loss amounting to NIS 4
million) were charged to a separate item in shareholders' equity.

E. In conformity with directives of the Supervisor of Banks, as from January 1, 2017 the Bank recognizes a deferred tax
liability with respect to undistributed earnings of subsidiaries accrued since January 1, 2017. Total liabilities amount

to NIS 39 million.

F. The Bank has a subsidiary in Holland (United Mizrahi International Holding Company Ltd. B.V. Holland). The company
in Holland has carry-forward losses which have no effect on the Bank's tax liability.
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Note 8 — Provision for Taxes on Profit — continued
For the year ended December 31,
Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

G. On January 4, 2016, the Knesset Plenum approved the Income Tax Ordinance Amendment Act (Amendment no.
216), 2016 which stipulates, inter alia, a reduction of the companies’ tax rate as from 2016 by 1.5%, to 25% (previous
rate: 26.5%). The effect of this decrease in the companies tax rate is reflected in the financial statements for the first
quarter of 2016, amounting to a decrease in deferred taxes by NIS 32 million, against recording expenses with respect
to provision for profit taxes amounting to NIS 30 million and against Other Comprehensive Income amounting to NIS
2 million.

Moreover, on December 22, 2016 the Knesset plenum approved the Economic Streamlining Act (Legislation
Amendments to Achieve Budget Goals for 2017 and 2018 Budget Years), 2016, which stipulated a reduction of the
corporate tax rate from 25% to 23% in two steps: the first step, to 24%, as from January 2017 and the second step,
to 23%, as from January 2018.

The effect of this decrease in the companies tax rate in the fourth quarter of 2016 amounted to a decrease in deferred
taxes by NIS 43 million, against recording expenses with respect to provision for profit taxes amounting to NIS 40
million and against Other Comprehensive Income amounting to NIS 3 million.

Following the aforementioned amendments, the statutory tax rates applicable to banking corporations have been
amended as follows:

Tax year Statutory tax rate
2016 35.89%
2017 35.04%
2018 and later 34.19%

The tax indebtedness of Bank subsidiaries is determined based on applicable tax rates in those countries. For
overseas branches, the Bank supplements the tax indebtedness based on the tax rate in Israel.

H. The Bank has finalized tax assessments through 2013.

For 2011-2013, agreed tax assessments were issued, except for the issue of profit tax with respect to operations of
overseas branches, for which the Bank received a tax assessment by decree, which the Bank appealed. These tax
assessments amount to NIS 14 million, net including interest and linkage. The Bank made appropriate provisions for
this matter.

The Bank received payroll tax assessment decrees with regard to payroll of local employees at overseas branches
of the Bank for 2009-2014. These tax assessments amount to NIS 33 million, including interest and linkage. The Bank
disputes these tax assessments and therefore has filed an appeal with regard to these years. It is more likely than
not that the Bank's position will prevail, resulting in cancellation of the decree,and will determine that salary paid to
Bank employees at branches overseas should not be subject to payroll tax.

Bank Yahav has finalized tax assessments through the 2013 tax year, as confirmed by the Assessing Officer.
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Note 9 — Earnings per Ordinary Share

For the year For the year For the year

ended ended ended
Reported amounts December December December
(NIS in millions) 31, 2018 31, 2017 31, 2016
Net profit used to calculate earnings per share:
Basic and diluted earnings per share
Total net profit attributable to shareholders of the Bank 1,206 1,347 1,266

Weighted average number of shares (in thousands of shares)®@

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used to calculate basic earnings 233,079 232,358 231,948
Weighted average number of ordinary shares used to calculate diluted earnings 234,317 233,949 232,190
Earnings per share:

Total basic earnings attributable to holders of ordinary Bank shares 5.17 5.80 5.46

Total diluted earnings attributable to holders of ordinary Bank shares 5.15 5.76 5.45

(1) Share of NIS 0.1 par value. See Note 1.C.1. for application of US GAAP with regard to earnings per share.

(2) The weighted average number of ordinary shares used to calculate diluted earnings per share includes the number of options
due to share-based payment transactions. See Note 23 to the financial statements for details.
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Note 10 — Cumulative other comprehensive income (loss)

Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

Notes to financial statements
As of December 31, 2018

A. Changes to cumulative other comprehensive income (loss), after tax effect

Other

comprehens Other

ive income comprehens

(loss), ive income

before Other Other (loss),

attribution to comprehens comprehens before

non- iveincome ive incomeattribution to

controlling (loss), (loss), non- Other
interests before before controlling comprehens Other
Adjust-attribution toattribution to interests ive income Other compre-
ments for non- non- Adjust- (loss), compre- hensive
presen- controlling controlling ments before hensive income
tation of interests interests withattribution to income attribu-t
securities Trans- Net gain respect non- attributed able to
available lation (loss) from to controlling to non- share-
for sale at adjust- cash employees’ interests  controlling holders
fair value ments® flow hedges benefits Total interest of the Bank
Balance as of January 1, 2016 (12) - 14 (104) (102) (5) (97)
Net change in the period (17) 1 (5) (199)® (220) - (220)
Balance as of December 31, 2016 (29) 1 9 (303) (322) (5) (317)
Net change in the period 14 (3) (5) (84)® (78) (12) (66)
Balance as of December 31, 2017 (15) (2) 4 (387) (400) (17) (383)
Net change in the period (43) 1 - 78@ 36 (@) 37
Balance as of December 31, 2018 (58) (1) 4 (309) (364) (18) (346)
(1) Foreign currency translation adjustments of associated companies whose functional currency differs from that of the Bank.
(2) Includes the cost of update to the actuarial liability with respect to the streamlining plan, amounting to NIS 286 million; the cost net of tax,

©)

(©)

amounting to NIS 188 million, was charged to shareholders’ equity.
Includes: The effect of update to the assumption of salary cost and update to the remuneration increase rate in the second quarter of
2017, on the actuarial liability for employees’ rights at the Bank, amounting to NIS 69 million, net of taxes, as well as the effect of the
streamlining plan at Bank Yahav on Bank shareholders' equity amounting to NIS 11 million. For more information see Note 22.
Primarily consists of the effect of higher interest rates in the period on actuarial liability, as well as deduction of the capital reserve from

the streamlining program.
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Note 10 — Cumulative other comprehensive income (loss) — continued
Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

B. Changes in items of cumulative other comprehensive income (loss) before and after tax effect

Forthe  Forthe Forthe Forthe Forthe Forthe Forthe Forthe  Forthe
year year year year year year year year year
ended ended ended ended ended ended ended ended ended
December December December December December December December December December
31,2018 31,2018 31,2018 31,2017 31,2017 31,2017 31,2016 31,2016 31,2016
Before tax Tax effect After tax Before tax Tax effect After tax Before tax Tax effect After tax
Change in items of other
comprehensive income (loss), before
attribution to non-controlling
interests:
Adjustments for presentation of
securities available for sale at fair value
Net unrealized gains (losses) from
adjustments to fair value (60) 22 (38) 66 (23) 43 32 11) 21
Losses (gains) with respect to available-
for-sale securities reclassified to the
statement of profit and loss® (8) 3 (5) (44) 15 (29) (58) 20 (38)
Net change in the period (68) 25 (43) 22 (8) 14 (26) 9 (17)
Translation adjustments
Adjustments from translation of financial
statements® 1 - 1 4) 1 ©) 1 - 1
Net change in the period 1 — 1 (4) 1 3) 1 - 1
Cash flows hedges
Net gains (losses) with respect to cash
flows hedging - - - (8) 3 (5) 9) 4 (5)
Net (gains) losses with respect to cash
flow hedges reclassified to the statement
of profit and loss® - - - - - - - - -
Net change in the period — — — (8) 3 (5) (9) 4 (5)
Employee benefits
Net actuarial gain (loss) for the period 85 (31) 540 (150) 54 (96)© 303® 98 (205)
Net losses reclassified to the statement
of profit and loss® 36 (12) 24 18 (6) 12 9 3) 6
Net change in the period 121 (43) 78 (132) 48 (84) (294) 95 (199)
Total net change in the period 54 (18) 36 (122) 44 (78) (328) 108 (220)
Total net change in the period
attributable to non-controlling
interests [€D)] - [€)] (18) 6 (12) - - -
Total net change in the period
attributable to shareholders of the
Bank 55 (18) 37 (104) 38 (66) (328) 108 (220)

@ For details, see Note 3.A.2.
2
(3

For details, see Note 3.A.1.
(4)

For more information see Note 22.C.2.

Pre-tax amount included in the statement of profit and loss under "Non-interest financing revenues".

Foreign currency translation adjustments of associated companies whose functional currency differs from that of the Bank.
Pre-tax amount included in the statement of profit and loss under "Non-interest financing revenues".

Pre-tax amounts are included under "Salaries and related expenses" in the statement of profit and loss.

®)
(6)

@)
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Includes the cost of update to the actuarial liability with respect to the streamlining plan, amounting to NIS 286 million; the cost net of
tax, amounting to NIS 188 million, was charged to shareholders’ equity.

Includes: The effect of update to the assumption of salary cost and update to the remuneration increase rate in the second quarter of
2017, on the actuarial liability for employees’ rights at the Bank, amounting to NIS 69 million, net of taxes, as well as the effect of the
streamlining plan at Bank Yahav on Bank shareholders' equity amounting to NIS 11 million. For more information see Note 22.
Primarily consists of the effect of higher interest rates in the period on actuarial liability, as well as deduction of the capital reserve from
the streamlining program.



Notes to financial statements
As of December 31, 2018

Note 11 — Cash and Deposits with Banks
As of December 31,

Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

2018 2017
Cash and deposits with central banks 42,875 40,089
Deposits with commercial banks 2,287 1,041
Total cash and deposits with banks 45,162 41,130
Includes: Cash, deposits with banks and deposits with central banks for an original period of
up to three months 44,581 40,497

For more information about liens see Note 27 below.
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Note 12 — Securities
As of December 31, 2018

Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

Notes to financial statements
As of December 31, 2018

Unrecognized

Unrecognized

gains from losses from
Carrying Amortized adjustmentsto adjustments to Fair
amount cost fair value fair value value®
(1) Debentures held to maturity
of Government of Israel 3,917 3,917 29 (6) 3,940
Total debentures held to maturity 3,917 3,917 29 (6) 3,940
Cumulative
Amortized other Cumulative other
cost comprehensiv.  comprehensive
Carrying (for shares — eincome income Fair
amount cost) Gains Losses value®
(2) Debentures available for sale
Of the Government of Israel@ 4,420 4,452 6 (38) 4,420
Of foreign governments 2©) 1,862 1,915 - (53) 1,862
Of foreign financial institutions(® 484 487 - (3) 484
Of others overseas 18 19 - (1) 18
Total debentures available for sale 6,784 6,873 6 (95) 6,784
Shares® 92 92 - - 92
Total securities available for sale 6,876 6,965 @6 495 6,876
Unrealized Unrealized
gains from losses from
Carrying Amortized adjustmentsto adjustments to Fair
amount cost fair value fair value value®
(3) Debentures held for trading
of Government of Israel 288 288 - - 288
Total debentures held for trading 288 288 - - 288
Total securities 11,081 11,170 35 (101) 11,104

(1) Fair value data are generally based on stock exchange prices, which do not necessarily reflect the price to be obtained on the

sale of a large volume of securities.

(2) Of which: Securities pledged to lenders, amounting to NIS 630 million.
(3) Includes shares for which a fair value is not available, that are stated at cost, net of a provision for decline in value that is not

temporary, amounting to NIS 91 million.

(4) Included in shareholders' equity in "adjustments on presentation of securities available for sale at fair value".

(5) US government debentures.

(6) Includes exposure to Multi-party Development Banks (MDB).

Remarks:

— For more information about operations involving investments in debentures — see Notes 2.D, 3.A.2 and 3.B to the financial
statements. For details of investments in shares — see Note 3.A.4.

— The distinction between Israeli and foreign debentures was made in conformity with the country of residence of the entity which

issued the securities.
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Note 12 — Securities — Continued
As of December 31, 2017
Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

Unrecognized

Unrecognized

gains from losses from
Carrying Amortized adjustments to adjustments to Fair
amount cost fair value fair value value®
(1) Debentures held to maturity
of Government of Israel 3,267 3,267 75 - 3,342
Total debentures held to maturity 3,267 3,267 75 - 3,342
Cumulative Cumulative
other other
Amortized comprehensive comprehensive
Carrying cost (for income income Fair
amount  shares — cost) Gains Losses value®
(2) Debentures available for sale
Of the Government of Israel@ 4,136 4,117 24 (5) 4,136
Of foreign governments ) 2,233 2,271 - (38) 2,233
Of foreign financial institutions 173 174 - 1) 173
Of others overseas 16 17 - 1) 16
Total debentures available for sale 6,558 6,579 24 (45) 6,558
Shares® 99 99 - - 99
Total securities available for sale 6,657 6,678 24 (45" 6,657
Unrealized Unrealized
gains from losses from
Carrying Amortized adjustments to adjustments to Fair
amount cost fair value fair value value®
(3) Debentures held for trading
of Government of Israel 209 209 - - 209
Total debentures held for trading 209 209 - - 209
Total securities 10,133 10,154 99 (45) 10,208

(1) Fair value data are generally based on stock exchange prices, which do not necessarily reflect the price to be obtained on the

sale of a large volume of securities.

(2) Of which: Securities pledged to lenders, amounting to NIS 546 million.
(3) Includes shares for which a fair value is not available, that are stated at cost, net of a provision for decline in value that is not

temporary, amounting to NIS 98 million.

(4) Included in shareholders' equity in "adjustments on presentation of securities available for sale at fair value".

(5) US government debentures.
Remarks:

- For more information about operations involving investments in debentures — see Notes 2.D, 3.A.2 and 3.B For more
information of investments in shares — see Note 3.A.4.

- The distinction between Israeli and foreign debentures was made in conformity with the country of residence of the entity

which issued the securities.
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Note 12 — Securities — Continued
Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

(4) Fair value and unrealized losses, by time period and impairment rate, of securities available for sale and
debentures held to maturity, which include unrealized loss:

As of December 31, 2018

Less Lessthan Lessthan 12 months 12 months
than 12 12 months 12 months 12 months or more or more
months Unrealized Unrealized Less than or more Unrealized Unrealized 12 months
Amortize losses losses 12 months Amortized losses losses or more
d cost 0%-20%  20%-40% Total cost 0%-20%  20%-40% Total
Debentures held to
maturity
of Government of
Israel 1,247 6 - 6 - - - -
Total — debentures
held to maturity 1,247 6 - 6 - - - -
Less than Less than Less than 12 months 12 months
12 12 months 12 months or more or more
months Unrealized Unrealized Less than 12 months Unrealized Unrealized 12 months
Fair losses losses 12 months or more losses losses or more
value® 0%-20% 20%-40% Total Fair value® 0%-20% 20%-40% Total
Debentures
available for sale
of Government of
Israel 2,725 34 - 34 678 4 - 4
Of foreign
governments® 429 3 - 3 1,345 50 - 50
Of foreign financial
institutions® 150 @ - - 186 3 - 3
Of others overseas - _ _ - 10 _ 1
Total securities
available for sale 3,304 37 — 37 2,219 58 - 58
As of December 31, 2017
Less than Less than Less than 12 months 12 months
12 12 months 12 months or more or more
months Unrealized Unrealized Less than 12 months Unrealized Unrealized 12 months
Fair losses losses 12 months or more losses losses or more
value® 0%-20% 20%-40% Total Fair value® 0%-20% 20%-40% Total
Debentures
available for sale
of Government of
Israel 674 1 - 1 611 4 - 4
Of foreign
governments® 339 4 - 4 1,110 34 - 34
Of foreign financial
institutions 173 1 - 1 - - - -
Of others overseas - - — - 10 1 - 1
Total securities
available for sale 1,186 6 - 6 1,731 39 - 39

(1) Fair value data are generally based on stock exchange prices, which do not necessarily reflect the price to be obtained on the
sale of a large volume of securities.

(2) US government debentures.
(3) Includes exposure to Multi-party Development Banks (MDB).
(4) Balance lower than NIS 1 million,

(5) Asset-backed and mortgage-backed securities
As December 31, 2018 and 2017, there was no balance of asset-backed or mortgage-backed securities.
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Note 13 — Credit risk, loans to the public and provision for credit losses

Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

A.
December 31, 2018

Debts®, loans to the public and balance of provision for credit losses

Loans to the Loans to the

Loans to the

public Loans to the

public public Individual - public Banks and

Commercial Housing other Total governments Total
Recorded debt balance of debts®
reviewed on individual basis 40,377 60 674 41,111 6,097 47,208
reviewed on group basis 8,801 126,970 19,074 154,845 - 154,845
Of which: By extent of arrears 1,806 126,970 - 128,776 — 128,776
Total debts 49,178 127,030 19,748 195,956 6,097 202,053
Of which:
Impaired debts under restructuring 290 - 58 348 - 348
Other impaired debts 674 60 19 753 - 753
Total impaired debts 964 60 77 1,101 - 1,101
Debts in arrears 90 days or longer 42 1,251 23 1,316 - 1,316
Other problematic debts 431 - 129 560 - 560
Total problematic debts 1,437 1,311 229 2,977 — 2,977
Provision for credit losses with respect to
debts®
reviewed on individual basis 563 2 28 593 4 597
reviewed on group basis 115 642 225 982 - 982
Of which: Provision by extent of
arrears® 6 642 - 648 - 648
Total provision for credit losses 678 644 253 1,575 4 1,579
Of which: With respect to impaired debts 149 2 19 170 - 170

December 31, 2017
Loans to the
Loans to the Loans to the public Loans to the
public public Individual - public Banks and

Commercial Housing other Total governments Total
Recorded debt balance of debts®
reviewed on individual basis ®35,131 33 ®655 35,819 2,543 38,362
reviewed on group basis ®7,866 120,514 418,403 146,783 - 146,783
Of which: By extent of arrears 1,265 120,514 - 121,779 - 121,779
Total debts 42,997 120,547® 19,058 182,602 2,543 185,145
Of which:
Impaired debts under restructuring 105 - 50 155 - 155
Other impaired debts 515 33 20 568 - 568
Total impaired debts 620 33 70 723 - 723
Debts in arrears 90 days or longer 42 1,072 22 1,136 - 1,136
Other problematic debts 553 - 125 678 - 678
Total problematic debts 1,215 1,105 217 2,537 — 2,637
Provision for credit losses with respect to
debts®
reviewed on individual basis “508 2 24 534 1 535
reviewed on group basis @110 628 212 950 - 950
Of which: Provision by extent of arrears® 5 628 - 633 - 633
Total provision for credit losses 618 630 236 1,484 1 1,485
Of which: With respect to impaired debts 119 2 15 136 — 136

(1) Loans to the public, loans to governments, deposits with banks and other debts, except for debentures and securities borrowed
or acquired in conjunction with resale agreements, except for deposits with Bank of Israel.

(2) Includes general-purpose loans secured by a lien on a residential apartment, amounting to NIS 7,028 million
(as of December 31, 2017 — NIS 6,291 million).
(3) Includes balance of provision in excess of that required by extent of arrears, assessed on individual basis, amounting to
NIS 17 million (as of December 31, 2017 — NIS 16 million), and provision calculated on group basis, amounting to

NIS 445 million (as of December 31, 2017 — NIS 421 million). For more information see Note 1.D.6.

(4) Reclassified.
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Note 13 — Credit risk, loans to the public and provision for credit losses — continued

Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

B. Change in balance of provision for credit losses

For the year ended December 31, 2018 Provision for credit losses

Loans to the Loans to the

Loans to the
public Loans to the

public public Individual — public Banks and

Commer-cial Housing other Total governments Total
Balance of provision for credit losses at start of
period 699 630 245 1,574 1 1,575
Expenses with respect to credit losses 164 36 107 307 3 310
Net accounting write-off® (199) (24) (153) (376) - (376)
Recovery of debts written off for accounting
purposes in previous years® 102 2 64 168 - 168
Net accounting write-offs (97) (22) (89) (208) - (208)
Balance of provision for credit losses at end of
period 766 644 263 1,673 4 1,677
Of which: With respect to off balance sheet
credit instruments 88 - 10 98 - 98

For the year ended December 31, 2017 Provision for credit losses
Loans to the
Loans to the Loans to public Loans to
public the public Individual — the public Banks and
Commer-cial Housing other Total governments Total
Balance of provision for credit losses at start of period 724 615 208 1,547 2 1,549
Expenses with respect to credit losses 46 24 123 193 1) 192
Net accounting write-off (245) 9) (145) (399) - (399)
Recovery of debts written off for accounting
purposes in previous years® 174 - 59 233 - 233
Net accounting write-offs (71) (9) (86) (166) - (166)
Balance of provision for credit losses at end of period 699 630 245 1,574 1 1,575
Of which: With respect to off balance sheet
credit instruments 81 - 9 90 - 90
For the year ended December 31, 2016 Provision for credit losses
Loans to the
Loans to the Loans to the public Loans to the
public public Individual - public Banks and

Commer-cial Housing other Total governments Total
Balance of provision for credit losses at start of period 700 614 192 1,506 3 1,509
Expenses with respect to credit losses 96 13 92 201 1) 200
Net accounting write-off® (191) 12) (133) (336) - (336)
Recovery of debts written off for accounting
purposes in previous years® 119 - 57 176 - 176
Net accounting write-offs (72) (12) (76) (160) - (160)
Balance of provision for credit losses at end of
period 724 615 208 1,547 2 1,549
Of which: With respect to off balance sheet
credit instruments 98 - 11 109 - 109

(1) Net accounting write-offs presented in the Note primarily consists of write-offs of a technical nature, due to passage of time of
clients being in arrears, in conformity with US standards applicable to the Bank in this regard. Thus, for example, the balance of
the provision for large impaired debts will typically be subject to accounting write-off after two years. Debt measured on a group

basis will be subject to write-off after 150 days in arrears. This means that the Bank's collection efforts may sometimes take

longer than the timing for write-off according to accounting rules. Consequently, relatively high balances of "accounting write-offs"
and relatively high balances of "Recovery of debts written off in previous years" are presented.
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Note 14 — Loans to Governments

As of December 31,
Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

2018 2017
Loans to Government of Israel - —
Loans to foreign governments 630 456
Total loans to governments 630 456
Note 15 — Investments in Investee Companies and Details
As of December 31,
Reported amounts (NIS in millions)
A. Item composition:
2018 2017
Associates Associates
Investment in shares stated on equity basis 3) 3)
Subordinated notes and capital notes 35 35
Total investments 32 32
Of which:
Losses accrued since acquisition date (16) (16)
Post-acquisition items accrued in shareholders' equity:
Adjustments from translation of financial statements (1) (2)
B. Bank's share in profits (losses) of associate companies:
2018 2017 2016
Bank's share in net profits of associates®® 1 - -

(1) There are no losses or reversal of losses from impairment of investee companies.
(2) The tax effect on earnings of associated companies is less than NIS 1 million.
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Note 15 — Investments in Investee companies and Details — continued
Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

Notes to financial statements
As of December 31, 2018

C. Details of principal
investees®:

1) Subsidiaries

Bank Yahav for
Government Employees
Ltd.®

Tefahot Insurance Agency
(1989) Ltd.

Mizrahi International
Holding Company Ltd.
(B.V. Holland)®

Etgar Investment Portfolio
Management Company of
the Mizrahi Tefahot Group
Ltd.

Mizrahi Tefahot Issue
Company Ltd.

Mizrahi Tefahot Trust
Company Ltd.

2) Associates

Psagot Jerusalem Ltd.
(“Psagot”)

Rosario Capital Ltd.
("Rosario")

Mustang Mezzanine Fund
Limited Partnership

Planus Technology Fund
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Contribution
to net profit

Contribution

loss) to net profit
attributable to )
equity holders attributable Other items Other items
Share in Share in of the banking to equity accrued accrued
capital capital Investment Investmen Other Other corporation holders ol under under
conferring conferring Sharein Sharein inshares at tin shares capital capital Other items the banking  Dividends Dividends shareholders shareholders
rights rights voting voting equitg at equitg Goodwil| Goodwill investmen investmen accrued under corporation recorded recorded equity®® equity®®
to profits  to profits rights rights value® value' balance ©  balance © ts® ts shareholders For the year For the For the year For the year For the year
As o As of As of As of As of As of As of As of As of As of equity®® ended year ended ended ended ended
Company December December December December December December December December December December December 31, December ~December December December 31, December 31,
information 31, 201¢ 31, 2017 31, 201¢€ 31, 2017 31, 2018 31, 2017 31, 201¢€ 31, 2017 31, 201¢€ 31, 2017 201€& 31, 2017 31, 201¢ 31, 2017 201& 2017
The Bank 50% 50% 50% 50% 777 713 69 69 - 600 68 44 - - (4 (10)
Insurance
agency 100% 100% 100% 100% 1,044 961 - - - - 83 73 - - - -
International
holding
company 100% 100% 100% 100% 236 304 - - - - (5)(12)(68) (5)(19) - - - -
Portfolio
management 100% 100% 100% 100% 27 27 - - - - - - - - - -
Issuance
company 100% 100% 100% 100% 54 50 - - - - 4 4 - - - -
Trust
company 100% 100% 100% 100% 52 68 - - - - @1(16) 13 — -
Land for
construction ®20%  ®20% 20% 20% (16) (16) - - 35 35 - - - - - -
Underwriting
company 19.99% 19.99% 19.99% 19.99% 2 2 - - - - 1 1 (1) - - -
Extending
credit 20% 20% 11 11 - - - - - 1 - - - 2)
Extending
credit 20% 20% - - - - - - - 2) - - - -



Notes to financial statements
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Contribution
to net roflg

Contribution

) to net profit
attributable to loss)
equity holders  attributable Other items Other items
Share in Share in of the banking to equity accrued accrued
capital capital Investment Investmen Other Other corporation holders ol under under
conferring conferring  Sharein Sharein inshares at tin shares capital capital Other items the banking  Dividends Dividends shareholders shareholders
rights rights voting voting equity at equity Goodwill Goodwill investmen investmen accrued under corporation recorded recorded equity®® equity®®
to profits  to profits rights rights value® value® balance © balance © tst ts® shareholders For the year For the Fortheyear Fortheyear  For the year
As ol As of As ol As ol As of As ol As ol As of As ol As ol equity“® ended year ended ended ended ended
Company December December December December December December December December December December December 31, December ~December December December 31, December 31,
information 31, 201¢ 31, 2017 31, 201¢ 31, 2017 31, 2018 31, 2017 31, 201¢ 31, 2017 31, 201¢ 31, 2017 201¢€ 31, 2017 31, 201¢ 31, 2017 2018 2017
3) Main subsidiary of a
subsidiary of United
Mizrahi Overseas
International Holding Ltd.
(BV Holland)
United Mizrahi Bank Commercial
(Switzerland) Ltd.©® bank 100% 100% 100% 100% 134 211 - - - — M12(77) ™(11) - — — -
December 31, 2018
Cost Accumulated amortization Amortized balance
D. Balance of goodwill with respect to investee companies:®(3) 140 53 87

(1) Includes capital notes.

(2) The above list does not include wholly owned and controlled subsidiaries constituting property companies that provide services to the Bank, or companies that provide services to the Bank, and whose assets and
liabilities and operating results are included in the Bank's financial statements.

(3) Balance of goodwill with respect to acquisition of Bank Yahav is included on the consolidated balance sheet under Intangible Assets and Goodwiill.

(4) The Company is incorporated in Holland. regarding a subsidiary of the Company, see section C.3.

(5) Includes gain due to devaluation of the shekel, relative to foreign currency exchange rates, totaling NIS 22 million

(in 2017: loss of NIS 22 million).

(6) United Mizrahi Bank (Switzerland) Ltd. is a commercial bank registered in Switzerland. The investment is presented on the Bank's financial statements as an affiliate whose functional currency is identical to the Bank's.
(7) Includes profit due to devaluation of the shekel, relative to CHF exchange rate, amounting to NIS 14 million

(in 2017: loss of NIS 12 million).

(8) Share of contribution in case of loss is 27%.
(9) Includes goodwill balance included on the consolidated balance sheet under "Intangible assets and goodwill".
(20) Including adjustments from translation of financial statements and adjustments with respect to presentation of certain securities of investees at fair value and changes to Other Comprehensive Income with respect to

employee benefits.

(11) Includes provision for claim amounting to NIS 38 million, in conformity with a verdict given against the Company.

(12) Includes attribution of provisions with respect to the investigation by the US Department of Justice and potential tax implications.

(13) The goodwill balance includes goodwill with respect to acquisition of Tefahot Mortgage Bank Ltd., whose amortized balance as of December 31, 2018 amounted to NIS 14 million (identical to amortized balance as of
December 31, 2017 and as of December 31, 2016), and with respect to acquisition of Adanim Mortgage Bank Ltd., whose amortized balance as of December 31, 2018 amounted to NIS 4 million (identical to amortized
balance as of December 31, 2017 and as of December 31, 2016).
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Note 16 — Buildings and Equipment
Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

A. Composition

Notes to financial statements
As of December 31, 2018

Buildings
and land
(including
installations
and leasehold Equipment,
impro- furniture, Cost of
vements)® and vehicles software Total
Cost of assets
Cost of assets as of December 31, 2016 1,475 1,165 1,783 4,423
Additions 69 56 147 272
Disposals (306) (2) —  (308)
Cost of assets as of December 31, 2017 1,238 1,219 1,930 4,387
Additions 34 75 150 259
Disposals (1) - - Q)
Cost of assets as of December 31, 2018 1,271 1,294 2,080 4,645
Depreciation and impairment loss
Accumulated depreciation as of December 31, 2016 603 920 1,315 2,838
Depreciation 40 64 141 245
Impairment - - - -
Disposals (98) (1) - (99)
Accumulated depreciation as of December 31, 2017 545 983 1,456 2,984
Depreciation 36 61 141 238
Impairment - - - -
Disposals (€8] - - Q
Accumulated depreciation as of December 31, 2018 580 1,044 1597 3,221
Carrying amount®:
As of December 31, 2016 872 245 468 1,585
As of December 31, 2017 693 236 474 1,403
As of December 31, 2018 691 250 483 1,424
Weighted average depreciation rate as of December 31, 2018 4.1% 13.1% 23.1%
Weighted average depreciation rate as of December 31, 2017 3.9% 13.2% 23.1%
B. Additional information
Depreciation rates are as follows:
Buildings 2%-4%
Leasehold improvements 10%
Office equipment and furniture 6%-25%

Vehicles
Computers, software usage rights and costs

15%-20%
20%-33%

(1) Includes amortized capitalized cost of independently developed computer software as of December 31, 2018 amounting to NIS 353 million

(December 31, 2017: NIS 405 million; December 31, 2016: NIS 381 million). For more information about policy on software cost capitalization,

see Note 1.D.8.

(2) Installations, rights in leasehold and payments on account of some of the buildings and leasing rights, amounting to NIS 86 million (as of

December 31, 2017: NIS 95 million) have yet to be recorded at the Land Registry Office in the name of the Bank or its subsidiaries.
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Note 16 — Buildings and Equipment — continued
Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

C. Assets not used by the Group (depreciable balance):

Consolidated Consolidated
December 31, December 31,

2018 2017
Not designated for sale 18 31
Includes — leased to others 18 31
Designated for salet® 3 -

(1) In addition, assets used by the Group and designated for sale of December 31, 2018 amounted to NIS 10 million (as of
December 31, 2017: NIS 3 million).

D. Leasehold rights in buildings (depreciable balance)

Consolidated Consolidated
End dates Lease December 31, December 31,

term In years 2018 2017
Capitalized lease 3-36 70 83
Non-capitalized lease 0-49 15 15

E. As of December 31, 2018, the Bank Group has an obligation to acquire and refurbish buildings, amounting to NIS 8
million (December 31, 2017 — NIS 5 million).

F. In 2017, the Bank acquired land in order to locate, in as much as possible, the Bank's headquarters units in a single
site, in Lod. The acquisition cost amounted to NIS 27 million. For information about this commitment, its effect on the
financial statements and capital relief authorized by the Supervisor of Banks with regard to streamlining in the real
estate sector, see Note 25.
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Note 17 — Other Assets

As of December 31,
Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

December 31,

December 31,

2018 2017
Deferred taxes receivable, net® 1,183 1,092
Excess of advance tax payments over current provisions 137 58
Revenues receivable 127 116
Issuance expenses for debentures and subordinated notes® 76 97
Other receivables and debit balances 287 353
Total other assets 1,810 1,716

(@)
@
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For further details, see Note 8.

For more information about debentures and subordinated notes see Note 20.



Note 18 — Deposits from the Public

As of December 31,
Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

A. Deposit types by location and depositor type

Notes to financial statements
As of December 31, 2018

2018 2017

In Israel
On-call

Non interest-bearing 47,674 44,324

Interest-bearing 22,667 22,189
Total on-call 70,341 66,513
Term deposits 123,723 112,188
Total deposits in Israel® 194,064 178,701
Outside of Israel
On-call

Non interest-bearing 652 504

Interest-bearing 4 5
Total on-call 656 509
Term deposits 4,772 4,363
Total deposits overseas 5,428 4,872
Total deposits from the public 199,492 183,573
(1) Includes:
Deposits from individuals 95,896 87,456
Deposits from institutional investors 37,712 38,881
Deposits from corporations and others 60,456 52,364
B. Deposits from the public by size

2018 2017

Maximum deposit
Uptol 69,559 63,493
Over 1to 10 47,240 41,125
Over 10 to 100 26,703 26,906
Over 100 to 500 18,658 23,911
Above 500 37,332 28,138
Total 199,492 183,573
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Note 19 — Deposits from Banks
Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

Notes to financial statements
As of December 31, 2018

December December
31, 2018 31, 2017
In Israel
Commercial banks:
On-call deposits 199 232
Term deposits 254 773
Acceptances 172 118
Outside of Israel
Commercial banks:
On-call deposits - 2
Total deposits from banks 625 1,125
Note 20 — Debentures and Subordinated Notes
As of December 31,
Reported amounts (NIS in millions)
Average maturity in Internal rate December December
years @ of return® 31, 2018 31, 2017
Debentures and subordinated notes not
convertible into shares:
In Israeli currency — non-linked
Debentures 3.64 2.55% 8,119 8,136
Subordinated notes® 4.68 3.30% 192 192
In Israeli currency — CPI-linked
Debentures 3.08 0.86% 16,741 17,047
Subordinated notes® 6.43 2.36% 2,434 1,531
Debentures and subordinated notes
convertible into shares:
In Israeli currency — CPI-linked
Subordinated notes®) 6.74 4.79% 3,130 3,017
Total debentures and subordinated notes 3.88 2.20% 30,616 29,923

(1) Average maturity is the average of the repayment periods, weighted by the flows discounted according to the internal

rate of return.

(2) Internal rate of return is the interest rate used to discount the projected flow of payments to the carrying value in the

financial statements.

(3) Upon dissolution, the subordinated notes issued by the Bank and included under this item are repayable after all

other liabilities.
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Note 20 — Debentures and Subordinated Notes — continued

A. On October 30, 2006, the Bank's Board of Directors approved the issuance of Bank subordinated notes (Series A)
which will be deemed complex capital instruments (“"Upper Tier Il capital"), as the term is defined in Proper Business
Conduct Directive 311 and in accordance with the approval received from the Supervisor of Banks on November 12,
2006), amounting up to NIS 500 million. The subordinated notes are obligatory notes that, if certain events specified
in advance in their terms should occur, will be converted in a forced conversion, according to a formula prescribed in
advance, into shares of the Bank. On November 15, 2006, Ma'alot Israel Securities Rating Company Ltd. issued a
rating of AA- for the subordinated notes issued. The rating of the subordinated notes in its offering is based on the
rating of the Bank's debentures, including subordinated notes, with the changes required by the terms of the
subordinated notes.

On September 15, 2009, the Bank and the Trustee for the Bank's subordinated capital notes (Series A) signed an
addendum, revising the Deed of Trust dated November 16, 2006, which is effective as of the signing date there of
("the revision"). According to the revision, the capital note section stipulating that interest payment to holders of capital
notes would be suspended, inter alia, in case "within a period of six consecutive quarters, the financial statements for
the most recent of which was published prior to the date set for payment of such interest, the Bank has not reported a
cumulative net profit" (i.e. if the simple summation of quarterly net profit or loss amounts stated on the Bank financial
statements, with respect to six consecutive quarters, should be negative).

On January 4, 2017, Maalot announced that the subordinated capital notes, which qualify as Tier Il equity in conformity
with transitional provisions of Basel Ill, are rated ilA+.

The balance of subordinated capital notes (Series A) as of December 31, 2018 amounted to NIS 2,045 million, NIS
1,702 million par value, issued for consideration of NIS 1,644 million. These capital notes are listed for trading on the
Tel Aviv Stock Exchange.

B. Mizrahi Tefahot Issue Company (“the Company”), a company wholly-owned and controlled by the Bank, issued to the

public CPI-linked pursuant to prospectus, debentures and subordinated notes with a par value of NIS 18,066 million
and non-linked debentures with a par value of NIS 7,936 million, as of December 31, 2018, and deposited the proceeds
in the Bank earmarked for its day-to-day activities.
In 2018, the Company issued contingent subordinated notes (Contingent Convertibles — CoCo) (Series 48) with loss-
absorption provisions through principal write-off (compliant with Basel Ill provisions and recognized by the supervisor
of Banks as Tier Il capital), with total par value of NIS 711 million for consideration of NIS 711 million. These capital
notes are listed for trading on the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange.

C. In December 2015 and in January 2016, the Bank issued contingent subordinated notes (Contingent Convertibles —
CoCo) with loss-absorption provisions through principal write-off, amounting to NIS 600 million. These notes qualify
for recognition as Tier Il equity pursuant to Basel Il provisions.

The notes include loss-absorption provisions if the Bank's Tier | capital should drop below 5% or in case of another
event leading to non-sustainability of the Bank, in conformity with the Supervisor of Banks' decision. In such case, the
notes would be partially or completely written off.

Should the Tier | capital ratio exceed the minimum required ratio, the Bank may announce a write-off of principal, in
whole or in part. Rating agency Standard & Poor's Ma'alot rated the contingent subordinated notes ilAA-. In July 2016
and in August 2017, Bank Yahav issued contingent subordinated notes (Contingent Convertibles — CoCo) with loss-
absorption provisions through principal write-off, amounting to NIS 218 million and NIS 120 million, respectively. These
notes qualify for recognition as Tier Il equity pursuant to Basel Il provisions.

In August 2018, Bank Yahav issued, by private placement, contingent convertible subordinated notes (CoCo)
amounting to NIS 180 million. The subordinated notes stipulate that in case of a dissolution event, the instrument
principal would be erased. These notes qualify for recognition as Tier Il equity pursuant to Basel Ill provisions.

In August 2018, Bank Yahav made a full, early redemption, as approved by the Bank of Israel, of CPI-linked notes
amounting to NIS 620 million, issued in 2009 and 2010 to the parent company.
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Note 21 — Other Liabilities
Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

December December

31, 2018 31, 2017

Provision for deferred taxes, net® 67 44
Excess of provision over funding severance pay, retirement and pension® 1,134 1,204
Unearned revenues 236 232
Accrued expenses 437 555
Provision for unutilized vacations and long- service bonus 182 160
Guarantees payable 104 94
Provision for doubtful debts for off-balance sheet items 98 90
Payables for credit card operations 4,151 3,932
Market value of securities sold short 112 280
Provision for US DOJ investigation® 730 160
Other payables and credit balances 796 740
Total other liabilities 8,047 7,491

(1) For further details, see Note 8.
(2) For more information see Note 22 "Employees’ rights".
(3) For more information about the US DOJ investigation, see Note 26.C.12.
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Note 22 — Employees’ Rights

A. Description of benefits

1.

Below is a summary of the terms of office and employment of the Chairman of the Board of Directors, Mr. Moshe
Vidman.

Mr. Moshe Vidman serves as Chairman of the Bank’s Board of Directors, in a full-time position equivalent, as from
December 1, 2012.

On February 14, 2017, the General Meeting of Bank shareholders approved, in line with the resolution by the Board
of Directors and after approval by the Remuneration Committee, the terms of office and employment of Mr. Vidman
as Chairman of the Bank’s Board of Directors in line with a new officer remuneration policy, also approved by the
General Meeting on said date, which was made to conform to provisions of the Remuneration of Officers in Financial
Corporations Act (Special Permission and Non-allowance of Expenses for Tax Purposes with Respect to Excessive
Remuneration), 2016 ("the Executive Remuneration Act") and following revisions to Proper Conduct of Banking
Business Directive 301A on remuneration (“the new remuneration policy").

For more information about terms of office and employment of the Chairman of the Board of Directors, see Addendum
B to report dated January 9, 2017 (reference: 2017-01-003454) and report dated February 14, 2017 (reference: 2017-
01-013930), included here by way of reference.

The employment term according to the approved employment agreement ("the amended employment agreement”)
is from December 1, 2016 through December 31, 2017 and will be automatically renewed, every year, for one
additional year — all subject to provisions of the amended employment agreement ("the additional employment term").

Notwithstanding the foregoing, either party may announce discontinuation of employment at any time during the
additional employment period, for any reason and with no need to justify their position to the other party, subject to
providing six months' advance notice to the other party.

During the advance notice period, the Chairman of the Board of Directors will be required to fully work as usual, but
the Bank may waive such notice period, in whole or in part, and may terminate employment of the Chairman of the
Board of Directors; in such case, the Bank will pay to the Chairman of the Board of Directors for the portion of the
advance notice period for which the Bank waived the Chairman's work — in an amount equal to the salary for the
waived period plus an amount equal to Bank contributions to provident fund, retirement fund, severance pay and
study fund as stated above.

In conformity with the amended employment agreement, the Chairman of the Board of Directors will be entitled to
monthly salary of NIS 189,660. This salary is fully linked to changes in the Consumer Price Index. The Bank provides
to the Chairman of the Board of Directors a budget equal to 14.83% for contributions towards provident fund,
retirement fund and severance pay payable by the Bank (6.5% for provident fund and 8.33% for severance pay). The
Chairman of the Board of Directors is also eligible to employer contributions to a study fund at 7.5% of the salary.
These amounts are contributed to provident / pension / study funds as selected by the Chairman of the Board of
Directors.

Should the Chairman of the Board of Directors request, from time to time, the Bank would update the Chairman's
monthly salary, subject to required adjustments and changes to payment of associated expenses, so that any
increase or decrease in the salary would be against concurrent decrease or increase in associated expenses and
vice versa, provided that the total cost of employment of the Chairman would remain unchanged, including the tax
cost to the Bank, all subject to statutory provisions and subject to the maximum remuneration allowed by the
Executive Remuneration Act and the statutory rate of contributions to severance pay and provident funds.

Upon approval of the terms of office and employment of the Chairman of the Board of Directors by the Remuneration
Committee and by the Board of Directors, the total maximum remuneration which the Bank may have paid to the
Chairman of the Board of Directors (subject to obtaining statutory approvals), pursuant to Section 2(b) to the
Executive Remuneration Act, amounted to NIS 2,746 thousand per annum (for this matter, any remuneration for
which expenses are not expected pursuant to GAAP and contribution towards severance pay and provident funds by
law would not be taken into account).
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Note 22 — Employees’ Rights — Continued
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Pursuant to terms of employment and office of the Chairman of the Board of Directors, should the maximum
remuneration pursuant to the Executive Remuneration Act, including pursuant to Section 2(b) of the Act, allow this,
the Bank would pay the Chairman of the Board of Directors an additional fixed remuneration component equal to up
to 2 months' salary (based on the salary for December of that year). With respect to this additional fixed remuneration
component, the Bank would make all statutory payments and contributions as well as contribution towards severance
pay and provident funds by law.

Since the expense with respect to cost of salary to be incurred by the Bank, directly or indirectly, in the tax year with
respect to the Chairman of the Board of Directors would exceed the "Maximum payment", as defined in Section 4 of
the Executive Remuneration Act, part of the remuneration payable to the Chairman of the Board of Directors would
not be tax deductible for the Bank pursuant to provisions of the aforementioned Section 4.

Upon termination of employment pursuant to the amended employment agreement, the Bank will pay to the Chairman
of the Board of Directors an acclimation bonus in exchange for non-competition, equal to three monthly salaries
("Acclimation Bonus for the Chairman of the Board of Directors").

The amended employment agreement clarifies that the Acclimation Bonus payable to the Chairman of the Board of
Directors, as noted above, is the only acclimation bonus to which the Chairman of the Board of Directors would be
entitled upon termination of their employment term pursuant to the amended employment agreement.

Furthermore, upon termination of employment pursuant to the amended employment agreement, the Bank would pay
the Chairman of the Board of Directors the retirement bonus to which the Chairman is eligible pursuant to the Previous
Employment Agreement. for the employment term from December 1, 2012 to November 30, 2015, equal to 150% of
the Chairman's final salary, according to the Previous Employment Agreement for 2012-2015, multiplied by the
number of years in office (three years), in conformity with the Previous Employment Agreement for said period
("Retirement Bonus for the Chairman of the Board of Directors").

Note that the cost of the Retirement Bonus for the Chairman of the Board of Directors and Acclimation Bonus for the
Chairman of the Board of Directors, payable to the Chairman of the Board of Directors, as noted above, has been
fully provided for on the Bank's financial statements prior to the end of the transition period for the Executive
Remuneration Act.

Should the Chairman of the Board of Directors be eligible for severance pay, pursuant to the Severance Pay Law, 1963
("the Severance Pay Law") and should the amount accrued in the provident fund with respect to Bank contributions
towards severance pay (8.33%) and all accrued returns as of the termination date and as reported by the provident fund,
be lower than the Severance Pay Amount, as defined in the Severance Pay Law, gross (hereinafter: "statutory severance
pay"), then the aforementioned Retirement Bonus for the Chairman of the Board of Directors, in whole or as required,
will be on account of the statutory severance pay; should the amount accrued in the provident fund plus the Retirement
Bonus for the Chairman of the Board of Directors amount together be lower than the statutory severance pay — then the
Bank will make up the difference up to the statutory severance pay.

On June 17, 2013, the Bank’s Board of Directors approved the appointment of Mr. Eldad Fresher as Bank President.
Mr. Fresher started in his office as full-time Bank President on August 16, 2013.

On February 14, 2017, the General Meeting of Bank shareholders approved, in line with the resolution by the Board
of Directors and after approval by the Remuneration Committee, the terms of office and employment of Mr. Fresher
as Bank President & CEO, in line with a new officers’ remuneration policy, also approved by the General Meeting on
said date, which was made to conform to provisions of the Executive Remuneration Act and with due attention to
amendments required by Proper Conduct of Banking Business Directive 301A with regard to remuneration.

For more information about terms of office and employment of the Bank President & CEO, see Addendum C to report
dated January 9, 2017 (reference: 2017-01-003454) and report dated February 14, 2017 (reference: 2017-01-
013930), included here by way of reference.

The Bank President & CEO would be entitled to monthly salary of NIS 190,660. This salary is fully linked to changes
in the Consumer Price Index. The Bank provides to the Bank President & CEO a budget of 15.83% for contributions
to provident, pension and severance pay funds (5% for provident funds and 8.33% for severance pay); the Bank
would also obtain, on behalf of the Bank President & CEO, disability insurance by payment at 2.5% or such rate as
to provide to the Bank President & CEO a disability pension equal to 75% of their salary, whichever is lower). The
Bank President & CEOQ is also eligible to employer contributions to a study fund at 7.5% of the salary. These amounts
are contributed to provident / pension / study funds as selected by the Bank President & CEO.
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Should the Bank President & CEO request, from time to time, the Bank would update the Bank President & CEO's
monthly salary, subject to required adjustments and changes to payment of associated expenses, so that any
increase or decrease in the salary would be against concurrent decrease or increase in associated expenses and
vice versa, provided that the total cost of employment of the Bank President & CEO would remain unchanged,
including the tax cost to the Bank, all subject to statutory provisions and subject to the maximum remuneration allowed
by the Executive Remuneration Act and the statutory rate of contributions to severance pay and provident funds.

Upon approval of the terms of office and employment of the Bank President & CEO by the Remuneration Committee
and by the Board of Directors, the total maximum remuneration which the Bank may have paid to the Bank President
& CEO (subject to obtaining statutory approvals), pursuant to Section 2(b) to the Executive Remuneration Act,
amounted to NIS 2,746 thousand per annum (for this matter, any remuneration for which expenses are not expected
pursuant to GAAP and contribution towards severance pay and provident funds by law would not be taken into
account).

Pursuant to terms of employment and office of the Bank President & CEO, should the maximum remuneration
pursuant to the Executive Remuneration Act, including pursuant to Section 2(b) of the Act, allow this, the Bank would
pay the Bank President & CEO an additional fixed remuneration component equal to up to 1 month' salary (based on
the salary for December of that year). With respect to this additional fixed remuneration component, the Bank would
make all statutory payments and contributions as well as contribution towards severance pay and provident funds by
law.

Since the expense with respect to cost of salary to be incurred by the Bank, directly or indirectly, in the tax year with
respect to the Bank President & CEO would exceed the "Maximum payment”, as defined in Section 4 of the Executive
Remuneration Act, part of the remuneration payable to the Bank President & CEO would not be tax deductible for
the Bank pursuant to provisions of the aforementioned Section 4.

Upon termination of employment pursuant to the additional employment agreement, the Bank will pay to the Bank
President & CEO an acclimation bonus in exchange for non-competition, equal to six monthly salaries ("Acclimation
Bonus for the Bank President & CEQ").

Furthermore, upon termination of employment pursuant to the amended employment agreement, the Bank would pay
the Bank President & CEO a retirement bonus equal to 150% of the last monthly salary of the Bank President & CEO
prior to end of the transition period pursuant to the Executive Remuneration Act (October 12, 2016) multiplied by the
number of years of service with the Bank through the end of the transition period, all subject to provisions of Section
4.9.4 of Addendum B to the Immediate Report issued by the Bank on May 4, 2014 (reference: 2014-01-056838) ("the
Retirement Bonus for the Bank President & CEQ").

Note that the cost of the Retirement Bonus for the Bank President & CEO and Acclimation Bonus for the Bank
President & CEO payable to the Bank President & CEO, as noted above, has been fully provided for on the Bank's
financial statements prior to the end of the transition period for the Executive Remuneration Act. The Retirement
Bonus for the Bank President & CEO and one half of the Acclimation Bonus for the Bank President & CEO would be
deemed variable retirement remuneration, payable in 4 lots, three of which would be deferred and payable in the
three years subsequent to the employment termination date. All provided that the financial statements published soon
prior to payment of any such deferred lot would not include deviation in excess of 10% of the minimum ratios for total
capital adequacy and Tier | capital adequacy.

The Remuneration Committee and the Board of Directors may, at their discretion, award the Bank President & CEO
a monetary bonus for each of 2017, 2018 and 2019, amounting up to three months' salary. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, should the Remuneration Committee and the Board of Directors resolve that the performance-based bonus
awarded for a given year to officers (other than the Bank President & CEO or Board members) would also include
equity-based remuneration, they may resolve, at their own discretion, that the performance-based remuneration to
be awarded to the Bank President & CEO for the bonus year would also include equity-based remuneration.
Eligibility of the Bank President & CEO for any performance-based remuneration, should it be awarded, would be
contingent on the Bank's total capital adequacy ratio and Tier | capital adequacy ratio, in conformity with the Bank's
annual financial statements for the bonus year, would not be lower than the minimum ratios stipulated by Bank of
Israel directives.

179



Notes to financial statements
As of December 31, 2018

Note 22 — Employees’ Rights — Continued

180

The variable remuneration to be awarded to the Bank President & CEO would be subject to restitution provisions as
per Section 6.10 of Addendum A to the Immediate Report issued by the Bank on January 9, 2017
(reference: 2017-01-003454).

Either party may announce discontinuation of employment at any time during the additional employment period, for
any reason and with no need to justify their position to the other party, subject to providing six months' advance notice
to the other party.

During the early notification period, the Bank President & CEO would be required to work as usual and in full, but the
Bank may waive such period, in whole or in part, and may terminate the work of the Bank President & CEO. In such
case, the Bank will pay to the Bank President & CEO for the portion of the notice period in which the Bank waived
the Bank President & CEO's work — in an amount equal to the salary for the waived period plus an amount equal to
Bank contributions to provident fund, retirement fund, severance pay and study fund as stated above.

Officers’ remuneration policy

On November 19, 2013, the Supervisor of Banks issued Proper Conduct of Banking Business Directive 301A
concerning remuneration policies at banking corporations, as amended in August 2015 and in September 2016
(hereinafter: "Directive 301A" or "the remuneration directive"). As this directive became effective and further to
discussions between the Bank and the Supervisor of Banks, the Bank has acted to revise the remuneration policy for
officers, approved by the General Meeting of Bank shareholders on August 27, 2013 (hereinafter: "the original
remuneration policy").

On February 14, 2017, the General Meeting of Bank shareholders approved, after approval by the Board of Directors
and recommendation by the Remuneration Committee, the revised officers’ remuneration policy at the Bank
(hereinafter "the revised remuneration policy"), effective for three (3) years as from January 1, 2017.

The revised remuneration policy incorporates provisions of the Companies Law and directives by the Supervisor of
Banks concerning remuneration, with general principles which the Bank’s Board of Directors, after recommendations
by the Remuneration Committee, saw fit to adopt with regard to officers’ remuneration at the Bank with due attention,
inter alia, to the Bank's strategic plan and to current employment terms of officers at the Bank.

The remuneration of officers, other than Board members, will include two major components: monthly salary (and
associated components) and performance-based variable remuneration (based on the Bank's performance targets,
on individual performance benchmarks and including discretionary remuneration), to include a monetary bonus and
which may include long-term equity-based remuneration not to exceed one half of the performance-based variable
remuneration. The remuneration package may also include remuneration related to retirement.

The mid-term remuneration (annual bonus) and the long-term remuneration are designed to align the interests of
officers with those of the Bank and to strengthen the link between overall Bank performance and the officer's
contribution to achievement of such performance to the officer's remuneration, in line with the Bank's risk profile.

In conformity with the new remuneration policy, the maximum variable remuneration shall not exceed 85% of the fixed
remuneration, except under special conditions, where the maximum variable remuneration may not exceed 170% of
the fixed remuneration. The Bank’s Board of Directors also stipulated that the maximum variable remuneration for
officers who are gatekeepers would not exceed 55% of fixed remuneration and that such officers would be eligible for
a retention bonus equal to two months' salary, which constitutes fixed remuneration pursuant to the remuneration
policy.

In conformity with the new remuneration policy, the maximum remuneration as defined in the Executive Remuneration
Act (i.e. excluding payments for severance pay and provident funds by law) for the Chairman of the Board of Directors
and the Bank President & CEO would be less than 35 times the lowest salary of any full-time Bank employee, including
contractors. The maximum remuneration of other officers (other than Board members) would be NIS 2.5 million.
The policy stipulates that the variable remuneration may be subject to restitution, in whole or in part, under
circumstances listed in the remuneration policy.

For more information about the revised remuneration policy, its principles and scope, see Addendum A to the
Immediate Report dated January 9, 2017 (reference: 2017-01-003454) and the Immediate Report dated February 14,
2017 (reference: 2017-01-013930), included here by way of reference.

As from January 1, 2017, the notice period to the Bank from the Bank President & CEO and from other officers
reporting there to, including the Chief Internal Auditor with regard to termination of their employment with the Bank,
would be of 6 months.
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4. Senior officers are eligible upon their retirement to an acclimation grant equal up to six months’ salary, for which a
provision was recorded in the financial statements. Officers are also entitled to a retirement bonus at 150% per year
through December 31, 2016 for officers, or through October 11, 2016 for the Bank President & CEO, all subject to
provisions of the revised remuneration policy.

5. Remuneration policy for all Bank employees

On March 20, 2017, the Board of Directors resolved, after receiving the recommendation from the Remuneration
Committee, to approve a revised remuneration policy for all Bank employees, other than officers who are subject to
the revised remuneration policy for Bank officers, as noted above (hereinafter: "the revised remuneration policy for all
Bank employees").

The revised remuneration policy for all Bank employees discusses remuneration terms of key employees at the Bank
and those of other managers at the Bank and of other Bank employees for 2017-2019.

The terms of office or employment of Bank employees include fixed and variable remuneration, as customary at the
Bank, as well as retirement terms and any other benefit, payment or commitment to make a payment, provided with
respect to the aforementioned office or employment.

In October 2017, options with respect to 2017 were allotted to Bank officers and to key employees and other managers
at the Bank and at Bank subsidiaries. For more information about this allotment, see Note 23.B.4.

6. On September 16, 2009, a special collective bargaining agreement was signed with the Employee Union — clerks
sector, whereby the special collective bargaining agreement signed on April 27, 2006 was extended by a further 5
years, from January 1, 2011 through December 31, 2015. This agreement was approved by the Bank Board of
Directors on October 19, 2009.

In late 2015, an economic arbitration process (hereinafter: "arbitration”) was launched between the Bank and the
Mizrahi Tefahot Employees Union ("the Employee Union"), to discuss the demands made by the Employee Union for
2005-2015.

On January 28, 2019, an arbitration verdict was issued to the Bank and the Employees' Association, which stipulated
that the Bank is to pay a one-time compensation payment, amounting to NIS 94.3 million (cost) to employees who
are members of the Employees' Association, who worked for the Bank from January 1, 2005 through December 31,
2015, or during part of this period, and who work for the Bank on the date of issue of this arbitration verdict, as well
as to employees who are members of the Employees' Association who worked during said period and retired after
June 30, 2013 due to reaching the retirement age. This compensation is payable in two installments: in May 2019
and in April 2020. The arbitration verdict also accepted some of the demands for various benefits, including an
increase of contribution to provident funds, to 7% as from January 1, 2019 and to 7.5% as from January 1, 2021. The
implications of this arbitration verdict is an expense recognized in the amount of the one-time compensation of NIS
94.3 million (before tax) and NIS 62 million (after tax) in the Bank's financial statements as of December 31, 2018,
and an annual additional payroll expense, as from 2019, estimated by the Bank at NIS 15 million (before tax). For
more information, see Immediate Report dated January 28, 2019, reference 2019-01-010473.

On December 3, 2017, a collective bargaining agreement was signed with the Employees’ Union and on December
11, 2017 this agreement was approved by the qualified organs of the Bank (hereinafter: "the new collective bargaining
agreement").
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Below are highlights of the new collective bargaining agreement:

- The agreement applies to the period 2016-2021.

- Full and complete labor relations would be maintained throughout the term of the agreement.

- Bank employees would be engaged and would assist in successful completion of moves to acquire and/or merge
another bank, other than the four major banks and including success of the merger with Bank Igud Lelsrael Ltd.
at no additional cost to the Bank.

- During this period, fixed pay increases and differential pay increases would be given.

- The seniority increase to be given to new employees hired by the Bank as from signing the agreement would be
lower than the current one.

- Abonus would be given contingent on Bank performance (return on equity), including a gradual increase based
on achievement of the strategic plan targets.

- Employees employed by the Bank upon signing the agreement would receive a special perseverance and
engagement bonus, equal to one half of a 13th monthly salary (based on the value as of the agreement signing
date), for each year from 2018 through 2021 in return for their actual work during these years, where the bonus
part with regard to 2019 being contingent on overall agreement as to how Bank Igud employees would be
included in the collective bargaining agreement.

- The voluntary retirement plan approved by the Bank’s Board of Directors on December 27, 2016 would be
implemented (Immediate Report dated December 27, 2016, reference: 2016-01-092211).

- Various understandings were reached to allow the Bank additional managerial flexibility with regard to human
resources.

For more information about the impact of this agreement on actuarial liabilities recognized in the 2017 financial
statements, see Note 22 to the 2017 financial statements..

On December 20, 2018, a collective bargaining agreement was signed with the Managers’ Organization for 2018-

2022. Below are highlights of the new collective bargaining agreement:

- This agreement includes a new pay structure, consisting of base pay, additional seniority pay, additional
management pay, global overtime and expense reimbursement (per diem, car expenses, education and so forth).

- The base pay includes all fixed monthly pay components paid prior to the effective start date of this agreement,
except for additional seniority pay and additional management pay.

- The annual additional seniority pay would be at 1% of the base pay.

- The additional management pay would be determined based on managerial complexity.

- Overtime will be paid on a global basis.

- Updated contribution towards expenses for kindergarten, after-school activity and higher education for managers'
children.

- Voluntary retirement program.

- Monthly pay increase of NIS 2,500 per manager, as from January 1, 2018.

- Differential pay increase for managers for 2019-2022 (based on return on equity for 2020-2022).

- Absolutely complete calm labor relations throughout the term of the agreement.

Labor and payroll agreements at the Technology Division

Employment terms of employees of Mizrahi Tefahot Technology Division Ltd. (hereinafter: "the Technology Division")
are arranged in the labor constitution that was signed in 1989 and in a series of agreements signed by the Technology
Division Employee Council, the Labor Union and the Technology Division over the years.

Employees of the Technology Division have their pay linked to the pay for Bank employees.

On August 15, 2018, a collective bargaining agreement was signed by the Technology Division and the division's
employee representation and the MAOF trade union. This agreement has no material impact on the financial
statements.

Some Bank employees who take early retirement, sometimes receive, upon retirement, higher amounts than their
entitlement pursuant to the law and to agreements. Sometimes the Bank pays these employees a pension until they
reach the full retirement age. According to the Supervisor of Banks' directive, an actuarial reserve with respect to
these payments is included on the financial statements.
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14.

15.

16.

On December 27, 2016, the Bank’s Board of Directors approved the streamlining program recommended by Bank
management, whereby early retirement would be possible for 300 employees in 2017-2021, at improved conditions.
Note that the retiring employees, who would be allowed to take such early retirement, include Bank employees and
50 employees of a wholly-owned and wholly-controlled subsidiary of the Bank, Mizrahi-Tefahot Technology Division
Ltd. The number of retiring employees from each group may change, but the total number will not exceed 300.

In conformity with the streamlining plan, the retiring employees would be entitled to an early pension through the
official retirement age or to increased severance pay at 150% (in addition to receiving ownership of provident fund
accounts in their name), based on the criteria listed in the plan. It is possible that retirement terms and conditions
could offer additional, non-material benefits to such employees.

The cost of update to the actuarial liability with respect to the streamlining program, recorded on the financial
statements as of December 31, 2016, amounts to NIS 286 million; the cost net of tax, amounting to NIS 188 million,
was charged in that quarter to equity (under Other Comprehensive Income).

A small group of employees who retired in the past is entitled to a fixed monthly pension from the Bank. Employees
who retired from the Bank prior to June 30, 1997 are entitled to pension payments from the Bank for certain salary
components. Bank retirees are also eligible to receive non-pension benefits. The Bank’s liability for these payments
is covered by provisions, based on an actuarial calculation.

Personal employment contracts have been signed with a group of senior employees, entitling them to a special bonus
upon termination, under the circumstances prescribed in the agreements that could, in a few years’ time, reach
seventeen months’ salary for certain employees with high seniority. These employees are entitled upon retirement to
moneys and other rights accrued on their behalf in various funds as well as to advance termination notice three to six
months in advance. The Bank has no intention to terminate any of these senior Bank employees. The Bank’s liability
for these payments is covered by provisions, based on an actuarial calculation.

Reserves with respect to long-service bonuses and voluntary retirement programs were made based on an actuarial
calculation, with the discount rate based on the yield of Government debentures in Israel plus the average yield spread
for corporate debentures rated AA (international rating scale) or higher upon the report date. For practical reasons,
the spread would be determined by the difference between yields to maturity, by terms to maturity, for corporate
debentures rated AA or higher in the USA — and yields to maturity, for the same terms to maturity, for US government
debentures, all as of the reporting date.

The calculation takes into account future real increase in pay of between 2.14%-4.10%.

The provision with respect to voluntary retirement was calculated in conformity with the retirees’ eligibility to have their
pension linked to the Consumer Price Index.

Long-service bonuses

Bank employees are entitled to special lump-sum bonuses upon attaining thirteen and eighteen years of service. A
provision for these liabilities was recorded in the financial statements according to an actuarial calculation based on
past experience and the likelihood that the employee will still be employed by the Bank on the vesting date.

Reserve with respect to tuition pay

Bank employees under the collective bargaining agreement are entitled to tuition reimbursement for biblical studies
and for higher education, based on reimbursement percentage customary at the Bank. A provision for these liabilities
was recorded in the financial statements according to an actuarial calculation based on past experience and the
likelihood that the employee is still employed by the Bank.

Bank Yahav has a defined benefit plan, funded and unfunded, with respect to all of its employees The plan provides
a defined benefit based on years of service and most recent salary.

Bank Yahav's obligation to pay severance or retirement pay is primarily covered by current deposits based on the salary for
pension purposes to official provident and pension funds in the name of the employees. Bank Yahav customarily makes up
the difference, for employees eligible to receive severance pay, between the employee's most recent salary multiplied by
their number of years in service and the amount accrued in their name in the aforementioned provident funds. Bank Yahav
may not withdraw the funded amounts other than for severance payment.

To some of its employees, Bank Yahav committed to transfer, upon termination of their employment for any reason,
the severance pay component of recognized provident funds (pursuant to Section 14 of the Severance Pay Law). The
Bank is not required to supplement the difference for these employees between the employee's most recent salary
multiplied by their number of years in service and the amount accrued in their name in the aforementioned provident
funds.
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In 2017, the Bank Yahav Board of Directors approved the voluntary retirement program, as recommended by Bank

Yahav management.

Bank Yahav was granted approval for this program by the Supervisor of Banks, as required in the streamlining
directive. Pursuant to the program, early retirement of employees would be authorized subject to criteria set forth in
the program. The costs of actuarial liability with respect to employees amounted to NIS 35 million before tax (NIS 23

million after tax effect).

OnJanuary 17, 2019, Bank Yahav signed a new collective bargaining agreement with employee representation which

governs labor and remuneration for 2018-2022.

B. Liability amounts with respect to benefits by type(NIS in millions):

December 31,

December 31,

2018 2017
Post-retirement benefits®
Liability amount 140 160
Benefits post termination and prior to retirement®
Liability amount 1,110 1,165
Fair value of plan assets 116 121
Excess liability over plan assets 994 1,044
Benefits prior to termination®
Liability amount 99 86
Excess liability included under Other Liabilities 1,233 1,290
Of which: With respect to overseas employees’ benefits 10 10

(1) Holiday gifts and other post-retirement employees’ benefits

(2) Pension, severance pay and other benefits on defined-benefit plan, including balance of liability with respect to employees who

have retired.
(3) Primarily jubilee bonus and tuition for current employees.

C. Defined benefit plans (pension, severance pay and other benefits)®
1. Obligations and funding status

1.1. Change in obligations with respect to expected benefit (NIS in millions)

December 31,

December 31,

2018 2017
Obligation with respect to expected benefit at start of period 1,325 1,155
Cost of service 51 42
Cost of interest 42 42
Actuarial loss (gain) (91) 150
Benefits paid (77) (64)
Obligation with respect to expected benefit at end of period 1,250 1,325
Obligation with respect to cumulative benefit at end of period® 1,068 1,171

(1) Post-employment pre-retirement benefits and post-retirement benefits, including balance of liability with respect to employees

who have retired.

(2) Including the effect of the collective bargaining agreement signed with the Employees' Association. For more information,

see section 7 below.
(3) Excludes any assumptions with regard to level of future remuneration.
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C. Defined benefit plans (pension, severance pay and other benefits)® — Continued

1.2. Change in fair value of plan assets and plan funding status (NIS in millions)

December 31, December 31,

2018 2017
Fair value of plan assets at start of period 121 112
Actual return on plan assets 1) 8
Deposits to plan by the Bank 6 6
Benefits paid (10) (5)
Fair value of plan assets at end of period 116 121
Funding status — net asset recognized at end of period 116 121

1.3. Amounts recognized on the consolidated balance sheet (NIS in millions)

December 31, December 31,
2018 2017

Amounts recognized under Other Liabilities 1,134 1,204

1.4. Amounts recognized under Other Comprehensive Income (Loss), before tax effect

December 31, December 31,

2018 2017
Net actuarial loss (463) (584)
Net liability with respect to transition - -
Total — recognized under Other Comprehensive Income (463) (584)

1.5. Plans for which the obligation with respect to cumulative and expected benefit exceeds plan assets (NIS in
millions)

December 31, December 31,

2018 2017
Obligation with respect to expected benefit 1,250 1,325
Obligation with respect to cumulative benefit 1,068 1,171
Fair value of plan assets 116 121

2. Expenses during the reported period
2.1. Net benefit cost components recognized on Profit and Loss (NIS in millions)

For the year For the year For the year

ended ended ended
December 31, December 31, December 31,
2018 2017 2016
Under payroll and associated expenses
Cost of service 51 42 26
Under other expenses
Cost of interest 42 42 31
Expected return on plan assets (5) (4) 4
Deduction of non-allowed amounts:
Net actuarial loss 36 18 9
Total under other expenses 73 56 36
Total benefit cost, net 124 98 62
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C. Defined benefit plans (pension, severance pay and other benefits)® — Continued

2.2. Changes to plan assets and benefit obligation recognized under Other Comprehensive Income (Loss), before
tax effect (NIS in millions)

For the year For the year For the year

ended ended ended

December 31, December 31, December 31,

2018 2017 2016
Net actuarial loss (gain) for the period (85) 150 303
Amortization of actuarial loss® (36) (18) (9)
Total — recognized under Other Comprehensive Income (121) 132 294
Total benefit cost, net 124 98 62

Total recognized under benefit cost, net for the period and under

Other Comprehensive Income 3 230 356

2.3. Estimated amounts included under Cumulative Other Comprehensive Income expected to be deducted from
Cumulative Other Comprehensive Income to the Statement of Profit and Loss as expense in 2019, before tax

effect
NIS in millions
Net actuarial loss 36
Total expected to be deducted from Cumulative Other Comprehensive Income 36

(1) Post-employment pre-retirement benefits and post-retirement benefits, including balance of liability with respect to employees
who have retired.

(2) Actuarial loss due to current changes in discount rates during the reported year would be amortized using the straight line
method over the remaining average terms of service for employees expected to receive benefits over the plan term or,
alternatively, over the average remaining term for receipt of benefits by employees. See also Note 1.D.12 to the financial
statements.

D. Assumptions

1. Assumptions based on weighted average, used to determine the obligation with respect to benefits and to
measure the benefit cost, net

1.1. Key assumptions used to determine the obligation with respect to benefits:

December 31, December 31,

2018 2017
In % In %
Discount rate 1.92 1.20
Discount rate — CPI 2.00 2.00
Departure rate 3.52 3.55
Remuneration increase rate 2.14 2.34
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D. Assumptions - Continued

1.2. Key assumptions used to measure benefit cost for the period (in %):

December December December
31, 2018 31, 2017 31, 2016

In % In % In %
Discount rate 3.25 3.77 4,18
Expected long-term return on plan assets 3.85 3.85 4.07
Remuneration increase rate 2.14 2.34 1.72

1.3. Effect of change of 1 percentage point on obligation with respect to expected benefits, before tax effect:

Increase by Increase by  Decrease by  Decrease by
1 percentage 1 percentage 1 percentage 1 percentage
point December point Decemberpoint Decemberpoint December

31, 2018 31, 2017 31, 2018 31, 2017
Discount rate (103) (114) 125 139
Departure rate 101 71 (117) (96)
Remuneration increase rate 80 74 (67) (63)

E. Plan assets

1.1. Fair value composition of plan assets

December 31, December 31,

Property type 2018 2017
Shares 33 31
Government assistance to legacy pension funds 8 11
Other 14 12
Debentures: Government 10 13

Designated Government 26 27

Corporate 25 27
Total 116 121

1.2. Fair value of plan assets by asset type and allocation target for 2018 (in %)

Percentage Percentage
of plan assetsof plan assets

Allocation As of As of

target For December 31, December 31,

Property type 2019 2018 2017
Shares 28 29 26
Government assistance to legacy pension funds 7 7 9
Other 12 12 10
Debentures: Government 9 9 11
Designated Government 22 22 22

Corporate 22 21 22

Total 100 100 100

187



Notes to financial statements
As of December 31, 2018

Note 22 — Employees’ Rights — Continued

E. Plan assets - Continued

1.3. Deposits to defined-benefit pension plan

Actual Actual

deposits For deposits For

) the year the year

Allocation ended ended

target For  pecember  December

Property type 2019W 31,2018 31, 2017
Deposits 7 6 6

(1) Estimated deposits to be paid into defined-benefit pension plans in 2019.

F. Cash flows — Benefits which the corporation expects to pay in future:

Year NIS in millions
2019 119
2020 107
2021 109
2022 90
2023 85
2024-2028 302
2029 and later 489
Total 1,301
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A. Stock option plan for the President

As part of the option plan and in conformity with its terms and conditions, the Bank will allot to a trustee, on behalf of
the Bank President & CEO, options in three annual lots as follows: 186,915 options for 2014, 177,720 options for
2015 and 172,503 options for 2016. Each option may be exercised for one Bank ordinary share of NIS 0.1 par value,
subject to adjustments for bonus share distribution, rights issuance, share split or reverse-split, dividend
distributions etc.
Assuming full exercise of all options, and assuming allotment of the maximum possible number of exercise shares,
all options allotted under the stock option plan to the Bank President pursuant to the option plan (based on the report
"Equity status and securities registries of the corporation and changes there to", issued by the Bank on April 10, 2014)
would be equal to 0.23% of the Bank's issued share capital and voting rights (after allotment of the full number of
exercise shares), and assuming full dilution — 0.18% of the Bank's issued share capital and voting rights.
The President & CEOQ's eligibility for options allotted with respect to any bonus year is contingent on the following
threshold conditions being fulfilled for the bonus year:
1. Return on equity for the bonus year shall be at least 9%.
2. Overall capital adequacy ratio and core capital adequacy ratio for the Bank, for the bonus year, shall be no less
than the minimum ratios specified in Bank of Israel regulations.
The Bank President's eligibility for options included in any annual lot would be calculated soon after publication of the
Bank's financial statements for the bonus year for which the annual lot has been allotted, based on fulfillment of the
specified eligibility conditions.
Each of the annual lots for 2014-2016 would vest in three equal parts as from April 1 of 2016-2020.
The exercise price for each option to be allotted to the Bank President pursuant to the plan is NIS 46.19% plus CPI
linkage differentials, from the known CPI upon approval by the Board of Directors to the known CPI upon the exercise
date. The exercise price was determined based on the average closing price per Bank ordinary share on the stock
exchange over the thirty trading days preceding the date of approval by the Board of Directors. Accordingly, note that
on the exercise date, the Bank President would not be required to pay the exercise price — which would only serve to
determine the monetary benefit amount and the number of exercise shares actually allotted to the Bank President.
For calculation of fair value as of approval of the option award by the General Meeting of Bank shareholders, as noted
above, the following terms of the option plan were taken into account as well as annualized standard deviation
between 26.7%-32.1%, reflecting the standard deviation for periods of 3.41-7.42 years. Risk-free interest ranges
between (0.82%)-0.55% for the various lots.
Based on these assumptions, the average fair value of each option awarded to the Bank President pursuant to the
option plan, as of the approval date of option award by the General Meeting of Bank shareholders, is as follows:
Options included in the first lot — NIS 7.90; options included in the second lot — NIS 8.37; options included in the
third lot — NIS 8.67.
Accordingly, the theoretical benefit value of the options in this plan (the fair value), calculated in accordance with
accounting standards, amounts to NIS 4.5 million (NIS 5.3 million including Payroll Tax). This value will be recognized
over the eligibility period in non-linear fashion.
The options would be allotted under the "wages" track, pursuant to the Section 102 of the Income Tax Ordinance.
Therefore, any benefit arising to the Bank President from exercise of these options shall be taxed at the marginal tax
rate applicable to the Bank President upon exercise of the options. The Bank would be required to pay the payroll tax
with respect to the benefit arising to the President from exercise of the options under the stock option plan.
Furthermore, upon payment of the tax with respect to this benefit by the Bank President & CEO, the Bank may make
a deduction for tax purposes with respect to the aforementioned options based on the effective tax rate applicable
upon the exercise date.
In 2018 some 77,884 options (2017: 38,024 options) were exercised at an exercise price of NIS 46.19%) (identical to
2017). The average share price upon exercise of options into shares in 2018 was NIS 69.77 (in 2017: NIS 59.14). In
conformity with financial results for 2016, some 50,827 options were exercised in 2017 (in 2016: 58,141 options) with
an exercise price of NIS 46.190 (identical to 2016) were forfeited. As of December 31, 2018, the Bank President &
CEO had 239,419 options (as of December 31, 2017: 317,303 options; as of December 31, 2016: 406,154 options)
at an exercise price of NIS 46.19%., As of December 31, 2018 (exercise price of NIS 42.72).

(1) Plus linkage differentials and adjustment.
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. Stock option plan for employees

On June 10, 2014, the General Meeting of Bank shareholders approved, after approval by the Board of Directors and
recommendation by the Remuneration Committee, the revised officer remuneration policy at the Bank (for details see
section C. above).

On June 19, 2014, the Bank’s Board of Directors approved, after approval by the Remuneration Committee on June
16, 2014, the offering of options to Bank officers, pursuant to section 15B(1)(a) of the Securities Act. Further, the
Bank’s Board of Directors approved, after approval by the Remuneration Committee, an option offering to key Bank
employees and to other managers of the Bank and its subsidiaries, pursuant to section 15B(1)(a) of the Securities

Act, all as delisted a report issued by the Bank on June 19, 2014, reference 2014-01-091176 (hereinafter: "the outline

report”).

As resolved by the Board of Directors on June 19, 2014, the following option plans were approved:

— Option plan A — up to 2,083,197 options A to be awarded to up to eight Bank officers who are not gatekeepers,
exercisable for up to 2,083,197 Bank ordinary shares of NIS 0.1 par value each.

— Option plan B — up to 873,066 options B to be awarded to up to five Bank officers who are gatekeepers,
exercisable for up to 873,066 Bank ordinary shares of NIS 0.1 par value each.

— Option plan C — up to 2,708,060 options C to be awarded to up to forty-three key Bank employees and up to ten
managers at Bank subsidiaries, which have been approved for inclusion in this group, exercisable for up to
2,708,060 Bank ordinary shares of NIS 0.1 par value each.

— Option plan D —up to 1,183,110 options D to be awarded to up to twenty-eight managers employed by the Bank
subject to individual employment contracts and up to eight managers at Bank subsidiaries, which have been
approved for inclusion in this group, exercisable for up to 1,183,110 Bank ordinary shares of NIS 0.1 par value
each.

— Option plan E — up to 5,046,390 options E to be awarded to up to two hundred fifty-three managers employed
by the Bank subject to collective bargaining agreements, exercisable for up to 5,046,390 Bank ordinary shares of
NIS 0.1 par value each.

Threshold conditions and eligibility conditions for options

An offeree's eligibility for options pursuant to each of the aforementioned option plans, for any bonus year, is

contingent on fulfillment of all of the following threshold conditions in the bonus year:

— Return on equity for the bonus year shall be at least 9%.

— Overall capital adequacy ratio and core capital adequacy ratio for the Bank, for the bonus year, shall be no less
than the minimum ratios specified in Bank of Israel regulations.

In addition, eligibility conditions for options would be based on the following criteria:

— Options A and options B to be issued to offerees who are officers of the Bank, as noted above, constitute part of
these officers' variable remuneration. Officer eligibility to options A or to options B included in any annual lot would
be determined based on four criteria which are measurable "company-wide criteria" (hereinafter: "the quantitative
benchmarks") and on two qualitative criteria based on supervisor assessment of achievement of individual targets
(hereinafter: "the individual targets") of the officer specified in the employee offering outline and on assessment
of the officer's performance by the supervisor at the latter's discretion (hereinafter: "supervisor's discretion"). The
individual targets and supervisor's discretion, hereinafter: "the qualitative benchmarks").

The total weight assigned to quantitative benchmarks would be 80% of the annual lot of options A or options B. The
total weight assigned to the qualitative benchmarks would be 20%: the weight assigned to the individual target
benchmark would be 10% and the weight assigned to the supervisor's discretion benchmark would be 10%.
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Eligibility of offerees who are not officers of the Bank to options C and options D, with respect to any bonus year,

would be determined based on the quantitative benchmarks and would not be based on any qualitative benchmark.

Eligibility of offerees who are not officers of the Bank to options C and options E, with respect to any bonus year,

would be determined based on the quantitative benchmarks and on the quality rating assigned to such offerees, as

stated in section 2.12.9 of the outline report.

The quantitative benchmarks specified in the option plan are: return on equity, return on Bank shares relative to

benchmark, operating efficiency ratio and average ratio of deposits to loans.

The theoretical benefit value of the options in these plans, calculated in accordance with accounting standards,

amounts to NIS 96 million (NIS 113 million including Payroll Tax). When spreading the theoretical benefit value in the

Bank’s accounts, the estimated expected churn rate for plan offerees would be taken into account.

The options would be allotted under the "wages" track, pursuant to the Section 102 of the Income Tax Ordinance.

Therefore, any benefit arising to the offerees from exercise of these options shall be taxed at the marginal tax rate

applicable to the offerees upon exercise of the options. The Bank would be required to pay the wages tax with respect

to the benefit arising to the offerees from exercise of the options under the stock option plan. Furthermore, upon

payment of the tax with respect to this benefit by the offerees, the Bank may make deduct the expenses for tax

purposes with respect to the aforementioned options based on the effective tax rate applicable upon the exercise date.

All other details of the plans and the outline of offering to employees (including the threshold conditions for eligibility

for options, vesting and exercise periods of options and the Board of Directors' authority to reduce the number of

options and provisions with regard to reimbursement of the monetary benefit are described in an Immediate Report

dated June 19, 2014, reference 2014-01-091176. This mention constitutes inclusion by way of reference of all

information provided in the aforementioned Immediate Report.

On August 3, 2015, the Bank’s Board of Directors, after receiving the recommendation of the Bank Remuneration

Committee, resolved to approve the outline of an offering to employees, whereby the Bank would allot 229,990 options

to 19 offerees who are managers at the Bank.

The option plan is based on the principles of the stock option plan approved by the Bank in 2014, according to which

the Bank allotted options to managers on June 19, 2014. See below.

The options were allotted as follows:

- Up to 11,494 options D to be awarded to up to one Bank officer who is employed by an individual employment
contract, exercisable for up to 11,494 Bank ordinary shares of NIS 0.1 par value each. In conformity with Option
Plan D dated June 19, 2014.

- Up to 218,496 options E to be awarded to up to eighteen managers employed by the Bank subject to collective
bargaining agreements, exercisable for up to 218,496 Bank ordinary shares of NIS 0.1 par value each. In
conformity with Option Plan E dated June 19, 2014.

The theoretical benefit value of the options in these plans, calculated in accordance with accounting standards,
amounts to NIS 1.6 million (NIS 1.9 million including Wages Tax). When spreading the theoretical benefit value in the
Bank’s accounts, the estimated expected churn rate for plan offerees would be taken into account.

All other details of the plans and the outline of offering to employees (including the threshold conditions for eligibility
for options, vesting and exercise periods of options and the Board of Directors' authority to reduce the number of
options and provisions with regard to reimbursement of the monetary benefit are described in an Immediate Report
dated August 3, 2015, reference 2015-01-088305. This mention constitutes inclusion by way of reference of all
information provided in the aforementioned Immediate Report.
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Below are the assumptions used in calculating the fair value of a single option, as well as the resulting fair value per single
option, for each of the lots awarded on June 19, 2014:

Lot 1 Lot 2 Lot 3 Total
Option plan A
Number of options (in thousands) 728 690 665 2,083
Annualized standard deviation 20.07%-28.99% 22.00%-34.72% 25.94%-35.64%
Exercise price (in NIS) 46.21 46.21 46.21
Risk-free interest rate 0.08%-(0.45%) 0.64%-(0.87%) 1.08%-(0.70%)
Term to expiration (in years) 2.75-4.75 3.75-5.75 4.75-6.75
Fair value per single option 7.70 8.12 8.43
Total fair value per lot, NIS in thousands 5,605 5,605 5,605 16,815
Option plan B
Number of options (in thousands) 314 284 275 873
Annualized standard deviation 20.07%-28.99% 22.00%-34.72% 25.94%-35.64%
Exercise price (in NIS) 46.21 46.21 46.21
Risk-free interest rate 0.08%-(0.45%) 0.64%-(0.87%) 1.08%-(0.70%)
Term to expiration (in years) 2.75-4.75 3.75-5.75 4.75-6.75
Fair value per single option 7.73 8.17 8.43
Total fair value per lot, NIS in thousands 2,428 2,319 2,319 7,066
Option plan C
Number of options (in thousands) 917 896 896
Annualized standard deviation 20.07%-28.99% 22.00%-34.72% 25.94%-35.64% 2,709
Exercise price (in NIS) 46.21 46.21 46.21
Risk-free interest rate 0.08%-(0.45%) 0.64%-(0.87%) 1.08%-(0.70%)
Term to expiration (in years) 2.75-4.75 3.75-5.75 4.75-6.75
Fair value per single option 7.64 8.06 8.35
Total fair value per lot (NIS in thousands) 7,006 7,222 7,482 21,710
Option plan D
Number of options (in thousands) 394 394 394 1,182
Annualized standard deviation 20.07%-27.06% 22.00%-28.31% 25.94%-26.81%
Exercise price (in NIS) 46.21 46.21 46.21
Risk-free interest rate (0.12%)-(0.16%) 0.26%-(0.87%) 0.61%-(0.70%)
Term to expiration (in years) 4.50 4.50 4.50
Fair value per single option 8.42 8.17 7.64
Total fair value per lot (NIS in thousands) 3,317 3,219 3,010 9,546
Option plan E
Number of options (in thousands) 1,682 1,682 1,682 5,046
Annualized standard deviation 20.07%-27.06% 22.00%-28.31% 25.94%-26.81%
Exercise price (in NIS) 46.21 46.21 46.21
Risk-free interest rate (0.12%)-(0.16%) 0.26%-(0.87%) 0.61%-(0.70%)
Term to expiration (in years) 4.50 4.50 4.50
Fair value per single option 8.42 8.17 7.64
Total fair value per lot (NIS in thousands) 14,162 13,742 12,850 40,754
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Below are the assumptions used in calculating the fair value of a single option, as well as the resulting fair value per single
option, for each of the lots awarded on August 3, 2015:

Lot1l Lot 2 Total
Option plan D
Number of options (in thousands) 6 6 12
Annualized standard deviation 17.48%-21.01% 17.48%-22.92%
Exercise price (in NIS) ®47.76 ®47.76
Risk-free interest rate (0.58%)-(0.86%) (0.45%)-(0.86%)
Term to expiration (in years) 3.50 3.50
Fair value per single option 7.08 6.91
Total fair value per lot (NIS in thousands) 40 40 80
Option plan E
Number of options (in thousands) 109 109 218
Annualized standard deviation 17.48%-21.01% 17.48%-22.92%
Exercise price (in NIS) 47.76 47.76
Risk-free interest rate (0.58%)-(0.86%) (0.45%)-(0.86%)
Term to expiration (in years) 3.50 3.50
Fair value per single option 7.08 6.91
Total fair value per lot (NIS in thousands) 774 755 1,529

(1) Plus linkage differentials and dividend adjustment.

Details of the number of stock options and their exercise price for all plans are as follows:

2018 2017 2016

Weighted Weighted Weighted

2018 average 2017 average 2016  average

Number exercise Number  exercise Number exercise

of price of price of price

options (in NIS) options (in NIS) options (in NIS)

Outstanding at year start 4,827,012 46.23 8,071,922 46.24 10,420,496 46.24
Granted during the year - - - - - -
Forfeited during the year - - 1,297,047 46.26 1,599,747 46.26
Exercised during the year® 1,875,072 46.26 1,947,863 46.26 748,827 46.27
Outstanding at year end 2,951,940 46.22 4,827,012 46.23 8,071,922 46.24

(1) The weighted average share price upon exercise of options into shares during 2018 was NIS 67.94 (2017 — NIS 61.98).

Below is information about stock options outstanding at year end by exercise price range:

December December December
Exercise price range 31, 2018 31, 2017 31, 2016
(in NIS) 40-50 40-50 40-50
Number of stock options 2,951,940 4,827,012 8,071,922
Weighted average exercise price (in NIS) 46.22 46.23 46.24
Weighted average remaining contractual term (in years) 1.10 1.77 2.57
Of which vested:
Number of stock options 1,724,155 2,389,747 2,136,379
Weighted average exercise price (in NIS) 46.23 46.26 46.25
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On February 14, 2017, the General Meeting of Bank shareholders approved, after approval by the Board of Directors
and recommendation by the Remuneration Committee, the revised officers’ remuneration policy at the Bank, effective
for three years as from January 1, 2017.

On August 31, 2017, the Bank Board of Directors approved, after approval by the Remuneration Committee on June
12, 2017, the offering of options to Bank officers, pursuant to section 15B(1)(a) of the Securities Act. Further, the
Bank’s Board of Directors approved, after approval by the Remuneration Committee, an option offering to key Bank
employees and to other managers of the Bank and its subsidiaries, pursuant to section 15B(1)(a) of the Securities
Act, all as described in a report issued by the Bank on August 31, 2017, reference 2017-01-088584 (hereinafter: "the
outline report"). (In addition, stock option reserves were approved to be issued in two additional annual lots for 2018
and 2019, in addition to those allocated in 2017, which issue would be subject to the required approvals from the
Remuneration Committee and the Board of Directors in due course).

As resolved by the Board of Directors on August 31, 2017, the following option plans were approved:

- Option plan A — up to 572,985 options A to be awarded to up to seven Bank officers who are not
gatekeepers, exercisable for up to 572,985 Bank ordinary shares of NIS 0.1 par value each.

- Option plan B — up to 254,076 options B to be awarded to up to five Bank officers who are gatekeepers,
exercisable for up to 254,076 Bank ordinary shares of NIS 0.1 par value each.

- Option plan C — up to 180,353 options C to be awarded to up to four key Bank employees and up to three
key employees at Bank subsidiaries, which have been approved for inclusion in this group, exercisable for
up to 180,353 Bank ordinary shares of NIS 0.1 par value each.

- Option plan D — up to 978,796 options D to be awarded to up to sixty-nine managers employed by the
Bank subject to individual employment contracts and up to thirty-one other managers at the Bank and at
Bank subsidiaries, which have been approved for inclusion in this group, exercisable for up to 978,796
Bank ordinary shares of NIS 0.1 par value each.

- Option plan E — up to 1,365,244 options E to be awarded to up to two hundred sixty-seven managers
employed by the Bank subject to collective bargaining agreements, exercisable for up to 1,365,244 Bank
ordinary shares of NIS 0.1 par value each.

The options issued in the name of the Trustee on behalf of each officer, pursuant to option plans A,B or C were in
three equal lots, which may be exercised as from April 1, 2019, April 1, 2020 and April 1, 2021 and would expire
eighteen months after said date.

All options issued pursuant to option plans D and E may be exercised in a single lot from the 2" to the 5" anniversaries
of the issue date.

An offeree's eligibility for options pursuant to each of the aforementioned option plans, for any bonus year, is
contingent on fulfillment of all of the following threshold conditions in the bonus year:

Return on equity for the bonus year shall be at least 9%;

Overall capital adequacy ratio and core capital adequacy ratio for the Bank, for the bonus year, shall be no less than
the minimum ratios specified in Bank of Israel regulations. In addition, eligibility conditions for options would be based
on the following criteria:

- Options A and options B issued to offerees who are officers of the Bank, as noted above, constitute part
of these officers' variable remuneration. Officer eligibility to options A or to options B included in the annual
lot for 2017 would be determined based on four criteria which are measurable "company-wide criteria"
(hereinafter: "the quantitative benchmarks") and on two qualitative criteria based on supervisor assessment
of achievement of individual targets (hereinafter: "the individual targets") of the officer specified in the
employee offering outline and on assessment of the officer's performance by the supervisor at the latter's
discretion (hereinafter: "supervisor's discretion”). The individual targets and supervisor's discretion,
hereinafter: "the qualitative benchmarks").
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The total weight of quantitative benchmarks would be forty-two percent of the annual lot of options A and thirty
percent of the annual lot of options B. The total weight assigned to the qualitative benchmarks would be fifty-two
percent of the annual lot of options: the weight assigned to the individual target benchmark would be thirty-six
percent and the weight assigned to the supervisor's discretion benchmark would be twenty-two percent.

The total weight of qualitative benchmarks would be fifty-eight percent of the annual lot of options A and fourty
percent for options B. The total weight assigned to the qualitative benchmarks would be seventy percent of the
annual lot of options: the weight assigned to the individual target benchmark would be thirty-six percent and the
weight assigned to the supervisor's discretion benchmark for options A would be fourty percent for options B.

- Eligibility of offerees who are not officers of the Bank to options C and options D, with respect to any bonus
year, would be determined based on the quantitative benchmarks and would not be based on any
qualitative benchmark. Eligibility of offerees who are not officers of the Bank to options C and options E,
with respect to any bonus year, would be determined based on the quantitative benchmarks and on the
quality rating assigned to such offerees, as stated in section 2.12.9 of the outline report.

The quantitative benchmarks specified in the option plan are: return on equity, return on Bank shares relative to
banking benchmark, operating efficiency ratio and average ratio of deposits to loans.

The theoretical benefit value of the options in these plans, calculated in accordance with accounting rules of US
standards pursuant to ASC718, amounts to NIS 28 million. When spreading the theoretical benefit value in the
Bank’s accounts, the estimated expected churn rate for plan offerees would be taken into account.

The options were allotted under the "Capital Gains" track, pursuant to the Section 102 of the Income Tax Ordinance.
Therefore, any benefit arising to the offerees from exercise of these options shall be taxed at the capital gains tax
rate applicable to the offerees upon exercise of the options. All other details of the plans and the outline of offering
to employees (including the threshold conditions for eligibility for options, vesting and exercise periods of options
and the Board of Directors' authority to reduce the number of options and provisions with regard to reimbursement
of the monetary benefit are described in an Immediate Report dated August 31, 2017, reference 2017-01-088584.
This mention constitutes inclusion by way of reference of all information provided in the aforementioned Immediate
Report.

In 2018, no options were issued under any of the plans listed in the outline report.

Below are the assumptions used in calculating the fair value of a single option, as well as the resulting fair value per
single option, for options awarded on August 31, 2017:

Exercise price NIS 64.65%)

Risk-free interest rate (0.44%)-0.39%

Annualized standard deviation 16.54%-19.11%

Option plan
A B C D E

Number of options (in thousands) 573 254 180 979 1,365
Term to expiration (in years) 3.09-5.09 3.09-5.09 3.09-5.09 5.09 5.09
Average fair value per single option ®7.33 ®7.36 7.22 8.63 8.63
Total fair value (NIS in thousands) 4,200 1,869 1,300 8,449 11,780

(1) Fair value with respect to supervisor's discretion and achievement of individual targets components was recalculated
as of December 31, 2017
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Details of the number of stock options and their exercise price for all plans are as follows:

2018 2017

Weighted Weighted

2018 average 2017 average

Number exercise Number exercise

of price of price

options (in NIS) options (in NIS)
Outstanding at year start 3,350,957 64.65 - -
Granted during the year® - - 3,351,420 64.65
Forfeited during the year 746,905 64.65 463 64.65
Exercised during the year - - - -
Outstanding at year end 2,604,052 64.65 3,350,957 64.65

(1) The weighted average fair value of stock options granted in 2017, as of the measurement date, was NIS 8.24.

Below is information about stock options outstanding at year end by exercise price range:

Exercise price range December 31, 2018 December 31, 2017
(in NIS) 60-70 60-70
Number of stock options 2,604,052 3,350,957
Weighted average exercise price (in NIS) 64.65 64.65
Weighted average remaining contractual term (in years) 3.50 4.50

Of which vested:
Number of stock options - -
Weighted average exercise price (in NIS) - _
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A. Details on share capital of the Bank (in NIS):

Registered Registered Issued and paid- Issued and paid-

December 31, December 31, in December 31, in December 31,

2018 2017 2018 2017

Ordinary shares, NIS 0.1 par value® 40,000,000 40,000,000 23,334,947 23,263,136

(1) For allotment of stock options — see Note 23 to the financial statements.
(2) The shares are listed for trading on the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange.

B. Policies for distribution of dividends

The Bank's dividends policy is to distribute dividends, as from 2018, with respect to quarterly earnings, at 40% of net
profit attributable to shareholders of the Bank. The dividends policy is subject to the Bank achieving a ratio of Tier |
capital to risk components as required by the Supervisor of Banks and maintaining appropriate safety margins.

On March 12, 2019, the Bank’s Board of Directors approved the signing of a DPA agreement with the US Department
of Justice to conclude the investigation into the Bank Group's business with its US clients. For more information see
Note 26.C.12 to the financial statements.

These financial statements include an update to the provision with respect to this investigation:

In the second quarter of 2018 — NIS 425 million.

In the fourth quarter of 2018 — NIS 121 million.

Total update to the provision with respect to this investigation in 2018 — NIS 546 million.

The cumulative provision with respect to this investigation as of December 31, 2018 amounts to USD 195 million (NIS
731 million).

In view of the foregoing, the Bank Board of Directors did not declare a distribution of dividends with respect to earnings
of the second and third quarters of 2018 and did not declare a distribution of dividends with respect to earnings of the
fourth quarter of this year upon approval of these financial statements, with the capital adequacy presented on these
financial statements being as follows: Tier | capital ratio — 10.01% (or 0.17% above the minimum ratio required by
the Supervisor of Banks) and total capital ratio — 13.64% (0.30% above the minimum ratio required by the Supervisor
of Banks).

For more information and for a summary of previous decisions by the Board of Directors with regard to dividends
distribution policy, see Note 24 to the 2017 financial statements.

Below are details of dividends distributed by the Bank since 2016 (in reported amounts):

Dividends Dividends as Total

per share percent dividends paid
Declaration date Payment date (Agorot) of profit (NIS in millions)
February 24, 2016 March 21, 2016 15.52 0.15 36.0
May 18, 2016 June 21, 2016 18.62 0.15 43.2
August 10, 2016 September 11, 2016 21.99 0.15 51.0
November 14, 2016 December 12, 2016 24.12 0.15 56.0
Total dividends distributed in 2016® 186.2
March 20, 2017 April 26, 2017 17.12 0.30 39.8
May 15, 2017 June 20, 2017 41.45 0.30 96.3
August 28, 2017 September 26, 2017 51.63 0.30 120.0
November 13, 2017 December 10, 2017 33.67 0.30 78.3
Total dividends distributed in 2017® 334.4
February 26, 2018 March 26, 2018 47.03 0.30 109.5
May 07, 2018 June 05, 2018 58.91 0.40 137.2
Total dividends distributed in 2018® 246.7

(1) Total dividends distributed with respect to 2016 earnings — NIS 190.0 million.
(2) Total dividends distributed with respect to 2017 earnings — NIS 404.1 million.
(3) Total dividends distributed with respect to 2018 earnings — NIS 137.2 million.
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Information on n limitations on distribution of dividends is provided below:

- According to the directives of the Supervisor of Banks with respect to a distribution of dividends by banking
corporations, a bank may not distribute cash dividends, as long as its non-monetary assets exceed its adjusted
shareholders' equity. As of December 31, 2014, the Bank’s reported capital exceeds its non-monetary assets by
NIS 7,371 million.

- The permit issued to the purchasers of the controlling interest by the Governor of the Bank of Israel stipulates
that dividends will not be distributed out of profits accruing until September 30, 1994, the amount of which (after
capitalization to a capital reserve in 1998) is NIS 100 million.

Furthermore, the Bank may not distribute dividends without prior consent of the Supervisor of Banks for such
distribution, when:
1. The Bank's retained earnings, net of negative differences included under Other Comprehensive Income,
are not positive.
2. One or more of the most recent three years ended in comprehensive loss.

3. Cumulative results for the three quarters ending at the end of the interim period for which the most recent
financial statements have been published — show a comprehensive loss.

In a letter from the Supervisor of Banks with regard to the Basel Ill framework — minimum core capital ratios, banks
were required, inter alia, to avoid distributions of dividends if it may cause them to fail to achieve the capital targets
set therein.

On June 2, 2014, the Bank applied to the Supervisor of Banks for approval of a buy-back of 5 million Bank shares.
On July 17, 2014, the Bank submitted the detailed buy-back plan by date, as requested by the Supervisor of Banks.

The buy-back plan which was presented is in five stages, from the fourth quarter of 2015 to the fourth quarter of
2017, with restrictions for each buy-back lot and in total not to exceed 5 million shares. According to the plan, the
Bank would sell any surplus shares after the end date for exercising all options under the stock option plan.

On July 27, 2014, the Supervisor of Banks approved the buy-back plan subject to conditions set between the Bank
and the Supervisor of Banks.

On August 13, 2014, the Bank’s Board of Directors approved the aforementioned share buy-back outline. To date,
the Bank has not bought back any of its shares pursuant to the buy-back plans presented in 2014.

On February 1, 2018, the Bank applied to the Supervisor of Banks for approval of a buy-back of 5 million Bank
shares. The share purchase is to be conducted against shares allotted or to be alloted pursuant to the stock option
plans for 2014-2016 and the stock option plans for 2017-2019. On July 23, 2018, the Supervisor of Banks approved
the buy-back plan subject to conditions specified.

Buy-back of Bank shares is tantamount to a distribution of dividends.
For more information about share-based payment transactions, see Note 23 "Share-based Payment Transactions".
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Note 25 — Capital Adequacy, liquidity and leverage
Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

A. Capital adequacy

Calculated in accordance with Proper Conduct of Banking Business Directives 201-211
"Measurement and Capital Adequacy"

As of December

As of December

31, 2018 31, 2017
1. Consolidated data
A. Capital for purpose of calculating the capital ratio
Tier | shareholders’ equity 15,172 14,333
Tier | capital 15,172 14,333
Tier Il capital 5,515 5,251
Total capital 20,687 19,584
B. Weighted risk asset balances
Credit risk 140,572 130,525
Market risks 1,494 1,605
Operational risk 9,561 8,394
Total weighted risk asset balances® 151,627 140,524

As of December

As of December

31, 2018 31, 2017
In % In %

C. Ratio of capital to risk components
Ratio of Tier | capital to risk components 10.01 10.20
Ratio of Tier | capital to risk components 10.01 10.20
Ratio of total capital to risk components 13.64 13.94
Minimum Tier | capital ratio required by Supervisor of Banks® 9.84 9.86
Total minimum capital ratio required by the Supervisor of Banks® 13.34 13.36
2. Significant subsidiaries
Bank Yahav for Government Employees Ltd. and its subsidiaries
Ratio of Tier | capital to risk components 9.36 9.27
Ratio of Tier | capital to risk components 9.36 9.27
Ratio of total capital to risk components 13.29 13.01
Minimum Tier | capital ratio required by Supervisor of Banks 9.00 9.00
Total minimum capital ratio required by the Supervisor of Banks 12.50 12.50

(1) Of the total weighted balance of risk assets, NIS 178 million was deducted due to adjustments with respect to the streamlining

plan (December 31, 2017: NIS 298 million).

(2) Capital ratios required by the Supervisor of Banks as from January 1, 2015. As from January 1, 2015, an additional capital
requirement was added to these ratios at 1% of the housing loan balance as of the reporting date. This requirement was

gradually implemented through January 1, 2017.
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Note 25 — Capital adequacy, liquidity and leverage — Continued
Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

A. Capital adequacy — Continued

Calculated in accordance with Proper Conduct of Banking Business Directives 201-211 "Measurement and Capital
Adequacy" — continued

As of As of
December December
31, 2018 31, 2017

3. Capital components for calculating the capital ratio (on consolidated basis)
A. Tier | shareholders’ equity

Shareholders’ equity 15,390 14,327
Differences between shareholders’ equity and Tier | capital (286) (169)
Total Tier | capital before regulatory adjustments and deductions 15,104 14,158
Regulatory adjustments and deductions:

Goodwill (87) (87)
Regulatory adjustments and other deductions (13) (11)
Total supervisory adjustments and deductions, before adjustments with respect to the

streamlining plan — Tier | capital (100) (98)
Total adjustments with respect to the streamlining program® 168 273
Total Tier | capital after regulatory adjustments and deductions 15,172 14,333
B. Tier Il capital

Tier Il capital: Instruments, before deductions 4,012 3,821
Tier Il capital: Provisions, before deductions 1,503 1,430
Total Tier Il capital, before deductions 5,515 5,251
Deductions:

Total deductions — Tier |l capital - -
Total Tier Il capital 5,515 5,251
Total capital 20,687 19,584

4. Effect of transitional provisions on Tier | capital:

As of As of
December December
31, 2018 31, 2017

In % In %
Ratio of capital to risk components
Ratio of Tier | capital to risk components, before effect of transitional provision of Directive
299 and before effect of adjustments with respect to the streamlining plan® 9.88 9.92
Effect of transitional provisions, before effect of adjustments with respect to the streamlining plan - 0.06
Effect of adjustments with respect to the streamlining plan 0.13 0.22
Ratio of Tier | capital to risk components before application of transitional provisions 10.01 10.20

(1) Of which, NIS 120 million is with respect to the streamlining plan with regard to employees and NIS 48 million with respect to
the streamlining plan with regard to real estate (as of December 31, 2017: NIS 202 million with respect to the streamlining plan
with regard to employees and NIS 71 million with respect to the streamlining plan concerning real estate).

(2) Before effect of transitional provisions concerning adoption of US GAAP with regard to employees’ rights.
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Note 25 — Capital adequacy, liquidity and leverage — Continued
Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

B. Liquidity coverage ratio

Calculated in accordance with Proper Conduct of Banking Business Directive 221 "Liquidity coverage ratio"

As of As of
December December
31, 2018 31, 2017

In % In %
1. Consolidated data
Liquidity coverage ratio® 116 118
Minimum liquidity coverage ratio required by the Supervisor of Banks® 100 100
2. Bank data
Liquidity coverage ratio® 116 118
Minimum liquidity coverage ratio required by the Supervisor of Banks® 100 100
3. Significant subsidiaries
Bank Yahav for Government Employees Ltd. and its subsidiaries
Liquidity coverage ratio® 185 260
Minimum liquidity coverage ratio required by the Supervisor of Banks® 100 100

(1) Interms of simple average of daily observations during the reported quarter.
(2) As from January 1, 2017, the minimum liquidity coverage ratio required by the Supervisor of Banks is 100%.

C. Leverage ratio

Calculated in conformity with Proper Conduct of Banking Business Directive 218 "Leverage ratio"

As of As of
December December
31, 2018 31, 2017

1. Consolidated data

Tier | capital® 15,172 14,333
Total exposure 279,827 261,504
As of As of

December December
31, 2018 31, 2017

In % In %
Leverage ratio 5.42 5.48
Minimum leverage ratio required by the Supervisor of Banks® 5.00 5.00
2. Significant subsidiaries
Bank Yahav for Government Employees Ltd. and its subsidiaries
Leverage ratio 5.38 5.14
Minimum leverage ratio required by the Supervisor of Banks® 4.70 4.70

(1) For effect of transitional provisions and effect of adjustments with respect to the streamlining program, see sections A.3, A.4 above.
(2) Banking corporations are required to achieve the minimum leverage ratio required by the Supervisor of Banks as from January 1, 2018.
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As from January 1, 2014, the Bank applies Proper Conduct of Banking Business Directives 201-211 with regard to
capital measurement and adequacy, as amended to align them with Basel Il directives.

The Basel Il directives stipulated significant changes to calculation of regulatory capital requirements, including with
regard to the following:

- Supervisory capital components

- Deductions from capital and supervisory adjustments

- Treatment of exposures to financial corporations

- Treatment of exposures to credit risk with respect to impaired debt

- Capital allocation with respect to CVA risk

These regulations are applied gradually, in line with transitional provisions specified in Proper Conduct of Banking
Business Directive 299 with regard to "Capital measurement and adequacy — Supervisory capital — Transitional
provisions", in order to allow for compliance with new supervisory capital requirements in applying Basel Ill and to
specify a transition period pending full application. The transitional provisions refer, inter alia, to supervisory
adjustments and deductions from capital, and to capital instruments that do not qualify for inclusion in supervisory
capital based on the new criteria listed in the Basel directives. In particular, according to the transitional provisions,
supervisory adjustments and deductions from capital, as well as non-controlling interest that do not qualify for
inclusion in supervisory capital, were gradually deducted from capital at 20% per year, from January 1, 2014 to
January 1, 2018. Capital instruments that no longer qualify as supervisory capital were recognized up to 80% on
January 1, 2014, and this cap is further reduced by 10% in each subsequent year, until January 1, 2022. As from
January 1, 2018, the transitional provisions with regard to supervisory adjustments and deductions from regulatory
capital expired and are at 100%. Furthermore, the cap for instruments qualifying as supervisory capital is at 40%. As
from January 1, 2019, the cap would be at 30%.

On September 28, 2014, the Supervisor of Banks issued a circular updating Proper Conduct of Banking Business

Directive 329, as well as a Q&A file on this issue. The circular consists of two amendments to the directive:

- Increase to the capital target — the target Tier | capital to risk components ratio is to include an addition equal to
1% of the housing loan portfolio balance. The equity targets would be increased by fixed quarterly steps from
January 1, 2015 to January 1, 2017 (over eight quarters).

- Risk weighting of leveraged loans bearing variable interest — the risk weighting of leveraged loans bearing variable
interest would be reduced from 100% to 75%.

This requirement was gradually implemented through January 1, 2017.
The minimum Tier | capital ratio and the minimum total equity ratio required by the Supervisor of Banks, on a
consolidated basis, in conformity with data as of the reporting date, are 9.84% and 13.34%, respectively.
This target may change based on actual data for the housing loan portfolio and for total risk assets.

As from January 1, 2015, the Bank has adopted US GAAP with regard to employees’ rights.

In conformity with transitional provisions specified in Proper Conduct of Banking Business Directive 299, a
cumulative other comprehensive loss balance and amounts directly charged to retained earnings as of January 1,
2013 with respect to remeasurement of net liabilities or net assets with respect to defined benefit to employees,
would not be immediately taken into account for calculation of the capital requirements, but would rather be subject
to transitional provisions, so that the impact would be applied at equal rates of 20% as from January 1, 2014, 40%
as from January 1, 2015 and through to full application as from January 1, 2018.

On April 28, 2015, the Supervisor of Banks issued a new Proper Conduct of Banking Business Directive 218
concerning "Leverage ratio". This directive adopts the Basel Committee recommendations with regard to leverage
ratio, stipulated in January 2014.

The leverage ratio is reflected in percent, defined as the ratio of Tier | capital according to Basel rules to total
exposure. Total exposure for the Bank is the sum of balance sheet exposures, exposures to derivatives and to
securities financing transactions and off-balance sheet items.

According to the directive, banking corporations must maintain a leverage ratio of 5% or higher on a consolidated
basis, as from January 1, 2018. Banking corporations which comply with the requirement upon publication of the
directive may not drop below the threshold stated in the regulation. Any banking corporation which does not meet
the requirements of this directive is required to increase its leverage ratio at fixed quarterly steps by January 1, 2018.

In December 2015 and in January 2016, the Bank issued contingent subordinated notes (Contingent Convertibles
— CoCo) with loss-absorption provisions through principal write-off, amounting to NIS 600 million.
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In December 2017, Tefahot Issuance issued to the public contingent subordinated notes (Contingent Convertibles
— Coco) with loss-absorption provisions through principal write-off, amounting to NIS 679 million.

These notes qualify for recognition as Tier Il equity pursuant to Basel Ill provisions.

The notes include loss-absorption provisions if the Bank's Tier | capital should drop below 5% or in case of another
event leading to non-sustainability of the Bank, in conformity with the Supervisor of Banks' decision.

In such case, the notes would be partially or completely written off.

Should the Tier | capital ratio exceed the minimum required ratio, the Bank may announce a write-off of principal, in
whole or in part.

In July 2016, Bank Yahav issued contingent subordinated notes (Contingent Convertibles — Coco) with loss-
absorption provisions through principal write-off, amounting to NIS 218 million.

In August 2017, Bank Yahav issued additional contingent (CoCo) subordinated notes amounting to NIS 120 million.
In August 2018, Bank Yahav issued contingent convertible (CoCo) subordinated notes recognized by the Supervisor
of Banks as Tier Il capital, with par value of NIS 180 million.

In October 2018, Tefahot Issuance issued contingent convertible (CoCo) subordinated notes recognized by the
Supervisor of Banks as Tier Il capital, with par value of NIS 710.6 million.

These notes qualify for recognition as Tier |l equity pursuant to Basel Il provisions.

I.  On December 27, 2016, the Bank’s Board of Directors approved the streamlining program recommended by Bank
management, whereby early retirement would be possible for 300 employees in 2017-2021, at improved conditions.
Bank management is in negotiations with the Employees’ Union with regard to the retirement program and as a first
step, has started implementation of the plan in the Technology Division Ltd., pending agreement with the Employees’
Union at the Bank.

The cost of update to the actuarial liability with respect to the streamlining program, recorded in the financial
statements as of December 31, 2016, amounts to NIS 286 million; the cost net of tax, amounting to NIS 188 million,
was charged to equity (under Other Comprehensive Income).

In conformity with the Supervisor of Banks' letter dated January 12, 2016, with regard to operating streamlining of
the Israeli banking system, the Supervisor of Banks allowed capital relief with respect to this plan. The Bank applies
this capital relief so that supervisory capital used to calculate capital adequacy would be adjusted (increased) and
the capital effect of the streamlining (a decrease by 0.14%) would be applied on a straight line basis as from 2017,
over a five-year period.

J.  On December 28, 2016, the Bank acquired an insurance policy for credit exposure due to guarantees provided by
the Bank pursuant to the Sale Act (Apartments) (Securing Investments of Home Buyers), 1974 and obligations to
issue such guarantees.

The aforementioned transaction was made through an insurance company which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Bank which, concurrently, has contracted with international reinsurers with a high international rating.

The insurance policy provides the Bank with coverage should the Bank be required to pay due to forfeiture of the
guarantees; it is primarily intended to reduce risk assets with respect to credit exposure due to these guarantees.
In the second quarter of 2018, the Bank increased the coverage ratio of the insurance policy from 80% to 90% for
guarantee amounting to NIS 15.5 billion.

In the third quarter, the Bank purchased a rider to the existing insurance policy, so that it would also apply to other
types of guarantees associated with projects, amounting to NIS 1.8 billion.

The aforementioned insurance policies apply to guarantees issued by the Bank through 2018.

In the fourth quarter of 2018, the Bank obtained an insurance policy with 90% coverage for credit exposures with
respect to guarantees to be issued by the Bank as from January 2019, in conformity with the Sale Law and other
project-related guarantees, similar to the insurance policies described above.

K. Relief with regard to capital adequacy with respect to implementation of a real estate streamlining plan.
On January 12, 2016, the Supervisor of Banks issued a letter with regard to streamlining operations of the banking
system in Israel. According to this letter, the Board of Directors of the banking corporation should set a multi-year
streamlining plan. A banking corporation which is compliant with conditions listed in the letter would receive relief,
whereby they may allocate the effect of such plan over 5 years, in a straight line, for calculation of capital adequacy.
As noted in the financial statements as of December 31, 2016, in Notes 22 and 25, the Bank implemented on
December 27, 2016 a streamlining program with regard to early retirement of employees as well as allocation of
capital relief, so that supervisory capital used to calculate capital adequacy would be adjusted (increased) and the
effect of streamlining on capital would be attributed on a straight line as from 2017 over a 5-year period.
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On June 13, 2017, the Supervisor of Banks issued another letter, encouraging banking institutions to review, in

addition to streamlining of payroll expenses, the optional reduction of the cost of real estate and maintenance of

headquarters units and management, including through re-evaluation of their geographic location.

According to this letter, the Supervisor of Banks would allow banking corporations to apply similar relief to the

foregoing with regard to capital adequacy for implementation of a real estate streamlining program, subject to the

following conditions:

- The plan includes relocation of the corporation's headquarters units and management.

- The plan is economically viable and expected to achieve long-term cost savings.

- The plan provides a response to current and expected needs of the banking corporation over the time frame of
its strategic plan.

On June 19, 2017, the Bank’s Board of Directors approved a plan to relocate operations of Bank headquarters units
to one central site in Lod and directed Bank management to take the required actions to this end. This is further to
contracting the purchase of land in Lod Industrial Zone, adjacent to the existing building in Lod.

The plan, including planning, construction and relocation, should take several years.

On June 28, 2017, the Bank closed (through its subsidiary Netzivim Assets and Equipment Ltd.) the sale of its
interest in the headquarters building in Ramat Gan and concurrently leased back the building for a period of 8 years
(hereinafter: "the streamlining period"). The Bank may extend the lease for additional terms, so that the total lease
term would not exceed 24 years.

On July 12, 2017, the Bank applied to the Supervisor of Banks for the capital relief.

In conformity with the requirements stated by the Supervisor of Banks in the letter, the Bank presented the following:
- Plan for relocation of headquarters units and management to Lod.

- Economic viability of the plan.

- Firm commitment to carry out the streamlining program.

As directed by the Supervisor of Banks, the capital gain would be recognized over the lease term, in conformity
with existing US standards for sale and lease-back transactions (section 840-40-25-2 of topic 840-40 of the
codification concerning "Sale and lease-back transactions"). On July 20, 2017, the Supervisor of Banks allowed
the Bank to recognize the capital gain (of NIS 83 million) generated by sale of the headquarters building in Ramat
Gan as regulatory capital. The capital relief is to be amortized over the term of the streamlining program.

On June 13, 2017, the Board of Directors of Bank Yahav approved streamlining measures, including a voluntary
retirement program and reduction of real estate areas. Bank Yahav was granted approval for this program by the
Supervisor of Banks, as required in the streamlining directive. Pursuant to the retirement program, early retirement
of Bank Yahav employees would be authorized subject to criteria stated in the program. The costs of actuarial liability
with respect to the retirement program at Bank Yahav amounted to NIS 36 million before tax (NIS 23 million after
tax). As directed by the Bank of Israel, supervisory capital used to calculate capital adequacy would be adjusted
(increased) and the capital effect of the streamlining would be applied on a straight line basis over a five-year period.

Capital requirements with respect to debt secured by residential property

On March 15, 2018, the Supervisor of Banks issued an update to Proper Conduct of Banking Business Directive
203, whereby loans fully secured by a mortgage on residential property with an LTV ratio higher than 60%, shall
have a risk weighting of 60% (instead of 75%). The regulation became effective when issued.

Circular amending Proper Conduct of Banking Business Directives 203 and 313

On November 13, 2018, the supervisor of Banks issued a circular amending Proper Conduct of Banking Business
Directives 203 and 313, stipulating that the credit conversion factor applied to guarantees to secure investments by
apartment buyers pursuant to the Sale Law was reduced from 50% to 30%, provided that the apartment has yet to
be delivered.

For more information about the Bank's policy on distribution of dividends, see Note 24.B. — share capital and
equity.
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Note 26 — Contingent Liabilities and Special Commitments
Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

A. Off-balance sheet liability for activities based on extent of collection at year end®

1. Balance of loans from deposits based on extent of collection®
As of As of
December December
31, 2018 31, 2017
Israeli currency — linked to the CPI 3,523 3,767
Israeli currency — non-linked 3,332 3,418
Foreign currency 74 139
Total 6,929 7,324
2. Cash flows with respect to collection commissions on activities based on extent of collection®
As of
As of As of As of December As of
As of December December December 31, 2018 December As of As of
December 31, 2018 31, 2018 31, 2018 Over 10 31, 2018 December December
31,2018 Over 1year Over 3years Over5years years to 20 Over 20 31,2018 31,2017
Up to 1 year to 3 years to 5years  to 10 years years years Total Total
In the CPI-linked sector®
Cash flows of futures contracts 30 48 33 41 14 2 168 204
Expected future cash flows net
of management's estimate of
early repayments 30 47 32 37 11 1 158 192
Discounted expected future
flows net of management's
estimate of early repayments® 30 46 29 32 8 1 146 181
In the non-linked NIS-
denominated sector
Cash flows of futures contracts 2 - - - - - 2 3
Expected future cash flows net
of management's estimate of
early repayments 1 - - - - - 1 3
Discounted expected future
flows net of management's
estimate of early repayments® 1 - - - - - 1 2
3. Information on loans extended by mortgage banks during the year
2018 2017
Loans out of deposits according to extent of collection 294 229
Standing loans and grants 73 71

(1) Loans and deposits from deposits the repayment of which to the depositor is contingent upon collection of the loans (or

deposits), with margin or with collection commission (instead of margin).

(2) Standing loans and Government deposits given with respect to them totaling NIS 1,231 million (2017 — NIS 1,369 million) are

not included in this table.
(3) Includes foreign currency sector.

(4) Inthe CPI- and foreign currency-linked segments, capitalized at a rate of 2.07%; in the non-linked segment, capitalized at a rate

of 1.78% (2017: at 1.54% and 1.35%, respectively).
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Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

B. Other liabilities and special commitments
2018 2017
1. Computerization and software service contracts 296 240
2. Acquisition and renovation of buildings 8 5
3. Long-term leases —rent for buildings, equipment and vehicles®@@):
First year 201 179
Second year 191 179
Third year 182 174
Fourth year 176 168
Fifth year 172 167
Sixth year and thereafter 1,602 1,645
Total rent for buildings and equipment 2,524 2,512
4. Credit sales operations
2018 2017 2016
Carrying amount of credit sold 2,326 2,598 2,599
Consideration received in cash 2,350 2,586 2,662
Consideration received in securities - - -
Total consideration 2,350 2,625 2,662
Total net gain with respect to credit sold — 4 45

(1) Including software.

(2) Subject to linkage terms.

(3) Includes IT and operating services provided to Bank Yahav by an international TaTa Group company as from January 1, 2017.
The company specializes, inter alia, in providing IT services to financial institutions and banking corporations world-wide. In this
regard, Bank Yahav uses a core banking system which includes banking services in various channels, based on the bank's
lines of business. Bank Yahav also receives operating services from the company with respect to IT systems it provides, as well
as additional outsourced services.

Bank Yahav's contract with the company is a long-term one and Bank Yahav may optionally extend it for additional terms of up
to 30 years.

C. Contingent liabilities and other special commitments

1

In accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors of the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange (“TASE”), a risk fund was
established, which totaled NIS 762 million as of December 31, 2018. The Bank's share of the fund as of December
31, 2018 is estimated at NIS 74 million (as of December 31, 2017 — NIS 49 million). The size of the risk fund is
updated semi-annually based on the average daily total clearing volume — but no less than NIS 150 million. Each
member’s share in the risk fund will be determined by a ratio between the member’s clearing volume and the total
clearing volume of all members (except for the Bank of Israel) during that period, but no less than NIS 500
thousand.

In accordance with a decision by the stock exchange clearinghouse Board of Directors, starting on December 15,
2008 each member of the clearing house deposits in cash at least 25% of their share in the risk fund.

On October 31, 2016, the Board of Directors of the Stock Exchange resolved to approve opening of an account with
the Bank of Israel, actually opened on June 19, 2017, for deposit of collateral provided by members of the stock
exchange clearing house (as stated above), which have been deposited with other commercial banks through the
account opening date.

See Note 27.A regarding liens that the Bank has undertaken to furnish for this liability. to the financial statements.
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2)

3)

4)

5)

The Bank has undertaken toward the MAOF Clearinghouse Ltd., a subsidiary of the TASE (hereinafter: "MAOF
Clearinghouse"), to pay any monetary charge deriving from transactions in derivatives traded on the TASE, executed
through it by its customers, and from such transactions executed by several members of the TASE that are not
members of the MAOF Clearinghouse, for their customers.

The amount of the liability for these customers, as of the balance sheet date, amounts to NIS 290 million (as of
December 31, 2017 — NIS 294 million).

Likewise, the Bank has undertaken to refund its share in the risk fund of the MAOF Clearinghouse, which totaled NIS
557 million as of December 31, 2018. The Bank's share of the fund as of December 31, 2018 is estimated at NIS 56
million (as of December 31, 2017: NIS 39 million).

In accordance with a decision by the MAOF clearinghouse Board of Directors, starting on December 15, 2008 each
member of the clearing house deposits in cash at least 25% of their share in the risk fund.

On October 30, 2016, the Board of Directors of the MAOF clearing house resolved to approve opening of an account
with the Bank of Israel, actually opened on June 19, 2017, for deposit of collateral provided by members of the MAOF
clearing house (as stated above), which have been deposited with other commercial banks through the account
opening date.

For information regarding charges that the Bank undertook to furnish with respect to these liabilities, see Note 27.B.
to the financial statements.

The Bank has made undertakings to the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange (hereinafter: "TASE") for operations of a company
which is a member of the stock exchange but not a member of the clearinghouse. The undertaking is to honor any
monetary charge arising from transactions executed by that company.

In 1992, a General Meeting of the Bank’s shareholders ratified a resolution to indemnify officers of the Bank with the

following wording:

— The Bank will indemnify in full each of the officers for financial liabilities and legal expenses incurred for actions,
acts, and omissions performed within the framework stipulated in the Companies Ordinance and the Bank’s by-
laws, and subject to the above provisions.

— These officers will be indemnified whether the claim is brought against them during their employment period at
the Bank, or whether subsequently and refers to an act performed in their capacity as officers.

There are differing legal opinions regarding a company’s authority to approve such broad indemnification, and
whether invoking it in a specific case requires additional approval, in a manner stipulated by law. Should the Bank
be required to pay any amounts on the basis of the above decision, it will seek advice from its legal counsel
regarding its obligation, taking into consideration the specific and special circumstances of each incident, if
applicable.

In December 2001, a General Meeting of the Bank’s shareholders ratified the granting an advance exemption from
liability (as described below) as well as advance commitment by the Bank to indemnify Board members and other
officers (hereinafter jointly: “the officers”). Pursuant to the resolution by the General Meeting of shareholders, the
Bank exempts in advance any liability by officers of the Bank towards the Bank with respect to any damage incurred
by the Bank due to breach of the officer's duty of care towards the Bank in the officer's conduct, arising from his
position as officer of the Bank. Committed to indemnify officers of the Bank for any liability or expense incurred by the
officer in conjunction with his action in the course of their office, all as stated in the letter of commitment to indemnify,
including with regard to actions by officers who are not Board members in conjunction with their action as Board
member on behalf of the Bank, or at the Bank's request, of another company whose shares are owned by the Bank
(hereinafter: "the original letter of indemnification™).

According to the original letter of indemnification, the amount if indemnification paid by the Bank to all officers on
aggregate shall not exceed 25% of the Bank's shareholder equity on the Bank's 2000 financial statements, adjusted
for the CPI as from December 2000 (hereinafter: (“total indemnification amount). This indemnification applies to action
related, directly or indirectly, to one or more of the event types listed in the Addendum to the letter of commitment to
indemnify.
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On October 28, 2004, the General Meeting of Bank shareholders resolved to add to the list of events for which the
Bank granted a commitment to indemnify to its officers, pursuant to the original letter of indemnification, a merger
event, as defined in the Companies Law, including any decision, action or reporting with regard to a merger. It was
resolved that in all that relates to indemnification resulting from a merger event, the maximum amount of the
indemnification will be the lesser of: 25% of the Bank’s shareholders’ equity according to its financial statements as
of December 31, 2000, plus linkage differentials beginning from the CPI for December 2000, or 25% of the Bank'’s
shareholders’ equity according to the last financial statements published in proximity to the actual payment date with
respect to the indemnification.

On May 14, 2006, the General Meeting of Bank shareholders resolved to adapt the wording of the letter of
indemnification to the provisions of the Companies Law (Amendment 3), 2005 and resolved to grant advance
commitment to indemnify, of identical wording, to Bank employees serving as Board member on a company in which
the Bank owns some shares, and to those serving, from time to time at the Bank's request, as Board member on a
company controlled by the Bank.

On November 9, 2011, the General Meeting of Bank shareholders resolved to add a commitment by the Bank to
indemnify Bank employees who are not officers of the Bank, who serve from time to time, upon request by the Bank,
as officers of companies controlled by the Bank (such a resolution was also passed by the Bank's Board of Directors
on February 16, 2009 — resolving to provide a letter of indemnification identical to the one granted to Bank officers),
and to those who are not employees or officers of the Bank, who serve from time to time as officers of a company,
other than a banking corporation, wholly-owned by the Bank (jointly: "the parties eligible for indemnification").

The General Assembly of Bank shareholders further decided to add a commitment by the Bank to indemnify the
parties eligible for indemnification for any monetary liability arising from payment to any party injured by the breach
and with respect to expenses related to any administrative proceeding, including reasonable litigation expenses — all
as specified in the ISA Enforcement Proceeding Streamlining Act (Legislative Amendments), 2011.

The General Assembly of Bank shareholders also resolved that the maximum indemnification amount payable by the
Bank, on aggregate to all those eligible for indemnification pursuant to the letter of commitment to indemnify, shall not
exceed 25% of the Bank's shareholders equity, based on its most recent financial statements published soon prior to
the actual payment date of the indemnification amount ("maximum indemnification amount"). Should the total
indemnification amount exceed the maximum indemnification amount specified above, the maximum amount payable
by the Bank on aggregate to all those eligible for indemnification shall not exceed the total indemnification amount,
but the differences between these two amounts would only be used for indemnification with respect to action taken
before November 9, 2011.

On September 20, 2012, the General Assembly of Bank shareholders further decided to add a commitment by the
Bank to indemnify the parties eligible for indemnification for any monetary liability arising from payment to any party
injured by the breach and with respect to expenses related to any administrative proceeding, including reasonable
litigation expenses — all as specified in the ISA Enforcement Proceeding Streamlining Act (Legislative Amendments),
2011 and in the Financial Services Supervision Act (Provident Funds), 2005 and with respect to expenses related to
any administrative proceeding, including reasonable litigation expenses — all as specified in the Restrictive Trade
Practices Act, 1988.

The General Assembly of Bank shareholders further decided to add a commitment by the Bank to indemnify the
parties eligible for indemnification for any monetary liability arising from payment to any party injured by the breach
or similar, pursuant to any other statute, including reasonable litigation expenses, including attorneys' fees, with
regard to any administrative proceeding pursuant to any other statute, provided that such indemnification is not
prohibited by law.

On December 23, 2015, the General Assembly of Bank shareholders resolved to reduce the liability exemption for
officers, so that it would not apply to any breach of duty of care after the approval date by the General Assembly of
Bank shareholders, when making a decision or approving a transaction in which the controlling shareholder of the
Bank or any officer of the Bank (including another officer, other than the officer who received the waiver) has a
personal interest.
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7)

The General Assembly of Bank shareholders also resolved to add clarifications, details and elaboration to the events
listed in the addendum to the letter of commitment to indemnify, according to events which the Board of Directors
considers to be likely in view of actual Bank operations. The General Assembly of Bank shareholders further resolved
to amend the letter of commitment to indemnify with regard to obtaining indemnification from an insurer or from a third
party, so that the indemnification cap equal to the difference between the liabilities imposed on the officer or on the
employee and/or legal expenses incurred by or charged to them, would also apply if the officer or employee would be
reimbursed by any third party or by any third party's insurer who provided indemnification to the officer or employee
for the same matter. It was further resolved that if the liability or legal expenses would not be actually covered in a
timely manner by the insurer or by the third party, the Bank would indemnify the officer or employee for such liability
and/or legal expenses — provided that the officer or employee would assign to the Bank their rights vis-a-vis the insurer
or third party, so that the Bank would replace them vis-a-vis the insurer or third party.

On August 30, 2018, the General Meeting of Bank shareholders approved once again the Bank's waiver and
commitment to indemnification, with regard to applicability to controlling shareholders of the Bank and their relatives
who may serve from time to time, including those who have served in the past or to be appointed in future.

In May 1998, General Assemblies of the shareholders of the Bank and of Bank Tefahot ratified an undertaking to
indemnify officers, which had previously been approved by their Audit Committees and Boards of Directors as follows:

The Bank and Bank Tefahot will irrevocably indemnify any of their officers for any action taken in their capacity as
officers, in connection with the causes of action listed below, and for any financial obligation to be imposed by a court
judgment, including a compromise, or arbitrator’s decision that is subsequently approved by a court, and also for any
reasonable legal expenses for which they may be indemnified in accordance with provisions of the Companies
Ordinance.

The indemnification will be made for all the officers on a cumulative basis, up to a sum not to exceed — for each bank
separately — NIS 750 million (linked to the CPI of March 1998), for any financial liability that the officer incurs as a
result of an action that he took that is directly or indirectly connected to the prospectus published in 1998, or to the
draft prospectus that was filed in that year, in connection with the offer of sale of the Bank’s securities by the State,
including in connection with the reports submitted by the banks subsequent to the date of the prospectus regarding
any matter that occurred before the date of the prospectus.

Furthermore, the total cumulative amount of indemnification to be paid for all officers for any action or matter related
to the insurance of borrowers by mortgage banks mentioned in the above prospectus included in the letter of
indemnification — by each bank separately — will not exceed NIS 750 million (linked to the CPI of March 1998).

The letters of undertaking for indemnification stipulated further that, notwithstanding the aforesaid, the total cumulative
amount of indemnification to be paid for all the officers with regard to all the causes of action included in the letter of
indemnification — by each bank separately — will be limited to NIS 1,000 million (linked to the CPI of March 1998).

Under terms and conditions of the merger of Bank Tefahot into the Bank, the Bank assumed this commitment.

In November 2001, approval was given by General Assemblies of the shareholders of Bank Tefahot and of a wholly-
owned and controlled subsidiary of Bank Tefahot (hereinafter: "Tefahot Issuance"), in connection with the prospectus
for issuance of debentures and subordinated notes of Bank Tefahot from November 2001, that Tefahot Issuance
irrevocably undertakes to indemnify all of its officers, for any action taken in connection with matters detailed in the
letter of indemnity, by virtue of his being an officer (“indemnification”).

The indemnification will be given for any financial debt, if imposed by a judgment, including a judgment issued in a
compromise or arbitration that was approved by a court, and with respect to any reasonable legal expenses (including
fees to attorneys and other experts), which may be indemnified in accordance with the provisions of the Companies
Law, all up to a limit of NIS 1 billion, linked to the CPI.

Bank Tefahot undertook vis-a-vis Tefahot Issuance that, should it be unable to fulfill its obligations to the indemnity
recipients, or any one of them, Bank Tefahot would pay to Tefahot Issuance any amount that Tefahot Issuance will
be found liable to indemnify, beyond the amounts paid by Tefahot Issuance.

Under terms and conditions of the merger of Bank Tefahot into the Bank, the Bank assumed this commitment.
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In October 2002, the Board of directors of Bank Tefahot, following the approval of the Audit Committee, approved the
bestowing of an advance undertaking for indemnification of directors and other officers of Bank Tefahot (together —
“the officers”). Accordingly, Bank Tefahot undertakes, subject to the conditions detailed in the letter of undertaking
and to the provisions of the Companies Law, to indemnify the officers for any liabilities or expenses imposed on the
officer due to his capacity as an officer in Bank Tefahot, provided that these activities are related, directly or indirectly,
to one or more of the events listed in the addendum to the letter of undertaking the indemnification.

The cumulative amount of the indemnification to be paid by Bank Tefahot to all the officers will not exceed 25% of the
shareholders’ equity of Bank Tefahot according to its annual financial statements for 2001, adjusted for the CPI,
beginning from December 2001, or 25% of the shareholders’ equity of Bank Tefahot according to the latest financial
statements published as of the actual payment date of the indemnification, whichever is lower.

In November 2002, a General Meeting of the shareholders of Bank Tefahot ratified this resolution.

Under terms and conditions of the merger of Bank Tefahot into the Bank, the Bank assumed this commitment.

On June 30, 1998, an extraordinary general meeting of Bank Adanim, following approval by its Board of Directors
and approval of its Audit Committee, ratified an undertaking to indemnify (“indemnification letter”) for officers in Bank
Adanim. The indemnification letter will apply to officers, as defined in Section 96(24) of the Companies Ordinance,
who, on the approval date of the indemnification by the General Meeting (“date of record”), are serving in Bank Adanim
or whose tenure ended in a period not earlier than 4 years from the date of record.

Pursuant to the indemnification letter, Bank Adanim will indemnify any officers in Bank Adanim for any financial
liabilities imposed on them by a ruling, including legal expenses, for an act or omission done directly or indirectly in
the matters itemized in the letter of indemnification, namely the offer of sale to the public of securities of Mizrahi
Tefahot by the State, pursuant to a prospectus published in May 1998.

Pursuant to the indemnification letter, the amount of the indemnification to be paid by Bank Adanim (in addition to the
amounts to be received according to the officers’ insurance policies as detailed below) to all officers, on a cumulative
basis will not exceed NIS 70 million, with the amount linked to the last CPI published before the date of record until
the CPI published before the date of payment.

Bank Adanim will take action, to the extent possible, so that during the 10-year period beginning on the date of record,
an officers’ insurance policies will be purchased by or for Bank Adanim, which will cover the matters covered by the
indemnification, the amount of which, including restitution/reinstatement will not be lower than the aforementioned
amounts.

On December 16, 2002, a General Meeting of Bank Adanim, following approval by the Audit Committee and
ratification by its Board of Directors, ratified the letter of indemnification undertaking (“indemnification letter”) for
officers in Bank Adanim. The indemnification letter will apply to officers, as defined in Section 1 of the Companies
Law, 1999, who, on the approval date of the indemnification letter by the general meeting (“date of record”) serve in
Bank Adanim. Pursuant to the indemnification letter, Bank Adanim will indemnify all of the officers in Bank Adanim for
all the financial liabilities to be imposed on them by a ruling, including legal expenses, relating to an act or omission
done directly or indirectly in matters listed in the indemnification letter, up to the indemnification amounts.

The indemnification amounts to be paid by Bank Adanim for each officer, on a cumulative basis, for one or more of
the types of events provided in the addendum to the letter of undertaking, shall not exceed 25% of the shareholders’
equity of Bank Adanim according to its financial statements for the year 2001, adjusted from time to time, according
to the rate of increase in the CPI compared with the CPI for December 2001 that was published in January 2002
(“total indemnification amount). In the event the officer will receive indemnification from the insurer of the officers’
insurance policies for the matter covered by the indemnification, the indemnification will be provided by Bank Adanim
in the amount of the difference between the amount of financial liabilities imposed on the officer and/or legal expenses
incurred by or charged to the officer, and between the amount received from the insurer on this matter, provided that
the amount of indemnification for which Bank Adanim will be charged will not exceed the total indemnification amount.
Beginning December 2002, Bank Adanim was one of the insured parties in the officers’ insurance policies purchased
by the Bank for itself and its subsidiaries and related companies, which is in effect until April 5, 2007.

Under terms and conditions of the merger of Bank Adanim into the Bank, the Bank assumed this commitment.
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10) Various claims are pending against the Bank and its subsidiaries, namely, claims of customers, as well as motions
for recognition of various class actions. In the estimation of the management of the Bank, based on the estimation of
the managements of its subsidiaries and on the opinion of their legal counsel as to the possible outcome of the
pending claims and motions for approval of claims as class actions, the financial statements include appropriate
provisions, where necessary, to cover possible damages.

Below are details of significant claims, including motions for approval of class action status and claims in which the
amount claimed (excluding interest and fees) exceeds 1% of Bank equity attributable to equity holders of the Bank:

A)

In May 2011, the Bank received a claim and motion for approval of class action status. The claim concerns two
alleged claims made against the Bank — firstly, late reporting to the Court Order Execution Service of payments
made to reduce debt which is subject to proceedings at the Court Order Execution Service. Secondly, failure to
indicate on the reporting forms the number of the principal to be reduced by the reported credit, and the number
of the interest calculation rule applied to the reported payment amount. The lawsuit and motion allege that, by
late reporting to the Court Order Execution Service and by failure to provide the aforementioned indications on
the reporting forms, the Bank misleads clients, causes clients not to be credited with interest in line with the date
of their payment and in accordance with the correct interest rate, creates a situation in which the debt on Court
Order Execution Service files is higher than the real debt, and over-charges in payments. The lawsuit and motion
further allege that the Enforcement and Collection Authority and the Court Order Execution Service admit that
under crediting occurs in case of late reporting and failure to provide the required indications on the reporting
form.

The plaintiff claims he is unable to estimate the damage incurred by the entire class of plaintiffs, but believes (on
a basis which is not clear to the Bank) that it amounts to hundreds of millions of NIS.

On January 9, 2012, the Bank filed its response to the motion, describing in detail the factual and legal defense
claims made by the Bank. On May 20, 2012, the plaintiff filed their response to the Bank's response to the motion.
In view of new claims made by the plaintiff in their response to the Bank's response, the Bank filed a further, more
detailed response on August 15, 2012.

On October 17, 2012 and on October 29, 2012, the Court held preliminary hearings in this case.

The parties have agreed and launched a reconciliation process aimed to try and resolve their differences. The
reconciliation process was concurrent with regard to other motions filed against other banks for the same cause,
as well as with regard to other motions for class action status filed against the Bank and against other banks for
causes related to debt management in Court Order Execution Service files.

The parties negotiated directly from August 2014 and in January 2016, due to a specific disagreement, the
negotiations between the parties were terminated. They were resumed soon thereafter, in an attempt to reached
an agreed arrangement.

On August 29, 2016, a Court hearing took place and the Court resolved that the parties to this lawsuit and to the
lawsuit described in section B. below, should file a settlement agreement and motion for approval thereof, no later
than October 30, 2016. The resolution dated November 7, 2016 allowed the parties an extension to file a
settlement agreement and motion for approval thereof, no later than November 30, 2016. On January 16, 2017,
a hearing concerning the settlement agreement took place. On March 28, 2017, a hearing took place with regard
to the settlement agreement and in particular, concerning the issue of Court action and its scope On June 12,
2017, the parties filed the draft settlement agreement with the Court, asking for the Court's assistance in the
matter of the aforementioned Court action. On June 15, 2017, another hearing on this disagreement took place.
In accordance with the Court ruling of July 4, 2017, on August 13, 2017, the parties submitted the final agreed
version of the settlement agreement.

On November 7, 2017, the parties submitted to the Court the signed settlement agreement and its appendices
with the application for approval thereof. On March 8, 2018 and on April 10, 2018, further hearings took place,
at which the Court raised questions regarding the settlement agreement in general and in particular, the issue
of maintaining information confidentiality by the Enforcement and Collection Authority. On May 28, 2018, a
further hearing took place, at which the Court asked, inter alia, for clarifications regarding the motion by the
Bank dated May 22, 2018 with regard to the need for maintaining data confidentiality, as well as clarifications
with regard to other sections of the settlement agreement. A clarification notice from the bank with regard to
sections of the settlement agreement was filed on July 5, 2018.
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B)

©)

On October 10, 2018, the plaintiff filed a motion to bring forward the approval of this settlement; consequently,
on November 6, a hearing took place at which the Court ordered that a notice would be published with regard to
the motion for approval and that such motion would be sent for comments to the Attorney General and to the
Supervisor of Banks. The notice with regard to the motion was published and the response of the Attorney
General and the Supervisor of Banks is still pending.

In December 2012, an action and a motion for recognition as a class action were filed with the Tel Aviv District
Court, with regard to setting rates of arrears interest charged by the Bank in Court Order Execution Service cases
filed against debtors. According to the plaintiff, the Bank charges interest significantly higher than the maximum
interest rate on checking accounts. The plaintiff is unable to estimate the amount claimed.

The parties agreed to add this motion to the reconciliation process on-going with regard to other motions which
also concern collection processes conducted by the Bank against clients in debt, as stated in section A. above
and on January 4, 2016, a resolution was issued to refer the above claim for hearing by the same party as the
above claims.

As for the motion for approval of class action status, a compromise was reached in conjunction with the motion
for approval of class action status listed in section A) above.

In August 2011, a claim and motion for class action status was filed with the Central District Court amounting to
"hundreds of millions of NIS". No specific amount was specified in the statement of claim. The plaintiff seeks a
verdict, pursuant to the Class Action Lawsuit Act, whereby the claim would be made on behalf of all Bank clients
whose account was charged legal fees not approved by any legal jurisdiction, or whose account was charged
unlawful interest with respect to approved legal fees.

In February 2012, the Bank filed its response to the motion and in August 2012, the plaintiff filed their response
to the Bank's response to the motion.

In November 2012, the parties launched a reconciliation process designed to try and settle their disagreements.
The reconciliation process was concurrent with regard to other motions filed against other banks for the same
cause, as well as with regard to other motions for class action status filed against the Bank and against other
banks for causes related to debt management in Court Order Execution Service files. The parties negotiated
directly from August 2014 and in January 2016, due to a specific disagreement, the negotiations between the
parties were terminated. They were resumed soon thereafter, in an attempt to reached an agreed arrangement.
On January 6, 2016, the Bank filed a motion seeking a preliminary ruling on its claim with regard to the statute of
limitations with regard to the cause of claim of alleged class members and/or of most of them. The plaintiff's
response was filed on January 26, 2016 and the Bank's response was filed on February 1, 2016. On February
14, 2016, a resolution was handed down whereby, inter alia, the claim with regard to the statute of limitations
would be adjudicated at the end of the process.

Following direct negotiations between the parties, the parties reached an agreed settlement brought for approval
by the Court on November 14, 2016.

On January 16, 2017, a hearing took place at which the parties agreed for the Bank to respond to questions
raised at the hearing with regard to the settlement agreement and motion for approval filed by the parties. On
February 8, 2017, the Bank filed its comments with the Court. On March 7, 2017, the Court ordered that within
15 days, a revised announcement text is to be filed with the Court for approval, and a copy of the settlement
agreement is to be sent to the Supervisor of Banks and to the Attorney General and the parties were instructed
to file their claims with regard to the issue of the statute of limitations.

On April 2, the Court approved the revised announcement text and on April 12, 2017, the announcement was
published in the newspapers with regard to filing a motion for approval of a settlement agreement.

Further to the Court resolutions dated March 7, 2017 and June 13, 2017, the Bank filed additional claims with
regard to the statute of limitations; a resolution is still pending.
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The position of the Attorney General with regard to the settlement was submitted on July 30 and on September
17, 2017, the Bank filed its response to the the Attorney General's position, and the plaintiff filed their response
to the Attorney General's position.

On October 2, 2017, a hearing was held with regard to the Attorney General's position. On May 28, 2018, a
further hearing took place, at which the Court asked for further clarifications with regard to the settlement
agreement. At the end of this hearing it was agreed that the Court would issue its ruling in absence of the
parties. On September 17, 2018, a partial verdict was issued, whereby the Court approved the settlement
agreement reached by the parties, despite the objection by the Attorney General's representative. In this partial
verdict, the Bank's claim of thestatute of limitations was accepted. Moreover, dates were set for publishing the
approval of the agreement and for filing claims with regard to legal fees and remuneration.

On October 25, 2018, the Bank filed a motion for approval of a notice to be published with regard to approval of
the agreement. On October 31, 2018, the plaintiff announced that they did not intend to appeal the verdict and
consent to publication of the notice in the format as provided by the Bank.

On December 5, 2018, the plaintiff filed their arguments with regard to compensation and legal fees. On January
8, 2019, the Bank filed its arguments. A decision is still pending.

In September 2011, a claim and motion for class action status was filed with the Central District Court against the
Bank, Bank Leumi Lelsrael Ltd. and Bank HaPoalim Ltd., for alleged unlawful charging of compounded interest,
in contravention of statutes and agreements, on housing loans — including targeted loans, eligibility loans and
additional loans, excluding standing loans. The total claim amount against the banks was NIS 927 million. The
Bank's share of this claim amounts to NIS 364 million.

In May 2012, the Bank filed its response to this claim, claiming inter alia that it was unfounded, that the Bank
acted in accordance with statutory provisions and did not charge any compounded interest in the manner in which
banks in general and the Bank, in particular, acted. The position of the Supervisor of Banks, which supports the
banks' position, was also filed in this case.

In July 2013, an evidentiary hearing took place and the experts on behalf of the parties were questioned. The
plaintiffs filed their summation. In September 2014, the Bank filed its summation and in December 2014, the
plaintiffs filed their summary responses.

On August 16, 2015 a verdict was issued, rejecting the motion for class action status.

On December 7, 2015, the parties appealed the verdict to the Supreme Court. The parties filed their summations
and response summations.

On March 14, 2018, a hearing of the appeal by the Supreme Court took place, where the appellants accepted
the recommendation made by the Court and agreed to withdraw their appeal. Therefore, this hearing was
concluded with a verdict which rejects the appeal without awarding of expenses.

1) In August 2013, a claim and motion for class action status in the amount of NIS 1